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Editor's Foreword 

With the publication of this volume we conclude a project started over 30 years ago by Ed Tucker. His interviews of 
Forest Service "old timers" created an invaluable record of what the Service was like. We have tried to stay very close 
to Ed's original concept and wording in these three books. Even the photographs used to illustrate points are largely 
the ones which Ed selected in 1962. 

Many people contributed their time to get the Tucker manuscripts into print. Entry into the computer of the original 1600 
pages was no small feat. Ed Tucker's original typist, Mrs. Gladys Jackson, left us a good draft which was keyed into 
our Data General computer by Dana Woodworth, Joan Gregorski, Joann Osbourne, Berlinda Gaddy and Lori Long. The 
indices were created by volunteer Janet Spivey (Books 1 and 2) and Angela Sandoval (Book 3). The proofs of the several 
Appendices were compared to originals by Carmen Garcia, Angela Sandoval and Dana Woodworth. 

Anyone interested in the genesis of this book, and its production details, should see the Editor's Foreword in Book 1. 
That volume also contains Ed Tucker's original foreword and acknowledgments. We should repeat here that changes 
and additions to the original have been minimal. In the main text we have only corrected the few typographic errors. 
The few editorial comments added have been clearly noted in brackets. 

In the Appendices we have carried the story forward in those instances where to do so caused no complications. For 
example, the list of Regional Foresters in Table 2 of Appendix A could be carried forward easily and unequivocally. It 
was less feasible to update other lists. Although forest staffs cooperated in reviewing the older lists and supplying 
additional names, it became too difficult to change Tucker's lists. Reorganizations, lengthened reporting dates and other 
factors all added to the difficulty. In the end, we decided it was best to tinker very little with the original. The work 
of updating will be left to another author at another time. 

David Gillio 
June 1992 



1 

tl-, ' t 

IX*J 

.... ;:. • 

jM-’w f _ M;h.:^- .)!?■■,M'nf. .' ,., 

■■•■* ■'-•>' .‘4 *v ■>.■.<?: /■ (fe: 
,!.■<• ;ri.'!') vv‘' '- 

'''■’■■ , .. ,' ^jpi„ . \. 

■ 'Jf'>■ ... ^ . v'-aiUij'S?^Vyfc.f?^’ 

.- ' ■ ' : I it'isC';■ 

■ .■';;; - i. ^^ -owa? I/, 

,..-m.. 
'■ ,/'■' ■-y/'r ■> ■ . 

■ I'.' '... i.-i 
y.>. Tf.: p<\ •' 

' ■ ■ rjfdrs*^ ■ i.',.*v''i«fUhr- 

.'. ''l- „-,v' .•,cr,.^.-.,>!g 

-.4. 

'#.r. 
•■4 

f 



Three Short Historical Notes 

The following paper was found without date and un¬ 
signed. From the record of service, however, it has been 
determined to have been written by Sam A. Sowell. It is 
presented as found. 

The original ranger station on the Aravaipa District of the 
Crook National Forest was located in Four-Mile Canyon 
approximately 1 mile west of the Klondyke store and post 
office. This was of adobe construction and consisted of 
two rooms and a screened-in porch, which was used as 
the ranger's office. The water system consisted of a 3/4- 
inch pipeline 4 miles in length connected with the Four- 
Mile Spring in the canyon above. The water line ran to a 
hydrant at the back of the dwelling, but was never piped 
inside. Due to the friction on this small pipe during the heat 
of the day, the water would cease to flow. In order to get 
any water through the pipe line the numerous vent pipes 
along the line would have to be opened at night. This 
operation would usually take from three to four hours and 
then you could not expect the flow to continue past noon 
the following day. This eventually proved to be too much 
of an undertaking, and water was hauled from Klondyke in 
barrels. Since the ranger was in the field the greater part 
of his time, this was quite a burden on the wife and family. 

This station was finally abandoned and a house in Klondyke 
rented for this purpose. The well at this location went dry, 
and along in 1928 or 1929 the Forest Service purchased 
a 10-acre plot in the Aravaipa Canyon About 5 miles from 
the post office and constructed a ranger station. 

Materials for this station were salvaged from an old ranger 
station in Frye Canyon on Mt. Graham. This station was 
torn down with contributed labor, and the material hauled 
to the Aravaipa. I did all the hauling with a Dodge 
screened-in truck of about a 1920 vintage. By leaving at 
4:00 A. M., two round trips could be made before 
midnight. All the sand and rock for the foundation of this 
station was hauled by the ranger with a borrowed dump 
truck. 

At this time Mr. Lash was the maintenance man on the Gila 
National Forest and was assigned to the Crook to help 
build the new station. Mr. Lash and I did all the work during 
the winter, with very little cost to the Government except 
our wages. A shallow well was dug by hand and a pump 
installed. The large mesquite trees around the building 
were grubbed out by hand at nights and on weekends by 
the ranger. This building was abandoned and a new 
station constructed during CCC days. 

Mr. Lee Kirby was probably the first district ranger on the 
Aravaipa, and Ted Swift was Supervisor with headquar¬ 
ters at Safford, Arizona. The record of the various rangers 
after Mr. Kirby's time could, no doubt, be secured from the 
old records but I do not have them. As I recall, there were 

several rangers there for a short duration of time. Just 
prior to my time Mr. Hugh Chipman was ranger and 
resigned in 1925. 

The district was assigned to me in April 1925 and I was 
transferred to the Paradise District on the Coronado in 
November 1930. At this time Mr. Jim Girdner was 
transferred from the Clifton District to the Aravaipa and 
served until his retirement. Later, a young ranger by the 
name of White, and then Carl Schoefield and perhaps 
others, that are of record. 

The district was comprised of three separate mountain 
ranges, - the Galiuro, Winchester, and Santa Teresa 
Mountains. The terrain was extremely rough and only 
accessible by trails, therefore, the mode of travel was by 
horseback and afoot. 

My equipment consisted of two saddle horses and two 
pack mules, privately owned, as you had to pack your 
provisions and horse feed, and camp out at various places 
within the forest. With the exception of prospectors, no 
one lived within the forest boundaries. A three-week pack 
trip was necessary to cover the Winchester and Galiuro 
Divisions and one week for the Santa Teresa Division. 
Later I constructed a four-horse trailer to transport my 
horses and mules around the edge of the forest in order to 
save many miles of riding. This was not too successful as 
the trailer was easily turned over. Later I built a two-horse 
trailer which served the purpose and gave me much more 
time with the permittees. All equipment including horses, 
trailer and car was personally owned. 

Grazing was the principal activity and practically all the 
ranger's time was devoted to grazing and range improve¬ 
ments. Some mining activity, principally gold, was carried 
on throughout the district which constituted quite a 
problem in the early days. 

Livestock grazing was all yearlong, and since much of the 
forest boundary was unfenced, checking and controlling 
numbers was a major problem. Many of the permits were 
on an on-and-off basis which necessitated following the 
spring and fail roundups in order to get any kind of an 
estimate, and this was an estimate at the best. Unpermitted 
horses became a problem and several hundred head were 
removed and disposed of during my time. 

Due to the topography of the country, most of the grazing 
was confined to the mesas at the base of the mountains. 
The interior of these ranges was so steep, rough and 
brushy, livestock could not be worked. However, many 
wild cattle used these areas and lived and died there. 

The accessible parts of the district was good cattle 
country and in fair condition. 
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A three-day a week mail service was provided between 
Wilcox and Aravaipa. Safford and Wilcox were the 
shopping centers for this area and the ranger usually made 
a trip once a month for supplies. No telephones or radios 
were provided. (A ranger's paradise and he didn't know 

it!) 

Law and order in this isolated cow country was very 
limited, and over the years it was the scene of many gun 
battles. In the early days the Galiuro Mountains was a 
hide-out for the tough element around Tombstone and 
Charlestown. As late as 1925 to 1930, during my 
assignment on this district, range disputes and murder 
continued. During this time there were thirteen cold¬ 
blooded murders committed, and only one man paid the 
penalty for his acts - and he committed suicide. 

In the earlier days it was the custom for Forest Rangers to 
carry guns, but I soon learned that was a sure way to get 
into trouble, and discontinued this practice. 

In June 1930, we were having Sunday dinner with the 
wife's family and someone called to me from the front of 
the ranger station. As I reached the door he called again 
and at that time I saw him fall from his horse. This was 
a young man about 25, and our nearest neighbor. I could 
readily see that he was badly hurt with his clothing 
saturated with blood. Although shot through the body 
with a Winchester carbine he was able to relate the entire 
story to us and remained conscious for 45 minutes. Within 
a matter of minutes the assailant and his son drove up in 
a car, got out with gun in hand, walked over to the dying 
man, looked the crowd over, and left. 

This incident happened approximately one mile below the 
ranger station, along the stream bed of the Aravaipa, and 
he rode his horse across country through a dense stand of 
mesquite to the ranger station. The assailant was follow¬ 
ing him by car, but had to go around the mesquite ticket 
to the highway, which took him a few minutes longer to 
reach the station. It was assumed he was following him 
to finish the job as he was not aware he was mortally 
wounded until he saw he was shot through the body and 
dying at the time. 

Within a matter of only a few hours the entire community 
arrived at the scene, besides the tourists passing, and a 
very large crowd assembled. The victim was very popular 
in the community and the citizens were worked up to a 
point of a lynching party. A posse was quickly formed and 
organized to prevent the culprit's escape and had he been 
encountered the results would, no doubt, have been 
serious. 

He, no doubt, realized the situation and drove direct to 
Safford, the county seat, and reported the killing. Self¬ 

defense, of course, but the young man was at the station 
before and after the incident, and was not armed. He and 
his son were placed in the county jail and during the night 
he committed suicide by cutting his throat with a dull 
pocket knife. 

In the fall of 1926 or 1927 a herd of cattle were being 
driven to Wilcox for shipment. A Mr. Clayton quit the drive 
about five miles from his headquarters, and started home 
by horseback. En route home he was waylaid and shot 
from his horse. This was not discovered for several days 
as all the ranch hands were on the drive. His body was 
dragged by horseback several miles into the Galiuro 
Mountains and deposited in a deep arroyo. A neighbor 
found his horse and saddle several days later, and evidence 

of foul play. 

The Sheriff's office formed a posse, of which I was a 
member, and his body was located a week later. Indian 
trailers were employed from the San Carlos Indian Reser¬ 
vation. However, due to heavy rains the trail was 
impossible to follow but some evidence such as hat, spurs 
and other articles were found. A Government trapper 
located the body with the help of his hunting dogs. 

Circumstantial evidence pointed strongly toward a neigh¬ 
boring rancher who was tried and acquitted, but it was 
never learned who killed him. This trial lasted two weeks 
and all indications were that a conviction was very evident. 
At the time of the murder I was making a range inspection 
with the accused, and it occurred to me that my official 
diary would have a bearing on the case. I drove to Klondyke 
at night and produced the diary as evidence the following 
morning. A verdict of "Not Guilty" was given by the jury 
that day. 

The old Powers gold mine located 25 miles from Klondyke, 
by a rough winding trail, in the heart of the Galiuro 
Mountains at the head of Rattlesnake Canyon, has been 
the scene of many bloody battles. This mine was good 
property and very rich in gold and silver, but inaccessible 
except by horseback or afoot. For several years before 
World War I the mine was owned and operated by John 
Powers, his three sons and a daughter. 

The girl was raised in a man's environment and grew up to 
be as rough and tough as her brothers. The family was born 
and raised in the mountains without any schooling or 
education. However, they were excellent cowboys and 
hard workers and, according to oldtimers, attended strictly 
to their business. It is reported that the girl's neck was 
broken and she died as a result of a wrestling match with 
her brother. 

Shortly before World War I, an ex-convict by the name of 
Tom Sessons joined the Powers and worked in the gold 
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mine. Tom and John Powers were of draft age but refused 
to go to the county seat and register. This was partially 
due to ignorance and partially through counsel given them 
by Tom Sessons. At any rate, the Sheriff's office was 
instructed to bring these boys in. 

Although advised against a Sheriff's posse by all the local 
ranchers and Forest ranger, the posse was formed includ¬ 
ing the Sheriff, his two deputies and the U.S. Marshal from 
Globe, Arizona. Horses and equipment were secured in 
Klondyke and the four officers rode to the head of 
Rattlesnake Canyon that day and made camp about a mile 
above the Powers' log cabin. During the night the officers 
walked down to the log cabin and before daylight two men 
were stationed at each end of the cabin. 

According to all reports and testimony, the elder Powers 
awoke at daylight and as he opened the door to step 
outside, the officers opened fire, wounded Mr. Powers, 
who died later in the day. Tom Sessions and two of the 
Powers boys were still in bed at the time, the younger 
brother was out working for a cow outfit. Within seconds 
the three men in the cabin had their guns and opened fire. 
Apparently the U. S. Marshal saw what was going to 
happen and left the scene immediately. He walked back 
to his horse and left for Klondyke for help, but it was too 
late. 

Figure 1. The old Powers Cabin in the Galiuro Vyilderness, 
photographed by Mary Farrell in October, 1986. 

As mentioned above, two officers were at one end of the 
building and the remaining one, which was the Sheriff, 
was at the other. The old log cabin was old with cracks 
an inch or so between the logs and the officers standing 

on the outside were easy prey for the boys inside. The 
battle did not last long, but they did not know there was 
a fourth man. As soon as the smoke cleared and all was 
quiet, the men carried their father to the mine tunnel and 
sent for a neighbor miner a mile or so away to care for him. 

Sesson and the Powers boys took the officers' ammuni¬ 
tion, horses and equipment, and headed for Old Mexico. 
They cut across the mountain to the San Pedro River, 
followed the river bottom for several miles, crossed the 
Sulphur Springs Valley to the Chiricahua Mountains. 

Posses were organized all over the country, and according 
to reports, over a thousand men were hunting the outlaws. 

The outlaws' horses were abandoned on the west side of 
the Chiricahua Mountains and they took it afoot, traveling 
by night and avoiding the posses by day. Their trail led 
across the Chiricahua a short distance south of the Portal 
Ranger Station across the valley into the Peloncillo Moun¬ 
tains and down this range to the Mexican Border. 

During the fight in the cabin one of the boys broke a 
window glass to shoot out, and received a piece of glass 
in one eye. Several days after entering Old Mexico, the 
boys, sick, barefooted, and famished, walked into a ranch 
house for food and help. The one with the glass in his eye, 
which he lost, was sick and in terrible pain. The ranch was 
owned by a widow and she immediately telephoned the 
police and the men were picked up peacefully shortly after. 
The Mexican authorities escorted the prisoners to the 
International Border and turned them over to the U. S. 
soldiers. Public sentiment was such in Graham County 
that the prisoners had to be removed to Clifton, Arizona, 
for safekeeping 

Mr G. A. "Gus" Pearson was the man always identified 
with forest management in the Southwest. Gus started 
the Coconino Experiment Station, later known as the Fort 
Valley Experiment Station, and was closely associated 
with the work there until his retirement in 1945. He was 
the author of many publications; probably the most well 
known is his monograph. Management of Ponderosa Pine 
in the Southwest. Pearson prepared the following paper 
in 1936. 

THE OLDEST FOREST EXPERIMENT STATION 
By G. A. Pearson 

It was a sultry afternoon in August 1908. Raphael Zon, 
then Chief of Silvics in the Forest Service, had come to 
Flagstaff to select a location for what was to be the first 
forest experiment station in the United States. Zon, 
Willard Drake, and I were urging our phlegmatic livery 
stable cayuses over the road to Fort Valley to examine a 
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Figure 2. Fort Valley Experiment Station, Flagstaff Arizona. The cabin is in an opening in Engelmann Spruce type. This June, 1919 

photo was made by G. A. Pearson. 

site that had been recommended by Frank Pooler, Super¬ 
visor of the Coconino. Two miles short of our destination 
a thunderstorm crashed upon us in true Arizona style. The 
downpour was more violent than usual, so we took shelter 
in a large barn of the old A-1 Cattle Company. When we 
emerged an hour later, the normally dry Rio de Flag was 
running a hundred yards wide with a fluid whose color and 
consistency told plainly that the country was going to the 
dogs even in that early day. After crossing the "river," it 
was only half a mile to the area we had come to see - a 
beautiful stand of ponderosa pine. "Here," said Zon, "we 
shall plant the tree of research." 

On the official record, the Coconino Experiment Station, as 
it was then called, began its existence January 1, 1909. 
A few years later the name was changed to the Fort Valley 
Experiment Station, and now it is the Fort Valley branch of 
the Southwestern Forest and Range Experiment Station. 

A two-room guard cabin solved the housing problem for 
the first year. In fact, no one thought much about 
buildings. The only construction undertaken the first fall 
was the establishment of three meteorological stations. 

Research got under way promptly. I had arrived in July 
1908, assigned to the problem of ascertaining why 
western yellow pine failed to restock after cutting. After 
four busy months in the field I hauled a load of supplies to 
Fort Valley and settled down to figure out what it was all 
about. That winter was one of those in which the depth 

of snow was measured in feet. Between attending to my 
three meteorological stations and holding body and soul 
together I found some time for compilation and writing. 
Before the last inch of snow had vanished there emerged 
the manuscript of Circular 174 "Reproduction of Yellow 
Pine in the Southwest." This was my first literary effort; 
it was greeted with both brickbats and bouquets, but at 
least it escaped the fate of passing unnoticed. 

An account of early Fort Valley history would not be 
complete without a word about the pink mules. Everyone 
who visited Fort Valley between 1909 and 1918 remem¬ 
bers Pat and Mike. With such accomplished mule skinners 
as Harrison Burrall, Jack Boyce, H. S. Betts, and Emanuel 
Fritz plying the "black snake," they were capable of doing 
the nine miles between Fort Valley and Flagstaff in one 
hour and 40 minutes. Without the pink mules, much of 
what is worthwhile in Fort Valley history would never have 
taken place. They transported men, supplies, and equip¬ 
ment to every planting area and sample plot, and since it 
was the custom then to camp on or near the job, the time 
required to go back and forth was not a serious matter. Of 
course the boys usually managed to get into town Saturday 
evenings, for in those days we were all young and quickly 
found our places in the social life of a small town such as 
Flagstaff. 

Perhaps the greatest accomplishment of the pink mule era 
was the establishment of a large number of sample cutting 
plots “ glorified quadrants, if you please, for was not the 
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"Forest Examiner in Charge" a disciple of Clements? The 
late Col. Woolsey was then Chief of Silviculture in Region 
3. The idea made a big hit with him and in his energetic 
way he proposed that 50,000 acres be measured for 
sample plots. We finally compromised on 2,000 acres, 
and at that Region 3 is pretty well up in the" biggest" class 
as sample plots go. 

Besides cutting plots, there were experiments in natural 
reproduction, planting, nursery work and slash disposal. 
Official visitors came often and didn't have to hurry back 
to fix the budget. All got a thrill out of seeing a successful 
plantation or a natural reproduction plot containing honest- 
to-goodness live pine seedlings. One of my early an¬ 
nouncements was that less than 5 percent of the seed¬ 
lings that germinate can be expected to survive. Newcom¬ 
ers periodically make this same discovery with minor 
modifications. It was while viewing the remains of my 
departed seedlings that Zon made this prophetic utter¬ 
ance: "Pearson, you may be building yourself a monu¬ 
ment, but I am afraid you are digging your grave." 

Buildings were erected under difficulties, not so much 
because funds were lacking as because of the cost 
limitations. In 1909, $500 was the deadline, and by 
1918, it had risen only to $800. But the building problem 
had its interesting, not to say amusing, aspects. Fort 
Valley boasted the first Forest Service bathroom in Region 
3. To be accurate, it was a bath "house." Since the 
dwelling in which this luxury was to be installed had 
already cost all the law allowed, the situation looked 
hopeless. But the Fiscal Agent and the Assistant to the 
Solicitor were resourceful and cooperative. Both went to 
the happy hunting grounds years ago, so my telling this 
will not get them into trouble. They decided that if the 
bathroom was not physically connected (nailed) to the 
main building it was legally a separate house. To keep well 
within this interpretation, the bath house was placed a full 
half inch away, and not a nail was allowed to violate the 
letter of the law. 

Physical expansion was slow until rather recently. Up to 
1927, Fort Valley could boast only four residence build¬ 
ings and three or occasionally four technical men. When 
we had a clerk we were lucky and when we didn't, well, 
we got along somehow. More money has been spent for 
improvements since 1930 (i.e., in six years] than during 
the entire 20 years preceding. The addition of a Division 
of Range Investigations, together with emergency activi¬ 
ties has trebled our technical personnel. Garage space for 
16 cars still leaves some out in the rain. Gasoline lights 
gave way to a Koehler plant which in turn has been 
scrapped for an electric powerline. All this is recorded 
merely as history and not in a boasting vein for I know that 
Fort Valley is now rated as a small toad in the research 
pool. 

In the field of research, the public and the Forest Service 
have a right to expect something from a station that has 
been in operation more than a quarter century. Silvical 
research men in this region were always a simple-minded 
lot who thought that forestry was concerned with forests, 
and so our accomplishments have been in the field of old- 
fashioned forest management. 

I used to dream of the day when extensive areas of cutover 
lands would become waving fields of young pine; when 
pole stands would be thinned and pruned for maximum 
production; when the experiment station would be able to 
hand over reliable records of growth, yield and mortality to 
be used by administration in preparing management plans. 
These dreams have been realized in even greater measure 
than I had ever hoped. 

Cut-over pine lands by millions of acres have restocked 
under my eyes; I have lived to see the "hoofed locusts" in 
full retreat before the advancing tide of pine thickets; 1 
have lived to see thousands of acres subjected to timber 
stand improvement; I have lived to see yield tables for 
many-aged stands made from the records I started 25 
years ago. Credit for these accomplishments belongs not 
to the experiment station alone, for Region 3 has contrib¬ 

uted much in money, men and extensive demonstration. 

The research tree that was planted at Fort Valley 27 years 
ago has made no phenomenal growth, but it is still a living 
tree whose leader points skyward. If its progress could 
have been measured from time to time, the record might 
read somewhat like that of the Forest plots which are its 
offspring. The records of these plots reveal vigorous 
growth mixed with stagnation and actual retrogression; 
and yet, every five-year measurement has shown positive 
increment. 

Tucson, Arizona 

April 13, 1936 

Mr. Johnson [See pp. 16 ff, this volume] mentions "timber 
rights" sections and agreement. All National Forests 
containing railroad-owned lands were concerned with 
these timber rights. The agreement under which these 
lands were harvested was originally called the "Seed Tree 
Agreement." 

Mr. Homer German, for many years the top sales admin¬ 
istrator on the Coconino National Forest, prepared the 
following brief paper: 

Railroad Timber Rights Agreement: The "Seed Tree 
Agreement" was made about 1878 or 1880 with the Old 
Atlantic and Pacific Railroad. In order to get the railroad 
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into the country the Government granted, within a 10- or 
20-mile strip on each side of the Railroad right of way, 
timber rights on odd sections in certain townships. This 
timber was to be removed within 50 years. 

Eventually the railroad's name was changed to the A.T. & 
S.F. R.R. Co., and this company sold all the timber on these 
sections to timber operators in order to obtain the neces¬ 
sary funds to build the railroad. These lands were 
sometimes called the "Perrin Lands," named after a man 
that acted as a go-between for the Railroad and the timber 
operators. 

The Forest Service cruised these sections in 1905 or 
1908, or earlier. The methods of cruising varied from a 
10% strip cruise to a 100% cruise for each section. The 
Government could only retain 10% of the gross volume on 
each section, in the form of seed trees. No yellow pine 
over 20 inches D.B.H. could be left as a seed tree. Any 
yellow pine left, under 20 inches D.B.H. must have a green 
or dead limb within the first one third of the total height, 
or within the first 20 feet of the tree length. No Blackjack 
over 28 inches D.B.H. could be left, and any left over 20 

inches D.B.H. must have a green limb within the first 
sixteen feet of the tree height. Only trees of twelve inches 
D.B.H. and above were considered. Trees to be left were 
marked with a white (white lead paint) spot at breast 
height and on the stump. Trees were measured with a 
Biltmore stick. 

A Mr. Wayne Russell was in charge of the sales for the 

Forest Service from 1917 to 1920. He was very lax in 
enforcing the 10% leave volume, hence many sections 
were denuded to only 4% or 5% of the original stand. 

Utilization was considered to the extent that the operators 
could leave a sixteen inch stump and cut down to a ten 
inch top log. Brush disposal consisted of dragging tops and 
slash for a distance of fifteen feet from a remaining seed 
tree. 

To summarize, it was impossible, under these specifica¬ 
tions, to get a good seed tree distribution. Markers had to 
often remark sections in order to retain the 10% of gross 
volume. The majority of these "Seed trees" were not good 
seed trees because of the specifications. 
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Personal Stories 

Mr. Willard Bond, a Boston Yankee, is a graduate of Bates 
College and the Yale Forestry School. He arrived in District 
3 in 1924, and was assigned to the Coconino National 
Forest to work on the Arizona Lumber and Timber Com¬ 
pany sale. Bill was interviewed at his home in Nambe, New 
Mexico. Mr. Robert Ground was also present at the 
interview, and contributed to the stories. 

My first work was on a timber sale. Fred Merkle broke me 
in. Fred gave me instructions for, oh, a week or so, on 
scalin’. I'd never done any scalin'. I worked with Kim 
Carlisle. I remember I stayed there until along in Decem¬ 
ber; that's when I went to the Carson. 

They took me out to the Hallock & Howard sale on the 
Carson. Bill Daugherty was in charge of that sale. Bill and 
I scaled logs all over. Lee Wang was Ranger at the old 
Borracho Ranger Station. Along about the middle of the 
winter. Bill went into the office at Taos and that left me 
alone there. Sure had my hands full for a while. 

That was railroad logging? 

Yeah; that was the narrow gauge. They came off the old 
Chile line at La Madera and went up by La Madera through 
Vallecitos to Taos Junction. They did railroad logging with 
a vengeance. Sometimes they didn’t have any brakes on 
those things and I don't think I ever rode on it; I was afraid 
they’d have a wreck. 

What was the situation like? 

Bill and I had a little old timber sale shack, rough board 
shack, about 14 by 16; two rooms. I remember we used 
to get up every morning ail winter and melt snow or ice so 
we'd have water to wash our faces. I recall that the cook 
shack burned down. Gosh, we woke up; I don't remember 
what time it was, but it was real early in the morning 
though, still dark, and we heard this woman screaming and 
saw the light on the side of the cabin. We dressed and 
went out and the whole danged cook shack was goin' up 
in a blaze. 

Did you eat in the cook shack? 

We ate in the cook shack, and of course some of the meals 
there were pretty hearty. Always for lunch she’d hard-fry 
a bunch of eggs; wrap 'em up in some of those cold 
pancakes, and that was what we usually made out with 
for our lunch. 

The snow got pretty deep up in that country? 

Pretty deep, especially on the north slopes. As a matter 
of fact, that winter that we were there, the winter of '24 
- '25, we marked timber on those cold north slopes and, 
if I remember right, we wore snowshoes. It was more 

snow than I've seen in New Mexico since. But, of course, 
we'd get up on top of a ridge to have our fried-egg and 
pancake lunch, and it would be pretty nice there. 

Where did you Qo from that sale. Bill? 

From that sale I went out to Flagstaff to that 1925 Ranger 
school. Then after that I went down to Prescott, with Lou 
Smith. Lou and I worked together that fall. He was getting 
dope for a bidding that was being planned for that country 
around Walnut Creek. Walter Nicholson, I believe, was 
Ranger then. I didn’t stay very long on the Prescott. From 
there I went to the Lincoln, to the Mesa Ranger Station. 

I went back to the Carson and bought that old long-legged, 
balkin' horse, the one Lee Wang still crows about sellin' 
me. Of course, Lee doesn’t tell some of the other stories. 
He doesn't tell about that horse he traded for, that three- 
legged horse, but he still crows about sellin' me that dog¬ 
gone long-legged horse. He was 17 hands high; oh, he 
was high, and long! 

I went back there and raffled him off at that timber sale 
camp. I had given Lee $100 for him; I think I was lucky 
when I got $35 from the raffle. But anyway we got rid of 
the horse. I sure didn't want to take him to the Lincoln with 
me. 

My first station on the Lincoln was with Bob Ewing there 
at the old Mesa Ranger Station. I was Assistant Ranger 
with Bob. I spent about a year there as Assistant Ranger 
on the Mesa, and then I went on the Capitan District in the 
spring of '27 as Ranger. 

Was the Station right there in town, at the edge of town, 

where it is now? 

No; no, it was up there at the old Baca Station, the old Baca 
ranch headquarters. They called that the Honeymoon 
Ranger Station. Seemed like every Ranger that went there 
spent their honeymoon there. 

It was just an old board Station. As I remember, it didn't 
even have a sink in it. I know it didn't have any plumbing 
facilities. It had a cistern, and the rats and mice used to 
get into it. I wrote to Fred Arthur about that. I told him, 
"That thing needs a new top on it," and he couldn't 
understand why I had to have a new cistern top. I told him, 
"Fred, you come with me and I’ll show you." I went out 
and drew up a bucket of water and just threw it out on the 
top, and it just drizzled right on down into the cistern. Fred 
says, "You win; we'll put a new top on it." And he did. 

«***•»***#* 

From the Use Book - 1906. "Annual Ranger Meetings. 
The time and place of the meeting will be left to the 
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discretion of the Supervisor, who may combine with the 
Supervisor of adjacent reserves." 

• ***••*••• 

Figure 3. The tent camp used for the combined Alamo-Lincoln 

Ranger Meeting in 1912. 

That was the only District I had on the Lincoln. They 
abolished the Capitan District when I left there. They 
combined it with the White Mountain. That was the time 
they were makin' these enormous big Districts. I had the 
one at Capitan and one at Alpine. That one at Alpine was 
so darned big that I know there was a lot of it I never did 
see. 

That was a hot fire District, too. 

Yeah, but I was lucky. I think 40 or 50 acres was the 
biggest fire I ever had there at Alpine. But I had a crackin' 
good guard force. Roy Swapp had been Ranger there 
before, and Roy had already trained 'em. Oren Reynolds 
was there, and Oren knew the country. 

Without those fellows I'd'a been completely lost. But as 
it was, we had two full seasons there and never did have 
a bad fire. We had lots of fires, lots of fires, but they were 
able to get on 'em and get 'em out quick. Those fellows 
sure knew the country and knew their business. I didn't 
teach those fellows anything about fires; they taught me. 

Then from Alpine, did vou ao into the office? 

Yeah; I went directly into the Springerville office, from 
Alpine. 

Did Lee Beall tell you about the time the tent fell down on 
us? 

No. 

Oh, Lee should've told you about that. It was in March, I 
think, of '26, late March. We had a Fire school, I don't 
remember exactly where it was, but it was away up on top 
somewhere. All the Rangers on the Lincoln were there. 
We had instructions and mock fires; Hugh Calkins was 
there from the Regional Office, and Jim Mullin. 

We went to bed one night and I remember I woke up and 

Figure 4. The ranger group at the 1912 Alamo-Lincoln Combined Ranger Meeting.. 
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was kinda suffocated. I couldn't think what was goin' on; 
it just kept pushin' in on me 'til I knew something had to 
happen. I'd gone to bed with my pants on. I reached down 
and got my jack-knife out. I reached up; I could feel this 
over me. I reached up and cut the tent and rose up, and, 
By Golly, we had -1 don't remember how much snow, but 
a couple of feet, anyway! I never will forget it. 

I looked across at Lee, and he'd done the same thing I had. 
He had cut his way out, too, and he was sittin' there in just 
his undershirt and he was pickin' snow, pickin' snow out 
of his bedroll. About that time we heard George Messer. 
He was yelling, "You have to help me out, boys, I can't 
stand it much longer." Vance Thomas says, "George, 
where are you? Sounds like you're way down in a cave." 
And, sure 'nough, we reached in and pulled George out. 

I remember I rode Dick Gault's horse out of there. The 
snow was so darned deep, that this big tall horse of Dick's 
could just make it through those drifts. 

Bob Ground: I can tell you when I was initiated in the 
Forest Service. It was on the 9th day of April, 1917. We 
started out on a job and the snow was still pretty deep on 
the San Antone, there in the country, and we went down 
to the crick - the crick was cornin' up high and we crossed 
it in a hack, a two-horse outfit hack. 

The water had cut out a channel in the crick, and this old 
horse stepped in that channel there and the water run over 
his back. We pulled out on the other side; we bounced 
across, but on down a mile or so further we had to cross 
another canyon. We got out in the middle of this canyon 
and the snow was about that deep, and we got out there 
and this old hack just settled right down in the snow. So 
we had to get out. 

One of the horses balked. We had to get out and shovel 
that whole thing off; take the horses loose and hook 'em 
on at the end of the tongue and pull it out on the other side. 
Well, we got out of there and got on down to the San 
Antone Mountain. There were a few little dry spots where 
the wind had blown the snow off; it was late then and we 
camped there. The wind blew hard, and we couldn't keep 
the covers on, so we spent all night tryin' to keep the 
covers on. We put some rocks on the edge of the covers, 
but we about froze to death. 

Then next day we went back. We didn't do a darned thing 
but just go out there and back, and fight snow. That was 
the first day's work; first two days' work in my Forest 
Service life. 

That was vour introduction? 

Yeah, my introduction. 

Willard Bond: I suppose one of the big differences in 
Forest Service work now from what it was when I first 
knew it, is the availability of transportation. Gosh, when 
I first worked. Rangers just weren't furnished cars. In fact, 
we didn't have any cars. I think the Carson had one Ford 
pickup when I went there, and the Lincoln was in about the 
same shape. 

Of course we got some mileage, when we finally got a 
Model T Ford, and drove that on a mileage basis. We only 
collected about a third of what we actually ran. It didn't 
run too much then because we didn't have the roads. We 
didn't have the highways to get around on. You simply had 
to get on your pony and take out. When I was at the Baca 
Ranger Station, that's what I used to do. I'd leave Monday 
morning, make a complete round of the mountain, and 
come back in on Friday night. Sometimes I wouldn't get 
back in on Friday. That was the only way you could get 
around. 

Another thing, you really got to know your permittees, 
'cause you put up with 'em. 

I remember I used to take off from that Mesa Ranger 
Station and go up on the Ancho, that Ancho country, 
horseback. I remember one night I stayed up -- there was 
an old German named George Weishen who used to run a 
store up there on top of Jacks Peak, Jacks Peak from 
Ancho. I got in there, it was snowin' to beat the band, and 
he wasn't there. 

There was a fellow runnin' his store and I said, "How about 
puttin' up here for the night?" Well, he kinda hemmed and 
hawed, and finally he told me, "Put your horse up in the 
shed and you can sleep in George's bed." Well, I didn't 
know what I was in for, but any way I went in there and the 
place was so darned dirty, I never even took my boots off. 
I had a big sheepskin woolly coat and I kept that on. 

I got on the bed and pulled the bedclothes up around me, 
and then I began to hear noises. The darned place was just 
alive with rats and mice. I think that was one of the most 
unpleasant nights I ever put in. I just couldn't wait until it 
began to get light in the morning. I went out and got on 
my old pony and rode down-country to Bryan Hightower's 
and got breakfast with him. But some of those things as 
you look back on them, they weren't too unpleasant. You 
remember the pleasant things, not the unpleasant. 

Bob Ground: Of course you know about that horse story, 
didn't you, of Lee Wang's? 

No. 

You see we were rounding up a bunch of horses on the 
Tres Piedras District, just before I had the District. Harry 

9 



Naylor had it. Somehow or other, Harry Naylor had bought 
a horse and it had one bad leg. Anyway, he had the horse 
and it got out. So then we had a horse roundup, and in the 
roundup, why we rounded this horse up. Harry Naylor was 
the Ranger. They rounded up this horse, so Harry says, 
"Well, we'll put it up for sale, just the same as the rest of 
'em." They put this horse up for sale and Lee Wang was 
up there, so he begin to bid on the horse. Harry told him, 
he says, "Lee, you don't want that horse; it's only got 
three legs." "Well, I wanta tradin'horse." Lee Wang said, 
so he bid it up; I don't remember what he paid for the horse, 
but it seems to me it was something around $20; I'm not 
sure about it. 

Anyway, he got the horse. He took it home, and he tried 
to trade it off down around Vallecitos, to some of those 
natives around there, but he didn't have any luck. They 
seemed to know more about horses than Lee did! 

Then they had another roundup over on the Canjilon 
District. Jim Newton was Ranger over there. Lee went 
around tryin' to trade this horse and he couldn't find 
anybody to trade with except some people named Trujillo. 
They had a bunch of horses, so he finally talked up a trade, 
and got this cayuse, a wild little bronco. Lee traded his 
three-legged horse for this little wild cayuse. 

When they got ready to leave, why they packed this little 
horse up. Jim Newton put the pack on, and he put in on 
to stay. Lee Wang started out ridin' his old, long-legged 
Sam horse, goin' off across the flats. I think Jim Newton 
was out there'kinda shooin' the horse behind, 'cause the 
horse wouldn't lead. Finally, Lee got out of sight and Jim 
Newton came back. Some of the fellows sittin' on the 
corral fence there tellin' stories looked up and saw this 
little horse goin' across the flats there with the pack on him 
- Old Lee Wang behind it, just givin' it heck, on his old Sam 
horse, tryin' to catch him! Of course, he didn't get him. 

After 'while he came up to the corral there. Of course the 
fellows couldn't keep from laughin', 'cause they saw the 
whole show. Lee told 'em what happened; said he'd give 
$5 reward for the horse, or the outfit. Things drifted along 
there for a day or two, so he raised the ante, said he'd give 
$10, or something like that. Still nothin' happened. 
Finally, he raised the ante again and told 'em they could 
have the horse, just bring his bed back. 

So about the time, Manuel Trujillo, went out and shot the 
horse and got the bed and brought the bed in to Lee and 
collected his reward. The rumor was — I don't know 
whether there was any truth in it or not -- they said he shot 
a hole through his bed. That was the end of Lee Wang's 
horse-tradin' 

Mr. F. J. Monighan, a native of Pennsylvania, was another 

who had his schooling interrupted by World War 1. After 
receiving a medical discharge from the Navy, Jim attended 
the University of Georgia. During the Summer of 1924 he 
had a temporary job on the Lolo National Forest in Region 
1. In an interview at his home in Albuquerque, Jim starts 
his story with his offers of probationary appointments in 
1925. 

Early in April I had a wire from the Lolo National Forest 
asking me if I would accept a job, a probationary job, on 
the Lolo, beginning the middle of April. I wired back and 
said that I would. On the same day, the same afternoon, 
I had a wire from Albuquerque, New Mexico, signed by Mr. 
Hugh Calkins, asking me if I would accept a job on the 
Coconino National Forest, doing timber management work. 
I thought about how cold it was in Montana when I was 
up scalin' logs on Nine-Mile - the night I left Montana it 
was 21 below zero! I thought how nice and warm it would 
be in the Southwest. I immediately wired Region 1, the 
Lolo, and told 'em that I had received an offer of a job on 
the Coconino National Forest in Arizona. I apologized and 
told 'em that I didn't want their job, that I was goin' where 
it was warmer. 

I reported to Williams, Arizona, on a Saturday, and at that 
time the offices worked Saturday morning. I walked over 
to the Forest office. Wally Dillon was the Administrative 
Assistant at that time. I talked to him and he asked me to 
stick around a little while, that Supervisor Kimball would 
come from a fire meeting that they were holding that week 
at the old Spring Valley Ranger Station. 

I stayed and in a few minutes Supervisor Kimball, Assis¬ 
tant Supervisor W. T. Dougherty, Mr. Hugh Calkins, who 
at that time was Chief of Operations, and, I believe Mr. 
Stanley Wilson was also with them. Calkins at that time 
was leaving and I think Wilson was out just learning the 
ropes of the job. Talked for a few minutes with Kimball and 
he says, "Well, come back Monday morning and we'll put 
you to work." So I reported and I believe it was Easter 
Monday, April 11, 1925. 

I reported Monday morning and they gave me a job staying 
at the Experiment Station in Flagstaff, and living in one of 
the barracks rooms there and eating with the Osburns, Mr. 
and Mrs. Bill Osburn, who were caretakers at the Experi¬ 
ment Station. 

Every morning the logging train would come from Belmont 
to the logging camp. My job was to - after the logging train 
went up the hill from the Experiment Station and after 
about an hour - walk to the end of the track where they 
were loadin' logs, and carry a hoe, a rake, and a shovel on 
my shoulder, and a canteen of water. If there were any 
spot fires that the engine had started, it was my job to put 
them out. I walked to the end of the track. In an hour or 
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so after they finished loading out the log cars, I would walk 
back down to the Station in the evening. If there were any 
spot fires, I was to put 'em out. 

I was on this job for about 30 or 45 days while they were 
loadin’ out the logs in the Wing Mountain area and gettin' 
ready to take the logs from Garland Prairie. During the time 
when the loggin' train didn't come to load logs, I did a little 
bit of work with Mr. G. A. Pearson, who was in charge of 
the Experiment Station at that time, and Mr. Herman 
Crouch, who were making studies around Fort Valley. 
Several times I counted the rings on stumps of trees that 
had been cut down and also assisted them in classification 
of trees, in the vicinity of Fort Valley. 

Then I was moved to the logging camp at Garland Prairie 
and worked under Mr. Homer German, who was in charge 
of the sale, and Mr. Rex King, who was German's 
assistant. We marked timber and scaled logs in the 
Garland Prairie area during 1925. Then, in the spring of 
1926,1 was assigned to the Greer Ranger District on the 
Apache National Forest, as Assistant Ranger to Jesse T. 
Fears. 

I reported to the Supervisor, Kenner Kartchner at 
Springerville. Kenner called me into his office and gave me 
a briefing on Fears. He told me that Jesse was an old-time, 
broncobustin' cowboy; that he was a hard worker and was 
hard for a college boy to get along with. He told me that 
I'd have to watch my '’p''s and '’q'’s and to get along with 
Jesse the best I could; that he was a taskmaster and if he 
could run a college boy off the Forest, he'd do it. 

Well, being a city boy, cornin' from Pennsylvania, I had 
never been on a horse. Fears had come down from Greer 
horseback, and leadin' another horse. It was 18 miles or 
so from Springerville to Greer, the old Greer Ranger 
Station. Along in the middle of the afternoon Jesse and I 
got on the horses; I don't know how I got on because I'd 
never been on one before. But I did, and we started to 
Greer, Jesse on one horse and me following on another, 
and not knowin' how or what to do. But the irony of it was 
that Jesse’s wife, Ruth, was also in town that day in their 
Dodge roadster, and she rode back alone, and I could have 
gone with her instead of ridin' a horse that 20 miles. 

So, we got in in due time and Ruth had supper and I, at that 
time, lived at the old Ranger Station with the Fears and I 
enjoyed it very, very much. But the next morning, after 
that 20-mile ride, I was pretty sore and tired, and after 
breakfast - it was a pretty early one, too - Jesse took me 
down to the barn and saddled my horse for me and started 
me across a drift fence that went from Greer to the old 
road that comes out of Walter Canyon and goes up on top 
of the mountain. He said, "You follow this fence until you 
get to that road over there and then you turn around and 

come back," which is another 18 or 20-mile ride. 

I said to Jesse, "As I go along, what am I supposed to look 
for?" He said, "You just go over there and come back." So 
I did, and came back late in the evening. In those days the 
old-time cowboys didn’t take lunch with them. So I didn't 
have any lunch that day. 

The next day Jesse didn't have anything else to do, and it 
was about time to put the lookout on Mt. Baldy, which is 
on the dividing line between the Apache Forest and the 
Apache Indian Reservation. We started out from Greer 
and went up to Baldy and when we got there we couldn't 
get within about 200 yards of the cabin on account of the 
deep snow. However, we waded up to the cabin and 
looked in and turned around and came back to Greer. I 
don't know what we went up there for, if anything, except 
to give me another ride. 

We got to the Station that night, and next morning we 
started from Greer and went over to CC flats. We had a 
guard cabin over there, and also there was a little timber 
sale near there. A man by the name of Isaacson from St. 
Johns cut a few trees or logs every couple of weeks or so. 
We got to CC flats and from there we went down and 
marked a few trees for Mr. Isaccson. The next day we 
went down to Porter Springs which is right on the dividing 
line between the Apache and the Sitgreaves -- all this by 
horseback, and me so sore I could hardly move. The next 
day we came back to Greer. I think along in there 
someplace we should have had a Sunday. I remember we 
didn't do anything on Sunday. 

The next day we started to work on telephone lines. Jesse 
and George Crosby and Wig Sharp and myself - and I had 
never been on a pair of climbers before, either. The first 
tree they let me climb was about 50 inches in diameter, a 
big Douglas fir, and I was to go up and see if the line and 
the bracket were all right. They showed me how to throw 
a rope around the tree and go up. So I went up; the bracket 
was all right, so I came down, think I slid down the last six 
or eight feet. When I came down my knees were shakin'; 
I didn't think I’d ever get up another tree. We kept this up 
for three or four days. 

Then after that, Jesse would take me out over the 
different allotments, looking at cattle grazin' and trespass 
stock. He seemed to have a few in some of those areas 
up there. The people weren't used to payin’ for cattle, and 
didn't want to be told how many they could run. Through¬ 
out the summer I worked with Jesse on cattle rides and 
drives and marked timber. 

We had a little old shingle mill right near Greer. A fellow 
by the name of Burke owned it, and I marked his trees. I 
did practically all of the timber sale work that was done on 



the Greer District that year. After 'while Jesse would let 
me ride horseback to CC flats by myself. I got so I could 
get out alone on a horse and get back without bein' too 

sore. 

That fall, after workin' there all year, I was takin' my 
vacation. I went in to Albuquerque and stayed at the 
Alvarado Hotel. I had about ten days or so in Albuquerque. 
I was sittin' around the Alvarado lobby one day about noon 
and Mr. Calkins, who was Chief of Operations, came 
through the lobby goin' to lunch. He spotted me and came 
over and talked and said, "Well, what are you doin' here?" 
I said, "I'm on vacation." 

He said, "When are you goin' to Arizona?" Well, at that 
time i was bein' transferred from the Apache National 
Forest, Greer District, to a timber sale on the south end of 
the Coconino. I was supposed to report there after 
January 1. Mr. Calkins asked me to come up to the office, 
which I did on Monday, reluctantly, because I hadn't been 
up there at all. I did finally go up to the office and Calkins 
said, "We want you to stay in here and help in grazing 
compilation work for the range reconnaissance on the Gila 
and the west end of the old Datil, now the Cibola Forest." 

Along in March I got sick. It was beginning to be time to 
do spring work, so I was goin' to the Coconino. About that 
same time they were talkin' about opening up the first sale 
on the Sitgreaves, on the Lakeside District, out of McNary. 
It was the K-D Lumber Company sale. They were gonna 
start loggin' the Sitgreaves Forest that spring. So instead 
of my goin' to the Coconino, I was sent to McNary, to the 
old Las Burros Ranger Station on the McNary - Vernon 
road, about eight or ten miles north of McNary. 

Everett Hamilton, who in later years was at the Experi¬ 
ment Station in California, and I lived in this cabin and 
batched there for several months. Shortly after I got there, 
Mr. Duncan Lang, who at that time was the logging 
engineer for the Region out of Albuquerque, came to the 
Sitgreaves to teach the timber sale men how to scale long 
logs. 

I would like to say right here that Everett Hamilton and I 
were the first two men to scale long logs on a timber sale 
within the region. The first long logs were cut by K-D on 
the Sitgreaves in 1928 and, after several weeks of 
training, why we got more or less proficient in it and we 
kept up the scaling of the logs for some time. 

One incident that I recall happened at the old Las Burros 
Ranger Station this spring. Aftera hard day's scaling inthe 
mud and rain, we came into the old Las Burros Station. 
Everett Hamilton was chief cook at that time, and he was 
making a cake. He had it in the oven. Duncan Lang and 
I came in together. It had been rainin' off and on all day 

and we were cold and wet and hungry. We sat around for 
a little while and finally the weather got the best of us. I 
guess we had cabin fever because we were chewin' each 
other out and hard to get along with. 

For some reason, it just happened that I had a little bit of 
apricot brandy in my suitcase. Not knowin' whether Dune 
or Everett ever took a drink I went in and got the bottle and 
set it up on the table and said," I don't care who knows that 
I take a drink. I'm gonna have a little drink." So I took a 
little swig and Hamilton got up and said, "I don't care who 
knows I take a drink," so he took a little swig, and then 
Dune Lang got up and said, "I don't give a damn who 
knows I take a drink," - so he had one, too. And after a 
while, you know, that cabin warmed up, and I don't know 
to this day whether we had a good supper or not! 

The loggin' at McNary on the old KD Lumber Company sale 
was strictly a skidding proposition when they first came 
on the Forest; using chokers around the logs and skiddin' 
'em directly into the landing where they were unhooked, 
the loader lifted 'em and put 'em on the cars and they were 
taken to McNary every night. This type of loggin', in the 
early days before we had many plans, really chewed up a 
lot of the soil, and made deep gouges from the logs being 
towed directly on the ground. In a good many places it did 
make a good seedbed and in many areas where we had 
done this kind of loggin', we got excellent reproduction in 
good years when we had good seed crops. 

One interesting thing about this old sale was the marking 
along the County road that went from McNary to Vernon. 
When we first started markin' timber around Lake Moun¬ 
tain and along this road, we left a strip, I believe it was 200 
feet wide on either side of the road, where there was no 
marking whatsoever. We left it in its natural state. 

Shortly afterwards, maybe within a year or so, the policy 
was that you could take out decadent trees and lightning- 
struck trees and trees that you really thought were gonna 
die within a short period. Then after that you could mark 
about 30 percent. Then the policy changed again and you 
could mark 50 percent, and shortly afterwards, the policy 
changed again and you couldn't mark anything. And as I 
remember, when the sale closed out, or just before it 
closed out, you could do the same type of marking along 
the highway, on this County road, as you did on other 
areas surrounding it. 

After the winter, spring, and summer at Las Burros we 
were finally moved into cabins that the Forest had built on 
Indian Service land in McNary, or just outside the town 
limits. We moved into the cabins there. Marge and I had 
two cabins that were about eight, ten feet apart. We had 
a bedroom in one, and a kitchen, office, and everything 
else in the other. The John was an outside John. Water 
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was piped in from the town of McNary and we did not have 
flush toilets. 

We spent the winter of '27 and the spring of '28 in 
McNary, at which time, in the spring of '28,1 was offered 
the timber sale job on the Grand Canyon unit, which is now 
the Tusayan Division of the Kaibab, as timber sale man. 
We reported in the spring of '28 to Williams. We lived in 
Williams for several months while George Kimball, Arthur 
Gibson, John Schroeder, and a few more of the boys on 
the Tusayan that could drive a nail, built us a house which, 
as I recall was 20 by 20, and divided into four rooms which 
were about ten feet square, which didn't give us too much 
space. 

The headquarters logging camp for the Saginaw was on 
the Santa Fe Railroad, halfway between Anita and Grand 
Canyon. Our water was hauled in to the camp in big tank 
cars from Williams and put on a siding. We had two eight 
or ten-gallon galvanized buckets and we had to walk 400 
yards or so, and turn the water on in the tank and get a few 
buckets of water. It took a long time to get down there 
with a few buckets of water to fill the tub that we put on 
the old wood stove to heat water, so you could have your 
Saturday night bath. 

During the early days of the Grand Canyon sale, we were 
not furnished with a car by the Forest Service, nor did we 
have a speeder to run on the Saginaw Railroad tracks. The 
loggin' train would leave the headquarters camp with the 
empty cars between 4:30 and 5:00 o'clock. We had to get 
on a car and go up to the loggin' camp and then walk out 
to where we were markin' trees or supervisin' the brush, 
or skinnin' the logs, or doin' the other jobs that were 
necessary to do around a big logging operation. Then we 
came back in with the loaded cars at night. 

We'd get home anywhere from 6:00 to 8:30, if the cars 
stayed on the track. And if they didn't, it might be 
midnight, or the next morning, before we got home. We 
did this for months. I recall that there were a couple of the 
assistant scalers' wives came up to our house one day and 
just chewed into Marge and gave her the Devil for me 
taking their husbands away from them for so long every 
day in the week and not gettin 'em home 'til way after 
dark, and takin' 'em to work before the sun ever thought 
of cornin' up. Marge listened to it as long as they wanted 
to expound, and finally she says, "Well, doesn't Jim go 
with them? He's not at home, so he goes with 'em too." 

A short time after this incident we did get an old Model T 
roadster that had belonged to the Supervisor's office in 
Williams. When they got a new sedan, or a new pickup, 
I believe it was, why we got the old Model T roadster. We 
didn't have to leave home until about 6:30 or 7:00 to get 
up into the woods in the Model T. But on the days when 

it was muddy or snowy, you'd still have to go and ride the 
train. 

Then a little later, we got a motor scooter to run on the 
railroad track to take us back and forth to the woods. 
These scooters were very, very treacherous. The railroad 
had these high joints; they're not smooth. The curves 
aren't good. If you're not careful, if you got up too much 
speed, why the scooter would be just as apt to leave the 
track and throw you off and skin you up. I know several 
times, in ridin' the scooter, we'd be thrown off and get 
skinned up, but then get right back on again because that's 
the only way you had to get around. 

On the Grand Canyon unit of the Tusayan Division, in the 
old days it was called the Grand Canyon unit, was a big 
sale. There was one cattle permittee on most of the area, 
Martin Bugland. I think he ran around a thousand head of 
cattle under the 10-X brand. I don't believe in all that area 
there was 1 5 or 20 seedlings per section. It was one of 
the areas where there was no reproduction to speak of at 
all. 

I remember one year we had a good seed crop -- I don't 
remember what year it was, but I made some counts. We 
put in quarter-acre plots and we had as many as 35,000 
trees on one acre of ground up there. We kept records, and 
in about ten years there were no seedlings left in the area 
at all, mostly due from drouth and probably from cattle, 
too. 

The logging operation there was two-fold. First, they 
skidded entirely with horses and high wheels. This went 
on for a year ora year and a half, then they went to skiddin' 
on the ground with cats, and after a while they went to 
arches, steel arches with a track on either side, instead of 
wheels. They'd lift up the front end of the logs about six 
feet off the ground and take 'em into the landing where 
they were dropped and loaded onto the cars and taken to 
the Santa Fe and then into Williams. 

On their outlying areas, that they considered too scattered 
to log, they had a gypo contract they gave to an old fellow 
by the name of Pat McCoy and his brothers, Jesse and 
Zinny. They were quite an outfit. They were hard 
workers. They used eight-wheeled wagons pulled by 
horses. They'd just skid 'em up into a wagon load in the 
woods and they'd cross-haul; load by crosshauls, and then 
take 'em to the landing. They were paid so much a 
thousand. They did all the work on these outlying areas, 
the cuttin' and the swampin' and the brush disposal work, 
and gettin' the logs to the landing. 

The McCoys were good contractors and they knew their 
business, and they knew what the Forest Service regula¬ 
tions were. Though there were times when we might have 
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a few arguments with Pat, why they were just honest 
arguments, things that he believed in. 

The Grand Canyon Unit, to begin with, was an entirely 100 
percent pile-and-burn operation with the brush. Then after 
two or three or four years, they finally went to lopping it, 
and a little later they went to lopping and scattering. I was 
on the Grand Canyon Unit until along about the latter part 
of 1933 when I moved into Williams in the office, and in 
early 1 934 I was promoted to Assistant Supervisor. 

Figures. Redstone Fire Tool Cache, Gila National Forest. Photo 
by E. S. Sharpe, July 11,1928. 

«•*»***««• 

From the National Forest Manual -1926. "The distribution 
of fire tools, particularly in small caches, is not looked upon 
with favor." 

The assembling of tools at central points, with reference 
to transportation and available labor, is considered to be 
the best policy." 

***»**##*# 

In July of 1935 I was put in charge of all timber work on 
the Kaibab as well as a good deal of the emergency work 
we were doin at that time: the WPA (the Works Progress 
Administration), ECA (the Economic Cooperation Admin¬ 
istration), NRA (the National Recovery Administration), 

and several other lettered programs that don't come to 
mind now. One of the best, or at least one of the projects 
I thought was outstanding, was the WPA water develop¬ 
ment from Warm Springs, pumping water from down near 
Ryan to Little Hill, south of Jacob Lake. This project was 
seven or eight miles long. Probably the lift in the water 

was about 5,000 feet from Ryan to Jacob Lake. 

The Highway Department bought about a 100,000- gallon 
big round tank, covered tank, for storage of water, so we 
would have gravity to their camp and to the Forest Jacob 
Lake campground, also to the lodge and garage and cabins 
at Jacob Lake. That was quite a project. We hauled men 
by truck from Heber, Cottonwood, Verde Valley, Williams, 
and even from Short Creek, in to this project. The men 
cooked their own meals and slept in tents. This was about 
a two-year project. 

There was a project almost like it on the other side of the 
mountain, on the east side of the mountain, just below 
Kane. We called it the South Canyon water project for the 
cattle and buffalo. This was a WPA job where we 
developed a spring, a big spring, up South Canyon, and 
then took water down onto the flat-lands of the Forest, 
and even out onto Bureau of Land Management lands 
outside the Forest boundary for a mile or so, for buffalo 
wallows. This was another project where we had to haul 
men from all over northern Arizona to get ’em to do this 
work. 

On the south side of the Kaibab, on the old Spring Valley 
District, Chalendar and Camp Clover, we used many of 
these men under the rangers to develop seeps and springs. 
I know we had 20 or 30 spring projects going at one time. 

In the fall of '38 there was a terrible hurricane on the East 
Coast that came up across New England, through Con¬ 
necticut and Massachusetts, Maine, Vermont, and New 
Hampshire, and went a little bit into Canada and then back 
off into the Atlantic Ocean again. This hurricane blew 
down practically all of the White pine in the New England 
States. 

About two months after this hurricane, the Forest Service 
in Washington was asked to take over the job of buying 
timber and cleaning up the area. The Chief's Office called 
on several Regions for experienced timber-sale men and 
administrators to go back to New England to handle the 
purchasing and the cleaning up of the brush from the 
hurricane. 

Early one morning I was called to the phone from Albuquer¬ 
que by Mr. George W. Kimball, the ARF [Assistant Re¬ 
gional Forester] in charge of Operation, who wanted to 
know if I would be interested in going back if they accepted 
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me. I told Mr. Kimball that I would be glad to go back to 
New England and help in the job in any way I could. I was 
selected for the detail, and reported to Boston for the job. 

The most important job, to begin with, as I look back now, 
was to keep White pine so that it doesn’t rot and the bark 
slip. It must be kept in water. Our toughest job, biggest 
job that we had to do, was to go within the State and try 
to put under contract all of the ponds, to keep the bugs out 
until the Government could get sawmills in that area to 
saw up the trees into timber. 

I will say that those New England Yankees are the hardest 
people in the world to deal with. They didn't want to rent 
the ponds for money or for any reason whatsoever. They 
didn't want to do it. They thought it would destroy the 
looks of their areas or ponds, and they didn't want it full 
of logs. But after several weeks, at least in the area where 
I was, we convinced 'em that we wouldn't do too much 
damage to their surrounding lands, and that we'd just put 
in the logs wherever they wanted them. 

I had the north half of Massachusetts in my area. When 
I got sufficient ponds under contract, it was only a short 
time afterwards that we started buying logs. The govern¬ 
ment bought the logs at the pond. It was the owner's 
responsibility to get the trees which were blown over onto 
the ground, sawed up into logs and delivered to the pond. 
We bought 'em and paid for 'em at the pond by grade and 
scale. Sometimes the people were not pleased with the 
amount of money they received for their logs, but I think 
we tried to do a fair job of scaling and grading. After four 
or five months I think we had most of the trees cut up and 
into the ponds. 

A part of the job that took a good deal of time, which 1 
didn’t have anything to do with, was the cleanup of the 
brush. When the logs were cut out of the tree we still had 
all the limbs and branches and needles. In order to cut 
down the fire hazard around the towns, and in the woods, 
the Government made a WPA project. They used WPA 
workmen throughout New England to lop and to pile the 
brush so it could be burned later on in the winter. One of 
the fellows from Region 3 had transferred from here back 
to Region 7, Willard Bond, who now lives at Nambe, was 
one of the men in charge of this project. He was in charge 
of the same area for brush disposal as I had for timber. 

After several months we were lucky enough, or fortunate 
enough, to have a few sawmills sawing and piling lumber. 
The Forest Service, to begin with, had to borrow money 
from the Reconstruction Finance Corporation to pay for 
the timber, and the administration of the work. The Forest 
Service came out of the job with a tidy profit instead of 
losing a lot of money which so many of these projects get 
into. 

I had one frustrating thing happen to me while I was back 
on this project. We left Arizona in late September and 
drove back to New England. We got the equivalent of train 
fare on the train to get back there. I was on a per diem of 
$6 a day while I was there. At the end of October I turned 
in my expense account, and in November I turned in an 
expense account, and at the end of January I turned in an 
expense account - and all this time no money came back! 
I was just turning in expense accounts. 

I talked to the Administrative Assistant one day and 
wanted to now what the trouble was that I didn't get any 
money, and he says, "Well, it's the fault of the Regional 
Office that you're not getting any money. I sent your 
expense accounts in." I just happened to be sitting at his 
desk and he opened his drawer and I looked down into his 
desk, and there was a drawer full of expense accounts. He 
didn’t know what to do with 'em, so he was just filin' 'em 
in his desk. 

I said, "Charlie, why haven't you sent these in?" "Well," 
he says, "To be honest with you, Mr. Monighan, I didn't 
know what to do with 'em." 

So I called up the fiscal agent in the NETSA (New England 
Timber Sales Administration) Office in Boston, and he 
said, "Send 'em in here and we'll handle 'em for you." It 
was only a couple of weeks until I had all my money back 
in my own pocket and was happy. 

Shortly after this, about the middle of March, Allen Miller, 
who is now in Lands in Washington, came to New England 
as State Director for NETSA. Allen asked me if I'd be his 
assistant. I asked him what they paid and he told me. I 
said, "No, you don't pay enough." "Well," he says, "The 
Boston Office is gonna take you off of per diem." I said, 
"Any time they take me off of per diem they can ship me 
back to Region 3." So, the 1 st of April we started back to 
Williams, Arizona. We were a good deal happier, I think, 
to get back West again. 

For the next year or so I just did routine work on the Kaibab. 
Early in January 1941 I was offered the Supervisor's job 
on the Sitgreaves to replace Mr. Fred Merkle, who was 
retiring that month. It was quite an experience to come in 
and follow a man like Fred Merkle. I stayed there from 
1941 until 1949. 

When I got to the Sitgreaves, one thing that impressed me 
was the number of horses runnin' on the west half of the 
Forest, from Cottonwood Wash to the Coconino boundary 
at Leonard Canyon. Pretty near anywhere you drove or 
rode you'd see a mare and a colt, or a bunch of stud horses, 
or a bunch of horses together. It got so after a while I 
thought that all we had was horses on the Sitgreaves. It 
turned out that all these horses were old abandoned horses 
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that had been thrown on the Forest either from the 
Reservation side, or maybe from outside the north bound¬ 
ary, from private lands. 

So, the next year we organized all the Rangers into a party, 
after getting a Closing Order, and for the next three years 
or so we had a Closing Order onthe Sitgreaves for wild and 
unclaimed horses. I believe in that time we killed or 
disposed of about 700 or 725 horses. And then on the 
east side, on the Lakeside and part of the Pinedale, we had 
an awful lot of trespass, both horse and cattle. We had 
several roundups of horses on the Lakeside District. We 
sold 'em to an outfit from Globe that came up to Show 
Low, where the sale was. They trucked 'em out to Globe 
and used 'em for dog meat. 

You were oonna tell something about the sales that you 
worked on. 

One of the things that struck me was that in riding' over 
on the east side of the Sitgreaves on the Lakeside District, 
after I'd been away from 1928 til '41, was to get back and 
see some of the markin' that I had done when I was on the 
timber sale in 1927 and '28. Some of the markin' I thought 
was pretty heavy, but I will say that there is quite a good 
deal of nice reproduction in this area. The stand was an 
old, over-mature Yellow pine stand, but a good many 
places the timber marking looked very, very good. I 
believe since then, in some of the areas, they've gone back 
in and made salvage sales and taken out some of the trees 
we left for just such a purpose. 

What about the fire situation. Jim? 

Well, I remember one year, I think it was about '47 or so, 
Mr. P. V. Woodhead was the Regional Forester. Otto Lindh 
was in charge of Timber Management and they were 
bringing Mr. Jenks Mason from the Washington Office, 
Timber Management, out over the Region on a Timber 
inspection. On the day they got to the Sitgreaves, I met 
the party in Snowflake and we drove over part of the area, 
and just onthe Heber District alone, where Harlan Johnson 
was Ranger, we had 57 fires going at once. And we had 
men on every one of the fires. I believe the largest one got 
to be only about 50 acres. 

After several nice, good years on the Sitgreaves, in June 
of 1949, I was transferred to the Cibola in Albuquerque, 
to take Ellis Wiltbank's place. He had died a few months 
before. About my first job on the Cibola was a grazing case 
on the south end of the San Mateo Mountains. Norman 
Weedon was the Ranger there, and Allan Watkins was 
Range Staffman at the time. We were having a little 
difficulty with some of the permittees on the east and 
west Monticello allotment. The allotment was quite badly 
overgrazed and the Ranger and the Staff wanted to make 

a reduction, or make some arrangement for non-use, to get 
some of the cattle off of the range. 

We met at the Redrock Ranger Station two Sundays in a 
row. The first, we didn't make much headway about 
getting the permittees to agree to a reduction. So we 
made a date to meet the following Sunday at the Ranger 
Station to discuss it again. The next Sunday we met early 
in the morning and late in the afternoon we hadn't made 
any progress. Finally I said we'd just have to do what was 
right, and they would have to take their cattle off whether 
they agreed to it or not, that we'd spent two week-ends 
just discussing their problems, and ours, without a solu¬ 
tion. I told each permittee just what he would have to do, 
which was the recommendation of both the Ranger and 
the Range Staffman. They thought it over and said, "Well, 
if that's your decision, we'll have to abide by it," which 
they did. 

After the meeting was over, and we were standin' around 
talkin', gettin' ready to go back to Albuquerque, Mr. Joe 
Pankey, a permittee, who was at this meeting both days, 
and was also a member of the Forest Advisory Board, 
came over to me and says, "Well, Mr. Monighan, I think 
you were very fair and good to the permittees, and if I ever 
have to meet you under like circumstances, I hope that 
you'll be as good to me as you were to them." 

Another job that I think we handled in pretty good shape 
was on an allotment on the Mt. Taylor District, where we 
got the permittees to take a couple of months non-use in 
the growing season and to agree not to bring their 
yearlings onto the Forest, but to keep them off the Forest. 
We plowed or disked the area and planted crested wheat- 
grass on several hundred acres in the midlands of Mt. 
Taylor. We had a fair catch on the crested wheatgrass and 
up at least until the time that I left the Cibola, we were 
getting very good use out of the grass in the spring. 

Another thing, I think we did a pretty good job on the 
Mountainair, the Magdalena, and part of the San Mateo 
Districts in juniper eradication and some watershed man¬ 
agement work. I think a few years will really show that the 
Forest is being helped from those little checkdams and the 
erosion control work, as well as the juniper control work, 
we did on those Districts. 

One of the biggest jobs, and headaches, on the Cibola, is 
the recreation on the Sandias and part of the Manzanos. 
There are hundreds of thousands of people that go to the 
Sandias every year for picnics and for overnight camping. 
Just to keep the areas maintained and cleaned up, and 
everyone happy, is quite a job for both the Supervisor's 
staff and the Ranger. It seems as if we were just 
maintaining and rebuilding recreation areas in the Sandias 
all the time. 
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In 1954 the Cibola took over part of the Grasslands from 
the Soil Conservation Service. At that time I was Super¬ 
visor. We made trips to Fort Worth to discuss with the 
SCS the taking over and signing for property and the 
transfer of the lands. At the time of the transfer, the Cibola 
was probably 600 or 700 miles from one end to the other; 
from away over in Cheyenne, Oklahoma, to Gallup on the 
west. It took in an area around Roy and Clayton, New 
Mexico, and Dalhart and Texiine, Texas. 

It was quite a move without any additional staff added to 
the Supervisor's office. It entailed an awful lot of travel, 
especially when we first took them over because we had 
to get out and get acquainted with the permittees and the 
country. But all in all, I think it was an excellent move on 
the part of the Forest Service to take these areas in and 
keep them in grassland. I hope they will keep them all, 
because out in that Plains country, that low country, the 
Forest Service couldn't do a better job anywhere than to 
keep these areas to'where they won't blow away. 

I think that's about all, except to say that I am happy to 
have worked with the Forest Service for a good many 
years - from 1925 to 1963. I enjoyed every minute of it. 
I've never known a better class of men or women, or better 
people to work with than the people I have found in the 
Forest Service. 

Mr. Norman E. Johnson was interviewed in 1964 at 
Flagstaff, Arizona. His story follows: 

I was born in Massachusetts in 1906, and came West to 
Arizona at the age of ten, in 1916. I went to work for the 
Forest Service as a seasonal employee in the spring of 
1926, so at the present time I have about 33 and a half 
years of service, and will have 34 and a half when I retire 
on June 1, 1965. My first job was on the Santa Rita 
District on the Coronado, working for Ranger Oiof J. 
Olson. 

What was vour job like? 

In those days I think we called it Administrative Guard. 
Early in the season we would maintain telephone lines. In 
those days the procedure was to get your pack outfit ready 
and take off on an extended pack trip. If it took a week, 
ortwo weeks, orthree weeks, to put the line in shape, why 
that's how long we were gone. Probably the next job I had 
was on general maintenance around the Station, getting 
fire tools and these sorts of things ready. Then there was 
trail work on the mountains; we had trail crews. I didn't 
stay on the trail crew very long because they needed a 
lookout and I went from the trail crew to a lookout job. I 
stayed on the lookout for the rest of the season. 

In the meantime. Ranger Olson was transferred from the 

Santa Rita to the Huachuca District. Knowing Olie, having 
worked for him, knowing I could get along with him, I 
elected to transfer with him to a more or less undeveloped 
District. I went along with Ranger Olson and worked for 
him more or less as long as he was on the Coronado. 

***«««***« 

From the Use Book - 1906. "During dry and dangerous 
periods the selection of headquarters, camping places, 
and routes should be made with the single object of 
preventing and discovering fires." 

********** 

This is a story handed down to me by Ranger Olson. One 
time the telephone didn't work - and by the way, this 
telephone line ran from Rosemont west up the side of the 
Santa Rita Mountains to Madera Canyon, and then on up 
on top of the mountain to Mt. Wrightson, as it was later 
called. In those days we called it Baldy. I guess there were 
too many Baldys in the State, so later it became Mt. 
Wrightson. 

Figure 6. Stringing telephone line on trees on the Kaibab National 

Forest. Photo by E. S. Shipp dated September 1930. 
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Well, anyway, at that time there would be no need for 
contact with a lookout in the winter time but there was the 
operator at Madera Canyon, who was on the line, and the 
line had gone out of commission. So they sent what we 
termed in those days the Administrative Guard on out to 
fix the line. He was the cowboy type. He went out and 
supposedly fixed the line and reported back to the Ranger 
Station -- and the line didn't work. Upon further question¬ 
ing by the Ranger it was revealed that this cowboy had 
gone out and found the break - and had tied the wire 
together with a rope! So he hadn't accomplished a thing 
except to get the wire off the ground. 

How did you get vour permanent appointment? 

Well, this was rather an undeveloped District, with few 
telephone lines, not an adequate road system; as many of 
the Districts were in those days. As jobs came up, such 
as constructing new telephone lines, I worked in seasons 
other than fire seasons as foreman of the telephone crew, 
foreman on other jobs, and among other jobs I remember 
that one time I was a tractor operator, or cat skinner, on 
a road job. 

The CCs became active in the spring of 1933, and I went 
right from one job to the other. In 1942, all CC supervisory 
personnel, possibly with exceptions, were picked up as 
formals, and that was my first formal appointment with 
the Forest Service. If my figuring is correct, I started in 
1926; I was 15 years as a temporary. 

Now, before we get into the CC work that you did. Norm. 
Olie got into some difficulty down there. Do vou want to 
say anything about that? 

I don't mind talking about it at all. I was in the CC camp, 
in the same room, at the time that the fisticuffs between 
Ranger Olson and Permittee Hathaway took place. As a 
matter of fact, if my memory serves me correctly I stepped 
between the two of them, to break it up. But it's a story 
that went back before this time. You might say that this 
was the straw that broke the camel's back, this meeting 
in the office at the CC camp at Sunnyside. 

As I remember it, we had permittees with preferences on 
a community allotment, and the time had come to fence 
off these permittees individually, giving each one an 
individual allotment. A Ranger, a predecessor to Olson, 
had laid out and built a fence between Hathaway and 
another permittee by the name of Mrs. Nye. It seems that 
the fence on the map as it had been agreed to, and the 
fence on the ground, were not the same. Consequently, 
Permittee Hathaway felt that he had been gypped in the 
deal, and this was the basis for their argument. 

Well, anyway, it goes on and on, and at one time Olson 
supposedly was transporting liquor in a government ve¬ 

hicle. One of the people in the law enforcement party that 
apprehended Olson was this permittee. I think that 
eventually, through the efforts of the Regional Office, it 
was determined that this whole thing was a frame-up. Of 
course, this is all a matter of record and can be verified. 

But anyway, Olson was furloughed, and removed from the 
Canelo Ranger Station during the period of the hearing. A 
person by the name of Garvin Smith was being transferred 
to the Canelo District. En route, there was need for his 
services in the Supervisor's Office, and he did not get to 
the District. I was assigned as Acting Forest Ranger during 
the period, which amounted to about six months, until a 
replacement for Olson was obtained. Having lived, or 
boarded with the Olsons, off and on, one of the toughest 
tasks I ever faced in the Forest Service was to go and take 
over their new home, the new Ranger Station, while they 
were furloughed. I was glad that I was able to carry on his 
work, but on the other hand I did not appreciate seeing 
them move out; in other words, replace him. 

Olson was completely exonerated in the end? 

As far as I remember, he was completely exonerated. He 
was furloughed for a number of months, maybe three. He 
came back, but was transferred from the Coronado to the 
Gila. 

Then after that change was made vou went back to the CC 
camp? 

I went back to the CC camp. They had a special 
construction job that they felt I was capable of doing, 
namely, building a combination Guard and Fire cabin at 
Cima Park, on the Chiricahuas. I was sent to a CC Camp 
that was under National Monument administration, on the 
west side of the Chiricahuas, at the City of Rocks. From 
there I operated a side camp at Cima Park, with 25 
employees, and constructed this installation. 

It was a complete installation, telephone lines, water 
system, a large cabin; and I remember, in the building 
specifications, it called for two fireplaces to be built, back 
to back. Every fireplace I had had anything to to with in 
those days either smoked or provided inadequate heat. 
You'd have to stand up to the fire, and if you were facing 
it why, you're warm on that side, and you're too cold on 
the opposite side. These are things that we probably all 
remember about the old fireplaces. 

Well, I had no idea how to build a fireplace, back to back, 
and the plans didn't detail it enough to know. I thought the 
Government should be good for something, so I wrote to 
the Government Printing Office, and sure enough, they 
sent me the details that I needed to get the job done, and 
it worked very satisfactorily. 
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You built the double fireplace, from those plans? 

Yes, sir. It was a double fireplace with one chimney. 

I remember another thing about the building. We had to cut 
the logs, skid them with a mule. As a matter of fact, we 
had to pack everything in from Rustler Park, which was at 
the end of the road. It was six miles from Rustler Park to 
Cima Park, where we yvere doing the construction work. 
So everything had to come in by pack animals. 

But anyway, getting back to the cabin, the plans called for 
windows laying down horizontally, like log cabins were 
built in those days. Now I'm rather a tall person and the 
windows were either too low when I was standing up, to 
see through, or too high, if I was sitting down, to see 
through. I didn't know who made the plans, or how I could 
get in touch with him, but I came up with the idea that I 
wanted a window I could see out of, because this was an 
administrative building, not a home. 

I took it upon myself to stand the windows up-and-down, 
so I could see out of them. Fred Winn, at that time an old 
timer, came up on an inspection trip, accompanied by Mrs. 
Winn. I doubt very much whether Mr. Winn noticed this 
change, but certainly Mrs. Winn did, and I really heard 
about it! It was a log cabin that wasn't a log cabin. 

I stayed with the CCs throughout the rest of the CC 
program, which folded sometime in 1942. Being what 
might be termed a Construction Foreman, and having had 
experience with campgrounds, I was transferred from the 
Coronado to the Coconino National Forest in 1937, with 
the idea that I would work mainly on campground con¬ 
struction; which I did, more or less, through the remaining 
years of the CCs. 

I remember that several summers were spent operating 
what you might term side camps, which were camps 
away from the mother camp. I recall that it was rather an 
imposing task to be the Camp Commander, the Educa¬ 
tional Advisor, the "Doctor," the Project Superintendent, 
all in the camp, plus running the crew during the day. I can 
remember having side camps on top of the Huachuca 
Mountains and we would be there for weeks on end, 
because a person would have to walk off the top of the 
mountain, and it wasn't worth walking off the mountain 
to go to the main camp. We furnished our own recreation 
in the form of hikes, horseshoe games - there wasn't any 
place level enough to make a ball diamond, or anything like 
that, but we'd have an area where we could play catch, 

and so on, so we were rather a complete camp. 

Now, then, if on the other extreme, we were closer to a 
town than to the main camp, why we'd rig up recreation 
trips on week-ends to go to town and challenge another 

team to play softball or to see a rodeo, maybe, or 
something like that. I had that authority and did take the 
boys, escort them on these recreation trips over the week¬ 
ends. 

You are considered a timber beast: how did you get into 
timber work? 

Well, that's kind of an interesting story. In 1942 we heard 
that the CC camps were being abandoned. Pearl Harbor 
“ and we were in a War. There was a place for the boys, 
and the CC camps were no longer really necessary. 

The Supervisor came out and said something to the effect 
that it looked like I was gonna be out of a job. I told him, 
yes, I had looked around and, being more or less of a 
carpenter, or construction worker, that I would probably 
go to Fort Huachuca where there was quite a building 
program going on, the Army's building program. He says, 
"Well, if you want to gamble, I think I can place you on one 
of the timber sales." 

We talked around, more or less on my part to find out what 
the job would be, and what the living conditions would be, 
and so on. I found out that these conditions I could live 
with, so I asked the Supervisor what the gamble was. He 
said, "Well, we need a man for this job, and if there are 
others on the register ahead of you, we couldn't guarantee 
it." On the other hand, he doubted that very much, and 
thought I could be transferred over - at this time 1 was a 
formal employee -- and I could be transferred over from 
this particular CC work into the timber work. 

So, I told him that I liked Forest Service work and had spent 
quite a number of years at it, so, go ahead with the idea 
that I would get the job it I could be taken off the register 
as required by Civil Service. So I went into the timber 
business in 1942, and I've been in it ever since. 

Where was vour first job in the timber business? 

My first job in Timber was to report to Homer German, 
who was the Chief Ranger - that was his title at that time 
- on a large timber sale seven miles south of Flagstaff. 

What Supervisor did you start out under up here in vour 
regular work, vour timber work? 

I reported here to Supervisor Hussey, in the spring of '37. 
Supervisor Hussey replaced E. G. Miller, who had been 
here for quite a number of years, some time in 1936, so 
Supervisor Hussey was less than one year old on the 
Forest when I came. 

He was another character! 
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Yes, he was. I could tell you a little story about Ralph. 
Ralph had no earthly use for a Recreation man. I had been 
assigned to the Forest, with the Regional Office’s knowl¬ 
edge, to do recreation work on the Coconino National 
Forest. I later heard that the first trip he made out to 
supervise my work on Oak Creek, he came with the intent 
of firing me. But after we discussed plans, what had been 
done, what was to be done, he didn’t fire me. I heard this 
quite some time later, you know, from another old-timer, 
Tracy Rice. But anyway, I think the only compliment that 
Ralph ever passed on me was rather backhanded, or 

indirect. 

His Assistant was discussing with him one day the 
personnel requirements -- people needed to run the Forest 
for the next year. At that time they were talking about 
sending me to the south end, as the Improvement and Fire 
Ranger, a term known only to the Coconino, probably. In 
any event, when Rotty said, "We will need a replacement 
for Johnson," without turning away from the window, 
Hussey said, "Better make it two." That was the only 
compliment I ever received from that man - and I received 
several things that weren’t compliments from him in that 
time, but we got along fairly well. 

Ralph was quite an Improvements man. 

Maybe so, but in a range or water development line. He 
didn’t take advantage of the CCs to build fine Ranger 
Stations, like a lot of other Supervisors did. Consequently, 
when the CCs were over, we had a vast array of range and 
water improvements, such as spring developments, but 
not the miles of fancy roads, nor new, modern Ranger 
Stations, with one exception; Beaver Creek was built 
during the CCs. 

A very nice job, too. 

A very nice job, you bet. But that’s only one out of six at 
that time; we have seven districts now. 

Well, maybe we’d better get on to vour timber work. 
where vou made such a good reputation. 

Well, about the only thing I can say there -- I guess you 
remember Jim Egan? - when I went into timber work I was 
working under Homer German, and quite a bit of the work 
was on Jim Egan’s District. One day I was discussing 
work with Jim, and he said, "You have really found your 
niche." And I think that explains it as well as anything 
could. I like timber work. I’ve always liked timber work, 
and I certainly put everything I could into it. 

Timber work on the Coconino is rather a heavy load. We 
are harvesting between 90 and 100 million feet this year. 
But, as I mentioned before, Homer was my boss, and Lafe 

Kartchner also enters into the picture here. At that time, 
Homer took care of the sale administration and marking, 
and Lafe took care of the scaling crews. 

It wasn’t long until Lafe was transferred off of the Forest 
and Homer was needed on the north end of the Forest, so 
he was transferred there, leaving the large sales to Lester 
Elmore and myself. By mutual agreement, Lester was the 
boss, taking over the portion that Homer had handled on 
the sales. We worked together very well. In 1947, Lester 
was transferred and I took over the large sales, which were 
mainly on the south half of the Forest. I’ve practically been 
in charge of project sales since that time. 

I’d like to make one comment here: I always felt that when 
I was workin’ on a sale on a District, I was working for that 
Ranger. Always worked very closely with the Ranger. 
That’s been one of the gripes against the project type of 
handling timber sales; the Ranger didn’t know what was 
goin’ on. I always felt the minute I stepped over on a man’s 
District, that I worked for him. 

I’ve been in charge of sales continuously with the excep¬ 
tion of one six-month period. I went to Winslow, where 
we used a powder box for a file cabinet, one table as a 
desk, and three or four chairs of mixed ancestry, to start 
a new Ranger District. And there again, it’s quite a feeling 
to leave the mountains where there’s timber, go to a town 
that isn’t within a National Forest, more or less out on the 
desert, and set up an office 25 miles away from the 
nearest portion of the new District. It’s quite a feeling. I 
was there six months, then I was offered this job and took 
it, to come in as Timber Staffman in the Supervisor’s 
Office. 

You started the Winslow District? 

That’s right. 

Timber Camp wasn’t there? 

No. I can tell you an interesting little story about Timber 
Camp. Supervisor Crawford had tentatively picked out 
two locations; one of them was Timber Camp, and there 
was no water there. Timber Camp, on good cross 
highways, was the ideal location, because it was more or 
less right in the center of the District. I got together with 
geologists to find out if water was available. They made 
their studies, said we would hit water at something 
between 500 and 600 feet. As proof of this, about four 
miles down the canyon, was a well drilled by the permit¬ 
tee, and he had hit water at 450 feet. 

All of this sounded reasonable to me, but after having seen 
water at a lot of other Ranger Stations, all the wells and 
the windmills and gasoline engines were down in the 
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bottom of canyons, and the camps or dwellings up on the 
side of the hill. I can rember in the olden days, taking my 
gallon of gasoline and going down to the water pump and 
starting the gasoline engine and pump. Then I had to make 
another trip back down to shut it off. Well, I had the 
brilliant idea that I was gonna drill a well right in the middle 
of the Camp. So to this day there are a lot of people who 
ask why the well is right in the middle of the Camp. 

Well, anyway, one day I met the permittee and he said, "I 
guess you won a bet.” I said, "What was the bet?" He 
said, "Well, we bet --1 can't remember what we bet, but 
we bet that you wouldn't hit water between 500 and 600 
feet. It may have been a carton of cigarettes, or maybe it 
was a new hat." I told him I'd settle for a cup of coffee, 
but I've wondered since then what would have happened 
if I had said it was a new Buick! Because he could have 
paid for one. 

In vour work in Timber, how have the relations been with 
the timber operators? Do they agree pretty well with our 
marking policies, our harvesting policies? 

I'd say over all, during the period of years that I've been in 
Timber here on the Coconino National Forest, that the 
Forest as a whole is fortunate in having operators like ours. 
Sure, we have our problems come up once in a while, but 
the operators are very cooperative. They realize of course 
that their bread and butter is National Forest timber, and 
they cooperate with us very well. 

Do you think they cooperate because it is easier, or 
because they really believe in the wav we operate? 

Well, actually I think that the operators would like to see 
clear-cut practices, only insofar as they are thinking of 
logs, the profit to come out of these logs, right in this 
particular area. I remember one time when one of the men 
in the camp - he was camp maintenance man - in 
discussing marking methods, and so on, he said when he 
first came onto the sale area and saw what we were doing 
in the line of selective improvement marking, he felt that 
we were not helping the purchaser much. But the longer 
he was here and the longer he thought back to the early 
days in Arkansas where he had come from, with their 
clear-cut and get-out policies, the more he felt that we 
were doing the right thing, and he wished there had been 
more people with the guts that we had here, to carry out 
what we thought was right. At the moment I think they 
feel that we have done right. 

You think that feeling is pretty general among the loggers? 

That's true. 

We do have a few problems. As you know, it's the 

Region's policy now to staff up the Districts. We have a 
few problems coming up. 

You might put it this way: going from one extreme under 
the Federal administrative unit, the companies had only 
one person to answer to. In other words, what I'm tryin' 
to say is that anywhere they went on this Plateau, the 
head thinking was done by one person, and they knew if 
they were gonna cut timber a certain way over here, they 
were gonna do the same thing over there. And then we 
went to Districts. 

Now, when they come to a District boundary, they have 
to operate differently from what they've been doing, 
because the man over there doesn't think exactly the 
same as the other one. So they feel they are logging seven 
different ways, if they're on seven different Districts, 
where they used to feel that they operated one way on the 
whole area. Now these are kinda the two extremes. 

We're having a few problems, not only on this Forest, but 
on Forests throughout the Region. And not only one 
operator, but operators through out the Region, are com¬ 
plaining about some of these differences. In other words, 
they know how they're gonna handle the brush on this 
District, but when they get over on another District, the 
Timber Management Assistant on that District wants it 
handled a different way. I think the operators are a little 
shook by this. 

Do they have a right to be? I mean, does that really amount 
to much difference? 

It amounts to a lot of difference. What I'd have to do, to 
answer your question, is to ask you one: If you were an 
operator, wouldn't you rather operate for the Forest 
Service on National Forest lands under one policy, rather 
than have a different policy on every different District? 

Yes. 

So you can see the point. I think they would be happy to 
have the timber sales as they used to be, with specialists 
handling timber sales. I think they used to call Homer a 
Chief Ranger when he handled timber sales. How Homer 
felt when he was on the District, I don't know, but, as I've 
already said, I felt that I was working for the Ranger on 
whose District I was standing when I marked a tree, and 
was always loyal to that Ranger. I had no problems along 
the line that way. 

Thinking back, it's possible that the operators would like 
to see it that way. But that isn't the trend; the trend is that 
each District has its timber, and he's going to have a 
sustained yield unit of his own. 
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It's unfortunate if there’s too much variation between 
Districts. 

Well, you could take the same contract that covers both 
Districts, and two men read the contract, and they won't 
read or interpret it exactly the same. Sure, we're respon¬ 
sible for seeing that the operator fulfills the terms of the 
contract, by the same token, I think that we're responsible 
to the operator to see that we fulfill our part of the 
contract. 

I know that you’ve been quite a student of timber marking 
policies, timber sales administration, and so on. You've 
looked over many of the old sales. How do you contrast 
the wav we handled them in the early davs. as against our 
present-day policies? 

I think we're talking about at least three steps in here, not 
two. I'm thinkin' now of the early days when the rule of 
thumb was that you had to have a million feet per every 
mile of road laid down; the contracts guaranteed 66 and 
two thirds percent of the volume on the area. In addition, 
I think some of the older timber markers felt that the 
company needed 90 percent of the volume to make a go 
of it. 

Now, I'm not criticizing here because I came in right at the 
change-over period. I’m almost ready to prove this: I think 
if we go in and clear-cut large areas, we change the micro¬ 
climate. I'm working on a small area out here on a sale on 
which I am clear-cutting 20 acres, so far as the overstory 
is concerned. But the understory is bare, and the measure¬ 
ments on the understory indicate that's a Site 2, where the 
stumps from the original cut indicate that's a Site 1. So, 
by changing the micro-climate in here we're changing from 
Site 1 to Site 2. I'm satisfied in my own mind, but I don't 
have the proof to present, as yet. It’s not written up. 

Are you going to do it? 

I’m sure I'll get it done before I pull camp. 

Yes. I think it should be. 

Now then, we went from this heavy marking, what we 
might call clear-cut, on these timber right sections - and 
by the way, the 20 acres I'm talkin' about are on one of 
the old timber right sections. We have a lot of those old 
sections, alternate sections, which are now our lands. We 
have reproduction on them, but they’re more or less 
"apple" trees; they haven't grown up like nice uniform 
stands. There's nothin' to speak of to cut off of 'em. So 
we’re gonna have a problem on these many thousand 
acres about actually getting pruning, cleaning, and so on. 
We have no timber to sell to get Timber Stand Improve¬ 
ment funds to do the work with. 

Anyway, then we went to what was called by Gus 
Pearson the improvement selection method of marking. It 
very definitely has a place in the virgin areas where we 
went through and more or less captured mortality. We 
didn't put the stand in good shape. We captured mortality. 
Well, now, we've covered the Forest as far as the virgin 
areas are concerned, to all intents and purposes. There are 
few acres left, and we've come up with the Pine Mountain 
sale. 

On Site 1, which is the best growing site, we say we're 
gonna put the stand in the best possible growing condition; 
which means removing the majority of the mature and 
over-mature timber, removing the puipwood in the under¬ 
story, and leaving a more-or-less definite number of stems 
per acre. Now, if there were too many stems on every 
acre, all over, you can visualize that you can have an 
orchard-type of thing, which would be fine; that's the way 
we planned. But every acre does not have a stand of 
ponderosa, so we're striving for a base area of, let's say, 
80 feet; that seems to have been the magic number over 
the years, - and over here we had nothing; still have 
nothing. 

I agree with the treatment here with a couple of excep¬ 
tions: Number 1, the residual stand being young-aged pole 
and saplings, and /Y we change the micro-climate, what is 
it going to do to these stems that we have left? The other 
thing that I don't agree with a hundred percent, although 
I went along with it, is that on all of the Site 1 acres where 
we were removing such a large volume it will have a 
tendency, if we continue this practice, to upset the 
economic applecart. By that I mean, by removing all of the 
volume on this cut we'll not be able to go back into the area 
for a long period of time. 

As long as we have the milling capacity we have here in 
Flagstaff, this heavy cut now, with the next cut far in the 
future, don't jibe. These are the only two exceptions that 
I have to the present-day marking, which includes regen¬ 
eration cutting. I'd like to have proof as to what this clear- 
cutting is doing to the micro-climate. If man is changing 
a site from Site 1 to Site 2 through this practice, then 
maybe we'd better hold off for a while until we get a little 
more proof. 

If we change Site 1 to Site 2, isn't there danger, if we 

continue, of changino Site 2 to Site 3? 

Well, that's a possibility; not as likely, because Site 2 
doesn't have the growing factors, or features, that Site 1 
has. So the trees on Site 2 aren't of the same quality, or 
size, that you have on Site 1. We have proof that we can 
grow timber approximately three times as fast on Site 1 
as we canon Site 3. Asa matter of fact, on Site 3 we can't 
grow to size or quality that we can grow on Site 1. 
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What's the influence of the duId mill cutting? 

Actually, if we'd take an area other than Pine Mountain, 
but that would be like a Site 1 in Pine Mountains, we are 
actually thinning through pulping and pre-commercial 
thinning to a spacing, and in turn a basal area retention or 
residual stand, that is somewhat higher than what the 
results would be on Site 1 on Pine Mountain. We're doing 
this with the idea that we may want another pulp cut ten 
years from now. So we're not into our straight pulping so 
far. Maybe we haven't got the nerve yet to go in and mark 
like it really should be. On the other hand. I'm not sure that 
this "should be" has been proven. 

You've had an interesting history of loagina and timber 
work, do you have any tales to tell about it? 

It kinda reminds me of 'way back when - when the grazing 
permittee had a community allotment, and the time 
became right to fence 'em off into individual allotments. 
Old Uncle Billy Parker, an old-timer then and long since 
dead, didn't want a gate put in the fence between him and 
another permittee. But there was a trail that went through 
there - it was called the Bootlegger Trail -- this was close 
to the Mexican Border and I think, rather than a bootlegger, 
it was a rumrunner; but that wasn't the point. 

We tried to convince Uncle Billy that he'd better put a gate 
in there or they'd cut the fence. Well, he held fast and we 
built the fence without gates, but it wasn't very long until 
he came and asked us to put the gate in. That just kinda 
reminds me that probably today, with the many manage¬ 
ment pastures that are in, and so many fences and so 
many gates to open, that probably the rumrunner takes the 
highway! It just shows the changing times. I've heard a 
lot of people say, "the good old days," but I have yet to 
hear anybody say they'd like to go back to those "good old 
days." 

Well, to get back to those good old davs. was there quite 
a bit of rum-running from Old Mexico during the period of 
Prohibition? 

I would not say so much during the period of Prohibition; 
I'd say prior to, and then after. In Prohibition, we had 
bootleggers who made it in their backyards, and so the 
rumrunners didn't have the market. 

I guess along the Rim, the Moaollon Rim, there were quite 
a lot of bootlegginQ activities. 

I've run into several old bootlegger sites, in marking on the 
Coconino. Here and there you'll find a little evidence of an 
old still. One outfit moved out in a hurry and left a barrel 
of mash, and it's been layin' there for years. 

In trying to think back, I don't know whether I could retrace 
my steps to them or not. It's kinda like when I started in 

Timber and we were runnin' section lines, private land 
lines, and so on. For a good number of years I could 
remember every corner, every quarter corner. Then one 
too many, and they all became hazy. 

Just like trainin' these young foresters in the timber 
business; I kept track of the first 26 new men I had, then 
I quit keeping track of the number. I have no idea how 
many men have come to me right out of school. Another 
thing was that we moved from summer to winter quarters 
each year on this Forest. I kept track of the first 32 moves, 
and then I gave up. I don't know how many times I've 
moved. 

My only other thought here that might be of interest to 
somebody is that I've had better then 33 years of service 
with the Forest Service; over 27 on the Coconino, which 
might be some kind of record for this day and age. I don't 
know. It's been a satisfying and gratifying career. When 
I retire, I leave with nothing but the highest esteem for the 
Forest Service and all of its employees. I have no regrets. 

I've often heard it said that the Coke trains most of the 
timber sale bovs in the Region. Of course that's not true 
nowadays, but for a while it was just about the situation. 

We got two to four new men just about every season. 
Sure, there were exceptions during the War years when 
we didn't pick up that many, but there were lots of boys 
cornin' through the timber camps on this Forest. Of course 
there have been a lot of others who've had a hand in the 
training of these men. 

Oh ves. but I think the primary responsibility was probably 
vours. Have you had many that you recall as failures? 

I've had a few, but I wouldn't call them failures. I would 
say this: they just didn't fit. 

This brings to mind something that will let you know that 
your bosses sometimes realize more than you think they 
do about what's goin' on. If you get four new men a year, 
you'll get one out of the four who's above average, two 
average, and one below average. So, naturally, with 
myself as the trainer of these men, and they ask for my 
recommendation when it's time for them to move on, 
naturally I'm gonna recommend the man who has made 
life easier for me, who is generally the better man of the 
group. So he goes first, and then the average follow, and 
that leaves the lower-than-average. When this happens 
for a few years, what do you wind up with? 

It actually happened that way here on the Forest. The 
Supervisor came out and talked to me and said, "I realize 
what's happening, but I don't know what to do about it." 
There was a build-up of a force that were below average. 
Now, they were all good fellows, nice to have in camp. 
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Their greatest failings were that they couldn't do things 
with their hands. 

I think of one who was raised on the streets of New York. 
He was educated in North Carolina, I believe; he couldn't 
drive an automobile. He couldn't change a tire; he couldn't 
even open a gate. What help was he to me? Oh well, he 
could do the leg work -- if I told him which tree to mark, 
why, he'd go ahead and mark it. He did save me some leg 
work, but he just didn't fit. So I'd say we didn't have 
failures; we just had fellows that didn't fit. 

Mr. Zane G. Smith, a second-generation Forester, was 
born in Illinois but moved to New Mexico with his parents 
before he was two years old. Zane was interviewed at his 
home in Albuquerque. His story starts with his start to 
school, and deals with the experiences of his father (H. 
Garvin Smith), as well as his own. 

I started the first grade in Carlsbad and I believe I finished 
the first grade in Carlsbad. Then my father left Carlsbad 
and went to work for the Biological Survey and we lived 
in camps or at ranch headquarters for the next couple of 
years. As I remember. Mother taught me because we 
were never close enough for any period of time for me to 
attend a public school. 

It was from this experience that my father became 
interested in National Forest work and became acquainted 
with some of the Rangers and one of the early-day 
Supervisors whom you know - O. Fred Arthur, who was 
Supervisor of the Lincoln National Forest. With their 
encouragement. Dad took the Ranger's examination and 
passed and received his appointment on the Lincoln 
National Forest. I believe it was in the early spring of 
1917. 

You started growing up. then, on a District? 

Yes, let's see; I would have been eight years old in March 
1917. 

Dad reported to work; his first assignment was at the old 
Mesa Ranger Station, which is about seven miles south¬ 
west of Capitan. He was employed there as an assistant 
to Ben Nabours, District Ranger. We stayed at the Mesa 
Ranger Station until just about the time fire season started 
and then we moved to the old Tucson Ranger Station 
which was northwest of Capitan about, well. I'd say, 12 
or 14 miles, something like that. That's an old Station that 
disappeared from existence many years ago; I'm not sure 
just how long ago. There was a two-room log cabin that 
we occupied. I remember the chinking had fallen out in a 
few places and you could see daylight but, being summer¬ 
time, we really didn't mind it too much. 

Dad had primary responsibility for riding the range, main¬ 
taining certain improvements, and handling fires in that 
part of the country involving those little Tucson Mountains 
and the Carrizos. He had one lookout under his direct 
supervision, which you might be interested in knowing 
was manned by Barnard Hendricks, who later took the 
Ranger's short course at Colorado Aggies following World 
War I, and later was appointed in Region 3. I remember he 
worked on the old Datil National Forest, and eventually 
went into Research and was located down at Tucson. 

I always remember Barney quite well because he made the 
highest grade on the Civil Service examination on both the 
Junior Forester and the Junior Ranger exams that had ever 
been made up to that time. With his veterans' preference, 
he made over 100 on each exam, which was quite an 
accomplishment. 

We stayed there until after fire season; I think it must've 
been sometime in August - I remember it was the rainy 
season. 

We moved to Mayhill, New Mexico. Dad was appointed 
there as District Ranger; that was his first Ranger District. 

The country was pretty wide open in those days. There 
weren't very many fences, and one of the big problems 
confronting the Rangers was getting livestock numbers 
under control. Trespass was a tremendous problem. The 
National Forests hadn't been in existence long enough to 
be very well accepted. The established ranchers in the 
country included many individuals who had grown up and 
gotten established in the days of the open public domain, 
and they didn't like to have somebody come along and tell 
'em how many head of cattle they could run, or where they 
could run 'em, or what season of the year they could run 
'em, on public lands. 

I remember Dad had quite a hassle with one of the early- 
day pioneer families that lived down on the Penasco about 
12 or 15 miles below Mayhill. I won't mention their names 
because probably some of their descendants are living and 
they might not see the funny side of it. 

Dad had made a trespass on them and given 'em notice to 
round up and remove many head of cattle. I remember old 
Mr. Mayhill, for whom the little town of Mayhill was 
named, and who was quite friendly with the Forest Service 
and particularly with my father, came and told him that 
this family had gotten all the sons and brothers, every¬ 
body, together, and that they were going to refuse to move 
their stock. They were all armed, and he advised my father 
not to press his luck and, if he did go, to try to get someone 
from the Sheriff's office, or other Forest Service person¬ 
nel, to go with him, because he was afraid there might be 
violence. 
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I remember my father refused, and decided not to go 
armed, because he was afraid if he did, that could in itself 
bring about some shooting or violence. He showed up 
unarmed and I think it so shocked the whole group that it 
threw them off-balance. Simply by standing up to the ten 
or twelve people that were there, unarmed, he talked them 
into moving the livestock off. 

I've thought back about the early-day Forest Rangers, and 
some of the things they had to do, and I've known of other 
Forest Rangers who were doing similar things, coming up 
against similar bad situations. I just give the details on this 
one because I was more intimately familiar with it, but it 
was representative of things that were going on in those 
days. 

That reminds me of another incident that happened just 
before my father went into the Forest Service. It happened 
in the Sacramento Mountains up on the head of the Aqua 
Chiquita. Dad was running a trap line at that time and I was 
stringin' along with him. We were ridin' down a little 
drainage and saw this man walking along up towards us 
with his rifle over his shoulder. That didn't attract any 
particular attention because everybody more or less car¬ 
ried rifles in those days. In fact, my father had a .30-.30 
rifle in its scabbard hung on his saddle, and he also had a 
pistol that he carried on his belt and it stuck down in one 
of his hip pockets. Well, we pulled up to stop and visit, as 
most people did in the country back in those days. 

A few words were spoken and this fellow suddenly raised 
up his rifle and pointed it at my father and said, "You're 
another one of those Forest Rangers that was sent in here, 
I guess." He said, "You know I run the last three Forest 
Rangers out, an' you’re gonna be the fourth." He accused 
my father of a lot of things that was new to both he and 
I and, knowing my father, I could see him beginning to 
smoke quite a bit under the collar, and getting pretty mad. 

The fellow looked him over after he had cussed him out, 
and he seemed to run down with what he had to say. 
Looked him over and decided that all he had was a rifle in 
the scabbard, so he set his own rifle down and leaned it 
against his side, and got out his Bull Durham and rolled a 
cigarette. When he stuck his head down to light his 
cigarette, my father pulled his revolver out of his hip 
pocket and when the guy looked up he was looking into 
this revolver. I remember his mouth came open and his 
cigarette fell to the ground. I thought my father was gonna 
shoot him, he was so darned mad, but he didn't. He finally 
told him to drop his rifle and beat it down the trail, and if 
he ever saw him again he was going to shoot him. 

We went on down the trail a little ways and then my father 
got to wondering what this was all about. We had a dog 
with us, so we started to making some circles in there and 

the dog located a badly wounded doe that had recently 
been shot. Apparently this was the reason for this man 
having tried to run us off with his rifle -- he figured my 
father was a Game Warden and would prosecute him. 

Well, that's just a little sidelight on the early-day happen¬ 
ings that still stick in my memory pretty clearly although 
they happened when I was quite small. 

From Mayhill my father was moved to Cloudcroft as 
District Ranger. It might be of interest to you that the 
dwelling where we lived, right in the village of Cloudcroft, 
was originally the Alamo Forest Supervisor's headquar¬ 
ters - the Alamo National Forest, I believe it was called. 
They had consolidated that with some other National 
Forest that I don't recall now, and created what is 
presently the Lincoln National Forest, and the Supervisor's 
headquarters was moved down to Alamogordo. 

Anyway, I remember living in Cloudcroft and the deep 
snow that occurred. They must've had an unusually bad 
winter, because the snow crusted and us kids, not 
weighing very much, were able to walk on top of the snow, 
right on top of the fences. We used to get our sleds and 
take off from the backyard on the west edge of Cloudcroft 
and slide all the way down into the canyon, down close to 
the mouth of Toboggan Canyon. 

********«« 

Act of March 3, 1905 (33 Stat., 872): "Provided; That the 
cost of any building erected shall not exceed five hundred 

dollars; ..." 
********** 

During the fall, must have been about 1919, they decided 
to move the District Ranger headquarters to High Rolls. At 
that time High Rolls was quite a little resort town, over a 
hundred cottages, and a hotel that was quite sizeable for 
that day and age. 

The principal visitors there during the summer- time were 
El Paso residents. They would ride the train up to 
Alamogordo, the main line of the Old El Paso & Southwest¬ 
ern Railway, and then take the spur line that ran up to 
Cloudcroft, and out to Russia, which had been built 
primarily for logging purposes but which did carry passen¬ 
gers. 

In fact, Cloudcroft and High Rolls had become such 
favorite summer resorts that they put on open cars. They 
were made something like the early-day streetcars, with¬ 
out sides to them. There were seats and you just sat there 
and looked around. There were little railings to hold onto, 
otherwise you could have fallen right off the car. 

Anyway, they took down this old Supervisor's headquar¬ 
ters building, later District headquarters at Cloudcroft, 
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Figure 7. Sargent Seep Ranger Station, Alamo National Forest (Later the Lincoln N.F.); Ranger Albert N. Bailey with horse. 

hauled it by wagon down to High Rolls and rebuilt it there. 
They bought a little new lumber and materials, I guess, but 
very largely they used the old second hand material. I will 
always recall that my mother was one of the happiest 
wives in the Forest Service because she had one of the 
first modern dwellings in the whole Forest Service in 
Region 3; it had a bathtub and inside plumbing. 

That Ranger Station was built by my father and a Ranger 
at large who you will remember Quite well -- it was Ralph 
Hussey, who later became Forest Supervisor of the 
Apache National Forest, and Forest Supervisor of the 
Coconino National Forest. 

We were at High Rolls several years. I think Dad trans¬ 
ferred to the old Datil National Forest in the spring of 1923. 
It was March, because I remember traveling between 
Magdalena and Chloride on my birthday. It was a very 
cold, rainy day across the St. Augustine Plains, which can 
be real cold with a little wind. 

It might be of interest to people today that we packed our 
personal belongings and what furniture we had, crated it 

and put it on the train and sent it by freight down through 
El Paso and around through Socorro and then by the branch 
line of the Santa Fe that went from Socorro to Magdalena. 
Magdalena was the Supervisor's headquarters for the old 
Datil National Forest. Mother, Father, and I with our saddle 
horses and a couple of pack animals, rode horseback from 
Alamogordo to Magdalena. 

Our route took us through Mocking Bird Gap and approxi¬ 
mately across the site of the firing of the first atomic 
bomb. As I think back about that trip through there, I recall 
that we were concerned with making springs, or getting 
to places where we could camp and have water. We had 
no feed for our horses so I have to deduce that we had 
pretty good grass in that country in those days, or else our 
saddle stock wouldn't have made it. But they did make it 
without any extra feed, and it was rather an uneventful 
trip. 

I do remember camping on the edge of the old coal-mining 
town of Carthage, as we came through. Carthage is 
located about 14 or 15 miles just about east of San 
Antonio, New Mexico, and was served by a railroad. 
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Today, while there are a few traces of the old railroad 
grade, there's nothing but a few mounds of old 'dobes that 
melted down to indicate that there used to be 2,000 or 
3,000 people living out there in that area. 

Dad became District Ranger of the Chloride District on the 
old Datil, and I finished the eighth grade there at Chloride. 
I was the only Anglo in school, and the only one in the 
eighth grade. I remember that part very well. The 
following fall, I went to school at Carlsbad. 

You started out by asking me questions about going to 
school in Carlsbad. I started there in my first grade, and 
I started there in high school. I stayed with an aunt and 
uncle who lived in Carlsbad. The following year I went to 
school in Hot Springs, or at least it was known as Hot 
Springs at that time. It's now called Truth or Conse¬ 
quences. I batched most of the time, had a little apartment 
there. 

Mother would come down from Chloride and spend a week 
with me once in a while; patch my clothes and darn my 
socks, and get me straightened again and I would spend 
the rest of the time there on my own. The following year 
I boarded out with a couple of families, during the course 
of the school year, and worked in the bank there, the First 
National Bank of Hot Springs. I did some bit of clerical 
work and did the janitor work in this small bank. 

At the end of my sophomore year I had taken a trip with 
the Superintendent of the high school; gone across the 
Black Range Mountains and into the Gila country, way up 
the West Fork of the Gila. I had gotten him interested by 
telling him stories about the country, so he talked me into 
guiding him in there. We had quite a trip, caught a lot of 
fish, saw a lot of wildlife, and had a real enjoyable time. 
Had one of our pack mules killed by a mountain lion, and 
really had some experiences. 

Anyway, the Superintendent became interested in me and 
felt a little bit sorry for me having to stay away from home 
to go to high school. He made me a proposition that if I 
would study on the side and take examinations and 
satisfactorily pass them, that he thought he could fix it so 
I could get through high school in three years. So we tried 
that, and I did make it through, with his help and probably 
a great deal of generosity which I shouldn't have had 
because I found that freshman year in college to be a little 
bit rough. I don't think I was too well prepared because of 
having gone through high school in three years. 

I graduated in 1926 from high school and took my first job 
with the Forest Service as lookout at Diamond Peak, on the 
old Mimbres District of the Gila National Forest. 

Quite a coincidence; I told you a while ago that my father 

started work for a Ranger by the name of Ben Nabours. 
Ben Nabours was Ranger on the Mimbres Ranger District 
when I had my first job on that District. I went to Kingston 
and spent a night there with Fuel Nave, who you know. 
That was Fuel Nave's first District assignment. At that 
point we were met by Lew Putsch, who was Assistant 
Supervisor on the Gila, and some others that I don't recall 
at the present time. I remember there was a packer in the 
bunch. 

The next day we traveled by horseback up to Hillsboro 
Peak and had a fire training session up there that lasted 
about three days, as I remember. I also recall that we had 
a storm; it rained and then sleeted and we had ice all over 
the whole country. It was really a miserable time, but we 
made out with the training in a sort of half-dugout cabin 
there and a tent that had been put up. 

Then we worked trail from Hillsboro Peak across to the old 
McKnight cabin, which I recall you knew as Supervisor of 
the Gila. I remember staying there with you one time when 
you were Supervisor and I was participating in a Gl 
inspection. The rats were so bad that we finally decided 
that we ought to take the old cabin down. 

Anyway, we worked trail, spent a night or two at the old 
McKnight cabin and then proceeded on down the Conti¬ 
nental Divide to Diamond Peak lookout. Lew Putsch went 
along and some others and we took the materials and 
installed lightning protection on the old wooden lookout 
there. That was about the time we were beginning to get 
copper wiring and framework to put on the lookout. I was 
very happy to have that lightning protection a little bit later 
on. 

With the early signs of the fire season breaking and the 
rainy season starting, we were having some dry lightning 
storms around, as you have, you know, in the mountains. 
I was watching a little cloud off a few miles to the west 
of the peak, with a little lightning play, and being very 
careful to spot any fire that might be started. There was 
no lightning even close; otherwise I would have left the 
tower and gone down into the cabin, as we were in¬ 
structed to do as a protective measure. 

All of a sudden there was a bolt of lightning struck the 
tower, and burned big black strips down the legs where the 
copper wire was located, knocked the phone out, and 
blinded me for about 30 minutes. It was a tremendously 
white light and it just left me blinded; I couldn't see, and 
it just about scared me to death. I went down into the old 
cabin and I was still pretty scared. 

The lightning hit a big old fir tree right back of the cabin and 
knocked a huge slab off. This slab bounced over and hit 
the back of this little log cabin. On the inside we had an 
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apple-box tacked up there in which we kept our tin dishes, 
tin cups, and so forth. This caused all this tinware to fall 
of on the floor and rattle and the tremendous crash of the 
thunder and all of this, just about spooked me off the 
mountain; I almost quit the Forest Service and ended my 
career right there! Actually I wasn't hurt and I'm sure my 
safety was due to the fact that we had installed this 
lightning protection. Well, that was my first summer in the 
Forest Service. 

I worked during the summertimes at various jobs, from 
building fences and telephone lines, as fire guard, trail 
maintenance. I even worked one summer as a powder 
monkey on building the road from Beaverhead across 
Corduroy and down Hoyt Creek toward the old DD Bar. 
The road eventually was constructed down to Diamond 
Creek and tied in with the road that was built through from 
the Sapello. You remember back before the turn of the 
century there was an old military route there, and we 
rebuilt that road; that is, it was eventually rebuilt. I only 
worked on it that summer as a powder monkey and I didn't 
know a darned thing about powder except what they told 
me. 

One summer I worked on range reconnaissance work with 
Bob Boyle, who I think you also know. He worked for the 
Forest Service at that time and eventually went to the Soil 
Conservation Service and is presently head of the SCS for 
the State of Arizona. 

Then I accompanied Dune Lang on a very interesting 
assignment. It was in 1929; we made a rough ocular 
estimate of the merchantable timber on what was estab¬ 
lished as the Black Range Primitive Area and the Gila 
Wilderness Area. Dune didn't know that country, and I did, 
and that was the reason I was selected for this assign¬ 
ment. I had worked or been over that country for a good 
many years, ridden all parts of it and acted as guide for 
hunters. I worked for Dub Evans when he ran the Slash 
Ranch. 

Anyway, to me that was one of the most interesting things 
that I participated in. The Gila Wilderness Area was the 
first wilderness area established in the National Forest 
system and was the forerunner of a system that has 
become tremendously important, as you know. I guess it 
contributed in some way to the passage of the Wilderness 
Act of last year [i.e., 1 964] which now gives the Wilder¬ 
ness System stability, and means that they can not be 
altered in any way or done away with, without the 
concurrence of Congress. 

Let's see, in 1927 I started to school at Colorado Aggies; 
I believe you were there at that time, too, Ed, weren't you? 

You told me stories about the Gila. 

Well, I spent some time there studying Forestry and then 
I went to work in 1931, back down in this Region of the 
Forest Service. I had to drop out of school, as you may 
remember, because I'd had an appendectomy; I'd been 
making most of my own way through school, and I 
couldn't quite hang on financially, although I later obtained 
my BS degree in Forestry. 

I started work on the old Datil, building telephone lines, and 
then joined a timber survey party headed by Bill Beveridge. 
It involved the cruising of the timber and the making of a 
topographic map of the Capitan Mountains on the Lincoln 
National Forest. Harvey Barlow was a member of that 
party. We spent eight months, beginning, I believe, some 
time in April. Moving our camp from time to time to keep 
reasonably close to our work so we didn't have to walk too 
far, we ended up the last two weeks completing a little 
timber survey work in the vicinity of what is now Ruidoso. 
In fact, that was just the beginning of a little resort town 
at Ruidoso then, in 1931. 

Times weren't so good, as you'll remember, about then; 
no appointments were being made. There was only 
temporary work in the Forest Service. I found some other 
employment that winter for a while, did some odd jobs, 
working in a filling station and garage down in Magdalena. 
My parents were at Magdalena by that time. Father was 
District Ranger there. 

In 1932, I went down about April and was Assistant 
Ranger on the old High Rolls, or Sacramento District, on 
the Lincoln. I worked for Lou Laney, who was District 
Ranger there at that time and who is now retired from 
Federal Service. From there I went onto a road job in the 
early fall and was suddenly offered a move to be Assistant 
Ranger on the Tijeras District, of the Cibola. 

Pink Arnold was District Ranger there at that time. I'd 
been recommended to him by some mutual acquaintan¬ 
ces. He had an assistant in the wintertime rather than in 
the summer, contrary to the usual practices in the Forest 
Service at that time. This was largely due to the fact that 
they cut Christmas trees in those days and had a lot of 
business that required additional help. So I came up to 
Tijeras about October, and worked there with Pink Arnold. 

I was engaged to a girl up in Fort Collins; we had never got 
enough money together to get married. Things were 
looking a little better financially and we took the jump; 
Elsie and I got married in January of 1933. We lived in a 
little cabin out at Tijeras and were taken in as part of the 
family as far as Pink and Helen Arnold were concerned. I 
guess we've looked upon them as second parents ever 
since. 

Anyway, about the end of March I was offered the Canjilon 
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Ranger District on the Carson National Forest. It was the 
most insignificant, smallest little District in Region 3, I 
guess, at that time. But we were quite happy; we didn't 
care that it was a hundred miles from a railroad and had an 
old shack for a Ranger Station. It meant getting a start and 
we were quite jubilant about the prospects. 

About five days before I was to leave for the Carson 
National Forest, I received word that there'd been a 
change in plans and that I was to report to the Lincoln and 
take charge of the timber survey work on that Forest. This 
meant living out in camp and that was quite a blow to a 
young married couple. Anyway, there wasn't any help for 
it. 

I reported to Corona in April 1933. The first job was to 
make a timber survey and topographic map of the Gallinas 
Mountains. When we finished that we moved to the West 
Capitan Mountains and completed about a township of 
country in there. We moved from there westward and 
took in the timber type on the Carrizo Mountain; it doesn't 
amount to very much, but there were a few stringers of 
timber and we did go in and gather that up. Along about 
the end of September I moved in to Alamogordo and was 
to be attached to the Supervisor's Office for the winter to 
compile the survey data that we had gathered. 

I had to come to Albuquerque on business, and I did this 
on a week-end. I came to see Pink Arnold, who had been 
brought into the Regional Office to head up recreational 
work for the Southwestern Region. 

The CCC work was just getting started. For the first time 
we had a definite program for constructing recreation 
facilities for camping and picnicking on the National 
Forests. Pink, who had shown a great deal of personal 
interest in this sort of thing, had scrounged around and 
managed to build a few old tables out of scrap lumber, and 
give some attention to the recreationists from Albuquer¬ 
que, out in the Sandias. This caused him to be selected to 
head up this work. 

He was a real good administrator, but surveying and 
mapping was something beyond him; he was never able 
to grasp it. About the time I came to Albuquerque on this 
little private business trip. Pink was looking for somebody 
who could fit into his organization and head up the 
mapping side of it. I just happened to come into view and 
he knew me, knew that I could do that sort of work, so I 
was immediately tapped for that. 

I remember we had moved into an apartment in Alamogordo 
that was a second choice. We were told if we would 
occupy this temporarily, one of the better apartments 
would be available soon and we could have it. Well, the 
week-end that I came to Albuquerque my wife got the new 

apartment and moved into it. When things firmed up on 
my move to Albuquerque I had to move her out of it. We 
did a lot of moving in a short space of time. 

That was quite a move, to be attached to the Regional 
Office, for a youngster getting started. My working area 
suddenly became all of the National Forests in the States 
of New Mexico and Arizona. I was probably feeling pretty 
cocky over what I considered to be my good fortune. I took 
off with a lot of confidence and no knowledge of recreation 
development, but I was still under Pink Arnold's guidance, 
making plans for picnic and campground developments 
throughout the Region. 

With the rapid increase in the CCC program and the 
number of camps, which I believe got to number up around 
40 during the Thirties, we were pretty busy making plans 
and developing camp and picnic grounds for all the 
National Forests. In fact, some of the improvements that 
were made out of concrete are still in use today and are 
quite serviceable. 

After a time, it became apparent that I shouldn't delay too 
long getting some administrative experience in the Forest 
Service running a Ranger District. I began to chaff a little 
bit and express a feeling that I wanted to get out and get 
a District at the first opportunity. Ed Miller came in as 
Chief of Recreation and Lands about that time and he was 
quite sympathetic about my desires. He was a firm 
believer in not delaying too long getting that kind of 
experience. He sincerely believed that it was the founda¬ 
tion of all of our work in the Forest Service. 

In the late fall of 1937 I was given my first Ranger District 
over on the Prescott National Forest, in Arizona. J. C. 
Nave was Forest Supervisor at that time. Reuben Boone 
was Assistant Supervisor. It was a real interesting 
District; it was a light workload District in comparison with 
our Districts of today. However, there was a tremendous 
amount of work to be done; it was quite a challenge to a 
young fellow who wanted to make a name for himself. It 
hadn't had a Ranger on it for a good many months. The 
Ranger there had died of heart failure and they hadn't filled 
the position for a long time. 

Things had gotten pretty well run down. Anyway, I 
thoroughly enjoyed it there and was there until the first of 
January 1940, just over two years. 

I remember very well going into Prescott one Saturday; in 
those days we were working until noon on Saturday. I had 
a little official business and I went down there in the 
morning. The first thing I did was to go to the County 
office and get my new license plates for my car because 
I knew they were going to close at noon. Then I went to 
the office where I had business, and when I walked in the 

29 



Supervisor’s secretary said, "How do you like your new 
job?" I said, "What job?" And she said, "Oh, you’re 
moving to the Tijeras Ranger District." 

Well, that was news to me. I dashed into the Supervisor’s 
office and he confirmed it. The decision had been made 
and I was to move in about two weeks. I can remember 
wishing that I hadn’t got in such a hurry to buy my Arizona 
license plates because I had to come to New Mexico and 
buy another set before the end of the month. 

We moved back to the Ranger District where I had been a 
number of years before and where I had gotten married. I 
served there as District Ranger until the fall of 1 943 when 
I went into the armed services. I had a lot of fun on that 
District. It was a very interesting period in a lot of ways. 

I remember that we had to keep the trespass under control. 
The Spanish-American people living in the numerous 
villages scattered through that District and around the 
edge had a very low standard of living and a very low cash 
income. They didn’t feel that it was really too serious, or 
what we call a criminal act, to steal a little wood once in 
a while. It was getting caught that was the face-losing 
part of it. They would actually brag a little bit if they got 
away with stealing some wood. If they got caught it was 
a sad day and they went around in shame because they 
had lost great face, having been caught. 

It was very interesting that they had some sort of under¬ 
ground communications system that to this day I don’t 
know anything about; it’s a mystery. If I went south, they 
went north; if I went north, they went south. I used to lay 
awake nights trying to figure out how to keep this trespass 
under control, because they would cut green timber, 
which was actually what we were trying to stop. It wasn’t 
that we cared about the dead timber, but they would cut 
so much green timber that we had to do something about 
it. So, I got a bright idea. 

One day I rode south and I saw no-one. The woods were 
empty of wood-cutters. The next morning I got up at 
daylight and rode south again, exactly the same route. 
There was a very strong wind blowing. As I topped out 
over a ridge (I’d been following some fresh wagon tracks 
and figured I was on the trail of a wood-cutter) I could hear 
chopping going on down below a ways, so I rode on down. 
The wind was making such a noise blowing through the 
trees, and this fellow was so busy chopping on this green 
tree, that he didn’t hear me ride up. I stopped my horse 
some 15 or 20 feet away and just sat there and watched 
him for a minute or two. 

He stopped chopping and laid down his axe to blow a little 
bit. He looked up and saw me, and I’ll never forget the 
expression on his face. His chin dropped and he looked at 

me for a moment, then he took off his hat, threw it on the 
ground and jumped up and down on it. Then he said, "My 
God, Meester, I don’t theenk you come this way today!" 
But anyway, you know these people, you hated to bring 
any charges against ’em because they needed what 
money they got out of the wood, and things like that were 
amusing. You couldn’t get mad at them; you had to laugh 
at them a little bit. 

Well, after the War, I came back to Albuquerque and was 
placed on the Supervisor’s staff of the Cibola National 
Forest. I was there only eight or nine months when I was 
asked to transfer over to Recreation and Lands in the 
Regional Office to catch up with quite a backlog of 
recreation work. 

As you will recall, much of our activities were curtailed 
during the War years. Practically anything we could get by 
without, we did; so there was a tremendous volume of 
work that was urgently needed in connection with recre¬ 
ation. Because of my earlier experience they wanted me 
for this work. 

I didn’t like the idea; I felt that I hadn’t been on the 
Supervisor’s staff long enough to become seasoned at 
that level of work and I didn’t want to hurt my chances of 
advancement in the future. I think, like you and most of 
the fellows, we had our sights set on being Forest 
Supervisors some day; that was the height of our ambi¬ 
tion. If we were lucky enough to make that, we’d realize 
all the things we’d dreamed of all the way through college 
and our working years. Well, they told me that I’d have to 

move. 

I guess not very many people know this, but my wife and 
I talked it over and we decided we didn’t want to do that. 
So I wrote out my resignation. Alva Simpson was in 
charge of Personnel Management at that time, and Ed 
Miller was still Chief of Recreation and Lands. I turned in 
my resignation. I did it under this sort of a philosophy: I 
figured - and I think this is something that people today 
could very well adopt, at least go further in that direction 
- that is, if you don’t want to do what the organization 
wants you to do, why, you’d better get out. That is, you’re 
working for them and the tail shouldn’t wag the dog. On 
that philosophy, I just figured it was up to me either to take 
it, or get out. So I resigned. 

Well, it went over to the Regional Office and Alva Simpson 
called up and wanted me in his office at once. I went over 
and he was pacing the floor when I walked into the room. 
He shook his finger in my face and wanted to know what 
in the world I thought I was doing, and he says, "This is 
what I think of your damned resignation," and he tore it up 
and threw it into the wastebasket. "Now," he said, 
"you’ve hurt Ed Miller’s feelings. He’s one of the finest 
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men in the Forest Service. I want you to go over and talk 
to him and tell him what got into you that you’d do this sort 
of thing." 

Well, I went over across the hall and down a couple of 
doors and here was Ed Miller. He had assumed that I had 
some personal dislike for him and that I just didn't want to 
work for Ed Miller, which was about the furtherest from 
being the truth. Between those two guys they made me 
feel so ashamed of myself that I said, "Well, OK, I’ll take 
the job." 

They told me, they said, "Now, this only needs to be a 
temporary thing. We’ll set it up for not longer than a year, 
then you can go ahead with your regular staff work, and 
this won’t hurt you." 

That sort of built up my hopes and I guess I hadn’t wanted 
to quit the outfit very bad anyway. I got back in the 
Recreation game then and the year stretched into two 
years. 

Pretty soon we were going to have a retirement in the 
Division of Recreation and Lands. Sim Strickland, who 
was the "Mr. Land Exchange" for the Forest Service in this 
Region for so many years and who did such a fine job, was 
getting up about 68 or 69, and while his health was still 
good and he was productive and all, it was inevitable that 
he would have to retire soon. Mr. Woodhead was the 
Regional Forester. By that time Ed Miller had retired, and 
Art Schilling was Chief of Recreation and Lands. 

Howard Hopkins, Assistant Chief of the Forest Service, 
who headed up the Lands functions at that level, was out 
on an inspection. I was asked to participate in part of his 
tour of the Region. When we got back from the field, I was 
called down to the Regional Forester’s office to talk with 
him and Mr. Hopkins. They proposed to me that I take on 
the Land Exchange job following Mr. Strickland’s retire¬ 
ment and that I get started on it right away in order to take 
advantage of the training that he could give me. 

Well, this was another blow; I hadn’t gotten back on the 
Forest staff as I had been shooting for and had been 
promised, and I had the feeling that Land Exchange would 
just be a dead end alley. 

While I had the greatest admiration for Sim Strickland, he 
had been stuck with that assignment for, I guess, close to 
20 years. Some of us felt that had he not been so valuable 
in that little area of work, he would have been a Forest 
Supervisor and probably would have advanced in grade. 

Well, I was pretty reluctant to take it, but finally decided 
I would. I served an assignment in the Chief’s Office for 
training purposes and came back here and took on the Land 

Exchange job in this Region. That must have been in 
December of 1949 that I took that job. 

Then, in the spring of 1952, I was offered the job as 
Supervisor of the Lewis and Clark National Forest in 
Region 1, with headquarters in Great Falls, Montana. I 
certainly would have to say that the next four years were 
the most rewarding to me personally and the most 
interesting of my years in the Service. One of the things 
I particularly enjoyed about the Lewis and Clark was the 
numerous streams. They mostly were so much larger than 
our streams in this country that to a boy who had been 
raised in the Southwest and didn’t always have enough 
water to take a bath in, that was quite an experience. 

Another thing that was quite enjoyable to me was the Bob 
Marshall Wilderness Area. I managed to get at least one 
trip, and usually two trips [each year], into that country 
and spend some time. While I particularly enjoyed it and 
felt like it was a vacation, it was of course part of my job 
to get back there and manage that country. 

I shall never forget the first trip back there. It was early; 
the high country hadn’t yet opened up but we could get 
into about the middle elevations. This was a special trip 
with some people interested in wildlife management 
outside the Service, and also involved the Regional For¬ 
ester. We had the District Ranger there, and my Range and 
Wildlife Staffman from my office, along with the rest of 
the group. 

The saddle and pack stock had just recently been gotten 
off of winter pasture and shod and made ready for the 
summer season. I’d not seen any of the animals before so 
I didn’t know them individually. We went to the edge of 
the Wilderness Area and spent a night at one of the field 
stations on the Forest and got up early the next morning 
to get a start horseback on into the wilderness country. 
We got our gear together. There was a brand-new saddle 
for me as the new Supervisor, because my predecessor 
had taken his saddle with him, as is often customary. 
Fellows move their saddles around with them because 
they get one that fits ’em and they like it. So I had a brand- 
new saddle, of stiff leather, you know, the stirrups 
weren’t set yet, and a new saddle is always very slick. 

I stood back to see who rode what horse and let each one 
pick their favorite mount. I had no particular preference 
one way or the other. Finally one of the fellows asked me 
which horse I would like and I told him I’d let them pick one 
out for me; it didn’t make any difference. They said, "Oh, 
that great big black over there is traditionally the 
Supervisor’s horse, and if you like the looks of him, we 
suggest you ride him." 

I knew that none of the stock had been ridden yet except 

31 



one or two that our packer had used, and so would be a 
little bit touchy after not having a saddle on for some six 
or seven months. I treated the horse accordingly, was 
careful in handling him, putting on my saddle. We all got 
ready to go and nobody seemed to want to take the lead 
and say, "Well, let's get on our way." Not even knowing 
which direction we were going, I didn't show much 
leadership myself. After 'while it became obvious that 
nobody was going to lead off, so I turned my horse a couple 
of times and very carefully stepped on. I could tell that he 
might break in two if things didn't go just right. Everybody 
else just stood there and watched. The horse trembled for 
a few seconds, downed his head and took off! As it 
happened, he took off uphill and was soon up against the 
old cabin there, and that caused him to stop. 

I got him turned around and he moved off rather rapidly, 
but without pitching, and I decided the best thing to do 
was to let him move freely and not try to hold him up. He 
was tremendously big for a saddle horse and awfully long- 
legged. I didn't feel very lucky with that brand new saddle. 

Anyway, we took off down the trail and after about a 
hundred yards the rest of the folks were mounting up, and 
about a mile later began to catch up with me. They were 
all having a lot of fun over my exhibition. It turned out that 
this horse they gave me hadn't had a saddle on for over 
two years, and was just a little bit hard to handle. They 
thought it would be real interesting to find out if the 
newcomer from the Southwest knew anything about 
horses. If I could pass the test with that horse, I was in 
as far as the Forest Service people in Region 1 were 
concerned. I didn't exactly appreciate it, but at least they 
had a lot of fun out of it. 

After four years on the Lewis and Clark, I was transferred 
to the Washington Office and served for a time as 
Assistant Director of the Division of Land Acquisition. 
This assignment no doubt came about as a result of my 
earlier work on land exchange in Region 3. After a little 
over a year on that assignment I was offered the job of 
Assistant Regional Forester in charge of Recreation and 
Lands here in the Regional Office for the Southwestern 
Region. 

I came here about the first of September 1957 and have 
continued in that capacity up to this time. It’s been very 
interesting work all through the years; there's never been 
a dull moment that I can recall. There's always been more 
work than we could do. I've been blessed with a lot of very 
fine people. I found out a long time ago that one individual 
can't do very much by himself, but if he has good help he 
can accomplish quite a bit. 

Some of the things I think about back through the years 
that I might take a little personal pride in, all sort of run 

together except for one, maybe two things. I'm sure 
nobody is going to remember me for having worked out 
some knotty grazing problems, or got some needed timber 
sales going, or harvested some decadent, insect-infested 
trees; but I think that I might be remembered in, and I can 
remember details, about people who have worked with me 
through the years, and the people I've had some part in 
moving along to better jobs. 

I think particularly of the fellows who've gone on to be 
Forest Supervisors. Let's see, there’s one, two, three, 
four, five, six, seven, that I can think of quickly -- people 
who've been on my staff through the years that have gone 
on to be Forest Supervisors. I'm real proud of those folks; 
although I contributed very little, I was associated with 
them during a period when they were advancing. I'm real 
happy about those boys. I think of another one; that runs 
it up to eight. 

Another thing I'm most pleased with, get a great personal 
satisfaction out of, is having worked out some land 
exchange problems here in the Southwestern Region 
which I think will contribute to maintaining and improving 
the value of the National Forest properties for generations 
to come. I have been able to do this with rather large tracts 
of land before they became badly cluttered with homes 
and subdivisions and that sort of thing. This has been 
rather important because it isn't going to be too long 
before these large tracts are going to be badly cut uo and 
they will not be so valuable for the multiple purposes that 
attach to the National Forests as they are when they 
comprise large tracts of wild lands. 

Just the wildlife itself, one value of the National Forests, 
the habitat is destroyed when you don’t have pretty 
sizeable tracts of wild land. When you get people 
scattered all the way through, the habitat is disturbed, the 
wildlife is disturbed, and they don't do so well. 

Well, Ed, that's a lot of rambling. Are there some 
questions you'd like to ask, or some areas that you’d like 
for me to get into that I may have passed by or skipped 
over? 

That’s an excellent resume of vour career. Zane. It's been 
a pleasure to sit back and listen to it. I do think with all of 
the experience that you have had growing up in the Forest 
Service and starting to work at an early aoe - vou must 
have been in vour 'teens when you had the iob on Diamond 
Peak - that vou must have had lots of experiences and 
incidents that would be extremely interesting to hear 
about. 

Talking about Diamond Peak and the Gila Wilderness Area 
reminds me of one of the most colorful old-time Rangers 
the Southwest ever had, named Henry Woodrow. I know 
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he was a personal friend of yours. He had the adjoining 
District to the Mimbres on which I was located, and my 
lookout served a lot of his country, at least it overlapped 
with lookouts that were on his District, and some of his 
country was blind except to my particular lookout. Henry 
had lots of fires. 

Henry was a pretty rugged, self-sufficient individual and 
he didn’t call for help. He took his little trail crews and he 
put 'em out. They used to call up Henry because the 
lookouts would be reporting in that smokes were boiling 
up, and they'd ask Henry if he needed any help and he'd 
tell 'em very politely that he'd let ’em know if he needed 
any help. We used to have to make a special damage 
report on any fire that exceeded ten acres. It was kind of 
a joke around the Gila down there that Henry Woodrow 
never had a fire over nine acres in extent. I remember 
Henry quite well, and how effective he could be some¬ 
times in handling situations. 

It was contrary to the usual practices, but for some reason 
or other, it was a stepson of Henry's that was employed 
on one of his lookouts up there. I guess it was at a time 
when help was pretty hard to get; they were probably 
pressed to get someone who knew the country. This 
fellow, named Bob, was certainly an excellent woodsman; 
knew that country well, and was employed by Henry as 
lookout on Granite Peak. The lookout tower was about a 
mile from the cabin. Bob rode up to the lookout each 
morning and stayed until sundown, then rode back to his 
cabin. 

Henry became a little suspicious that Bob wasn’t handling 
his job according to instructions. One morning when he 
gave the test call, which was a particular ring on the old 
grounded telephone line that reached all the lookouts and 
all the stations in the Mogollon Mountains, why he 
checked off each lookout very carefully. When he got all 
through. Bob had checked in properly for Granite Peak 
lookout, Henry says, "Bob, are you up in the tower?" Bob 
says, "I sure am." Henry says, "That's funny; 1 am too!" 

Henry talked rather haltingly and part of the interest that 
people had in talking with him and enjoying him was the 
way he expressed himself. Anyway, he was quite a 
colorful character and should be credited with the fine 
system of trails that, at least once, existed through that 
Gila Wilderness country. 

Oh, there've been a lot of very interesting people through 
the years. I had a very interesting group of people to work 
with on my first Ranger District. They say there's nothing 
worse than a retired Forest Officer, or an ex-Forest Officer 
to do business with. On the Verde District of the Prescott 
I had an ex-District Forest Ranger and an ex-Forest 
Supervisor in a wood and post company to deal with. They 

knew most of the answers; how far I could go, what I could 
get away with, what they could get away with, and they 
stretched those things to the limit. Kept me on needles 
and pins all the time. 

I'll never forget a lesson that I learned from Supervisor 
Nave in connection with some of those troubles, a lesson 
that has worked - or a procedure at least - that has 
worked for me through the years very well. I gave this 
wood and post company an ultimatum; 30 days in which 
to correct some unacceptable practices in regard to their 
woods operations, delivered the necessary letter in writ¬ 
ing, spelling all this out, and delivered it in person. I kept 
track of them and they didn't pay any attention to it, and 
at the end of the 30 days I went out and shut down their 
operations. 

Well, they were pretty mad. The ex-Ranger was actually 
in charge of this company. He screamed a few times, got 
in his car and headed for Prescott for a session with the 
Forest Supervisor. The Supervisor said, well, he'd come 
out the next day and arrange for a meeting between 
himself and this man and myself. We'd see if we couldn’t 
work things out. 

The Supervisor came by and picked me up in his car and 
we went up to where this company had their business 
office. The man was pretty abusive, walked the floor, 
shook his fist and he'd say, "Now this is unreasonable;" 
"Now, this shouldn't be required;" "This should be done," 
etc., "Shouldn’t it, Mr. Nave?" Supervisor Nave got off 
over in the corner and sat down and was listening, and he'd 
say, "Well, that's the District Ranger, you’ll have to ask 
him." 

After about an hour of this, the man finally subsided and 
agreed to correct the things that were unsatisfactory and 
abide by the sale agreements in the future. Of course, I had 
to be right to begin with for the Supervisor to have taken 
that attitude. He made himself sit on the sidelines as a sort 
of referee; he made the individual deal with the District 
Ranger, myself in that instance. I had to cope with it and 
I had to realize that I had to be right. 

Of course, the trespasser in that case, the ex-Ranger, 
knew exactly whether I was right or whether I was wrong. 
He was just blustering around until he eventually gave in. 
Didn’t have any more trouble with that particular group 
after that. But it was a lesson in personnel management 
in dealing with people that I've used through the years. 

I will always remember Nick Perkins there on that District. 
He'd come to that country when he was a small boy, I 
believe he said about 12 years old, with his parents, and 
had stayed on around the old home ranch. He was a lion 
hunter, along with being a stockman: a very rugged 
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individual. He never got going until about 10 o'clock in the 
morning, but he never got in until 10:00 or 11:00 at night, 
which was the hard way of doing things, in my opinion. I 
had a lot of interesting trips with Nick; he happened to 
operate back in the Sycamore wilderness country. 

This country was full of old Indian ruins and Nick liked to 
prowl around them. We'd usually stop and have our 
sandwiches in the middle of the day somewhere where we 
could prowl around old Indian ruins and pick up some 
arrowheads and that sort of thing. I found a number of old 
metates in that country that I never quite got out. I always 
wanted to bring one out but they were too heavy to carry, 
and I never seemed to find one when I had a pack animal 
with me. I would cache them around a tree or a rock butte 
or something, hoping one day I'd pick one up. So I guess 
the ten or twelve metates that I cached away maybe are 
still back there, I don't know. 

I remember one particularly hard day we had gone back 
into that country, Nick Perkins and I. It was away into the 
night when we got the horses taken care of. There was 
a sort of overhanging cliff that Nick camped under occa¬ 
sionally, particularly if it was bad wether. He always had 
a little firewood gathered up there and sometimes had a 
sack of salt or something hung up. In the summertime he 
might even keep a few cans of vegetables or canned 
meats so he wouldn't have to pack so much food in. 

Anyway, we'd had this real rough day, and way into the 
night, and the next morning it was quite frosty. Nick 
crawled out of-bed before I got fully awake, and built a little 
fire. Then I heard him rustling around in one of the kyacks 
and could hear plates and tin cups rattling and pretty soon 
I heard Nick at my bedside. I threw back my tarp, and here 
was Nick with a tin cup and a bottle of Old Yellowstone 
Bourbon that he'd cached away over in the rocks. He 
thought that would be a good way to wake me up and get 
me out of bed. 

I'll never forget old Nick and his bottles of Old Yellowstone 
that he had cached away at almost all of his more favored 
camp spots, all the way back through the Sycamore 
wilderness there. He never drank much that I ever saw, 
but he would have a little short nip every morning to wake 
up on. 

Well, Zane. you mentioned vour work in Recreation. I 
know that you were interested in it right at the very 
beginning. Could you trace the development of the 
Recreation programs and their impact on the Region, in a 
little more detail? 

Well, when you ask me that, ittakes me back to something 
that was uncovered in some of the old files on the 
Coconino National Forest a number of years ago. 

There was a little report prepared by the District Ranger at 
Sedona, which is at the mouth of Oak Creek. At that time 
there was an old wagon road from Flagstaff that dropped 
down into Oak Creek at approximately the same point the 
highway goes into it now, and on down to Sedona. I've 
seen the remains of the old road. You could get the old 
Model Ts over it, but they had to back up on the 
switchbacks; that is, you ran forward, then you'd back up 
to the next switchback, then you'd go forward again. 

Well, it seems that Oak Creek was becoming a favorite 
recreation spot, and the District Ranger's report was to the 
effect that there had been almost 500 visitors to Oak 
Creek Canyon during the past 12 months. He predicted 
that in the years to come this would become so popular 
that they might expect to have 2,000 or 3,000 visitors 
into Oak Creek. I think last year the recreationists into Oak 
Creek numbered somewhere around a million; I've forgot¬ 
ten the exact figure. 

We had an occasional Ranger, like Pink Arnold that I 
mentioned earlier, who was interested in people and 
believed in recreation, and felt it was a proper use of the 
National Forests. There was another old-timer who lived 
down at Cochise Stronghold on the Coronado - I don't 
remember his name now - but he scrounged around and 
got some second-hand lumber and put up some tables and 
got some old cans and put them around for the collection 
of garbage. Now that Cochise Stronghold site and a few 
rustic improvements in the Sandias put in by Pink Arnold, 
are the very earliest actual improvements that I am aware 
of; they go back somewhere into the late Twenties. 

With the CCC programs, beginning in the Thirties, about 
'33 I guess it was, we began to develop recreation areas 
all over the Region. There were over 400 that were 
developed in about a ten or eleven-year period. Some of 
those were quite small, admittedly; just a toilet and maybe 
a dug garbage pit with a cover over it, one table and a 
fireplace. They went all the way from that sort of a set¬ 
up to a 50- or 60-family unit, comprised of table, fireplace, 
and es.sential facilities. 

Recreation use began to pick up along through the Thirties, 
with the various alphabetical programs that were helping 
the country kinda get its feet back on the ground and pull 
itself out of the Depression. There was a five and a half 
day week; there were some roads being built, making it a 
little bit easier for people to get around and into the 
Forests. Recreation began to command quite a spot of 
importance in Forest Service work. 

The War came along and everything pretty well stopped. 
The facilities were not maintained. We had gas rationing; 
very few people visiting the Forests. But in 1946 it began 
to go again. The use, total recreation use in Region 3, was 
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about 850,000 visitors in 1946. Because I was working 
with it in 1946,1 remember very well that the Region got 
an allotment of $28,000 to maintain Recreation improve¬ 
ments and to do all the necessary clean-up work, hauling 
away of garbage and that sort of thing. It was a pitiful 
allotment to accomplish the job we had ahead of us. 

We got an inspection from the Washington Office, in fact, 
it was 1947 instead of 1946 that I recall the particular 
allotment. Anyway, I made a tour of the Region with this 
man and he was so impressed with our urgent needs that 
he telephoned back to the Washington Office and asked 
them to adjust the allocation of funds between the 
Regions. We got an increase of $5,000, which made 
$33,000 for that fiscal year. It's been going up ever since 
then. 

At that particular time we still had enough facilities in the 
way of family units, or capacity in family units, to 
approximate the use we were getting. It didn't last long. 
Use began to go up, and by 1952 we had a deficit of about 
2,700 family units in the Region. I've forgotten now the 
total volume of recreation use, but I believe it was about 
2,500,000. Last year, last calendar year, it was 
13,750,000 - so you can see how rapidly it's going up. 

And now, in spite of the fact that we've had Operation 
Outdoors, we've had Forest Service programs which has 
caused Congress to give us substantially increased allot¬ 
ments for recreation - we now have a deficit of around 
12,000 family units for the amount of use that we're 
getting. We're about that much too low in capacity. That 
doesn't mean that in some particular spots we aren't in 
pretty good shape, but take it on the whole, that's about 
the picture. 

Now this leads me to comment on some of the reasons 
why we've fallen so far behind. I wouldn't want to leave 
the impression that Congress has just ignored the situa¬ 
tion. Congress, beginning away back in the Forties, 
following World War II, took the position that they were 
not justified in appropriating enough Federal dollars, that 
were paid in by all of the taxpayers, to finance full 
recreation jobs; because all of the people don't enjoy 
recreation on the National Forests. Not all of the people are 
even interested in National Forest recreation. Some of 
them are physically unable to, or they are so located that 
it is beyond their reach. It would be too expensive for them 
to travel hundreds of miles to get to camp or picnic on a 
National Forest. 

So they said that the individual recreationists should pay 
part of the load. They said this would be proper because 
everybody else who uses the Forests, utilizes the forage, 
or harvests the timber, pays the market current value for 
the amount of forage taken, or the timber taken, and the 

recreationists should pay also. At one time, in the late 
Forties, they insisted that we start charging, at least on an 
experimental basis. 

We took a few of our areas that could be brought into a 
charge system because of the way they were located, 
because they received considerable volume of use, and did 
put them on a nominal fee basis. We found that we were 
spending just about as much to collect a dollar as we were 
getting. It wasn't very practical and none of us could really 
get our hearts into this thing because we were simply 
increasing the cost to the people. In other words, we were 
having to take the taxpayers' dollars and we were taking 
dollars from the individual user, and spending that much to 
collect a dollar, so it didn't make too much sense. 

This trend that I have tried to show for the Southwestern 
Region has been going on all over the United States. We 
have had a growing awareness of the value of outdoor 
recreation. The National Park Service developed its 
Mission 66 in order to gain public support and Congres¬ 
sional action to finance its needed recreational facilities. 
The Forest Service initiated its Operation Outdoors, which 
had a similar objective in mind. 

The National Outdoor Recreation Resource Review Com¬ 
mission was appointed by the President and inventoried 
and studied the present-day needs of the American people, 
and predicted their future needs for outdoor recreation. 
They prepared a report for the President which contains 
some 70 recommendations that were needed to ad¬ 
equately provide for the Nation's outdoor recreation needs 
today and into the future. Out of this has come the 
establishment of the Bureau of Outdoor Recreation; out of 
this has come the Wilderness Act, which stabilizes that 
classification and their retention, as I mentioned earlier 
today. 

More recently, the passage of the Land and Water Conser¬ 
vation Fund Act, which is a responsibility of the Depart¬ 
ment of the Interior, and delegated to the Bureau of 
Outdoor Recreation to head up and coordinate among 
State agencies and Federal agencies. They will develop 
and maintain a National Recreation Plan. They will 
maintain it to bring about needed adjustments from time 
to time to keep it current with our needs, and to provide 
for our predicted needs into the future. It will provide for 
the first time a fund which, upon action by Congress, will 
be made available to the States on a matching basis to plan 
purchase areas and develop recreation facilities for out¬ 
doors. In fact, 60 percent of the fund will be available for 
such purposes when appropriated by the Congress. The 
remaining 40 percent will be available to Federal agencies 
for the purchase of key recreation sites only. It will be used 
for the purchase of such things as these needed seashores 
that you read about in the papers so that they do come into 
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public ownership and their recreation values are main¬ 
tained for future generations. 

The Forest Service will receive some part of these funds, 
and as far as this particular part of the United States is 
concerned, we will be using them to acquire key tracts 
inside Wilderness Areas as a very first priority, and key 
tracts around the edge of Wilderness Areas which control 
access to them. Then a few other highly needed tracts, 
such as up on the Pecos River where we have only a few 
acres of public land in the entire drainage, but hundreds of 
thousands of recreationists, and we need space to develop 
for their camping and picnicking needs. 

We also need to acquire stream frontage which is open to 
the general public. At the present time I suppose 90 
percent of that Pecos drainage outside of the Wilderness 
Area is posted to the public. There are some resorts who 
allow fishing by their guests only, but the general public is 
kept out. 

We are just now moving into an era of providing for 
outdoor recreation - and I forgot to mention that the Land 
and Water Conservation Fund Act also provides for an 
admission and user charge. Designated areas which are 
primarily valuable for, and administered for, scientific, 
historical, scenic, or other recreational values, will be 
subject to an admission charge in this particular Region 
beginning June 1 of this year. The charge will be very 
nominal for those who choose to purchase the annual 
Recreation Conservation sticker. This will cost $7.00, 
and when placed on the bumper of a noncommercial 
automobile, will take that automobile and all of its occu¬ 
pants into any designated area of any National Forest, 
National Monument, National Park, or other Federally- 
managed recreation area such as those developed by the 
Corps of Engineers, Bureau of Reclamation, TVA, Fish and 
Wildlife Service; anywhere in the United States, any 
number of 'em. You could spend every day in the year 
going to a different one if you had the time and the 
transportation; and you could do all of this with your $7.00 
sticker. Those who go only once or twice a year to one of 
these charge areas, have the option of securing a 50 cents 
daily permit per person over 16 years of age. 

Those who go to only one National Park, for example, or 
only one National Forest, and who may go several times, 
and don’t want to use the daily sticker or don't want to buy 
the $7.00 sticker, can get an individual seasonal permitfor 
$2.50 that will entitle them to go as many times as they 
like to this particular National Forest, National Park, et 
cetera, during that season. 

So now we have finally reached that point that Congress 
has said, for almost 20 years to my personal knowledge, 
that we should be getting to, in charging individuals for 

recreation. We are in hopes that this will be well accepted 
by the public, that they will go along with it, that we will 
not have to become a police force to enforce it, and that 
this will provide a source of revenue to develop recre¬ 
ational facilities and to acquire needed recreation lands. 

Zane. there is one more little area I'd like to explore with 
you. I remember when Sim Strickland was, to use vour 
expression, known as "Mr. Land Exchange." I've heard 
several people sav. and I feel correctly so. that Zane Smith 
took the mystery out of land exchange. How in the world 
did you accomplish that? 

I’m not so sure that I ever accomplished that, Ed. Sim was 
a highly capable individual, and he worked in a period when 
the people were busy with other things; they didn't have 
time to devote to land exchange and, by necessity, it 
became pretty much a one-man show. I would not want 
to have anything in the record that would cause anyone to 
think that perhaps Sim deliberately developed secrecy in 
land exchange because he wanted to hold it to himself and 
be the whole show, or something like that. He was merely 
a victim of circumstances of the day. This was recognized 
as a procedure or a condition that existed in the Service by 
Howard Hopkins at the time he visited the Region. 

The thing that he took me back to Washington for, to get 
specific about it, was not only to train me in procedures in 
land exchange, but to show me the need for developing 
understanding and participation by all of our yearlong 
personnel, at least our District Rangers, Forest Supervisor, 
and Staff, if we were ever going to get a job done. He 
recognized that it could not be accomplished by a single 
individual; it had to be a team approach. I bought that idea. 

My first responsibilities that I was charged with when I left 
the Chief's Office and came back here to replace Sim on 
the job, was to develop and carry out a program of training. 
It was to gain understanding and to sell the idea of land 
exchange and how it could be used to improve the value 
of National Forest properties and to solve so many of our 
problems, and to make the lands more useful to the people. 
That wasn't too hard to do. 

I think you participated in one of the sessions that I held. 
I went to every Forest over a period of several months and 
we worked together, the Supervisor and his Staff and all 
the District Rangers, for about two days, as I recall. We 
talked about it and argued about things, and tried to clear 
up some of the mysteries. It produced some results. We 
didn't make Land Exchange people out of our personnel, 
but we did make them conscious of it. They began to say, 
"Look, we've got an opportunity, so-and-so is going to sell 
out," or, "So-and-so is going to retire," this is happening, 
and I think there's an opportunity here to do something. 
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While very few individuals actually studied the Manual 
enough to become well versed in land exchange proce¬ 
dures, they would call upon one of us who was carrying 
on that work to come help 'em out, or come and talk to 
somebody and see if something could be worked out. In 
that way we made some gains, and we are still pretty 
much in that sort of a situation. 

Another thing I did that helped a little, but which went into 
disuse and collected dust, was a land-classification plan 
for each Ranger District in the Region. It simply earmarked 
all of the tracts of land in other ownership inside the 
boundaries of the National Forest which should more 
properly have National Forest status. That was a big 
forward step. It immediately brought out and clarified 
between the Regional Forester, the Supervisor, and the 
Ranger, what lands we wanted to acquire. 

Since we only have an exchange authority to work under, 
we also designated those lands which should more prop¬ 
erly be released from National Forest status and go into 
other ownership. Then you removed a lot of the mysteries 
that existed. In other words, we identified the lands we 
wanted to acquire, and the lands we would be willing to 
trade off. 

When I came back here, those old plans had very largely 
been thrown away, or tucked away back in some closet 
and were not current. The first thing I did was to revive 
those when I came back to the Region. They are the most 
useful tool that we have. I think we have almost every 
individual in the Region, in an administrative capacity, 
convinced today that these things are essential. 

Now, we've had a population explosion in the Southwest 
here for quite a number of years. This brings all sorts of 
pressures on land. We have communities which are 
doubled and tripled and quadrupled in population in a short 
period of time. These were little tiny communities when 
the National Forests were established; they were just 
little, small islands of privately-owned land, surrounded by 
public National Forest lands. When they began to grow, 
suddenly they had to have room to expand, and all sorts 
of problems developed. They began to come to us for 
special use permits to occupy and develop and use the 
National Forests. Our land exchange procedures were so 
slow that we couldn't always move out of their way fast 
enough. 

We began to have a two-way need. We were urgently in 
need of transferring public lands into private ownership 
around growing communities, to let them enjoy a well 
regulated, orderly growth; and we needed to acquire 
alienated lands inside the National Forests which were not 
developed. Many of those lands which were patented 
back in the early days were found not to be sufficiently 

productive to make a family a living. People moved off of 
them, and they reverted to a wild state. 

Well, back through the years, when there was no inclina¬ 
tion for people to go out there and occupy those lands 
again and use them for anything, it didn't make too much 
difference whether they were owned by the United States 
or not. But when we got this population explosion and this 
big demand for land, there's a move, and it's in full swing 
right now, to acquire those lands; to go out there and build 
summer homes, to subdivide them for summer resorts and 
summer recreation areas. They create tremendous im¬ 
pacts on us. They take away our wild land values, and our 
multiple values that are so important to the public in the 
National Forests. 

For example, the Payson Ranger District on the Tonto has 
47 subdivisions that have gone in, started all over the 
District. Had we been in there with a good, active land 
exchange program, we could have prevented a lot of that. 
We don't want to create the impression that we are 
against people living in a forest environment - far from it. 
But we feel that existing islands should be permitted to 
grow and get as big as necessary to take care of the 
people, and the big expanses in between should be 
retained in a wild-lands condition in order to preserve the 
very things that cause people to want to live out there, and 
to preserve the production of timber. 

When you have subdivisions going in all over the place, 
they take timber-producing lands out of that category and 
they create fire hazards. Get people scattered all through 
the woods, they burn up additional acreage; we lose 
timber every year that we shouldn't be losing. They 
destroy wild- life habitat that we talked about a while ago. 
They take away the usefulness of the land for domestic 
livestock grazing. They create a lot of other impacts that 
people don't always think about. 

It's not just the tract of land that they occupy and develop 
themselves; they have to have roads coming in; they have 
to have power lines; and they want telephone lines. They 
have to have a dump for their garbage, and where do they 
want it? They want it out on the public lands; they don't 
want them on their own land. 

Just stop and figure up what 50 miles of highway, out 
through a nice, beautiful stand of timber does: it takes a 
lot of acres of timber-producing land out of production. 
These are the things we want to hold within reasonable 
limits by spacing them out and not just scattering them, 
helter-skelter, all over the country. 

These are some of the things we are shooting at in land 
exchange. We're beginning to have our people in admin¬ 
istrative positions recognize that these are some of the 
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most important things that they have to do in order to 
redeem fully their responsibilities in managing the National 
Forests. 

Mr. Gordon Bade, native to New York, and graduate of the 
Ranger School connected with Syracuse University, came 
to Region 3 in 1928 as an experienced Forester. He had 
worked for ten years in the Forests in the Northeast. 
Gordon retired from the Service in 1958 and is presently 
a practicing consultant in Forestry. Interviewed at his 
home in Williams, Arizona, Gordon gives some of his 
experiences and philosophy. 

What jobs did you have that give you the most satisfac¬ 
tion. Gordon? 

1 always thought that the project sale job was the most 
interesting, and I think was most efficient. We had a 
trained timber crew that did nothing but handle timber. 
They got a better job done, and I think more efficiently, 
than today when it's under the District Rangers who 
seldom see the sale. The job of Forestry is assigned to 
temporary, green people; untrained people. 

So you feel we are not getting the technical forestry job 
done? 

Well, look at it over the years. Just go back and review 
what took place. There were very few technical foresters 
assigned to those project sales; they were there for just a 
short training period. Those sales were handled by 
practical foresters like myself, Lafe Kartchner, Carl John¬ 
son, John Churches, Paul McCormack, Homer German, 
and of course, Norman Johnson. The scaling - we used 
to think it took a year to make a proficient scaler. Now 
they take them over there for two days and turn him loose 
as an operator. 

Well, that works to my advantage around this country. 
The operator sends for me to go check-scale the Forest 
Service scaling and check the marking. And there is plenty 
wrong. I'd say in the last four or five years I've found some 
of the marking atrocious. There's no rhyme or reason for 
their selection of trees to be cut. 

Have the guidelines changed on marking? 

Well, I think so. I don't think that they are clear-cut, and 
I don't blame these young lads. They're in a tight spot. 
They get a new Assistant, a Junior Forester, and turn him 
out there with a paint gun, and little or no training. They 
don't know trees. Some of them do a very good job. And 
some of them, as you can imagine, are doing an atrocious 
job. Now, recently, they've been doing some good work. 

By and large, I've found they go to extremes. Either they 

don't mark enough -1 found one sale out here where they 
went back and marked twice as much as they did origi¬ 
nally. Just doubled the marking. I made some marking 
analysis plots, you know, to see what they were doing. In 
other places, I found that they were probably marking 50 
percent too much, marking all the growing stock. I'd point 
this out to some of the fellows, like Bob Diggs when he 
was Staff man, would actually go out and cancel trees. Of 
course, the company I was working for would be glad to 
get those trees, but I just figured I was still a Forester, and 
I didn't like to see it done that way because of what it did 
to the Forest. Well, that wears off after a while; you get 
tired of it. 

Perhaps the guidelines aren't clear, you know? Do you 
recall WalterThompson? He was in the Region for a while, 
in Timber Management. Walter Thompson made a study 
of growth based on Keen's classification of Ponderosa 
pine. The tabulation was in the Timber Management 
Handbook over 15 years ago. Along came Otto Lindh, 
who threw it out the window, and brought in his idea of 
marking "must" trees, et cetera, which was a little bit 
vague. 

But this marking guide developed from WalterThompson's 
study by classifying trees according to Keen into I, II, III, 
and IV, and into A, B, Cs, and Ds. We cut the trees; we 
measured the trees standing. The tree was cut, measured 
again on the ground, the age counted, and a composite 
made of those trees, which showed you the growth that 
you could expect in trees of the age and vigor classifica¬ 
tions. 

For example, like you found in the IV A, which is your 
yellow pine, would be putting on positive growth up to, 
say, 28 inches, DBH. And from then on, it's losing ground, 
defects and what have you - a tree over 30 inches is lost. 
Then we come on down to III A, which shows positive 
growth away up into the 30s. From that study there was 
a marking guide developed. 

First you show the tree classification. When you say a IV 
A, you know what you're talking about; III A, II A, III B, or 
whatever. So you can go out there with this classification 
and you have a composite picture made of those trees. 
You can take your card out and look at a tree, measure the 
diameter, and say, "Now, that's a III D, say, above 22 
inches. It shows a negative growth, so we will mark that.'' 
We decide that if a tree was not putting on at least a half 
of one percent per year net, it wasn't worth saving. 

The guide was made on that basis. And it worked out 
swell. Bud Allen and Pat Patterson, and I forget the others, 
were trained under that system. They bought it. I found 
it was the best training medium I ever experienced. 
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Do you feel it was a mistake when we gave up that 
system? 

Yes. I had quite a round at one timber sale meeting. Jim 
Egan didn’t want it. Dahl didn't want it, but I got Dahl to 
put it back in the book, and it is right back in the Timber 
Management Handbook today. I think it is about the best 
training guide and the best silviculture tool ever developed. 
For, after all, we are trying to grow timber and we're trying 
to leave the individual trees that are putting on positive 
growth. We can work out just about any diameter and age- 
vigor class you want from that table. If you want to 
increase the growth, say you want to increase it by at least 
one percent, one and a half percent, or two percent, you 
can provide it from that table. 

What do you think of the big pulp sale? 

We were looking forward to the day when we could cut 
puipwood, or do something with the waste, rather than 
have a noncommercial thinning, which I never did think 
much of. Of course, the commercial paper companies 
don't want non-commercial timber. They want it big 
enough to use. 

What concerns me is that they are also turning loose 
inexperienced people to mark the puipwood. This takes 
quite a bit of thought. We are harvesting trees that are 
potential saw timber. There may be some excellent work 
being done in other places, but there they are marking saw- 
timber stock. They're marking dominants now. Well, that 
isn't my idea of Forestry. 

We're still on a saw-log economy in this Region. Whenever 
we get to the ground wood or something like that, it won't 
make any difference, I suppose. We are still trying to grow 
saw timber, with the exception of the pole rotation on the 
Prescott. I think the pulp industry has really helped us out. 
Otherwise, we'd probably have spent thousands of dollars 
- hundreds of thousands - in noncommercial thinnings. 
We did some of that during the CCC days. Boy, just like 
taking skin off your finger to see those beautiful trees cut 
down and wasted. We could wait - there was no 
emergency, no immediate need to cut those trees. They 
could wait a generation, in my opinion. What's 25 years 
in the life of a pine tree? 

Could you make any contrast between Timber Manage¬ 
ment when you started, and Timber Management when 
you left the Service? 

Well, I think the fact that we are able to go back and make 
a second cut in some of the early cutover areas would 
prove we were on the right track then. We weren't trying 
to really practice Forestry then; we were just trying to 
recover the old growth - get over it fast, and get the old 
yellow pine out. 

Was the cut orettv heavy in the early days? 

Well, the guarantee at McNary was 75 percent. Even after 
that, I recall making an analysis of the leave on that entire 
sale. It came out right at a 75 percent cut. There were 
over 2,000 feet per acre left, and good growing stock. 
That growing stock really went to town after release. 
They have been re-cutting in a number of places. I'm not 
sure whether they can re-cut and re-cut and take the heavy 
cuts they have been doing, and still stay in the saw timber 
business. 

We prepare a Management Plan; for example, the Williams 
Working Circle here. The idea was a rehabilitation job 
because they had cut so heavy in the first place. The 
objective is to build up the growing stock to a certain 
volume per acre: first, by making light cuts. Well, now 
they think it is a pretty heavy cut; I think they’re getting 
into the growing stock. How deep, I don't know, but I 
guess there’ll still be timber here when I'm gone. Fortu¬ 
nately, blackjack Class I and Class II trees are putting on 
tremendous growth. Some of the growth in that study by 
Walter Thompson showed 1 5 percent: on your 12 inch, 
13 inch, and 14 inch trees - that's darned good growth. 

Figure 8. Fire warnings help the tourists and woodsmen to 
remember to be careful. Photo by F. L. Kirby dated May4, 

1925. 
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Contrast the old railroad loaging with the present-day 
logging using cats: is there more soil disturbance now? 

That's for sure. The horse logging naturally did less 
damage than the machine logging. The horses couldn't 
tear up much country, but I'm not disturbed about the 
present machine logging. Not at all. I just can't think of 
any timber sale area where there has been any alarming 
soil movement. We were nuts over this soil erosion for a 
while. 

I remember being on a field trip down on the Coconino 
some ten or twelve years ago. I think it was when a fellow 
by the name of Hoover was making a trip through this 
country. There must have been 35 or 40 in the party. We 
went out to a timber sale area on the South Coconino. 
Pretty heavy stand. Just rolling country. It was after 
heavy summer rains and here was a little short skid trail 
where the cat had come down; used the same skid trail for 
quite a while and it was about a foot and a half deep. 
Debris had run down into a little swale and stopped. That 
was it; no more erosion. There was enough trash in it to 
stop it. You'd have thought the world was coming to an 
end! 

So I looked around and got the expression on the faces of 
the personnel. On the experienced timber people, almost 
to a man, the expression was, "So what?" Just superficial 
-- which I think it was. Then they came along with this rule: 
Cats mustn't go across openings; mustn't go across 
meadows; mustn't have a road crossing meadows. It was 
better to go in and tear up reproduction, which took 

centuries to establish, than to tear up some grass, which 
you can re-establish in one year. I don't go for that grass 
philosophy in saw timber. Very few of us do that have 
majored in Timber Management. 

Grass economy - well, it doesn’t pay its way. If you were 
to make an analysis of the diaries of field men. Rangers’ 
time over the past 50 years, it would startle you to see 
how much time was wasted on Range Management. 
Wasted! 

It used to irk me when I had to go mark timber for some 
Ranger because he had to go see the Bar X pasture 
somewhere. In other words, he wanted to get out of work 
- and he did. It was a vacation on horseback. Sure, we 
must have range work, but I think it was given attention 
all out of proportion to its economic value. 

You think that Range was emphasized too much? 

It still is. We have been going to get on top of this range 
problem, but we have been getting on top of it ever since 
I can remember. Range is subject to a pressure group, a 
small minority. Do you remember the early ranger meet¬ 
ings? 

Yes. 

How much time was devoted to the various subjects? 
They spent quite a bit of time on fires, then they hurriedly 
went over timber, so they could get to the range. The boys 
were told about Old Maude, the mare you used to ride, and 

Figure 9. Forest Service land on the Alamo National Forest, trespassed by the Alamogordo Lumber Company in 1907 and subsequently 
burned over. 
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the day you spent patching the pasture fence somewhere. 
I'd say two-thirds or three-fourths of the time was spent 
on Range Management conversation. They knew the 
answer, but they couldn't do anything about it - just cut 
down on the number of livestock. 

The real problem is establishing forest reproduction, not 
grass. I'm speaking mostly of the Ponderosa pine type, 
where the economy is timber and the range values are 
secondary - incidental. 

Gordon, what do vou figure has been vour outstanding 
achievement in the Forest Service? 

Well, I don't think that any of it was outstanding. I just 
tried to do a good job in Timber Management and Fire 
Control. 

You have had more satisfaction from that than anything 
else? 

Well, naturally, because I was assigned to that during my 
entire career. I can look back at some of the cut-over areas 
with pride. You can drive through the North Kaibab where 
it's cut over; get on a high point where you can look over 
that beautiful Forest. I get a good deal of satisfaction out 
of seeing something like that. Well, I think I passed some 
of that to some of the younger Foresters. I hope I did, 
anyway. 

********** 

From the Use Book -1906. "The following trespasses are 
forbidden by specific acts of Congress and are punishable 
by fine and imprisonment: 

"(1) Cutting, destroying, or removing timber or other 
forest products from land in a forest reserve without a 
permit, or without having a valid claim to the ground on 
which such timber or product grows, except the small 
quantities actually needed by transients while within 
forest reserves." 

•»**««#*»*« 

Gordon, do vou have any ideas about our present Timber 
Management programs that could be improved? 

I think we should encourage more technical Foresters to 
follow the Timber Management profession. Of course, in 
this Region, it's all Range. I've had young fellows working. 
Junior Foresters, who said, "Well, Hell, we want to get 
into Range Management so we can get somewhere." 
Well, that's wrong, in my opinion. Our major resource is 
timber. As a matter of fact, special use fees are about to 
catch up, or pass grazing fees. Put it on an economic 
basis. 

What about Recreation? 

I'll go for that. We spend a lot of money for Recreation; 
everybody benefits from that. You're not subsidizing 
anybody. You are subsidizing livestock people when you 
reseed, put in cattle guards, stock tanks, and juniper 
eradication; which did not buy us a danged thing. With 
millions of acres of good grazing land in the Middle West 
under soil bank and going to waste, why should you try to 
improve wild land in the West here, in this arid country? I 
just can't understand it. 

I recall one funny incident. Watched a couple of log- 
cutters cut down this fair-sized yellow pine, and when it 
hit the ground, it burst open. It was hollow, and alive with 
bats! Bats fluttered around on the ground, and crawled 
around. One of the log-cutters went to another tree and 
started cutting, and all of a sudden noticed him peeling off 
his overall, shook them out - one of the bats crawled up 
his pants leg. We yelled - Wow, we thought that was 
great! 

But about that time, one of them got up my pants leg, and 
I had to shake my own. They've got sharp claws. Oh, 
there were scores of 'em. The daylight blinded them and 
they were stunned, I suppose, from the fall, and they were 
trying to get back where it was dark, and pants legs were 
the nearest spot. A lot of funny things happen when 
you're out in the woods that way. 

There was the time when Ed Groesbeck and I were scaling 
right-of-way logs on the Sitgreaves out of McNary. We 
had a little railroad speeder, you know. The railroad tracks 
they built in those days weren't fit to walk on, let alone run 
a locomotive over, or a speeder. We would scale a bunch, 
then start the speeder up and go up for the next batch. 

We were goin' up this steep grade and we didn't make it. 
The speeder just didn't have enough power to do it. So we 
rolled back down and I says to Ed, "Shall I cock her back?" 
He said, "Yeah, cock 'er back; give 'er Hell." So I cocked 
her back, and goin' up this big hill, up this steep grade, we 
came to a cut and the expansion had pushed the rails 
down. The steel crew had done what you never should do, 
they had joints opposite instead of staggered, and it just 
made an angle bend in the track. I saw it, and I said, "Hold 
it, Ed, we're gonna jump the track! We're gonna leave it!" 

I knew we couldn't get around that sharp turn and, sure 
enough, we left it. I turned a somersault over the top of 
the thing and I come up, kinda stunned, and when I came 
to, there was Ed in agony; he had broken his leg. I had a 
job getting the speeder back on the track, and Ed back on 
the speeder, and tying his leg up with my belt, my 
shoestrings, and lunch box strap and getting him on the 
running board of the speeder and takin' him down the 
country. Then we had the problem of running into a log 
train, moving empties out backwards. Kinda scary. 
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Well, we got down to the foot of the hill and we found a 
sedan there, I knew was with a survey crew -- a company 
crew running out railroad spurs. We located them and they 
took Ed in to the hospital, by car. He was laid up quite a 
while with that. We had quite some experiences on those 
railroad speeders. Got some scarred heads to show for it. 

Once we pitched Bob Salton off head over heels. The 
gauge would vary so that the wheels would drop in -- so 
would the locomotives. I've seen five locomotives on the 
ground at one time. That was no way to log. 

Another time we had a locomotive off. We were plowin' 
snow; we had a home-made snow plow. Speed was your 
criteria, you know; you had to get up speed to push the 
snow. I felt the ground kinda rough under me, and I looked 
at the engineer and said, "What happened?" He said, 
"We're off!" We had run out into the woods about 50 
yards. The ground was so hard that the drivers didn't sink. 
We just jacked the damned thing up, built a track under it, 
and run it back on again. That took a couple of days, you 
know. 

Mr. Edward Groesbeck was born in Colorado and grew up 
in the Routt National Forest. He worked at various jobs 
on that Forest and also worked as a Guard on the Superior 
National Forest in Minnesota. Ed received an appointment 
as an Assistant Ranger on the old Minnesota National 
Forest, now the Chippewa, in 1924. He worked there and 
on the Marquette Division of the Michigan National Forest. 
Ed was interviewed at his home in Albuquerque. His story 
starts with his' account of how he came to work in Region 
3. 

When did you get down here to Region 3? 

I was up there at Raco and I decided, by golly, that a dumb 
old high school boy wasn't gonna have much luck competin' 
with college graduates, so I decided I'd go back to school, 
and I did. I registered at Colorado State. 

Then my brother was a Ranger at that time and he decided 
he'd go to school. We went down and enrolled at Michigan 
State, and took leave without pay. I'd go to school in the 
wintertime and go back to work in the summertime. I 
entered school at Michigan State in the fall of 1926. In the 
spring of '28 the Raco District was vacant again. I went 
back up and took over the District for another six months. 
Then I went back and finished college and took the 
Ranger's exam, the Junior Forester examination, in - I 
guess it was the spring of '29. 

By golly, I got an offer of a job out in Fox Park, Wyoming, 
on the Medicine Bow Forest. Unfortunately, I'd 'jymped' 
myself up and was in the hospital at the time the doggone 
offer came along and the old Doc said I wouldn't be able 

to go back to work for about a month. I told 'em I sure 
wanted the job, but I couldn't get there for a month, but 
they said, "That's too long to wait." They had to give it 
to somebody else and I lost that one. And, by Jinks, I 
waited and I waited and I waited, and decided I wasn't 
gonna get a job, I guess, because the eligible list was about 
to run out. I had waited pert-near a year, and I got a letter 
finally from the Regional Forester down here in Region 3 
offerin' me a job on the T usayan. I said," I' II be right there." 

Before I got here, they changed their minds and put me on 
the Sitgreaves. I got off the train down there at Holbrook. 
It was about the first of January. When I got off the 
doggone train down there, I couldn't even see a tree. I 
thought, "What kind of doggone forests have we got down 
here?" Just desert, you know. 

We finally got up to McNary, and started scalin'. The first 
assignment was learnin' how to scale pine logs, of course. 
I'd scaled pine before. Western Yellow pine, and the first 
guys I worked with, I remember, was Gordon Bade, Old 
John Vanderbeer, Crawford Riggs, and Bill Beveridge. Bill 
Beveridge, Crawford, and I, shortly after that, moved to 
the old Morris ranch, out north of McNary. They were 
cuttin' on that private land and I think we were scalin' it 
under co-op agreement. That was my first scalin'. 

Hollis Palmer was scalin' at Pinedale at the old Standard 
operation. I went down there and relieved him while Old 
Hollis went off to get married. Everett Hamilton was in 
charge of the sale then. Old Dolph Slosser was Ranger 
there. 

From there I attended one of the early training camps, that 
they used to have. You know, there weren't very many 
new guys cornin' in and so they hadn't very many new 
guys to train, except just on the job. But Region 2 held a 
Ranger training camp down here in Region 3, up near Tres 
Piedras. I think I was the only one in Region 3 to attend 
that camp. But we went up and were there about a month. 

Back down there to the south of the old Tres Piedras 
Ranger Station there was an old log building and a 
storeroom, or a building there of some kind, I don't know 
what the Sam Hill it was, but anyway, we lived in there. 
Old Pete Keplinger put on the school. He was Training 
Officer in Washington, I think, at that time. Anyway, I 
went, and when I got out of that I went back to McNary. 

Right after that they had a Land Examination job up here 
on the old Ramon Vigil grant, which is now Los Alamos. 
Willard Bond and I were to make a topographic map and 
timber cruise of that grant, about 30,000 acres. And we 
did. We had a lot of fun - Old Jack Roak was on the Santa 
Fe then as Assistant. Frank Andrews was Supervisor. We 
used to have the doggondest time. Sundays we'd get out 
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and look for arrowheads, get around those old ruins; there 
was a thousand old ruins around that place. Things were 
kinda different then, in those days. 

I finally ended up after that job as District Ranger at 
Canjilon. I spent about four years up there on the Carson. 
Carroll Dwyre was Supervisor there then, and Hienie 
Marker was Assistant. That Canjilon District, it was not 
too big a District. There was just a road that went from 
Canjilon up to the old Station. That’s where we lived, up 
in the old Station, and the road went on over there to 
Canjilon Camp, on El Rito Creek. Then there was another 
road that went across the divide down there at Lopez 
Canyon, and to the main highway. 

There weren't many roads in that country. I think the first 
-- one year I was there I put in 85 days on horseback, and 
45 of those days was pack outfit, which, you know, you 
just took off and stopped where night overtook you. It 
seems kinda strange on a District that small to put in that 
much time with a pack outfit, but that seemed to me to be 
the easiest way to do it then. 

I had a piece of country along the north boundary -- it was 
winter range. Had a bunch of sheep that came in there for 
winter range. They came on the District I think, oh, the 
first of January or something like that, and stayed over till 
the first of March. I usually had to go down and count 
those rascals on, somewhere around New Year's. 

One darn time I went down there -- we'd had a heck of a 
snowstorm, the snow was real crusted, melted after the 
snowstorm, then crusted hard on top. There was about a 
foot of snow, then this hard crust on top if it. I rode down 
there with Old Ginger; didn't take a pack outfit, I just 
thought, "I'll go down there and throw in with that herder." 
I had a little old blanket tied on my saddle. I thought, "I'll 
just sleep in this blanket. I'll git in under a rock or sumpin’." 

I got down there and. Boy, it was really snowed up down 
there; there was no rocks or nothin' else. The old herder 
had his sheep there all right. We counted the sheep but he 
didn't have nothin' to eat; didn't have any horse feed. His 
old mule had died, and the caporal had gone out to git him 
something else. He had some old sheep backbones that 
he was boilin' up and that was about all he had to eat. Old 
Ginger, he didn’t have a thing to eat that night, only a little 
bag of corn I had in the saddlebag. We slept out there that 
night and darned near froze to death. 

I made another trip down there one time. I had gone there 
to count these sheep again, by the way. They weren’t in 
there yet when I got there, so I thought, "Well, I’ll just ride 
on up the canyon and see what things look like up the 
creek." So I went up there a ways and rode around to kinda 
look things out and see what stock there was in there. 

Some cattle were in trespass from that old place over on 
the Santa Fe. I ran them back across the river, and came 
down to a little old flat there. I didn’t have any tent or 
nothin' but I did have my bedroll on my old packhorse. I 
picketed the old horses out there and hobbled ’em; 
actually, I picketed one of 'em for a while, 'cause I didn't 
want the boogers to run off. Down there at that time of 
the year, why they just weren’t too much interested in 
staying' around. 

Went to bed and it happened sometime during the night; 
it snowed, by Gosh, about a foot. I'd pulled the tarp up 
over my head. I rolled outa there in the morning and. Boy 
Howdy! Snow all over the place. Everything I had was 
plumb covered up. 

My Gosh, I had my socks on and somehow I’d kicked 
around and one of them doggone socks had got loose from 
me someplace and I had a heck of a time findin' it -- finally 
found it out in the snow. Doggone! Got up there and the 
old horses were standin' kinda humped up. I gave them a 
bit of oats and went on down in the country and found the 
sheep and counted 'em in and went on back up home. Aw, 
you'd get into some funny deals. 

How was the range situation then? 

There at Canjilon the cattle and sheep were segregated, 
that is, they had this segregation fence. From the El Rito 
Divide, all that top of Mogote and the Canjilon Mountain 
was sheep, and below was cattle; and the Mesa de los 
Viejos was cattle. The only other sheep we had was that 
little bunch of winter grazing down there on the Chama. 

As a matter of fact, when you got above that segregation 
fence the sheep range looked a lot better than the cattle 
range. Well, it normally would, because it's higher 
country, and sheep are pretty much weed eaters and the 
grass seemed to look better. Below the fence was kinda 

beat out. 

All those people had cattle preferences. There was around 
a hundred permits on that little old District. I think only 
seven people on the District were English, Anglo people; 
the rest were entirely Mexican. I had a bunch of permits 
for two, five, or ten head. 

The people, you know, did all their brandin' then with a 
Dutch oven lid, and you couldn't tell what the Sam Hill it 
was. The old man'd have a circle maybe. One son would 
take the same brand and he'd put a tail on one side. 
Another son, he'd put a tail on it on the other side; pretty 
soon they'd have some kind of darned hieroglyphics that 
nobody could read without takin' the blamed critter down 
and clippin' all his hair off. That was about the only way 
you could tell what the Sam Hill brand it was. 
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They'd be changin' 'round so darned much it was a Devil 
of a job to try to check whose stock was what. We picked 
up a few trespass cases. In fact, one spring there I had 15 
little trespass cases. Well, we handled it I guess quite a 
bit different from what they would now. There was an old 
boy, he’d have four head maybe, and well, by Golly, we 
just figured what the grazing fees were for that period they 
were on there plus the amount of time it took to check up 
on that trespass, the Ranger's time. We came out with a 
little bill that might be $5.00 or it might be $50.00, 
depending on how big a case it was. Might be some of 
'em'd have ten or twelve on there. 

The biggest part of the bill was the Ranger's time checkin' 
up on 'em, the amount of grass they ate wasn't too much. 
But then we'd get the thing figured up and the Rangers 
then made out their own letters of transmittal, you know, 
out there on the District. We made our own LTs right 
there, figure the case, get it approved, make the LT, take 
it over to the old boy an' collect the doggone money an' 
send it in. That's all there was to it. 

So, Gosh Darn it, if a fallow'd do that now -- well, I don't 
think they’d let 'em do it that way now. I settled all them 
that spring; I had about 15 of those cases -- settled ’em all 
that way. 

The worst one I had was old Jesus Maes up there. He was 
kind of a renegade old boy and, doggone, I had quite a time. 
He had the biggest case of the whole bunch. His fee was 
about $60.00 or $70.00 or something as I remember. He 
wasn't about to pay it if he could get out of it. I had a heck 
of a time talkin' him into payin'. But I got it, by Golly! 

Gosh, the schemes that people will do are amusing 
sometimes. I remember one of the first little timber sales 
I had up there at Raco, Michigan. Sold this little chunk o' 
timber to a fellow by the name of Kasam, and well, he 
didn't have too much money. I'd marked the trees and I'd 
get a money order from him and let him cut so much of this 
volume. He'd cut them down, then he'd come in with 
some more money orders and that's the way I handled it. 

But Old Kasam, he was a slick son-of-a-gun. I knew a durn 
sight better then to let him buy anything on credit because 
you just wouldn't get it, that's all. And of course that was 
against the rules anyway. Old Sam came over and he was 
broke. He wanted to get just a few trees. I said, "No, sir. 
Boy, when you get the money. I'll make this LT for the size 
you want, but by Golly, we'll have to have the money on 
the barrel head 'fore we can let you cut the timber." I think 
we made this letter of transmittal for $ 1 5.00 or something 
like that. 

We went over to the post office and got the money order, 
and he had to mail it; put it in a letter to the Regional Fiscal 

Agent in Denver. Got the money order, put it with the LT 
--1 clipped the darn thing on there myself, handed it to him 
and he put it in the envelope, put the stamp on it and 
dropped it in the post office. 

Well, technically, you know, you're supposed to wait till 
the LT got back, paid, before you let him cut, but it had to 
go plumb to Denver from Northern Michigan and it'd take 
a week for the doggone thing to get back there. So I 
thought I'd let the old boy cut that much, so I did. He cut 
the durned trees an' hauled 'em off. The darned LT didn't 
come back, you know -- the paid receipt, and finally I 
wrote a letter to the Fiscal Agent's office and asked him 
about this LT so-and-so mailed from Raco, Michigan, on 
so-and-so date - and they'd never got it. 

Well, you know that rascal, he'd gone back to the post 
office after I left, got the postmaster to give him that letter 
back. He got the letter of transmittal back out, and how 
the Dickens he got the money back on it, I don't know. The 
postmaster apparently didn't know what the score was 
and gave him his money back and cancelled the durned 
letter of transmittal. I had to collect it all over again! Son- 
of-a-Gun! I thought I was gonna have to pay for that 
timber: $15.00 was quite a bit o' money in those days. 

Well, where did you go from Caniilon? 

Well, I was Ranger there until the fall of 1935, and then I 
had a lot of paper transfers about that time. While I was 
at Canjilon we built that new Station there -- that Station 
that's there now. I was right in the middle of that 
construction when they transferred me to El Rito, but I 
never did get there. You see. Flick Hodgens, they put Flick 
over there and he was supposed to be at Canjilon, I guess, 
and I was supposed to be at El Rito. They didn't want me 
to go until I had finished that durned Station, so we just 
kinda swapped Districts there. He was handling the 
Vallecitos District and I was finishin' up the Canjilon 
Station and gettin' things fixed up. 

About that time they wanted to transfer me to the Elk 
Mountain District, over on the Gila. Then I had an offer, 
I believe, as Assistant Supervisor up on the Medicine Bow 
in Colorado someplace. I trucked with 'em all; I just 
worked here and was willing to go most any place. It didn't 
make much difference. Then, they decide No - and I finally 
ended up as Timber Staffman on the Coconino. 

That was another interesting thing. When I come to move, 
my official headquarters was El Rito, but I was still livin' 
at Canjilon and all my furniture and everything was there. 
I got my Letter of Authorization and the doggone thing was 
set up to move me from El Rito. I figured I was gonna have 
to haul my doggone furniture over there to El Rito myself 
before I could get goin' - well, we got that figured out. Ed 
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Ancona was in the office then and handled it, and I took 
off and ended up over on the Coke. 

I was over there quite a while, about eight years, until, oh 
about the time the War broke out. I moved there in '35 and 
I think I left there in '43. I enjoyed livin' at Flagstaff. We 
had a lot of fun there, marked a lot of timber, sold quite a 
bit of timber. 

When I went to the Coke our office was over there in the 
old C. B. Wilson building, that little stone block building just 
to the west of the courthouse. I think we had one, two, 
three, four little rooms in that building. That housed the 
Supervisor's office and the Eldon District Ranger and the 
Flagstaff Ranger; all of us were in there. The Supervisor 
and two Rangers were all headquartered in those four 
rooms. Gosh, I wonder how -- well, we didn't have so 
darned many papers to ride herd on then as we do now, but 
Cripes; you know, we had to have a fire dispatcher and he 
was back there in the back end. Florence Hill was the only 
clerk. She was the clerk; that was it. 

********** 

From the Use Book, 1908. "Boxes containing firefighting 
tools should be placed at convenient points throughout the 
Forest." 

Figure 10. Early day fire-tool box - closed. Note the crude 

handles for carrying the tool box. 

How many sales did you have? 

We were cuttin' quite a bit of timber. At the time I went 
there the AL&T [Arizona Lumber and Timber Company] 
was cuttin'. The old Southwest, you know - they had the 
Rock Top and the Sawmill Springs units under contract, 
but they closed down at the first of the Depression. In 
1927,1 believe was about the last time they cut there and 

Figure 11. Ed Groesbeck with an open early day fire-tool box . 

they were closed down for about ten years. They didn't 
open again until about 1937, after the Depression. They 
opened up again an' started cuttin' again out there at 
Sawmill Springs. 

The old Flimflam Railroad [Flagstaff Lumber Manufactur¬ 
ing Company] was still in place there and they worked out 
a joint agreement with the AL&T to where they used one 
railroad instead of maintainin' two railroads runnin' parallel 
right down through the same darned country. The old 
Flimflam track, of course, they pulled out and junked while 
I was there, and actually it was the old Southwest Railroad 
that they operated. Then they extended the railroad from 
there on up into the Rock Top unit and down as far as Allen 
Lake, and that's where this thing still is. 

Then you went to Williams as Timber Staff? 

Yeah, yeah. 
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Figure 12. A fire tool box typical of those in use about 1930. 

They hadn't started cutting on the North Side then? 

They had a sale up there, but they hadn't ever done any 

cuttin’ much on it. 

I got back to Williams in the fall, October. Well, I got up 
there and it was just about the time Gordon Gray was 
Ranger at Big Springs. He was just in the process of 
movin’ when I got there. I think I saw him once. I was in 
the station and he came up there one day and I think the 
following day a van came in and moved ’em out. Then we 
had no Ranger and we didn’t have any Assistant Ranger -- 
there was nobody up there and they started cuttin’ just 
about that time. 

Figure 13. Fire-Tool Box - A typical fire tool box in use in 1918 

I had to administer the darn sale from Williams, and the 
Heck of it was they really did get to cuttin’ pretty doggone 
strong. I’d drive up there and mark the timber, but first I 
had to find out where the doggone sale was. I just had to 
re-run the boundary and find the darned thing. I think that 
during November and December I marked and they cut two 
million feet on that darned sale. I was runnin’ back and 
forth to Williams tryin’ to keep track of that stuff. 
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Well, there was no place to live. The old Jacobs Lake 
Station was there but there was no water. The well had 
caved in, gone dry or something; there was no water. The 
only darn place to stay was over there at Jacob Lake 
Lodge. Well, those durned boogers closed down the first 
of November and there was no place to stay. 

They had Old Devereau Bowman up there. He was kinda 
watchin' things. They did have a post office there, but all 
the cabins they closed up. The water pipes'd freeze up an' 
everything. I’d stay there with Old Devereau and the 
darned booger didn't like to get up in the morning til about 
noon and then he didn't like to have supper til about 10 
o'clock at night. I guess he went to bed sometime 
between then and noon. 

The only way I could operate was to get me a whole hunk 
of bread, and in the morning that was all I had for 
breakfast; no coffee or nothin’! I’d take out and mark 
timber til noon and then come in and get my breakfast and 
dinner combined with Old Devereau. Then I’d come in at 
night and the darned booger -- cornin' supper time an' he 
liked a drink of wine. We'd have to drink about four bottles 
o' wine and by that time it’d be 10 o’clock, and we'd have 
a good supper. 

Boy, he'd really cook up a good supper. But breakfast was 
a bad deal; I didn't get any breakfast at all. By Gosh, you 
know, when you're wadin' that darn snow out there all 
morning a fellow needs a little food to keep soul and body 
from gettin' too far apart. They were sure long mornings, 
I tell you. 

Along early in the year sometime the Whitings had that 
sale and they decided to put a mill up there. When I went 
there the darned timber was goin' down to Old Glenn 
Johnson's mill there at Kanab. They built that mill there 
at Orderville. 

Then we made another sale to the south that we called the 
East Fork unit, and then we worked out a cruise on the old 
Fracas unit in Fracas Canyon, in that area, and also the Big 
Saddle. We made a sale over on the Little Mountain. That 
was sold and they started in cuttin' in pretty good earnest 
and they finally built the mill down there at Fredonia and 
got pretty well set. The big sale unit was just ready to go 
about the time I left the Kaibab. 

I left there and went to the Apache, oh, in December or so. 
But I had the cruise made and got the sale ready to go. 
They finally put it up the next year. That's the one they 
had all the fancy biddin' on. Sold at $44.10 a thousand, 
which was one Devil of a price to pay. When you stop to 
think that the whole Kaibab timber had been offered for 
sale somewhere around 1910 or '12 for a dollar a 
thousand, and then in that short time - I guess that sale 

was made about 1950 at $44.10 a thousand. Nobody had 
ever paid a price like that for timber in Region 3. 

You know, they thought that was kind of a screwy thing, 
but you know that Old Man E. I. Whiting was a pretty sharp 
rascal. His contract covered an estimated 168 million 
feet, as I remember it, of which 15 million feet had to be 
cut at the bid price, and with re-appraisals at three-year 
intervals. Well, I think the timber was advertised at around 
$7.00 a thousand, or something like that. That old man 
was pretty sharp, you know, he was biddin' for position 
and he wanted that sale. 

It required that they build a mill, a good mill down there at 
Fredonia, and cut twenty million feet of timber per year. 
Anybody lookin' at that fifteen million feet at $44.10 a 
thousand, why, it was quite a jag of money, all right. But 
the old man was smart enough to know that when time for 
re-appraisal came along, why, the price wasn't gonna be 
that. It'd be back down. 

That old man was actually thinking. I'm sure, "We're 
willing to buy timber at the price of the Forest Service 
appraisal plus so much a thousand over the total amount." 
He was paying a premium on that fifteen million. Now you 
take that money and distribute it over the whole 168 
million, you know it'd only made $2.00 or $3.00 or so 
above the Forest Service appraised value. But, of course, 
he had to have a few bucks salted down to pay that first 
jibe. They had it, but you know, that was a pretty stiff 
poker game those rascals were playin' when they went in 
on that stuff. 

The Whitings and Southwestern got to battling, you know, 
when Buck Elmore was vice-president in charge of opera¬ 
tions there at McNary. He was kind of a rough-shod old 
boy. They got to squabbling with the Whitings over there 
on the Apache on some of those sales. A sale would come 
up for the Whitings, why. Old Buck would get over there 
and he'd run 'em up. He'd run 'em up to about $33.00 a 
thousand on one of those units. 

Another sale on the Sitgreaves, down around Pinedale, he 
jumped in an' run 'em up there pretty high. At Cox Canyon 
unit, on the Gila, he run that up to $ 16.00 a thousand. Old 
Man Whiting was getting kind of irritable about it. Bucky 
failed to remember, by Gosh, that they were gonna have 
units of their own cornin' up some day. One of these units 
come up on the Sitgreaves, I guess it was on the Heber 
District. 

Old Bucky woke up with a heck of a start one day and 
remembered that he had a unit cornin' up, and he thought, 
"I’d better go over and patch my fences with Old Man 
Whiting or he’s really gonna make us pay for this timber." 
So he called up Art Whiting, old E. I.'s brother, and told him 
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he realized they'd put over some pretty dirty deals but he'd 
kinda like to bury the hatchet. He knew that he was in a 
jam, had some of his own timber cornin' up and he didn't 
want to have any more enmity if he could get out of it. He 
said, "I guess Old E. I.'s pretty mad at us yet, isn't he?" 

Art said, "Yeah, he's kinda irritable. He was tailin' me a 
story the other day. He said he heard this unit of timber 
of yours was cornin' up over there, and he was tellin' me 
this story about the old fellow that had three sons and a 
daughter. He says, of course the oldest son grew up and 
he got to chasin' around with a little girl over in the next 
holler. He got her into trouble and finally the old man, he 
says, 'Well, he'd fix it up,' and he paid off. The second son 
came along and he said, 'Dad, I've been runnin' around 
with this little girl and I guess we're kinda in trouble,' so 
the old man paid off for the second son. The third son 
come along and it was the same durned thing; he paid off 
for him. Finally, his daughter came home one night and she 
was in trouble. An' the old man says, 'Praise the Lord!', 
he says. "This is my inning, and how they're gonna pay!" 

Did E. I. run it up on Southwest? 

Well, sir, you know, it was a funny thing. Whitings had a 
deal with the Southwest that they would cut a couple of 
million feet off of the old PS3 Forks unit, a deal that was 
made years and years ago. Bucky Elmore was about to 
cancel that deal out and kick 'em off o' there. They needed 
the timber themselves, and they were about to terminate 
that thing. But someway or other, along about that time 
they had a change o' heart and Whitings kinda increased 
their cut there; they got four million feet a year instead of 
two, off of that Rock Top unit. 

They run that Alpine mill and part of the Eager mill for quite 
a long time off of that extra timber they got off the Rock 
Top unit, off of the Southwest lumber mill sale. When the 
sale came up apparently they didn't bid on it at all. But it 
was kinda strange that they happened to get all this extra 
timber off of the PS3 Forks unit just about that time. 

Mr. G. Lee Wang joined the party. Lee came to Region 3 
after his service in the Army during World War I. He was 
a Forest Ranger on the Carson and Gila; Assistant and 
Forest Supervisor on the Santa Fe; and served in the 
Division of Operation in the Regional Office for several 
years before his retirement. Leejoined with Ed in reminisc¬ 
ing about their early days in the Forest Service. 

Bill Bond was fresh out in this country; right out of Yale. 
He was sort of an assistant or scaler on the old Halleck & 
Howard Lumber Company sale at Vallecitos. I was gone 
from the Station when a fire was picked up on Jarita Mesa 
and Bill was available, so Bill went up there. He got a horse 

and went to this fire. 

There was a bunch of sheep tracks goin' through this fire. 
I got up there a little later and Bill had the fire stopped; it 
was about an acre. We picked up these sheep tracks and 
followed 'em off down country and found the sheep. We 
told the herder that he was gonna have to come in and 
settle for this fire. Then we went on down to the camp and 
talked to the owner, a fellow by the name of Pena. 

We talked to Pena about bringin' him in late that evening. 
We told him if he'd bring this herder in to Vallecitos for trial 
before a JP, why, OK, we'd turn him over to him. He said 
he'd bring him in. So that evening - I'd got hold of the JP 
in the meantime; he was a pompous individual, very eaten 
up with his own importance. The trial was over in Bill 
Dougherty's cabin. 

The two of 'em showed up just before the JP got there and 
both of 'em had a bulge under their coats. So I shouldered 
one over against Bill's quarters and lifted his six-shooter 
an' stuck it in my belt. Then I shouldered the other one 
over against the quarters where he couldn't get away an' 
took that six-shooter away from him and stuck it in my 
belt. Then I went into Bill's quarters and stuck them under 
Bill's pillow, both of 'em. 

Well, we went on with the trial. The only evidence we had 
was that the sheep had gone down this ridge right ahead 
of the fire and the fire had resulted. That was really all the 
evidence we had, and I could see that this JP was about 
to throw us out of his Court. I went in and got these two 
.six-shooters and laid them down on the table right in front 
of him, both of them pointing at him, by the way, 
intentionally. He reached over and pushed one of them 
away, one way, and the other one the other way, and then 
we went on with the trial. 

I just forgot about the fire. I got to raving about what a 
disgrace it was to his Court to have two men come into 
that Court armed the way they were. I had 'em both claim 
their six-shooters; I didn't give 'em to 'em, of course, but 
they both claimed their six-shooters. After I got through 
ravin' about what a disgrace it was, the JP reached over 
an' hit the table with his fist and said, "$25.00 and costs 
- each." Now the owner of the sheep had no more to do 
with that fire than you did - $25.00 and costs, each! 

I remember a story you used to tell about bootleggers 
when you were Ranger down on the Mimbres. 

Oh, well, I was just almost arrested down there. 

The Game Department would bring in fish, the cans and 
everything, and then we'd take our pack outfit and pack 
'em way up the river, the Mimbres. I packed ten or eleven 
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Figure 14. Planting rainbow fry at Latunitas, Carson National Forest. The fry were packed up from Tierra Amarilla hatchery. Photo 

by E. S. Shipp dated July 19, 1928. 

mules, two cans to a mule, and took 'em up the Mimbres. 
On our way back down again -- well, it got dark on us up 
there, and on the way back down I didn't tie these cans on 
particularly tight. Here was a string of mules, 10, 11, or 
12 of 'em, with loose cans, you know, and we were all 
joggin' along. 

All at once a couple of fellows come out there an' arrested 
us for packin' "mule" --white mule (whiskey). I looked 'em 
over a little bit and I asked 'em if they know who I was or 
what I had. "Well, I don't know, but you're under arrest 
for takin' white mule out of the mountains here." I said, 
"well, if you'll look at those cans you'll see all of 'em 
empty," I says. "Here this afternoon they did have fish 
in 'em," I said, "I packed fish up to the head of the river, 
an' I'm just gettin' home now with these blasted mules." 

Boy, those Revenuers really thought they had made a haul 
that day. 

Ed Groesbeck: Out south of Flagstaff, down there to¬ 
wards Wood Springs, you know, that place they call 
Bootlegger Hill; here's the way that darned thing got its 
name. 

When they were cuttin' in there they piled this brush along 
the road. Well, it laid there most of the summer. That fail 
Old Bob Rinehart and his crew started out one day to burn 
brush and they came to this hill and were startin' to light 
these brush piles. They had just got started good when 
down the road came a car just hell-bent for election; it 
went out through this crew ahd around and got up about 
three or four piles ahead of 'em. A guy started out and run 
over to the pile and got him a jug and put it in the back of 
the car; he went on and stopped at every three or four piles 
down there and musta got four or five jugs out finally. 
They had their bootleg hid in those piles and Bob was 
gonna burn it up on 'em! So they called that durned place 
Bootlegger Hill after it. 
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I guess there were several stills located along the Rim 
there. 

You know there were a lot of 'em. In Bar M Canyon, Harold 
Pilmer and I were there one time and we got off above Bar- 
M Spring and there was an old fallen-down roof sort of 
thing. Boy, that musta been a big still. The old barrels 
were still settin’ in there, about ten or twelve of 'em, and 
you could see where they had the old still set up. 

Gosh, they must've manufactured quite a jag of whisky 
down there, a pretty good setup. Down in that canyon you 
couldn't see it. There's lots o' places you can find those 
old stills down there. 

Lee Wang: Up in McKnight Canyon there was a still, a half 
or three-quarters of a mile above the old sawmill camp. I 
was coming up the canyon on horseback one morning. 
The Prohibition boys had been in there and wrecked the 
still. This musta been just the day before. They'd tipped 
over some of the barrels and some of them were standing, 
full of mash. The chipmunks were in there - 50,7 5 of 'em. 
I'd say; the drunkest things you ever saw in your life. 
They'd eaten that mash and they'd just almost fight you. 
It was good fightin' whiskey because those little Devils 
would stand up there, straight up, just lookin' at you, and 
cussin' you out, drunker'n all get-out. 

Mr. Samuel R. Servis, reared in Upstate New York on a 
horse farm, is a graduate of Syracuse Forestry School. He 
came to the Southwest in 1935 and started with the 
Forest Service on the Cibola National Forest in the CCC 
program. He was a Forest Ranger at McGaffey, Magdalena, 
and Tijeras, on the Cibola, and at Tres Piedras on the 
Carson. He served on the Range Management Staff in the 
Regional Office and on the Forest Supervisor's staff on the 
Lincoln, Crook, and Gila. In an interview at Silver City, 
Sam recounted some of his experiences. 

Probably one of the most interesting people in the Magdalena 
District was Old Cole Railston. You'll read about him in 
"No Life for a Lady," and other books of this particular 
locality. I rode a week with Cole. He had an allotment out 
on the range there. East Berley, I believe it was, and he was 
extremely interesting. 

We could get up at 3 o'clock in the morning and work like 
the deuce and make our breakfast right quick, and then ride 
until about 3 o'clock. We would come in and make biscuits 
and visit and play cooncan until midnight. Then we would 
sleep until 3 o'clock and get up and run like fools until 
about 3:00 and then eat hurriedly and play cooncan and 
visit. 

Cole Railston in my opinion was probably one of the best 

managers of a range that I've ever been around. He knew 
range management from the word "go." He only had a 
third grade education, but he knew so much about grazing 
that it was interesting to ride with him, and he had a reason 
for everything. He and an old sheepman up north - in the 
northern part of the country, I think he was in Region 2 - 
are the two people that the Forest Service first visited 
when they made the grazing policy and regulations in the 
Forest Service. Our grazing policy today is exactly as Cole 
dictated it to the Forest Service except for two things. The 
distribution policy which he never agreed with, and the 
free-use policy which allowed the homesteaders to come 
in. It was made for the homesteaders and he had no use 
for the homesteaders. 

A story that is well known is about the homesteader with 
his family and cattle and horses that came by the -- today 
it is called the Old Slash Ranch; it was the headquarters of 
the V-Cross-T in those days. He asked Cole where they 
could get a little water. Cole said, "You can fill your quart 
jar up at the well outside here, and then go on, but you 
aren't to stop on my range." 

He paid his cowboys 50 cents a corner to run all over the 
country and pick up the section corners and turn them 
over. When the homesteaders came in and endeavored to 
locate a piece of land, which they had to do, and it had to 
be surveyed before they could homestead it, or they had 
to pay for the survey, they couldn't find any corners. Cole 
would always say, "Well, the country is not surveyed. 
You better go on about your business." So they didn't 
settle there. 

This also happened with the Lyons-Campbell, the LRC 
outfit that was down here on the Gila River. They did the 
same thing as the homesteaders came in. They shoved 
them all through to Arizona and elsewhere. That's one 
reason there weren't many old ranches along the river on 
the New Mexico side. That's also the reason why the 
water of the Gila River all goes to Arizona. It was settled 
prior to the time that New Mexico was settled up along the 
rivers., 

Our old-time stockmen pushed them out of this country 
and shoved them on down the Gila River into the desert 
around Safford and Coolidge and so forth. That’s how all 
the water got to Arizona. They established use rights that 
way down on the river and these people here were 
responsible for pushing all those people there. 

Cole had eight or ten of the top gunmen of the West riding 
his west line. You look at this country; you can see why 
the Gila Wilderness was well occupied in those days. In 
earlier days there were lots of people in there. The country 
was rough. Those people came in to homestead, or 
particularly to hide out from the Law. They were on the 
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dodge, had done something somewhere, and came in to 
hide. 

They endeavored to raise a few crops along the rivers, 
along the Middle Fork and the East Fork, and couldn't do 
it, so they naturally went to preying on the adjoining large 
stockmen. They started butchering the beef and jerking it 
and taking it to the miners at Mogollon and Georgetown 
and Santa Rita and everywhere else they could peddle the 
jerk-meat. The meat markets didn't have any refrigeration 
and there was no fresh meat, so they jerked it and sold it 
over the counter. 

When I knew Cole, he was 78. Went to a dance one night 
in Magdalena, got to dancing with Mrs. Gibson, Arthur 
Gibson's wife, another Ranger there at Magdalena. They 
got to cutting up. Cole was so deaf he couldn't hear the 
music, so he would get behind somebody and follow them. 
Apparently he got behind some high-stepper, for suddenly 
down went Mrs. Gibson and Old Cole. He broke her finger 
and she kicked out two of his ribs. 

Cole was a manager; he worked his cattle very carefully. 
He's responsible for Talbot's salting policy. Talbot came 
out from the Washington Office and to the V-Cross-T. 
Asked Cole how he was salting livestock and he said, 
"Why, away from the water, Mr. Talbot, away from 
water, of course. That's the only way to do it." 

He was great for salting on feed, rather than away from 
water. He salted on water the two months of the year that 
he wanted the cows bred, and then the rest of the time he 
salted away from the water on feed, and he moved the salt 
where the feed was, quite continually. In fact, he carried 
a burlap sack to pick the salt up and pack it around with 
him as he went around on the range. 

Talbot came there and asked Cole about salting on feed, 
and when Cole told him, why Mr. Talbot said, "Well now. 
Cole, you've got to prove it." So Talbot got on a horse and 
rode on a long ridge towards Magdalena. Here was salt 
scattered up and down the ridge for about six miles. No 
water on either side. 

Talbot wasn't told how the salt got there originally. It 
seems there's this cowboy who took a wagonload of salt 
out to scatter along the range, and he was told where to 
put it. It was towards the end of the week and he was 
going to a dance in Magdalena, so he had his saddle hid 
under the tarp. He got out on the range and decided that 
he wouldn't go around the regular trail or wagon roads to 
scatter the salt, that he would cross the ridge. 

You know how it was in the springtime. He brought the 
wagon out on top of this ridge and got bogged down and 
couldn't get it out. He unhooked the team and put the 

harnesses in under the tarp and sent one horse back to the 
ranch; just turned him loose and, of course, he went back 
to the ranch. He climbed aboard the other horse and rode 
to Magdalena for a big shindig on the town, and a dance 
and a drink. 

Well, he came back to the ranch the following week and 
Old Cole was madder than a wet hen, and he said, "Well, 
where's the wagon and where did you put the salt?" He 
said, "I bogged the wagon down." So old Cole said, "You 
go on up the ridge and get the wagon out and scatter the 
salt up and down the ridge, and don't go any further." 

Well, it was just about two weeks later that here came 
Talbot. Cole took him out and spent two days on that ridge 
with a big story telling Talbot just how to do it. But he 
actually did salt like that and he actually believed in it. 
Except at breeding time for the cows, and then he salted 
on water so that the bulls wouldn't have to walk too far 
to find the cows. He would always try to keep some 
waters closed up during the breeding time so that he could 
keep the cows pretty well gathered around for a couple of 
months, and the salt and bulls were kept on water. 

Now, when you were riding with him and he found a cow 
that was bulling, he'd take off and spend the rest of the day 
hunting a bull and take her right to the bull. He wouldn't 
go drive the bull, because it was too hard on the bull to get 
up there. But he sure would drive that old cow up to the 
bull. 

Another thing, he'd come along and the fence was down. 
Boy, he'd stop everything right then and there and patch 
it up. Even though he carried a little sack full of new 
staples, he'd hunt up the old staples. As he pointed out, 
that was what made money in the cow business -- instead 
of using something new all the time, instead of coming 
back with the work crew and fixing the fence - you fixed 
it as you went by, you did everything as you saw it. When 
you needed more salt, you went and found a salt ground 
that had salt on it, and moved it, and tried to determine 
why the cows didn't come to that particular neck of the 
woods and use the salt. 

That was the way to manage range and, of course, you 
had to ride everyday. You couldn't go to the bar and stand 
your foot up on the rail, so forth and so on. No, Cole knew, 
within a few cents, exactly what he paid for prunes, 
horseshoe nails, or horseshoes, by the months, by the 
year. He had a tremendous mind and was quite a 
stockman, in my opinion. 

How big was the V-Cross-T? 

The V-Cross-T ran from the Gila River to Apache Creek; 
was bordered on the west by the Negrito, on the south by 
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the Gila River, on the east by the Rio Grande, and on the 
north by the mountain north of Red Lake. They watered 
also on the Alamesita Creek, which is north of the Red 
Lake Country and the St. Augustine Plains. They ran all 
through there. They had a light year when they branded 

10,000 calves. 

How many wagons did he run? 

I don't recall how many wagons he had. I remember Old 
Bert Slinkerd, who was just a youngster when they killed 
the Apache Kid in the San Mateos. He and Mrs. Slinkerd 
drove the freight wagon from Magdalena to the Adobes, 
to the Slashes, to the Hubbell Y Ranch, and then back to 
Magdalena delivering supplies and the mail, and so forth. 
Mrs. Slinkerd packed a gun. She said she'd seen as high 
as six wagons working on the V-Cross-T. 

I don't remember what Cole said as to the number of 
wagons he had, but he had a slug of them. I know he had 
those six gunmen, six or eight gunmen on that west line 
that were to keep those nesters in the wilderness area out 
of his outfit. They camped back in that Loco Mountain 
country and just worked around it. He had a horse camp 
down at the Old Dub Evans' place and kept a lot of their 
extra saddle horses down at Double Springs, which is the 
old horse camp. Kept them down there -- their extras -- and 
then they'd go down and get them as they needed for 
spring works, and so forth. That was their horse ranch. 

Another thing in that Magdalena country were the Indians, 
the Navajo Indians out north. When they were taking the 
Navajos out of this country to either Oklahoma or Florida, 
in the early days, that little band had slipped off. The Chief 
and some squaws and a few other Indians started up in 
that Puertecito country and have lived there for many 
years. They were issued either the odd or even-numbered 
sections in which they lived. I don't know whether it was 
a whole section, but I know it was part of them. It was 
prior to the time that the State was admitted to the Union. 

A Catholic priest, or a Father of some type or kind, was 
allowed to issue script on this land out there. I had heard 
about this but I didn't believe it. I met an old Indian one day 
that spoke some English, mostly Spanish. He was herding 
a few goats and sheep. I asked him if I could see the papers 
on his place and he said, "Yes" and smiled about it. We 
started towards his hogan and he didn't have a horse; he 
was afoot. He said, "Take your foot out of the stirrup on 
the near side of the horse," and he grabbed ahold of it, and 
then he said, "Well, you just jog right along," and he ran 
the three miles up hill and down dale, right to his hogan. 
He was an old, old man, and he wasn't hardly sweating 
when we got there. 

He went into the hogan. The fire had been in the center, 
and just to one side of it, on the due north side; he 

scratched around, digging and finally brought up one of 
those little tin boxes you buy in the dime store. It was 
locked with a little two-bit key that he had around his neck 
and he opened it up. He brought this paper out, all written 
in Spanish, signed by Friar, or Father so-and-so, giving him 
this 160 acres. As I understood it, the Government 
honored all that script of those Indians having all that 
property, and that's how they originally got started. 

Now, how in the world did this priest... 

Don't ask me; I forget the story of how he got started. I 
don't remember that. But I did see that paper, and it's all 
written in longhand, in beautiful hand, and all in Spanish. 
It gives this Indian his property; I think it was 160 acres, 
but it wasn't in acres. It was in whatever-it-was; and this 
property in this particular neck of the woods. It describes 
it and everything else and here sits this Indian on this 
property, and we honored it. It was my understanding that 
we honored that script that gave him that property. 

Sam, Magdalena was vour first District? 

Yes, Magdalena was the first District that I was in charge 
of. Art Gibson had 419,000 acres, and I had 417,000 
acres, and we had no help, no assistance, or anything. We 
would get a few ranchers around the country to go on the 
lookouts in the fire season, but we did all the rest of it and 
had lots of time to have a good time, too. 

We would work together quite regularly. Old Gib would 
get a mess of signs and we would go out and put them all 
up and be done with it. Gib didn't like the timber business 
very well and since I was new at the grazing game in this 
country why he used to ride with me on grazing and I used 
to go help him with his timber. We worked very well 
together and I really learned quite a bit from Old Gib. He 
was mighty fine. 

Did Cole tell you any stories about his running off the 
homesteaders? 

Well, he did, but I've forgotten them. I do know that the 
story goes that Inman was the first homesteader to break 
in on the V-Cross-T Range. That place is now known as 
the Lon Cron Place on the East Fork of the Gila River. 
Inman was the first one to break it. Cole said that Inman 
was a gunman. He came out of the Oklahoma country and 
he got a little scared of Cole, so he brought an Indian with 
him who was also a gunman. Cole couldn't hire enough 
good gunmen to go down and put Inman out, so Inman 
broke it and was the first to homestead. 

It was after that, that all the homesteaders came in and 
settled up and down the Corduroy Canyon and up and 
down the East Fork of the Gila River all over the country. 
Cole had kept them pretty well out until Inman started. 
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That's the story; now whether Inman was the first or not 
I'm not sure. 

(Tucker Note: He was not.) 

Another interesting thing is the catwalk out from G lenwood. 
There is a record in Socorro, written in longhand in the old 
record books. It was Socorro County at that time; it 
became Catron County in 1922. But anyway, they piped 
the water some three miles down Whitewater Canyon to 
the Competence Mill site, and in piping this water they laid 
an 18-inch pipeline. In order to maintain it and look after 
it, the miners got to walking the pipeline. They were the 
ones that called it the Catwalk, because of their walking 
this 18-inch pipeline. It was just suspended there in the 
canyon, so they got on it and climbed up it, walked on up 
it. 

Well, they piped the water down, generated electricity and 
ran the machinery at the mill. At one time they had so 
many people around here, they called it the town of 
Graham. It was reported that the Supervisor's Office of 
the old Gila Reserve was located at the town of Graham 
for about six months, before it was moved to Silver City. 

(Tucker note: This is true.) 

The town flourished quite well and they shipped out many 
thousands of dollars worth of ore. Those were pretty 
important mines. Well, as time went on, they didn't get 
all the ore out of Mogollon, but they got down to where it 
was pretty hard and they slowed down a bit. The people 
that owned this property there in the old Graham town site 
quit using it about 1912, and they stopped entirely in 
1914. 

The CCCs, in the mid-thirties, built a wooden bridge, using 
a good deal of the hangers and materials that held the 
pipeline up, and called it the Catwalk. The bridge rotted 
out in recent years and has recently been replaced by a 
steel bridge, which was on the Sitgreaves. We went over 
and salvaged it and brought it back down here. 

The Regional Office, with all their high-powered help and 
their distinguished engineers and architects, decided that 
they couldn't build a new bridge without first putting it on 
paper. So naturally they wasted a few dollars and six 
months trying to design a bridge that would fit on paper 
and could be erected. But they finally gave up in disgust 
and despair and threw all their papers and pencils out of the 
window and told Bob Leonard to go get his torch and a 
couple of helpers and put the bridge in. It was a good 
winter job and so old Bob and his helpers went up and put 
that bridge in; with just a torch and his own ability to make 
it fit there. It was an extremely fine job. Fora great many 
years that steel bridge will be there and handle lots and lots 
of people. 

It's an interesting thing. We estimate that we have 
between 30 and 35 thousand visitors to the Catwalk. 
We've only a few tables and can't put many because 
there's too many trees. Yet we have only one Ranger and 
one Assistant on the District. The Park Service at the Cliff 
Dwellings have the same number of visitors, but they are 
going to get five people to handle them entirely. They 
aren't going to administer anything else but those visitors 
and what they have at those ruins. We have two Rangers 
and they've got a lot of other work to do, some 300,000 
acres or more to administer and handle the campground 
and the Catwalk, to boot. 

Some of the earliest timber sales in the Region were made 
to the saw mills in the vicinity of Mogollon. I recall it's been 
about 55 years ago now that they sold some five or six 
million feet for $3.00 a thousand. That's what we're 
selling it for today, so we haven't progressed too much in 
our price for timber. A lot of timber was cut in Whitewater 
Creek, which is now within the Gila Wilderness Area, for 
the building of Mogollon, for the building of Alma, and for 
the farmers at Pleasanton. Possibly some of it may have 
been freighted on up to the Frisco country, that is. Reserve 
and Middle and Lower Frisco. They did do a lot of work 
there. 

Tell me about Airplane Mesa and how it got its name. 

Oh, yes. Airplane Mesa. In the early days when the Army 
was flying the mail across the United States in those old 
planes that went only a few miles an hour, the boys used 
to get awfully tired and would sit down anywhere and rest 
up. Well, they noticed the Middle Fork and those flat 
mesas above there and decided that, by Jove, they'd set 
down and do a little fishing. So they did. 

General Chennault was one of the main ones flying the 
mail in the early days for the Army, and I don't know who 
else. No one is going to tell us, apparently. The boys 
dropped in there and would go down and catch some fish, 
come back up and load them on the airplane and take off. 
If anybody questioned them about the delay, they just 
said, "Bad weather." I suppose there wasn't any tele¬ 
phone or radio or anything so nobody knew whether there 
was bad weather or not. They were in the Middle Fork all 
the while fishing. 

Well, one time. General Chennault was in there and started 
to take off and he cracked up this old ship with a Liberty 
engine. They later came back and took the serial number 
off the engine and burned it up. I think Bob Leonard was 
in there a few days after it crashed and saw the ship. He 
was GDA ["General District Assistant"] at Mogollon at the 
time, I believe. That was prior to '24, prior to the 
establishment of the Gila Wilderness Area. 
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Figure 15. The first Ranger Training Camp in Region 3 composed entirely of technically-trained foresters. In this 
September-October 1936 photo the author is in the bottom row. Top row, L. to R.: Hodgin, Graves, Humbert, Gray, 
Thompson, Engstrom, Stota. Middle row, L. to R.: Earl, Diggs, Kenney, Wallace, Vincent, Guck, Smith. Bottom row, L. 
to R.: Oleson, Hill, Tucker, Servis, Putsch (Director), Cole, Pilmer, Murray. 

There was an Army officer or a Naval officer in Albuquer¬ 

que at Kirtland or Sandia Base who noticed the story and 
wanted to prove it either fictitious or true. He came down 
and I showed him how to get in there. He made some 
pictures and made quite a careful study of it, and verified 
where the ship was made and everything else and verified 
the date that it crashed. This was all written up, several 
years ago, in the New Mexico Magazine. He found out 
when Chennault had been in the United States and when 
the time was and when he was flying the mail, and verified 
the date that this crash took place. 

Oh, there’s another good story, about the bells. In the 
early days there was a young couple out at Deming who 
decided to spend their honeymoon fishing on the West 
Fork. They came up to the West Fork and the fishing 
wasn't too good so they took the zigzag trail that dropped 
off to the meadows, and fished the Middle Fork for a while. 
Coming back up the trail, a rain storm struck them and they 
got turned around and lost. 

In wandering around there, they came upon some rocks 
and adobe ruins that might resemble a church. This fellow 
went over there and dug under what would have been the 
place for the alter, and I’ll be darned if he didn’t find two 
bells, both mounted in silver. Two sizes; a small one and 
a large one. 

Well, they started packing them, but the large one got too 
heavy, so they buried it beside the zigzag trail. Apparently 
it was buried between the top of the hill and Big Bear 
Canyon, or even in Big Bear. Anyway, they carried the 
little bell out, and it was on display in a bank in Deming for 
many, many years. The bank burned down and the silver 
melted off, so it isn’t in a good condition today, that is, 
there isn’t too much silver on it. 

That woman is now in her eighties, and she’s kinda, well, 
you know as you grow older you don’t remember too well. 
She can’t remember exactly the description of the area 
where that bell is buried. They had always meant to go 
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back and get it but they never got around to it. There is 
a silver mounted bell buried somewhere between the 
zigzag and the trail, dropping off to the meadows, and 
there's also a ruin up there that I would like to find, because 
there may be more. That's all they took time to do, was 
just to scratch around and they found it just under the 
surface, so maybe there's more. 

Editor's Note: This kind of "scratch around" work would 
now be a violation of Federal law. The Archaeological 
Resources Protection Act of 1979provides stiff penalties 
for disturbance or removal of historic artifacts such as 
these bells. 

Old Eli Stanbaw was a miner in North Fork Canyon in the 
Magdalenas. One day I was coming up the Canyon of the 
North Fork, on the north side of it, and I looked across and 
saw Old Eli on an old mine dump, picking up ore. When I 
got down to the pickup, I waited for him. Pretty soon, here 
he came down the trail, an old mining trail. 

I said, "How are you, Eli?" "Oh, just fine, just fine." 

I said, "Do you want a ride to town?" "Oh yes, yes." 

So we got in, and in the course of the conversation he 
says, "Now I want you to see the ore that I'm picking up 
from my mine." He took a sack out; I'd seen him picking 
up, highgrading these dumps around the country. I said, 
"Yes, well, that's pretty good, Eli. What are you going to 
do?" He said, "I'm gonna take it in to Dr. Hagood to send 
off to assay. He's in this mine with me." And he said, 
"When he gets this assay back, he'll buy me another 
grubstake." He did that for years. 

At Magdalena, he came in every month with a sack of this 
highgrade he picked up from all these little mine dumps, 
and old Doc Hagood would buy him another grubstake, and 
back he'd go to dig out that mine. And Hagood never found 
it out. I don't think he ever did. 

Now, Old Coal-Oil Johnny, as I was telling you about, was 
out on " I don't remember the name of the creek; anyway, 
Coal-Oil got his name because he got into a saloon in 
Magdalena and he got a little bit tight and here came some 
people hunting a place to mine. Coal-Oil had a quart-can 
full of coal oil, and he sold them that for $500. He said, 
"I've got a coal-oil well, and they gave me $500 for it." 
And that's how he got the name of "Coal-Oil" Johnny. 

Another story they told at Magdalena: there was a couple 
of Eastern boys who had come out there looking for a place 
to mine. The bartender just stepped outside the door and 
pointed toward a little hill outside of Magdalena. He said, 
"Well, boys, you just go out there and dig; there's a lot of 
ore in that hill." So the boys immediately bought some 

supplies and went out -- it's a couple of miles from town 
-■ and went to digging like fools. And, of course, all the 
people sat there and laughed at them. Be darned if they 
didn't strike silver and take $80,000 worth of dough out 
of there. Oh My Lord - they never told anybody else where 
to go and mine! 

You recall the story of Whiskey Creek, how it got its name? 
They were carting a wagonload of whiskey from Silver 
City to, everyone says. Fort Bayard. Well, they couldn't 
take any whisky on a military reservation. They were 
taking it to Central; Central City, as it was known in the 
early days. It was started just outside the reservation to 
sell whiskey and other oddities to the soldiers there. The 
wagonload of whiskey bogged down in what is called 
Arenas Valley and they couldn't get out, so they had to 
unload the whiskey and move it out. Ever since, they've 
called it Whiskey Creek. 

The Army cut up all the timber from Fort Bayard. Then 
there was an Army officer there who was a little bit of a 
forester, so he inveigled the Department of Agriculture to 
establish a nursery to grow trees and replant the entire Fort 
Bayard Military Reservation with junipers from all over the 
world. Now, of course, we are pushing all the junipers out. 
But that's beside the point. 

The Army cut all the wood out from the Military Reserva¬ 
tion to fire up and keep the soldiers warm. You can go up 
there today, in those areas where they wagoned that 
wood off to the Fort, and see where the wagon wheels 
wore clear down and finally the hubs started woring on the 
rock. Here's this place about, oh, about ten inches wide, 
quite deep; and then there's the hub mark, where those 
wagons kept woring into this soft rock. It took many, 
many loads of wood to do that. 

Sam, what was the opinion of the ranchers, like Old Cole 
Railston and Fred Martin, and those old tough bovs - what 
did they think of the Forest Service in those days? 

Well, they didn't run against the Forest Service at all. They 
had a great deal of respect for the Forest Service. They 
had some people that they disliked, of course. Fred Martin 
told about Steve Garst coming out there and sitting there 
and not going out and riding. As Fred said, "During the 
'30s, or early '30s, I ran a thousand head of cattle here on 
this 400-head permit." Well, you can see; the evidence 
was there on the range, but he said, "You know, Steve 
never did find them." 

Old Cole had a great deal of respect for the Forest Officers, 
the different Supervisors. He thought A. H. Douglas was 
one of the best. He thought Mr. Goddard was very fine. 
He felt that when Bert Goddard died, that Mrs. Goddard 
could just as well have been appointed Supervisor and 
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would have run the show very well. In the early days, of 
course, they didn’t bother the stockmen too much. They 
were trying to get the range settled. They were trying to 
get it fenced. They were trying to get it lined up and under 
permit and so they didn't worry too much with the 
stockmen. 

I know in the late 'teens, about 1918 or '19, they 
trespassed the Burroughs’s down in the San Mateos, and 
they killed a cow, or crippled a cow; I guess they crippled 
a cow and then killed her. The Burroughs's appealed to the 
Secretary and raised Cain. The file was an inch thick. But 
in our discussions with the Burrough's, they weren’t 
particularly aggravated with the Forest Service. They felt 
everyone had done their job and was doing the best they 
could. 

From his permit. Cole may have had trespass; I accused 
Cole of it, and he said he didn't have. I am satisfied that 
Cole had a little excess there at the time I was riding with 
him. You could count pretty well and, as Cole said, that 
was the way to do it; you could count pretty well. 

Old Cole always said that any stockman who didn't know 
within ten percent of what he had, whether it was 200 
head, or 20,000 head, was not a stockman. Anyone that 
pretended to be a stockman, was making a living at it, and 
he didn't know within ten percent of what he had, was just 
lying to you. He was lying to you if he said he didn't know, 
because they knew; they couldn't manage a lot of stock 
without knowing it. I don't know whether Cole moved 
anything or not. 

Mr. Robert Diggs, a graduate of Massachusetts Aggies 
and the Yale Forestry School, came to the Forest Service 
in Region 3 at the start of the Emergency Conservation 
Work Program in 1933. Bob was a Foreman in the High 
Rolls CC Camp on the Lincoln National Forest. He was 
interviewed at his home in Williams, Arizona. He starts 
his story with his permanent appointment in the Forest 
Service. 

My first Ranger District was at Carlsbad, the Guadalupe 
District of the Lincoln. We were located out there at 
Carson Seep Ranger Station. It was primarily a range 
district. Grama grass would actually grow and really 
mature there, and get enough growth so that the cattle 
could feed on it -- they had something to get into. It was 
a long growing season. However, they did have trouble 
with worms in the cattle; of course, you had to doctor for 
worms, right along. I spent that entire summer on the 
Guadalupes. I think I went there on May 1, 1935. 

Ranger Pinson indicated his desire to transfer to a District 
of that type, so that caused my transfer to the Jicarilla 

Division of the Carson National Forest in November of 
1935. Actually my tenure of office there at Carlsbad, at 
Carson Seep, was only six months, before I went to 
Jicarilla, where I spent four years at the Vaqueros Ranger 
Station, 22 miles southwest of Dulce. 

That was a horseback District. Many a time I'd ride from 
Vaqueros into Dulce, pick up the mail and what little 
supplies I needed, and ride on back out to Vaqueros. Or, 
if I wanted to catch the train into Durango, I'd ride 
approximately 35 miles into Carracas Junction, flag a Rio 
Grande & Western train, and ride on into Durango. Of 
course I rode from Vaqueros down through the Gobernador, 
and on to Blanco and Farmington, and the Aztec area; that 
was some road. It's all paved in through there now. 

You remember Bill Brainard; he and Vince Schroeder were 
project sales officers at the time, the 1935 to 1940 period 
there, you know, when we were cutting timber on the 
Jicarilla. We had project sales officers in charge of the 
timber sales. They were cutting roughly seven or eight 
million feet a year in there at Laguna Seca, and of course 
they were cutting also on the Indian Reservation at the 
same time. Vince was the first project sale man on the 
Jicarilla. 

The Pound Brothers Lumber Company was operating in 
there. When they finished up at that time they moved over 
onto French Mesa on the Santa Fe. No trouble whatever; 
they were real good operators. 

Of course that was primarily a grazing District, with lots 
of good hunting, lots of good Indian ruins up there, too, and 
lots of arroyos -- a lot of Class 3 erosion. Boy, it's terrific; 
rabbit brush and big gray sage. Actually, I enjoyed that 
District about as much as a fellow could ever enjoy a 
Ranger District. It was a pack outfit. 

I remember Lock Feight and I made an inspection of the 
Jicarilla District. We spent about ten days or two weeks 
with a pack horse, going from Vaqueros, up across the 
Carracas Mesa, dropping off into the Rosa, then going 
south into the Laguna Seca country, and down into the 
Carrizo country, and on back. That was an old Gll [General 
Integrated Inspection], so to speak. 

In those times it was nothing for a Ranger to head out to 
a fire on Carracas Mesa, say from Vaqueros. I remember 
I was on Mestenas Mesa one time and looked up and saw 
a lightning fire, or I had assumed that it had been set by 
lightning. I had Fred Bixler with me and we headed for the 
Carracas Mesa. Well, when we got up there we found that 
this fire was roughly about, oh, from ten to fifteen acres. 

We had gone by Vince's ranch there on the Cabresto, and 
told them to follow us in, but I got a little perturbed, maybe 
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they wouldn't make it in time, so I sent Fred back to kind 
of hurry them along. I started to put out the fire. I put out 
18 acres of fire that night without any help, not realizing 
that I could corral 18 acres in one night. But I did. By 3 
o'clock in the morning I had it entirely lined. They came 
in before breakfast, and we were set. That's the way a 
fellow operated. 

We used those Quintana boys over there at Dulce if we had 
any fires on the Carracas. They had authority to hire, buy 
the chuck, proceed up onto the Carracas Mesa, and 
suppress a fire. And of course, in the meantime, get word 
to the Ranger, and he'd go up there and help. Their system 
in their suppression work was that they paid the bills, paid 
off their fire fighters through time slips, and took care of 
it in that manner. 

We had a good cooperative agreement with the Apaches. 
Kenneth Work was a big stockman; he actually controlled 
a great deal of the business enterprise in and around Dulce, 
which was the Indian Agency. He also ran stock on the 
Reservation and on the Cabresto unit of the Carson 
National Forest. He was a good friend of the Forest 
Service, as well as the Indian Reservation people. So there 
was a good working relation between the Apaches, the 
Jicarilla Apaches, and what few Forest Service people 
there were on the Jicarilla Division of the Carson. 

I think it was in November 1935 that I went to the Jicarilla, 
and I went down to the Jewett District of the Apache, in 
November of 1939. So there was a four year period, right 
there on the Jicarilla District. 

I bought my first horse up there in Colorado, on the Pine 
River. It was a big old roan; I paid $200 for him, and 
Russell Arnold rode him from Pine River down to Vaqueros 
for me after we had made the change. I took Russell up 
with me. He was kind of a GDA; he worked for us as a 
foreman, built the fence between the Reservation and the 
Forest. He was also a stockman on the Jicarilla. 

There used to be wild horses. There weren't too many 
when I first went there, but there were some. In fact, one 
of my first horses that I got from Old Man Lynch was one 
of these broom-tails. I think we picked him up for around 
$50.00 or $75.00. There weren't too many left when we 
got in there, and they soon were pretty well thinned out. 
Of course, the District wasn't entirely fenced, and I 
imagine there was some going back and forth, on and off, 
of this wild bunch, from the Reservation onto the Forest, 
and vice versa. Old Jim Newton had been Ranger there, 
you remember, and Old Jim took care of the thinning 
process before any of us got there. 

From the Jicarilla District, I accepted the Jewett District 
on the Apache. In November 1939 I took a short spin 

down there to look over the District, of course, and 
accepted it. At Jewett, you know, we had that big State 
sale. There were those State lands that we have now 
acquired. I think it was somewhere in the neighborhood 
of a Township and a half. That was a big exchange. It was 
good timber-producing land. In fact, you remember Bill 
Brainard took over the initial cutting on those State lands, 
and they were terrific. That was in 1939,1 believe. Then 
I think they kind of bogged down a little bit, and then they 
came back strong and continued cutting all the virgin 
timber on those State lands, both on the Luna District and 
on the Jewett. 

Gordon Bade assumed the Timber and Fire job on the 
Apache about 1942. Gordon and I worked together 
cruising timber and we made a sale out there around 
Apache Creek. We made a sale to those people who had 
been cutting timber on State land. We cruised the timber, 
evaluated it, and sold it to these people. And then later 
there was the Charley Matthews outfit over on the 
Mangas. We made a sale on the northeast corner of 
Mangas Mountain. That was before I went into the Army. 

Odie and I were married during my first year on the Jewett 
District, July 1, 1940. That's where we were married -- 
and that was a big event! Bob Stewart was there as 
Assistant Supervisor. It rained a good shower and he let 
us go and get married and expected us back the next day 
and ready to go to work. I think it was just about that much 
time. Anyway, we were back the next day. 

It was in November of 1943 that we reported at Fort Bliss, 
both Leonard Pritchard (Ranger at Luna) and myself. We 
went up to Bend, Oregon, and Zane Smith joined us at this 
time. There was Zane Smith, Leonard, and myself, all in 
the same camp at Bend, Oregon. That was the Engineer¬ 
ing Replacement Center. I was there until June. When 
they abandoned Camp Abbott at Bend, they moved the 
whole engineering training battalion on up to Fort Lewis, 
Washington. 

We were transferred up there, and there I became a 
Training Officer, that is. Buck Sergeant training new 
people coming into the Service as Engineers. You know, 
we had a seventeen-week training for combat Engineers. 
That is where I contracted that sugar diabetes, and was 
discharged by the Adjutant General in 1944. Actually I 
was in the Service only about a year before I was 
discharged. 

I came right back to the Jewett District and resumed my 
duties there. I think it was January 15, 1945 that I 
resumed my duties there at Jewett. I had left my furniture 
and everything right there. Bob Ewing had always been 
interested in me taking over the Alpine District. Larry 
Hamilton was transferred to the Penasco on the Carson, 
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and I accepted the Alpine District. I did so gladly because 
it was a higher job, a bigger workload. 

The Alpine was a good District, probably as fine a District 
as I ever had, both from the standpoint of multiple-use 
management and the big timber load that went with it. Of 
course, in those days, when you spoke of a work force on 
a Ranger District, there was the Ranger and his wife, and 
the GDA. The GDA’s job was a six-months tenure of 
office. That's just about what it amounted to. You had 
one pickup for the whole outfit, and the Ranger's wife was 
the Dispatcher, actually. That's the truth. 

The GDA on the District when I went there, he said he 
didn't think he'd last many more years; figured he'd quit 
the next year. Well, it so happened that when I was in 
Alpine this spring - 1964 - he's still working there at 
Alpine on the Apache. He said that he would quit this 
spring. 

The Alpine was my last District. I spent five years - a little 
over five years -- from August of 1945 until we came to 
Springerville in December of 1950. Frank Casanova took 
over the Alpine District. 

I took over Ed Groesbeck's position as Fire Staff and 
Timber Staff there on the Forest. I purchased the house 
that he had previously owned and, of course, he had 
purchased the house from Gordon Bade, who had the 
same job prior to that. Then I stayed there in Springerville 
and served under Bob Ewing until he retired in early 1952. 
Then John Baird replaced Bob Ewing, I would say, about 
March of 1952. 

There was an interim in January, February, and March 
there when I had to serve as Acting Supervisor, until 
Johnny came down from - I think it was the Rio Grande, 
out of Monte Vista, Colorado. I spent five years there as 
Fire and Timber Staff, and I had lots of experiences. 

Then Ed Groesbeck indicated that he would like to have me 
assist him with the paper work on TSI there in Albuquer¬ 
que, as kind of an Assistant to the Logging Engineer. So 
I went in, I think it was October of 1955, and I stayed with 
Ed until June 14, 1958. It was rather strange - I used to 
ride to work with Ed Groesbeck, Dahl Kirkpatrick, and Fred 
Kennedy, in a motor pool. Riding in one morning along with 
Fred, I said, "Fred, it's a funny thing but I can't like this 
paper work. I prefer working in timber, and I just can't 
reconcile myself to living in the style that I do. Here I am 
in the city and so far from this timber business." 

It wasn't very many months after that I realized that I had 
an opportunity to transfer to the Kaibab after Gordon Bade 
made it known that he would like to retire in the spring of 
1958. So I got to replace Gordon, which was a bad break. 

in a way. In another way, it was good to get back on a 
Forest again, to resume Fire Staff and Timber. 

«****«*•«* 

From the National Forest Manual - 1926. "The establish¬ 
ment of relatively small manufacturing plants of an effi¬ 
cient type should be encouraged rather than large plants 
wherever the conditions permit the former." 

********** 

Which did vou find more satisfying, being a District Forest 
Ranger, or on Staff? 

Well, I don’t believe you can compare them. 

Actually, a Ranger is a little "king;" he's a little Supervisor 
on his District. A Staff man works right under the Forest 
Supervisor, and is responsible to him. I think both 
positions should be held in high regard by anybody who 
holds them. 

It just worked out that way: if you're a Ranger, why, 
you’re the boss. You have a little more latitude about 
things. You're a line officer. It's more pleasing, I believe, 
to be a Ranger, but then again there is a general satisfac¬ 
tion in being a Staff Officer. He, too, feels pretty much the 
same as a District Ranger does in his position, after he 
really gets his feet on the ground. 

You take a Fire Staff Officer - that reminds me of that 
summer of 1956 when we were working out of the RO, 
you remember, when we had the Dudley fire. Then after 
we got the Dudley fire controlled - it was about 7,000 
acres - we looked across to Mingas Mountain, and there 
she was blowing right on Mingas Mountain. 

They just put the whole shootin' match into a DC-3 and 
took 'em right on up into Prescott. They took the same 
organization right off the Dudley fire and put 'em on the 
Mingas fire. That was 15,000 acres, and we nailed that 
one. We got home in time for a 4th of July rest, then went 
right on back to Safford on the Outlaw fire. 

Figure 16. A small private sawmill on the Lincoln National Forest 
in 1922. 
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It is remarkable the wav Forest Service crews can adapt 
themselves to a situation: to different Forests and differ¬ 
ent terrain, and different organizations, so to speak. They 
just click. 

Of course you've got the old Indian crews and, Boy, those 
crews are fine. I don't know what we would do without 
them, how we would get the job done without those Indian 
crews, whether it's Hopi Number 8, or Zuni Number 3, or 
Santa Domingo Number 2, Zia Number 1, or the Taos 
Pueblo. 

Now we have the slurry planes. Boy, those slurry planes 
are good. We've used them here. We used them on the 
Hell's Canyon fire down here last year. We had a 500-acre 
fire right down here south of Bill Williams. It could have 
been one of the largest in the history of the Forest Service 
if it had come across Bill Williams, but we nailed it. 

Oh, we've cut down on the burned acreage tremendously, 
but the cost has gone up. These slurry planes alone 
amount to quite a bit of money. The amount of slurry put 
on the fire is a very insignificant cost. It's the cost of 
transporting the slurry to the fire, dropping it, and then 
going back for another load that costs the money. 

We had pretty fast service over here at Saddle Mountain. 
That was in 1960 and it started on the Grand Canyon 
National Park. It started on the Park, just a short distance 
-1 don't think it could have been over half a mile inside the 
Park boundary. We reported it to the Park Service and they 
spotted it and were in there trying to get it at the time our 
plane observed it. It was on the 21 st of June that the fire 
occurred in there, and it was about 10 o'clock on the 22nd 
before they got it. 

It had got around two acres, I think, when they started 
work on it, and it blew up, right as they hit it. Boy! It was 
never headed from then on; it must've covered 4,000 
acres inside of four hours, a burning period from, say, 
about 12 noon, right on through until 4:00 or 5:00 that 
afternoon, it must've covered in the neighborhood of 
5,000 acres. It burned almost to South Canyon. In its path 
it crossed several canyons, and it stopped just this side of 
South Canyon before we halted it. 

We must've had in the neighborhood, right at a thousand 
men. Let me think; we had two big divisions, one down 
in South Canyon, and one up there just on the road going 
into Saddle Mountain, roughly about five miles on the VT 
road going into Saddle Mountain. But she was a rough 
deal, rough country. 

If you remember the Escudilla fire, we logged 44 million 
feet off of it, on roughly 19,500 acres. On this one, the 
grand total of acreage was 8,660 and we must have 

logged in the neighborhood of 7,600,000 feet, but there 
was a lot of timber that was never salvaged because of its 
great inaccessibility, and the inoperability of the area. 

Your Staff career, then, has been mostly Timber and Fire? 

Principally, but my first three Districts, the Guadalupe on 
the Lincoln, the Jicarilla on the Carson, and the Jewett on 
the Apache - they were primarily grazing Districts. I really 
had to get out with the grazing men we served. While we 
did have a timber load on the Jewett, it was primarily due 
to State timber sales; that is, the harvesting of timber on 
those State lands. 

How do you contrast our present system of management 
with those old timber sales? 

Well, actually, it seems to me the cutting was heavy. 
We've got to admit that in the Saginaw sale on Bill 
Williams, back in the early 1920s, their harvest was 
heavy. In fact there has been a drouth period of good 
timber sale activity since the Saginaw pulled out of here 
in 1941. But now, we are just coming to the point, with 
what virgin and what intermediate strip was left from the 
old Saginaw, and the growth that is being put on the 
younger stock, we are really getting into a period of growth 
and a sustained yield that will realize a real good cut. 

As I see it, it will improve. That is, we can expect an 
increase in our net sustained yield cut from year to year, 
particularly with our puipwood operations; thinning that 
stand before it gets stagnated. You see we've cut in the 
neighborhood of twenty million feet of puipwood since 
they started here in April of 1962, better than twenty 
million feet of puipwood. That is in the neighborhood, 
roughly of 10,000 acres that we have covered to get that 
volume. Well, naturally, the material that is left - these 
trees that are left are going to put on growth immeasurably 
faster than anything else we have got that hasn't been 
thinned through pulping operations. 

Are you satisfied with the marking you are getting on the 
pulp thinning? 

Yes, I am. Of course, we had every advantage here to get 
good marking. Our people there at the college keep right 
after us. Our Research people interested themselves in 
just exactly the way we were taking care of the stand. 

If you remember, the stand that came in from this 1918 
seed crop and the '37 seed crop, they were rough trees, 
a lot of them. In other words, there was so much of this 
material that needed cutting. It would never make a log; 
never make a saw-log; they were apple trees. It was 
surprising, the utilization that was made due to the 
harvesting of puipwood. Actually, knots do not in any way 
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influence the utilization of these pulp stands. Twenty 
years ago, or even ten years ago, we would have said, 
"Well, what are we gonna do, poison this stuff? In order 
to grow saw-logs we are going to have to personally go out 
and destroy this stuff." Now here we are not only utilizing 
it, but we are getting paid for it. It is amazing. 

From that big seed crop of 1918 we had too many stems 
on the ground. We just couldn’t grow that much stuff on 
the ground. It wouldn’t support it. In other words, we are 
starting to realize Forestry. 

You and I started when it was pretty much a custodial job. 

Yes. Actually that’s all it was, too, for many years, right 
up into the Fifties before it actually became a Resource 
Management job - a multiple-use job. 

Now, looking back, do you feel a need for any policy 
changes, technique, or any change in our objectives? 

Well, actually, I think we’ve already made those changes 
in our objectives, from the custodial into this Resource 
Management, or Multiple-Use Management that we are 
using now. I think we’ve already done it, unconsciously 
probably in many aspects, but certainly I think the leaders 
in Forestry have recognized this all the way through, and 
have taken steps to take care of it. 

You think we are meeting our objectives in conservation? 

Yes, I really and truly do. There may be isolated instances, 
on this range allotment, or that range allotment, or in this 
timber sale area; we may have slipped temporarily, but in 
general, all over the Region, we’ve met the objectives. 

Mr. Walter L. Graves is a product of the Midwest, having 
lived all of his life, before he came to New Mexico, in 
Illinois, Michigan and Iowa. He graduated from Iowa State 
College. Walt was interviewed in Albuquerque. His story 
starts with his arrival in Region 3. 

You got a Forestry degree? 

Yes, I received my BS degree in lumber marketing in June 
of ’33, from Iowa State. 

How did you get out here to Region 3? 

Well, at that time the CCC camps were just beginning to 
start and, as a matter of fact, I was only one of two in my 
graduating class that were still at Ames for graduation to 
receive our diplomas. The rest of the class had already 
gone to CC Camps all over the country and were not there 
for graduation. I left the night I graduated for Santa Fe to 

be part of a CC Camp out of Santa Fe. Why I selected 
Santa Fe, no one knows, not even I, except that I’d never 
been to the Southwest. At that time offers were coming 
in almost daily for Foresters, and it was just a question of 
selecting what part of the country we might want to go to. 

I arrived in Santa Fe about the middle of June 1933, and 
at the same time a Forester from Oregon arrived to be in 
the same camp that I was. The Supervisor, Frank 
Andrews, was so busy getting CC Camps established on 
the Forest that he was not available for the first two weeks 
that we were in Santa Fe. Each morning we would go to 
the office, and receive word that the Supervisor was still 
out, and that we would not be assigned to a camp until he 
returned. So for two weeks this other man and I spent our 
days reporting to the office and finding out that the 
Supervisor would not be back, and then just waiting until 
such time as he did show up. 

After about two weeks, Mr. Andrews finally came back 
into town and called the two of us in and told us that we 
would each be assigned to different camps. He assigned 
each of us to a camp by flipping a coin. The camp that I 
was assigned to was the one at Hyde Park, which is about 
ten or fifteen miles out of Santa Fe. This was a tent camp 
and was composed mostly of boys from Southern Texas. 
The majority of them at that time were from Corpus 
Christi. We spent all of that summer at the Hyde Park 
Camp doing mostly erosion control work in the Hyde Park 
area, with a small side camp in Santa Fe Canyon doing 
some erosion control work there, as well as some timber 
stand improvement work. 

Then, in September of ’33,1 was assigned to a six-week 
detail marking mine props in the head of Cow Creek, on 
what is now the Pecos District. I believe this is now the 
Lower Pecos. I spent until the middle of October marking 
mine props. It so happened that particular fall that the 
rainy season was pretty bad, and every afternoon at 
about, oh between 2:00 and 3 o’clock, it would start to 
rain and rain the rest of the day. The only way I could get 
a day’s work in was to be out on the job by about 6 o’clock 
in the morning, to get my day’s work in by 2:00 or 2:30 
in the afternoon. 

When I finished that job I was assigned to timber stand 
improvement work out of Pine Springs on the old Espanola 
District. This started about the middle of October and ran 
until the end of November. 

During that time they were constructing a new CC camp 
on the edge of Santa Fe to replace the one at Hyde Park. 
This was a permanent camp with wooden barracks and all 
the necessary facilities. There was also a Park Service 
Camp on the same site and the two camps were operated 
jointly. 

60 



In this camp we spent most of our time doing rodent 
control work on old Fort Marcy, and some work out at Sun 
Mount, which was at that time a tuberculosis sanitarium. 

Then, in the spring of '34,1 received a temporary appoint¬ 
ment on the Pecos District as Assistant under J. W. 
Johnson, who had been the Ranger there for many years. 
My first summer consisted entirely of scaling timber at 
Indian Creek for the mill that was cutting for the American 
Metals Company. The following spring, 1935,1 received 

my permanent appointment as Assistant Ranger at Pecos. 

At that time both Districts were operated as one District. 
The work was divided between Ranger Johnson and 
myself, with me being assigned to Recreation and Timber 
Sales operations, and Johnson taking Fire and Range. 
However, Johnson did give me an opportunity to get 
considerable training in both Range and Fire. And, since 
he was the Senior Ranger, he was responsible for the 
overall work of the District. 

We had some amusing and some unfortunate experiences 
while we were at Pecos. When we moved into the house 
we were to occupy, I found that it was about ready to fall 
down. As a matter of fact, the walls along the dining room 
on the south side of the house had fallen away from the 
ceiling so that there was about a three-inch gap between 

the ceiling and the wall. Our first job was to correct this 
problem. We found that the roof joists in the attic had not 
been tied to the walls at all and the weight of the roof was 
pushing the walls out. We went in with a jack from the 

basement and jacked the roof up, pulled the walls back in, 
and tied them together. 

The next problem was the well. There was an old windmill 
at the corner of the old office that supplied water to the 
Ranger Station. We found that the water was so polluted 
with gasoline that my predecessor had been able to bail 
water out of the well and actually burn it in the trucks. I 
can remember during that first winter we had a little tin 

stove in the office and the way I started fires in the 
morning was to bail a bucket of water out of the well and 
throw it into the stove and toss a match in! And it burned 

real well. There was quite a little excitement around Pecos 
as a result of this. 

We had a number of geologists examining not only the well 
but the surrounding country, and the final decision was 
that there was a pocket of gas that had drained from some 
distant source into the area, and that this was what we 
had tapped. Well, this of course made the water com¬ 
pletely unusable. On a hunch I sent a sample of the water 
in to the University for analysis and they found that there 
was not only gasoline in the water, but there was also 
Bacillus coli in sufficient quantities to be very dangerous. 

When the Supervisor received the analysis on this, he was 
out at Pecos the next day locating a new well. A new well 
was drilled. We hit the same strata of gas at about the 
same depth as in the old well, but this was cased off and 
the driller went on down several hundred feet further, and 
did bring in a very excellent well, which is still being used. 

Another rather amusing and, at the time, uncomfortable 
experience for me was the first pack trip that I was sent 
on, up into the Pecos Wilderness country. Ranger Johnson 
told me to meet the cattle permittees that were coming in 

the middle of June, and count the cattle. I had never in my 
life been on a pack trip by myself. The only packing 

experience I had had was in Montana where we used the 
Decker saddle and hitch. But in the Southwest these had 
not been heard of and they used either pack boxes or 
panniers. Well, I had no idea how to throw a diamond hitch 
or to put a pack on a horse, and Johnson did not show me, 
so the result was I started out with two full panniers and 
a pack cover fastened over it after a fashion. 

I got up on top of Bordo del Medio that afternoon, into the 
worst hail storm I think I've ever experienced. I didn't have 
any chaps; I had a short raincoat that hit me about my 
waist on a horse. I rode for about two hours through this 
hail storm. I got into a ranch on the Las Vegas side that 
evening. My pack was full of hail; I was so frozen I couldn't 
even unbutton my raincoat. It took me about half the night 

to get thawed out. 

I did get some help from some of the local people to show 
me how to pack, and the next day when I started out I did 
have a passable pack on my horse. From then on I learned 
how to throw a diamond hitch and how to put a pack on 

a horse that would stay. 

While I was at Pecos, one of our major problems was the 
stealing of fence posts on Glorieta Mesa. I well remember 
that both Ranger Johnson and I spent many nights trying 
to catch post stealers on the Mesa, and spent an awful lot 
of our time at Rowe, at the Gross-Kelly store, checking 

posts that were brought into the yard there, and matching 
butt cuts on the posts with pieces of stump that we 
brought in, to see if any of the stolen posts were there. We 
picked up many hundreds of posts that had been brought 

in and sold to Gross-Kelly. 

Mr. Kramer, who operated the store at that time, had a 
record of the people who had brought in the posts, so it 
was pretty simple then to determine who the guilty people 
were. Our only recourse was to take them before a Justice 
of the Peace, and have them fined for violating a State law. 

In the fall of '36, I was assigned to the Triple A (Editor: 

probably refers to the Agricultural Adjustment Act] pro- 
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gram that was just starting, and had the job of examining 
ranches in the Las Vegas area for Triple A benefits. We 
worked on this program during the fall of '36 until 
Christmas time, at which time the program was finished 
for the year. In the spring of '37, I was detailed again to 
the Triple A program and was assigned seven central 
northern counties, and had three examiners working under 
me, examining ranches in all of those seven north central 
counties. I worked on this program during all of 1937, 

with my headquarters still at Pecos. 

In March of '39 I was assigned to the Coyote District as 
Ranger and this, of course, was my first assignment as a 
full-fledged District Ranger. 

While at Coyote, we had a CC camp just below the Ranger 
Station that was there until World War II was declared in 
December of 1941. The Coyote Ranger District at that 

time included much of what is now the Cuba District, since 
it took in all of the country north of Regina, which included 
the Mud Springs, Luna Seca, and Dead Man areas, which 
are now assigned to Cuba. At that time my staffing 
amounted to a GDA [General District Assistant], two 
lookouts during the summer, and a three-man trail crew. 

In 1940 I got my first professional Assistant, and from 
then on until I moved out in 1944, I had four different 
Assistants. There was no housing at Coyote for anybody 
but the Ranger, and the only place that we could find for 
the assistant was at Gallina, some 18 or 20 miles west of 
Coyote. The’housing there was not good, but the man 
who owned the main store at Gallina did have a small 
apartment that he made available for the assistant ranger. 

The ranger's house at Coyote was rather primitive. When 
we moved there, there was no electricity. We used 
gasoline lanterns and later Aladdin's lamps, for light, and 
a kerosene operated Servell refrigerator for refrigeration. 
There was no plaster on the interior walls of the house, just 
mud, but the year after arrival I was able to get the CC 
crews to replaster the house. The Supervisor made 
enough money available to add a porch, or rather convert 
the attached garage into an enclosed porch and service 
room. However, up until the time we'd left Coyote there 
was still no electricity. As I recall, the Ranger Station was 

without electricity until the REA [the Rural Electrification 
Administration] constructed a line into Coyote several 
years later. 

The major job on the Coyote District at that time was 
grazing. The timber sale work was handled by a project 
man out of the Supervisor's Office, and the big sale was 
up just north of Dead Man Lookout. However, I had 
nothing to do with the sale since it was a project operation 
out of the Supervisor's office. 

At the time I moved to Coyote there were no grazing plans 
that had ever been made on the District. The livestock 
associations were inactive and practically no range man¬ 
agement had been practiced at all. While I was there, one 
of the first, if not the first. Ranger District Grazing 
Management Plan in the Region, was made on the District. 
P. V. Woodhead, at that time Chief of Range Management, 
spent several weeks on the District assisting in the 
preparation of the Plan. 

During the five years I was at Coyote, I was able to revive 
the five livestock associations, and was able to get them 
interested in buying registered bulls to improve their herds 
and increase their calf crops. As I recall, before registered 
bulls were purchased, the percentage of calf crop was 
running about 40 to 50 percent. The year after the bulls 
were purchased, this jumped almost to 90 percent. Up 
until the time I left Coyote, all of the associations were still 
maintaining their registered bulls and were replacing them 

at the necessary intervals. 

One of our major problems at Coyote was the distance we 
had to travel to do our shopping. There was one small 
store in Coyote; the selection was quite limited and about 
all we could get were canned goods and a few staples. We 
made a trip every two weeks to Santa Fe for all of our 
supplies. During the summer, of course with fire season, 
I was not able to go with my wife when she went on her 
two week shopping tour, so she had to go by herself. 

It was quite a sight to see her come into the Ranger Station 
with two youngsters in the car, two weeks' supply of 
groceries, 200 pounds of chicken feed, ten gallons of 
kerosene for the refrigerator, and five or ten gallons of 

white gas for the lanterns, which at that time we were 
using. The car was so loaded down it would hardly clear 

the wheels. 

During the spring, since the road at that time was not 
paved, it was almost impossible to get from Coyote to 
Abiquiu. The only way we could get out to do our shopping 
was to leave Coyote about 4 o'clock in the morning, before 
it started to thaw, and then stay in Santa Fe until after 
midnight when it started to freeze and we could get over 
that 15 miles of mud. But we worked it out. Of course, 
after World War II started, with gas rationing, we were not 
able to go in every two weeks; we had to stretch our trips 
to once a month. This really meant loading the car down, 

to bring in a month's supply of groceries in a sedan. We 
were able to keep going and, looking back on it, it was a 
pretty worthwhile experience. 

In March of '441 was moved to the Long Valley District on 
the Coconino, and of course at that time we did not use 
commercial truck lines to move. Two Forest Service stake 
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trucks moved all of our belongings from Coyote to Long 
Valley. The house for the Ranger on the Long Valley 
District was located at Clear Creek about eight miles south 
of Camp Verde. When we moved in we found that the 
house had been allowed to deteriorate pretty badly. It had 
been used for a period of time by a crew batching and, as 
was to be expected, it was ir pretty bad shape. 

One of my first jobs was to enclose the back porch and 
construct a new front porch on the house, and then put 
new oak floors in the living room and front bedroom. 
Incidentally, I understand that about three years after I had 
laid these floors, the termites had eaten the floors to a 
point that when the Ranger’s wife was vacuuming one 
day, the vacuum cleaner fell right through the floor. We 

found later, of course, that the entire house was just 
completely eaten up with termites. 

During the time I was at Long Valley we had a winter and 
a summer station. The winter station was at Clear Creek, 
and the summer station at Long Valley. This meant that 
we moved twice a year, once in the spring from Clear 
Creek to Long Valley, and then once in the fall back to Clear 
Creek. 

Since World War II was on at this time, we were not able 
to get qualified adult workers, so we hired a crew of 30 
sixteen-year-olds for summer work and fire crews. Inci¬ 

dentally, Ray Housley was one of the men on this 30 man 
crew that I had at Long Valley, and at that time he 
developed his interest in Forestry and has stayed with it 
ever since. 

One incident that happened with this crew, that at the time 
wasn’t funny at all but, looking back, was rather amusing. 
One evening the cook for the camp came running up to the 
Ranger Station scared to death and said that the boys were 
trying to burn the camp up. I went down to the camp 
immediately and found that a group of the boys had gotten 
into the store room and taken all of the rolls of toilet paper, 
soaked them in kerosene, and were lighting them and 
throwing them all over camp. Of course, as they threw 

them, they’d unroll and there would be just streams of fire 
going in every direction. 

It was, as I recall, in late June when this happened. The 
camp was in a thicket of pine, and why the whole country 
didn’t burn up I’ll never know. But luckily there was no 
serious fires except, I believe, one camp did burn up. 
Needless to say, the ringleaders of that particular episode 
were without a job the next morning and on their way 
home. 

I will say that Ray Housley had nothing to do with this 
particular incident. 

During the winter of 1944 the Supervisor and I disagreed 
rather substantially, and as a result I was moved to the 
Capitan District on the Lincoln in the spring of 1945. Earl 
Moore was Supervisor of the Lincoln, and I will say that he 
was one of the finest Supervisors I ever had the privilege 
of working under. The Ranger Station at Capitan that we 
occupied was by far the best facilities that we had ever 
lived in up to then. It was the show place of the Lincoln, 
and one of the show places of the Region. However, 
before we left, the house showed evidence of falling apart 
and, as I understand it, has been falling apart ever since. 

I well remember that when we left the Long Valley District 
we had about 26 nice laying hens, and since every Station 
we had ever occupied had a place for chickens, I brought 
the chickens to Capitan. When I got there, the Supervisor 

informed me that chickens were not allowed and that I’d 
have to get rid of them. We kept them in the woodshed 
for a few weeks, and during that time we killed chickens 
and ate them just about as fast as we could. Finally, by 
eating what we could, and canning a few, we were able 
to get rid of all of our chickens. 

We were not allowed to keep a horse at the Ranger 
Station, so our only alternative was to rent corral space 

downtown and keep the horse down there. We had no 
pasture, and just kept him in this small corral when he was 

not being used on the District. 

While I was at Capitan I had no help except a summer fire 
guard who was one of the local school teachers, and a 
lookout during fire season, and a small three-man trail 
crew. 

I was only at Capitan about a year and a half, and was then 
moved to the High Rolls District on the Lincoln, replacing 
Ed Engstrom who was moved to the Carson. This move 
took place in the fall of 1946. When we moved to High 
Rolls we again found that the house was badly in need of 
repairs and one of my first jobs was to take care of these 

items. 

I was able, by enclosing a porch on the back of the house, 

to make an extra bedroom since at that time we had three 
children and needed three bedrooms and this, coupled 
with some additional repairs to the fireplace and the floors 
of the house, made it a pretty livable dwelling. This 
particular Station is no longer in existence, and the 
headquarters for the Ranger is now at Cloudcroft. How¬ 
ever, at the time High Rolls was abandoned, the Ranger 
was moved to Alamogordo and remained there until new 

quarters were built at Cloudcroft. 

I was at High Rolls about a year and a half, and during this 
time the solar observatory which is now at Sacramento 
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Peak was established. About the last six months I was on 

the District, this occupied a great deal of my time in getting 
special use permits worked out and assisting in getting the 

installation moved in. 

In the spring of 19481 was moved to Albuquerque and was 
on detail to the Soil Conservation Service on River Basin 
studies for several months. When this detail was com¬ 
pleted, I was moved into the Division of Range Manage¬ 
ment in the Regional Office, and was put in charge of the 
reseeding program. At this particular time, reseeding in 
Region 3 amounted to little more than a few experimental 
plots on a few of the Forests. 

My major job was to get the reseeding problem recognized 
in the Washington Office, inventory the amount of work 

that was needed in the Region, and convince the Washing¬ 
ton Office that funds were needed to get started on the 
job. We were quite successful in this, and were able to get 
enough money allotted to start some major projects in 
reseeding work. The first work was started on the Carson, 
on the Tres Piedras District. This initial project was 
extremely successful and was the key to expanding the 
project to several other Forests in the Region. Of course, 
this work has been continued and is still under way. 

In the summer of 1951,1 was told that I was being moved 
to Taos as Supervisor of the Carson Forest. This came as 
quite a surprise to me since I had never served as a member 
of a Supervisor's staff during my entire career. At the time 
that the Regional Forester told me that I was going to Taos, 

he told me that I could not tell anyone, including my wife, 
for several weeks until they had been able to discuss the 
situation with the current Supervisor of the Forest. This 

was not easy to do, but I was able to keep it to myself, and 
my wife didn't even know anything about it until I got word 
from the Regional Forester that I could tell her. 

The first job that faced me when I went to Taos was an 
appeal from some 30 or 40 sheep permittees on the 
Forest, appealing the elimination of lambing and reduction 
in seasons. Letters had been written to all of these 
permittees by my predecessor and he, of course, didn't 
have time to take any action on it, so this was left to me. 
As a result of the appeal, we had one of the men from the 
Washington Office come out and make a field check of 
conditions, and it was finally agreed that the reduction in 
seasons and some reduction in numbers probably were not 
necessary if proper management was initiated. However, 
the lambing was largely eliminated; except that by this 
time some of our crested wheat reseeding was estab¬ 
lished and ready for use, and we were able to permit some 
lambing on these areas. This took considerable pressure 
off of our higher mountain ranges, and satisfied a number 
of the sheep permittees. 

Another major problem while I was on the Forest was the 
sustained yield unit on the El Rito District. This was a 
continual headache, and because of the peculiarities of the 
operator, it was not at all a successful operation. As a 
matter of fact, the operator who was there at the time was 

finally burned out and went out of business. 

We had a few other small problems that kept cropping up 
during the time I was on the Carson, such as one of the 
Ranger's shooting a permittee's cow, and then later 
shooting two mules belonging to a prominent sheepman. 
The mules were killed during a Closing Order, but caused 
considerable uproar. Both of these incidents required 
considerable work to quiet down. 

Also, even back at that time, we were having trouble -- or 
problems -- with the Taos Indians and their claim on the 
Blue Lake area. Nothing specific was resolved during the 
time I was on the Carson, but it did require innumerable 
meetings with the Tribal Council and also trips into the 
area with representatives of both the Tribal Council and 
the United Pueblos Agency. [Ed.: Blue Lake was trans¬ 
ferred to Taos Pueblo control by P.L. 91-550 in 1970.) 

In July of 1956 I was transferred to the Washington 

Office, in the Division of Administrative Management, 
under Gordon Fox. After about a year and a half in 

Washington, Gordon Fox was assigned to his present [i.e. 
1962] position as Deputy to Mr. Hendee who, at that time, 
was called an Assistant Chief and is now known as the 
Deputy Chief. Ed Schultz replaced Gordon Fox as Director 
of the Division of Administrative Management, and my 
position was Branch Chief in charge of the Branch of 

Emergency Work Programs and Workload Measurements. 

In June of 1961,1 was transferred to Albuquerque as Chief 

of Operations, which position I occupy at the present time. 
I believe that's about it. 

Well. Walt, that's an excellent summation of vour career. 
There is a question or two I'd like to ask you. Let's qo back 
to the CCC days. How was the original camp organized? 

Well, the first camp I was in, of course, as I said previously, 
was a tent camp, and the Army had the responsibility of 
organizing the camp and handling all of the logistics, and 
the complete operation of the camp itself. 

The involved agencies, land management agencies, were 
assigned the boys in the morning, took them out on the job 
and were responsible for them until they returned to camp 
in the evening, at which time the Army took them over 

and, of course, were responsible for them until the 
following morning. 
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The regular Army was the nucleus of the camp operation, 
with a number of reserve officers assigned, particularly in 
the later stages of the program. At the time the program 
was dropped, it was operated almost entirely by Reserve 
officers. Of course, the program was stopped when World 
War II started. Had it not been for that, we undoubtedly 
would still have a CCC program: would have had all 
through these years. 

You felt that the work they were doing then justified their 
existence? 

Oh, no question about it. We built many miles of roads, 
lots of range fences, range improvements of all kinds, 
erosion control, and while this Region did not concentrate 
on the construction of administrative improvements such 
as Ranger Stations, a number of the Regions did, and of 
course these buildings are still in use today. 

As the agency Drovidino the work, what was our obliga¬ 
tion in the educational part of the program? 

We had no obligation at all as far as education was 
concerned, except what training we gave the boys on the 
job. Actually, there was not an educational program in the 

CCs comparable to the educational program we have 
today in the Job Corps. 

It was primarily a work program? 

That's right. The reason for this was, at that time we were 
in the throes of the Depression, and there were millions of 
people out of work. As a matter of fact, we had men in 
our camp out of Santa Fe who had doctor’s degrees, and 
a number of men who were high school and college 
graduates. But they were not able to find work at all, and 
this was aimed at providing work for those people who just 
could not get a job. 

Some of them came there hungry, didn't they? 

Yes, they did, very hungry. Men who had been out of 
work, with families to support, been out of work for 
months and months. 

I notice that you had a detail to Triple A. What did vour 
work consist of on that Triple A detail? 

It was primarily the examination of ranches owned by men 
who had applied for benefits under the Triple A program. 

Figure 17. The Civilian Conservation Corps provided some much-needed improvements on the National Forests, and furnished work 
for many young men. Here men are making picnic tables at CCC Camp F-55 near Borracho Ranger Station, June 1941. Photo by J. 

D. Guthrie. 
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Figure 18. Montezuma Pass road work undertaken by ECW Camp 
DF-13-A (Sunnyside) workers on Coronado National Forest, 
August 1934. 

' ^ 

Figure 19. CCC enrollees placing a charge on a Tanque Verde 
project. The men are from ECW Camp DF-42-A, Coronado 
National Forest. 

Figure 20. CCC workers from Camp DF-42-A on the Redington Road project, Tanque Verde, Coronado National Forest, in 1934. 
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Did you actually determine, or make an estimate of the 
grazing capacity of the range? 

Figure 21. Company lineup in the afternoon after the day's work. 
No military training was given at the camps, but certain formations 
are taught to facilitate movement and handling of the men. This 
photo was taken at CCC Camp 9-NM near Albuquerque in 
February 1938 by E. R. Wellington. 

Figure 22. A crew from the Sunflower CCC camp, Tonto National 

Forest, December 1933. 

In this examination, we had to determine the carrying 
capacity of the ranch, and recommend approval of the 

improvements that the rancher wished to do, such as 
water developments, fencing, terracing, reseeding: all 
types of range improvement work. 

It was up to us to recommend to the County Committee 
the improvements that we felt were justified. This was 
primarily based on the estimated carrying capacity of the 
man's ranch. Final approval then rested with the County 
Committee, and of course the rancher was then paid a 
stated amount for the work that he did on his own land. He 

would contribute his labor, and some materials, and the 
Government would match this for the rest of the cost. 

Yes, we at that time used the old range reconnaissance 
methods of determining carrying capacity of a range. 
Admittedly, as has been proven since then, it was not too 
sound an estimate, but at least it was a basis on which we 
were able to recommend the allocation of Triple A funds 
for range improvement work. 

Did you map the area, make a mao iust like we did in the 
Service? 

That's right. The owner would furnish us with a base map, 
or at least a sketch map, of his holdings and then we would 
locate existing improvements and map the area as to range 
conditions and carrying capacity. 

That must have given us a fairly good method of selling our 
program to ranchers in the various sections of the State. 

Well, I think it did, although, as was to be expected, many 
of the ranchers did not agree with our estimates on 
carrying capacity at all. Quite often the capacity we would 
arrive at would be something less than half the number of 

cattle that they were actually running at the time. And of 
course if they were overstocked, and were not going to 
make any provision for protection of their lands when they 

constructed many of these range improvements, the 
County Committee would quite often disapprove their 
applications. 

I expect with those disagreements. Walt, there were 
several little adventures that you might have had? 

Yes, there were. As a matter of fact, I recall one small 
ranch that I went to out of Las Vegas where a man met me 
at the gate with a gun. He wasn’t going to have any part 
of any Government bureaucrat coming on his land and 
telling him how many cattle he could run. But I was able 
finally to convince him that I wasn't going to do him any 

damage. 

I found later that the main reason for his objections was 
that he had had some unfortunate experiences with a 
Forest Service officer shortly before that and this had 
made him pretty angry at the Service in general. However, 

I found that he kinda liked to have his picture taken and, 
fortunately, I had a camera with me and 1 shot an awful lot 
of pictures of this one individual before I left the ranch. He 
also had done a lot of erosion-control work that he was 
quite proud of, and I got a number of pictures of this. That 
pleased him very much, and from then on I had no trouble 
with him. 
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But we did have a few people who, even though they 
applied for the program, were very much against any 
Government men coming on their ranches. We also had 
a few who applied who were not eligible, and this took 
considerable persuasion and discussion to convince them 
that they were not eligible for the program. 

You mentioned when you were in the northern part of New 
Mexico, the livestock associations. How are they orga¬ 

nized and used? 

Well, on the Coyote District the livestock associations 
were limited usually to one grazing allotment, and were 
made up of permittees on that particular allotment. On a 
number of allotments we had 30 or 40 grazing permittees 
on one allotment. In a few instances the association 
covered two allotments, primarily because we had permit¬ 
tees who grazed on one of them in the summer and another 
in the winter, and we combined the two into one associa¬ 
tion. They were strictly local associations. 

They elected their own officers. I, as Ranger, of course, 
had to act as Secretary and keep the thing going, but they 
conducted their own meetings, which I always attended. 

To the extent we could, we accepted their recommenda¬ 
tions for range management practices and that sort of 
thing on the allotments. We could not always accept their 
recommendations because they were continually request¬ 
ing increases in numbers and this, of course, we could not 
allow. 

Do you feel that's the best wav to work with those people 
UP there, through associations? 

Yes. Wherever you have a large number of permittees on 
one allotment, I don't see how you can do it any other way. 
There must be a group that you can go to and deal with, 
because to try to deal with 30 or 40 grazing permittees 
individually is a hopeless task. There must be somebody 
that represents the entire group and has authority to make 
commitments. 

I noticed you giving a little emphasis to the deplorable 
condition of the housing that vou found in the various 
places. Now that you’re Chief of Operation and head of all 
this, can vou give me a little brief resume of housing and 
what you're doing about it now? 

Well, I think this has been a problem, particular in Region 

3, ever since the Forest Service was created. We are, of 
course, anxious to do as much as we can about it, and to 
provide the satisfactory facilities that our people need at 
our Ranger Stations. Unfortunately, the funds that we 
receive for this work are very inadequate and at the 
present time we are not able to do much more than meet 

our current needs. In other words, we are not able to catch 
up on the backlog of construction that is needed at all. 

We were able to do a very considerable amount of this 
work during the APW program, but unfortunately this did 
not last long enough to really get us on top of the situation. 
At the present time we're getting about enough money to 
construct one complete Ranger Station a year. This does 
not mean that we concentrate on constructing a complete 

new ranger station every year, but it is the equivalent of 
that. In other words, an office, a couple of houses; and a 
warehouse, barn, and the other necessary facilities that go 
with a Ranger Station. 

In looking at the future. I'm afraid that we will not be able 
to expect much more than this each year. We have a 
number of Ranger Stations that are quite old, and we are 
finding that we actually have Ranger Stations that are 
falling down or are approaching the point where they will 

fall down, to the extent that we’re losing more than we're 
gaining each year. 

We'll admit that 30 years aao it was a pretty sorry 
situation. 

Of the stations that I occupied when I was on five 
Districts, as a Ranger, only one was in good condition and, 

as I said before, before we left that one the house was 
beginning to fall apart. This was the Capitan Station. 

Then you're not very optimistic about catchin' up? 

No, no. Not at the present rate. Unless we should get 
some additional emergency programs that would enable 
us to do some of this work, such as we did during APW. 

Do vou anticipate that the Job Corps will be able to help 
the situation? 

We have hopes that we will be able to do some building 
construction with Job Corps employees. I think this will 
be a fine opportunity for training these young men in 
carpentry, brick-laying, plumbing, electrical work, and all 

the various skills that go into the construction of a building. 
We have high hopes that after the program is in operation 
a year or so we will be able to do just this. If we can, it 
will help us catch up on some of this backlog. Of course, 
this will be somewhat limited to a reasonable proximity of 
the camp itself, so that we won't have to transport the 
boys too far. However, we may be able to use side camps 
as we did in the CCs, and if we can do this, then we could 
reach out farther. 

You mentioned that vou headed up the workload measure¬ 
ment program in the Service, and one of vour predecessors 

68 



on the Carson is really the father of workload measure¬ 
ments: that is Earl Loveridoe. 

That's right. 

Talk a little bit about workload measurement: I know you 
worked in the Region on that. 

Well, Earl Loveridge of course did a tremendous amount of 
work, some of which was very good and some was proven 
to be not so good. But he certainly was the father of 
workload measurement, and some of the theories and 
practices that he initiated are still in operation. 

Probably one of the worst fiascos I can recall in my career 
in the Forest Service was what was known as the old 26A, 
which was put into operation while I was at Pecos. This 
was a large atlas-sized form on which the Ranger and his 
Assistant were required to first plan all of their work for the 
month, down to fifteen-minute intervals and, secondly, to 
account for everything they did, down to fifteen-minute 

intervals. As can well be imagined, this became so 
cumbersome that in a very few months it was dropped 
completely. 

But as I recall, it took me about two days every month to 
make this out for the Ranger and myself at the beginning 
of the month, and about a day and a half at the end of the 
month, to record all of our accomplishments. Our diaries 
had to be in such detail that it took an exceptional amount 
of time merely to keep the diary, because we did have to 
account for our time down to fifteen minute intervals. 

After this was dropped, several different methods were 
tried. One of the major ones was the old Region 3 Green 
Book which was, in effect, an annual plan of work, in 

which all of the jobs that are ordinarily done on a Ranger 
District were listed in a book, with space at the side for 
planning the amount of time that the Ranger was going to 
put in on each job. Now this was then segregated by 
months of the year and was used by the Ranger as a tool 
for planning his monthly work. It worked reasonably well, 
but was still quite cumbersome. 

During the time that I was in Washington, although this 
was not in my Branch, the uniform work planning system 
was started, and has been in operation since, and appears 
to be one of the best systems that we have come up with 
as far as work planning is concerned. The workload meas¬ 
urement is tied in with work planning certainly. I think that 
the method of workload measurement that we used until 
just recently was not too sound, primarily because no one 
in the field was able to take the workload as published in 
the Manual and re-compute the workload on a Ranger 
District and arrive at anywhere near the answer that was 

listed in the tabulation in the Manual for that particular 
District. 

This was primarily due to some factors that were intro¬ 
duced at the Washington level that the field knew nothing 
about. This was one of the major complaints of people in 
the field. If, for example, a District were divided or 
consolidated, it was impossible at the Regional level to re¬ 
compute the workload. This would have to be done in the 
Washington Office because we do not have the informa¬ 
tion on the factors that were used. 

I think the present system is good. They now have it on 
ADP (Automatic Data Processing). We have all the 
information that is necessary to re-compute the workload 
any time we wish, and update it, and keep it current to any 
extent that we feel necessary. In the past we had to do 
it only at five-year intervals and follow the computations 
as done at the Washington level, but we were not fully 
informed as to how the figures were arrived at. Under the 
present system we can do it ourselves, and this greatly 
facilitates the re-computation whenever Districts are di¬ 
vided or Districts are consolidated. 

I also think that the time allowances now are much more 
realistic than they were in the past. The Volumes of 
Business that are used are much more indicative of the 
actual work on a Ranger District. 

Even though we've done awav with the old diary that all 
of us kept for so long, you still feel that the information 
received is satisfactory and meets our need? 

Yes. I think it gives us everything that we need. The diary 

itself was largely a repetition of monthly work plans, for 
example, and frequently was inaccurate, and in many 

instances was rather meaningless. I think that the present 
periodic or monthly work plan, with provision for recording 
accomplishment of jobs that were done, is all that is 
necessary, and it certainly greatly reduces the amount of 
time necessary to maintain a diary. I, for one, am happy 
to see the Forest Service finally eliminate diaries. 

One thing more. Walt: I know that you headed up the 
Forest Service reorganization plan. Trace the develop¬ 

ment of that a little bit. 

First, I might say that particular study, which was con¬ 
ducted jointly by the Forest Service and a private consult¬ 
ing firm known as the McKinzie Company, was one of the 
most interesting experiences that I've had in my entire 
career. 

The study ran for a little over a year and required a great 
number of interviews with people in the field at every level 
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of the organization. The members of McKinzie & Company 
that assisted us in this study gave us some fine informa¬ 
tion and were able to guide the method of making the 
study so that I'm sure it was a much more meaningful 
project that it would have been had we not had a 
consulting firm of the caliber of McKinzie & Company 
working with us. 

This study was actually initiated as a result of Clair 
Hendee’s feeling that the Forest Service should, at inter¬ 
vals, take a very close look at its organization and 
determine whether or not any major changes were neces¬ 
sary to keep abreast with the current conditions that exist 
in the Service, and to be sure that we were not becoming 
stagnated. I think that this was a wise move on the part 
of the Chief and his staff, and I think the organization study 
did point out a number of weaknesses that were very 
much in need of correction. 

If nothing else, it pointed to the fact that the Forest Service 
had drifted into a line-staff type of organization whereby 

every staff officer also exercised line authority over the 
next organizational unit below, which in effect meant that 
every Regional Forester had a large number of bosses; 
every Forest Supervisor had as many bosses as there were 
Divisions in the Regional Office; and every Ranger had as 
many bosses as there were Staffmen in the Supervisor’s 
Office. This was well on the way to being a rather 
intolerable situation. 

One of the things that people in the field complained about 
more than anything else was the fact that they just had too 
many bosses. If the organization study did nothing else, 
it pointed this out very clearly and did result in the Chief 
and his staff deciding that the old line-staff organization 
that we were operating under would be stopped and that 
we would go to a more-or-less pure line-and-staff, whereby 
the staff do not have any line authority over the organiza¬ 
tional echelons below them, but act in an advisory capac¬ 

ity. 

It is true that a Staffman who had any people in his own 
units, working under him, assumed line authority for those 

particular people, but this does not extend to the next 
organizational echelon below him. I think this is sound, 
and I think it's a fine move. 

We in Region 3 have probably done more in this particular 
respect than most of the other Regions in the Forest 
Service because our Regional Forester believes in it and 
has insisted that we will operate on as pure a line-and-staff 
type of organization as we possibly can. 

There were a number of other recommendations in the 
Study that applied to the National Forest Administration 

portion of the Forest Service, as compared to Research or 
State and Private, and I believe all of these were sound. 
Delegations of authority were gone into at great length in 
the Study, and as a result of this there have been increased 
delegations to field units, all the way to the Ranger 
Districts. I expect that there will be more of this in the 
years ahead. 

This was an extremely interesting assignment. I think the 

Forest Service has benefited rather materially as a result 
of the Study. 

Yes, not only in clarifying authority, but also in decentral¬ 
izing it. 

That's right. No question but that we were drifting into a 
rather centralized type of organization, and this has been 

reversed as a result of that Study. 

Well. Walt, you've had an extremely varied career in the 
Forest Service, with your details and assignments at all 
levels. If you had it to do over again, would vou qo back 
into the Forest Service? 

No question in my mind about that Ed, I certainly would. 

I've never regretted being a part of the Forest Service, and 
I’m enjoying it just as much today as I did 30 years ago. 

If I had it to do over. I'd do exactly the same thing. 

Mr. Ray Kallus was the only Administrative Officer inter¬ 
viewed. His experiences, from the viewpoint of the 
business manager, were most interesting. Ray was 
interviewed at his home in Alamogordo, New Mexico. His 
story starts with his entrance into the Forest Service. 

Ray, when did vou enter the Forest Service? 

Well, I didn't enter until February 1934. I was sent to the 
Sitgreaves, as an Assistant to Nicholson. Nicholson had 
been a Ranger on the Mormon Lake District. One of the 

tragedies of the Forest Service is that while he and 
somebody else were trying to install a telephone pole - 
they had a gin-pole rigged up and were trying tc get this 
big pole down in the hole - all at once the pole slipped and 
hit Nicholson in the side and knocked a kidney loose. He 
was physically unable after that to continue the work of 
a Ranger, so they made him the Principal Clerk of the 
Sitgreaves. 

He later died from that injury. But like so many early Forest 
men, they didn't pay much attention to following rules. He 
completely ignored the compensation law and failed to 
make a report on this accident. After he died, his widow 
was completely unable to get anything from that accident. 
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This Nicholson was one of the nicest guys I ever knew. He 
told me all about his story. I made up my mind at that time 
that I would never let an injury be neglected where a man 
and his family might suffer because of my not reporting it. 

I’d like to tell of another incident. While I was on the 
Coconino, a man got sick with pneumonia and died. His 
name was Skoulson. We called up the Fiscal Agent. Lloyd 
Dahl happened to be on the Coconino on temporary duty, 
so we called up the Fiscal Agent and asked if we should 
make out an injury report. This man had pneumonia and 

we didn't know what the cause of it was, but the Fiscal 
Agent said, "No." But we went ahead and made the report 

anyway. 

Lloyd Dahl went out and spent about three days in the 
field. He interviewed ranchers and CC foremen and 
enrollees, and everybody that he could contact. He came 
in about four days later with a complete resume in 
statements of what had happened and how this man 
happened to get pneumonia. We sent it to the Fiscal Agent 
and he sent it on to the Compensation Commission, and 
the Compensation Commission made the allowance, and 
Mrs. Skoulson received $120 a month compensation. 

A short time before that, maybe several years, the Ranger 
on the Flagstaff District of the Coconino was out at Lake 
Mary and there was a lightning storm -- he was fishing -- 
and the lightning struck him and he was killed. His widow 
received no compensation. That was before I came to the 
Coconino. That was another story of where the family of 
a man in the Region suffered because somebody didn't 
make a report. I could go on and on and give you ever so 
many cases. 

One thing that tickled me very much: Dean Cutler, when 
he was down here as Supervisor, he says, "Ray, I've told 
Mary that if I ever get killed in the Forest Service or any 
other way, that she should come and get hold of you to 
make out her compensation claim." 

I was assigned to the Sitgreaves as Assistant Clerk. That 
was the year that cost accounting went in, full force, and 

none of the Administrative Assistants, or whatever they 
were called. Principal Clerks maybe, knew anything about 
cost keeping. There I was, a new man in the Forest 
Service, and I didn't know anything about it either! 
Nicholson, about the time one of the reports was due, took 
off on an extended vacation and he says, "Ray, I want you 
to make out this report." I got on it and nearly went nuts 
trying to figure out cost accounting. I studied and studied 
it, and I couldn’t get it. I'd read the books over and over 
and over. Finally, after a month of just the hardest kind of 
studying, the thing kind of opened up, unfolded, and was 
clear to me. So I made out the reports on the Sitgreaves. 

I had to work about 24 hours a day to learn the doggone 
thing. 

They were having trouble at different places. On the 
Tusayan and the Kaibab (they consolidated that year, you 
will remember) and Hugh Putnam was up there -- Hugh had 
just come down from Utah -- and he had his hands full 
without trying to learn how to make a cost account report. 
He had two of them to make, one for the Tusayan and one 
for the Kaibab. So Albert Morris [Regional Fiscal Agent] 
called the Sitgreaves and told them to send me up there to 
make those reports. Walter Mann was Supervisor on the 
Kaibab. So I made the reports. 

By that time Leo Anderson, the Administrative Assistant 
on the Tonto, was having trouble; he was having more 
than he could do with all the new CCC camps, and the ERA 
and different programs. He hadn't even looked at the 
book. So Albert Morris called the Kaibab and said, "Send 
Kallus down to make this report." And so I made out the 
Tonto report. There were troubles on other Forests, so 
they sent me in to the Regional Office to make out the 
Regional report and while in there I had to re-make several 
of the other Forests' reports. It wasn’t that I was smarter 
than anybody else; it just happened that I had to concen¬ 
trate on that one subject. 

Lee Kirby had been Supervisor on the Sitgreaves while I 

was there, or most of the time I was there, and Lee seemed 
to like my work. When he went to the Tonto as Supervisor, 
he requested that I come down there and take over the job 
as Administrative Assistant and Leo Anderson, then 
Principal Clerk, would stay on. Leo was a vindictive sort 
of a fellow, likeable in many ways, but he sure hated my 
guts. I didn't know anything but cost-keeping, and there's 
a whole lot more to being an Office Manager for the Forest 
Service than cost-accounting! 

Well, it got so that every time I had a problem and had to 
ask Leo how to handle it, he would give me an answer, but 
I found out that if I would always do the opposite, I would 
be righti Well, poor old Leo is dead, and I wouldn’t want 
to hurt his reputation. He was one of the old-time Ranger- 
type Clerks and didn't use a typewriter; everything was 
done by hand. He didn't use an adding machine, and so on. 
And on a Forest like the Tonto, that had three or four CC 
camps, well, he couldn't handle it. T. T. Swift, the 
Supervisor, was doing all of Leo's work. When Kirby came 
down there, he wouldn't do Leo's work, so that's how he 

happened to send for me. 

I want to continue on this cost-keeping; this cost-keeping 
was quite a problem. Nobody knew it, and nobody wanted 
to learn it. The thing theoretically was fine, and would 
have been OK except the New Deal brought in such terrific 
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Figure 23. With the advent of the emergency programs in the early 1930s more adequate headquarters were constructed for Forest 
Rangers. One of these was the Ashdale Ranger Station on the Tonto National Forest seen here in a 1934 view. 

Figure 23. The Beaverhead Ranger Station including the office, dwelling, garage and shop in July 1946 (Kallus). 
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conditions as to nullify the good work of the Forest 
Service, in that you would depreciate roads and all invest¬ 
ments against operating accounts. 

Pooler (Regional Forester) came down there one day and 
he says, "Ray, tell me, what’s your opinion of this cost¬ 
keeping thing?" This had been sort of hanging fire, and I 
think they were having trouble at the Washington level, 
whether to continue with this system, or whether they 
couldn't. 

You remember they had a lot of trouble on the Crook - the 
Globe District was on the Crook at that time. They built 
a very expensive house with CC money. I'd been down on 
the Crook, helping out while Lincoln (the Administrative 
Assistant) had a little nervous breakdown. While I was 
down there I took the warehouse account and cleared it. 
The warehouse account consisted in large part of powder, 
cement, and other items that went into the stores ac¬ 
count. Now most of the stuff was used on that Globe 
Ranger Station. The proper handling would have been to 

have pro-rated authorized expenses, maybe $7,000 or 
$8,000, to the Globe Ranger Station. However, there was 
so much money already in it that Buckner was just havin' 
one fit after another. 

Figure 25. A CCC worker uses an air drill for road work. 

Who was Buckner? 

Buckner was Head of the CCC in Washington. He ran the 
whole CCC out of Washington. He got hold of the 
excessive cost of this Globe Ranger Station. 

So I was telling Pooler, I said, "Well, this cost accounting 
is gonna be the rope that's gonna hang you and the Chief, 
and a lot of other big shots." He says, "What do you 
mean?" So I told him about the stores account on the 
Crook, and how I had just cleared that and didn't show any 
charges against the Globe Ranger Station. I said the rules 
require that I should, and I should have put $7,000 against 
that Ranger Station. I said I figured that if I did, on top of 
all the other hollering that Buckner was doing, that you 
would prefer that I not do it. 

He said, "What do you think of cost accounting, anyway?" 
And I said, "Well," I says, "when you started out on this 
cost accounting, it was real good. You took and depreci¬ 
ated all your investments and applied the depreciation 
against your operating accounts, so much to grazing, so 
much to timber, so much to land use, and at that time, 
when it started out, it cost the Government ten cents to 
collect a grazing dollar. Now, that's not bad when you 
consider all the costs and throw them against your 
operating expense, and can show the public that it cost ten 
cents to collect the grazing dollar, that's fine." 

"But," I said, "here we have spent $200,000 on soil 
erosion, and nobody knew where to put it, so they threw 
it all against one project, that 1200 acre soil erosion 
project up here someplace, and all charges, according to 
this cost-accounting book, was to this 1200 acre project. 
Now then you come along with all these roads, you've got 
these Ranger Stations, you've got all this other stuff; right 
now it’s costing you about $1.50 to collect a grazing 
dollar. The time is gonna come, sure as anything, under 
this program, this New Deal Administration, that you're 
gonna spend between $5.00 and $10.00 to collect a 
grazing dollar. 

Now suppose some man goes out for the Senate and 
comes along and says, "Look here, what's this? Pooler, 
Regional Chief, years ago you could collect a grazing dollar 
for a dime; now it costs $5.00, or $10.00." I says, 
"Another thing, there is a place, out on Mt. Lemmon, I 
think it is, where they had spent $5,000 to build a toilet 
in a recreation area. It was a pretty elaborate affair, but 

nevertheless it was a toilet, and it cost $5,000." Now, I 
told him about this, "Now, suppose screaming headlines 
cry out. It costs the Forest Service $5.000 to build a 
toilet." We talked on, from that angle, for quite a little 
while. The next time Pooler went to Washington was the 

time that cost accounting was killed. 
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Do you remember what year that was? 

No, but it must have been '37 or '38. But that was how 
cost accounting really came to be killed. Pooler sent 
McKenzie down to check these things out, and I guess he 
found I was right. 

I started to tell you about the early days on the Sitgreaves. 
There isn’t so much that I can remember except that I 
helped Gordon Bade during the winter when I didn't have 
much to do. He'd make a timber sale analysis of a section, 
or a number of sections of land. On one of them he made 

this timber analysis, listed the number of trees -- you know 
how it's done -- and remarked once that this was the area 
where the early settlers at Snowflake and Taylor came to 

get logs to build their cabins. It was just natural forest 
management accidentally, in that the trees then -- this was 
in '34 -- were so thick, the new growth was so thick, that 
you could scarcely walk through it. I was impressed by 
that and I remember it quite clearly. 

I was there on the Sitgreaves just after the wild horse 
deals. Well, I thought they were gonna have about half the 
Forest personnel in the penitentiary. At that time they 
were shooting wild horses. A fellow by the name of Pierce, 

out around Heber, had horses that were running around in 
the Forest. As a matter of fact, horses that had developed 
in more or less of a wild state, the Lord only knows from 
how long back. There were an awful lot of horses on the 
Sitgreaves and a lot of other Forests at that time, so the 
big deal was to get rid of these horses. 

Regulation T-12 authorized Forest Rangers to shoot 
unbranded horses. Now, a horse in a wild state, unbranded, 
was a wild animal that comes under the State laws. The 
Pierce brothers, whenever they needed a little money, 
would herd up a carload of wild horses at Holbrook and ship 
'em back East, or Montana, or wherever they could sell 
'em. That was the way this outfit made their living. They 
didn't like the Forest Service horning in and killing off their 
resources. Finally the thing got so hot, and the Forest 
Service wouldn’t give in, that they had Dolph Slosser, the 
Ranger at Heber, arrested, and Old Judge French defended 
him. Now, this happened about a year before I got into the 
Forest Service. It was a live subject at that time. 

I have another story in connection with wild horses that 

I've got to tell you. Oscar McClure was killin' wild horses 
down on the Beaver Creek District of the Coconino. There 
was a permittee down there, a cranky old guy, and nobody 
in the Forest Service was ever able to get along with him. 
He had quite a big influence and the Forest Service was 
trying to get along with him, and they would not do 
anything to antagonize him needlessly. 

Oscar had this project, killing these wild horses; he 
furnished the gun and the Government furnished the 
ammunition, I believe that's the way it was. Well, Oscar 
saw this wild horse over behind a clump of trees and he 
took a shot at the horse, hit it and killed it. He ran over 
there, and what do you think he found? -- the personal, 
private saddle horse of this cranky old rancher! Oscar had 
to do something, because it was pretty much out in the 
open there, so this fellow was sure to see it. 

A lot of people were objecting to the killing of these horses, 
and certainly this fellow would object to the killing of his 
saddle horse. Now, Oscar was a man never to be 
completely stumped. He went down to the Ranger 
Station, got a piece of dynamite, come back and cut the 
horse's stomach open, set off the dynamite, and there was 
horse-flesh all over that country! The fe!low was !ooking 
- and Oscar was helping him - for his saddle horse, but of 
course he never found out what happened to him. Now, 
that's a true story. 

So far as the old Sitgreaves is concerned, they had another 
case. Bob Salton was the Senior Staff Officer. Kirby was 

pulled into Washington on some assignment, so Bob was 
Acting Supervisor. Dutch Reidhead had a gang of men up 
on the Mogollon Rim building a road to a timber sale. He 
had 40 or 50 men. This was in '34, you know, and they 

were using one-yard scrapers and two-yard scrapers. 

These fellows were at a camp, and the Forest telephones 
never worked very good, especially during lightning storms. 

One time, they were having quite a bit of static on the line. 
We got a call from Dutch that somebody had died, but ail 
we could make out was that he had died under most 
mysterious circumstances. We got hold of the Sheriff at 
Holbrook and told him what we knew; we couldn't find out 
much about it, but we suggested that he bring along the 
Coroner. The Sheriff said he'd be out there after a while. 
Bob Salton says, "Ray, you come and go along and bring 
the typewriter, because we may have to take a lot of 
statements up there." 

We started out just about dark and it was one of those 
cloudy nights when you couldn't see a star; you couldn't 
see the moon; you couldn’t see your hand in front of you. 
As we went on, it got darker and darker, and the Forest just 
seemed to close right in on us. We finally got up there and 

found a bunch of men around Dutch Reidhead's tent. Bob 
said, "What's the matter, Dutch?" 

Well, he didn't know. A young fellow who lived over at 
Taylor had died; he had said he was sick; he had come in 
and the cook had given him an orange. In an hour 
somebody went back to his tent and they found him dead. 
Well, we didn't think it was the food that caused it, but 
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there was no reason, that anybody could think of, that this 
man should have died. The Coroner and Sheriff decided that 
they should get this fellow to the mortuary and have an 
autopsy made. 

Bob thought there could have been some skulduggery, or it 
could have been heat prostration, or anything. It was real 
late, about 2 o'clock in the morning, when the decision was 
reached that they would take him into Winslow. The Sheriff 
put him in the back of his car and the Coroner was in the front 
seat with the Sheriff. Along behind comes Bob Salton and 
I in the pickup, Dutch Reidhead behind us, and there were 
two or three other cars. Sirens were shrieking, and down 
the timber-lined road we went - dark, scary, a dead man, 
- and how he died, no-one knows. 

We got him down to the office of the Winslow Mortuary and 
they performed an autopsy. Dr. Riley, I believe was one of 
them. These fellows got in there and they must have cut 
and cut, and cut because they were in there 30 minutes. I 
said to Bob, "There's something wrong. Bob, they should 
have been out before now." Well, Bob agreed. 

Finally they came out, and said," Now, we don't want to get 
you people excited, but we think it's spinal meningitis. We 
don't know for sure. It's either that or sleeping sickness. 
We don't want you to tell a soul. We want you to go home 

and take your cloths off as soon as you get into the house, 
hang them on the line where the sun will get to them and kill 
the bugs, with the least danger of anybody catching it." 

Bob had been to France, and had been on a ship where seven 
or eight men in his compartment had died with spinal 
meningitis. All his life he had been confronted with this 
danger. I think that he thought that if he was ever gonna die, 
it was gonna be from spinal meningitis. Well, we went on 
back down the road to Holbrook. Bob says, "Now, Ray, we 
can't tell our wives. We've got to keep this quiet, because 
if this should turn out to be spinal meningitis, the fellows out 
in the camps, 40 or 50 of them, would spread out to the four 
winds." So we decided, solemnly to each other, that we 
wouldn't tell a soul about this, as the doctors had requested. 

We got into Holbrook just as daylight was breaking. Bob's 
back door, which is where he went in, was always un¬ 
locked. His wife left it unlocked so he could just come in and 
go to bed. He took off his cloths and hung them on the line, 
as the doctor had said to do, and went to go in the door, and 
the door was locked! There he was; it was getting daylight 
and Bob standing naked on the back porch! 

His wife came to the door and there was her husband 
standing there as naked as you please. She said, "Bob 
Salton, what in the world happened? Come on in here; what 
happened? Tell me." "Oh,lcan'ttellyou." Hewas standing 

at the door and he had resolved not to tell her, but before long 
he did tell, of course. 

I went on to the door of my house; I didn't take my cloths 
off, but I said to my wife, "Make me a cup of coffee; I can't 
come in now." - "Why not?" "Well, I can't tell you." She 
hounded me and finally I told her. Well, we found out; we 
asked the doctor what was the first symptom of spinal 
meningitis, and he said the first sign of it would be a crick 
in the neck. I couldn't help being a little concerned, and Bob 
couldn't either. 

We never told old Nick - Nicholson, the Administrative 
Assistant. He came in to my office rubbing his neck, and he 
says, "Well, Bob's got a crook in his neck. It looks bad." I 

would go in to Bob and say, "Bob, are you feeling all right?" 
- "Oh, yeah." Nick was trying to excite us, you see. 

Then, after a while, Nick would come in and say, "Bob really 
don't look well; he keeps rubbing his neck. What could it 
mean?" -" I don't know." He wasn't supposed to know the 
story, but he got it from somewhere. Maybe Mrs. Salton 
told him, or maybe my wife did. Anyway, Nick kept this up 
all day. I was watching Bob, and Bob was watching me, to 
see if we had a crick in our neck! 

I've got a story about Ralph Hussey and Pink Arnold. This 

one happened up on the Santa Fe in the early days. They 
were making a land classification. It seems that Huss and 
Pink Arnold were making this study. They ate their meals 
at the Harvey House, and had some kind of a shack that they 
rented in town and were sleeping there. They spent their 
time, of course, in the field. 

One morning Huss got up and put on his clothes and shook 
Arnold, but didn't say anything, just made him think it was 
time to get up. As he walked to the door. Pink wasn't ready 
yet, hadn't got his clothes on, and Huss said, "Well, Pink, 
you're just too slow, I can't wait for you." So he went on 

out the door and in a few minutes. Pink came out. Huss 
went on around the house, came on back in and went back 

to bed. 

Pink went on down to the Harvey House ready for breakfast. 
He ate breakfast, drank a cup of coffee, and was wondering 
where the Heck Huss had gone to. He ordered another cup 
of coffee and, finally, with his third cup of coffee he looked 
up at the clock and saw the time - 2:30! That Hussey was 
always pulling stunts like that. 

Huss had a lot of stories. He told me about when he first 
went into the Forest Service, he was on the Apache, and I 
don't know, it could have been when Fred Winn was the 
Supervisor. Fred said," Huss, there's a fire out there; go out 
and put it out." He said, "Ray, I got ready and I dashed 65 
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miles to that fire on a mule." I says, "How long were you 
gone?" "Well," he said, "It took me a month to put it out." 
That was the way they fought fires in those days. Huss 
claims that was the first fire he ever went to -- he rushed to 
this fire, 65 miles on the back of his mule! 

«^«#****««« 

From Service Notes for November 1908: "A number of 
accounts for horse shoeing have been submitted recently by 
supervisors and other Forest officers who are required to 
own their own horses. Shoeing is considered as pertaining 
to horse equipment, and accounts of this nature should 
never be submitted by Forest officers for their own horses, 
unless it is shown that the horses were used by the Forest 
Service for other purposes than the personal use by the 
owner and without a per diem consideration." 

********** 

There’s a story of Huss and Sim Strickland. They were here 
on the Lincoln on land classification, and were just about to 
finish. It was in the wintertime. A big snow came along and 
just snowed everybody in. They weren't gonna come into 
town although their food was about to run out. Huss says, 
"We'll just take our gun and go out and get a deer." 

They went out to get a deer. Huss went over one hill and 
Sim went the other direction. Sim saw a rabbit and he 
thought, "Well, maybe I won't see a deer," so he shot the 
rabbit. And he never did see a deer. Huss heard the shot 
and thought, "Well, maybe he didn’t hit that deer." He saw 
a rabbit about that time, so he shot a rabbit. Sim heard the 
shot. Each of them thought, "Well, we're gonna have 
venison tonight, and until we get out of this snow." When 
they went in, they got to the cabin about the same time -- 

I guess it must've been Aqua Chiquita -- and each one was 
carrying a rabbit! 

Then Fred Arthur, Supervisor of this Forest, had a kind heart; 
he wasn't gonna leave these land classifiers out in this snow 
covered mountain where you couldn't get through. He was 
gonna get through to them. They didn't have helicopters 
and all this stuff. They sent a fellow out -- it could've been 
Reuben Boone -- they sent him out on a horse with a bag of 
flour, a little bacon and some other stuff, such as could be 
carried on the saddle of his horse, to give to these fellows 
to help them out. That grub was needed. They made 
whoever it was sit down and eat rabbit with them that night. 

There's a story of Harold Linn - he was quite a character. 

Ed Miller, Supervisor of the Coconino, gave Harold Linn an 
allotment of about $200 to build a trail on the Beaver Creek 
District. Several months had gone by and nothing had been 
done; no money had been spent. Ed Miller wrote him a very 
stiff letter and asked him why he didn't spend that money 
and build that trail. Harold Linn really had a good excuse. He 

wrote it on the bottom of the letter, and it was, "It snowed 
all around and I couldn’t help it," and signed it Harold Linn! 

Figure 26. Road and trail direction signs were constructed right 

on the spot in 1912. Ranger James D. Bailey prepares a sign on 

Beaver Creek Ranger District. 

Figure 27. Forest Ranger James D. Bailey installs the new sign 

on Beaver Creek Ranger District, Coconino National Forest. 

Another time I was down there with Hussey. Harold was 
telling about so many dudes down in that area of guest 
ranches, and he says, "Hussey, there are so many of these 
dudes we've got to get a 'dude-ometer' so we can keep a 

record of them." 

Bill Brown was another character. Bill didn't believe in 

cooking anything but meat. He was the Ranger on the Long 
Valley District, an old-time Ranger. I don't know how long 
he was at Long Valley ~ for many years before I came to the 
Coconino, though, and that was in 1938. I remember that 
Hussey and he were always arguing. Bill Brown was telling 
about an incident that happened when he and Hussey were 
out on a trip. Hussey says, "I just can’t figure where it was 
that you are trying to tell me." and Bill Brown says, "Why 
you remember; I was eating an apple and I had the core, and 
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I threw it at a squirrel.” Hussey says, "Damn you. Bill 
Brown, you can confuse me more than any other man alive!" 

Old Bill Brown had a really hazardous fire district. You 
couldn't ever get him to lay off a lookout. The excuse 
always was, "It rained where you say, but it hasn’t rained 
at Bly." - That's got to be a byword, "Call Old Bill and find 
out if it rained down at Bly." 

We had a fire meeting one time, and Bill finally told how bad 
it did rain. Huss was cussin' him out because it never rained 
at Bly. Bill says, "It does rain down there," he said, "Right 
now it is raining so hard the trees are sinking into the 
ground." Well,there was a humorist who did a lot of writing, 
who lives down in that part of the country, and he got hold 
of this story, that Bill Brown had said the trees were sinking 
out of sight. So he wrote it up, but he said that the fence 
posts were sinking out of sight. That story got all over 
Arizona. 

One time during the hunting season. Bill Brown didn't want 
a bunch of hunters in a certain area. There was one place 
along the entrance road where, if a certain tree fell down, 
it would keep hunters from driving into that area; they 
couldn't get through without getting out and moving that 
tree. In some way or another, that tree did fall down. There 
was some evidence that it had been blasted by dynamite, 
but of course, we would never have thought that Bill Brown 
could have done iti 

Here's another little story about the Long Valley District. 
There was a lookout there by the name of Embree, I believe 
it was. He had the Baker Butte Lookout. This was during 
the War. He had a still up in the attic. We never found it out 
until it was told later when the fellow was arrested in 
Payson. He went down there drunk, and was gonna shoot 
up the town, and it came out then that his distillery was in 
the attic of the lookout tower. 

Harold Hulbert -- he's retired now and lives in Payson -- 
Harold was on the Tonto Basin District. In those days most 

everybody had lousy offices. You know, they had these old 
paper files in the offices, that is, unless they had one of the 

newly constructed CCC deals. Most of them had rats and 
mice and everything else that could get in there. Wayla Ellis, 
myself, and Willard Styles were on an audit and we stopped 
off to see Harold. I had been in Harold's office not long 
before and worked over his files but. Heaven help me, I 
never looked in these doggone file boxes. Ellis pulled open 
the bottom drawer of his paper-mache file case, and there 
was the nicest rat's nest you ever saw in your life. 

I went to the Tonto in June 1 935 and left in May 1938, and 
while I was there, four people were killed, all in automobile 

accidents. It was just unfortunate, but nevertheless they 

were accidents that killed people. It got to be a real hot 
subject. We had a transient camp in one place. Before we 
got full control of the thing their cooks would trade sugar and 
other food stuffs for whiskey. They were just a bunch of 
drunken bums, you know that. Well, a couple of these tran¬ 
sients decided to go to Payson to get more liquor. They took 
the keys off the board and took a car. They were all lit up 
coming back and they failed to make a curve around 
Sunflower and went out into space 500 feet; that's the way 
two were killed. 

There was a man that came in after a tractor that had a 
bulldozer on it. He brought in a truck and the bulldozer stuck 
out 17 inches on the right hand side of the truck. This 
condition required a special approval from the State High¬ 
way Department to travel on the road, but they never got 
it. The driver was a transient. The truck was taking this 
bulldozer back to town and it extended over the center of the 
road just enough so that a car coming from the other 
direction at night hit this thing, this 17 inches, and no other 
part of the truck. One man was killed. 

Another fatal automobile accident - this was an old post¬ 
man in Phoenix, riding a bicycle. A man driving a transient 
truck turned suddenly and the old postman ran into it and 
was killed. It was in the red light district of town - this was 
about 1937 -- it was kind of wild down there in that part of 
Phoenix. 

The Regional Office was getting real tired of all these people 
getting killed in Forest Service accidents. They sent Old 
Judge French down and somebody else, I don't remember 
who it was. French says to this truck driver, "What were 
you doing in that part of town? You had no business in that 
part of town where this man was killed. What were you 

doing there?" 

Well, this was the doggonest thing you ever heard of: we 
had been given credit cards for all drivers of all Government 
cars. We kept no record of these cards. Nobody gave a 
hoot. This fellow had a credit card. He went down there and 

got 10 gallons of gasoline and got a rebate of one cent a 
gallon, and that enabled him to get a glass of beer. That was 
what he went down there for, and that is how this old man 
happened to be killed. After that, we started in being pretty 

careful with the credit cards. We thought we were going to 
get the Devil from the Regional Office, but they didn't say 
anything. 

In connection with credit cards, about that time you will 
remember that really nobody paid any attention to credit 
cards, but everybody had one. As you look at how careful 
the Forest Service is now in the matter of credit, the 
inattention that all of us gave to credit then must have been 
criminal. I know that payment of gasoline bills was about 
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the biggest job the Supervisor's office had. The oil compa¬ 
nies would send their signed tickets, and the voucher clerk 
would then have to go over these tickets and prorate the 
different appropriations and show account numbers and it 
would take a whole day usually to get the vouchers out for 

the month's business. 

Well, I wrote the Standard Oil Company a letter in 1935,1 
believe it was -- and made up a mimeographed form on thin, 
onionskin typing paper. That was the first invoice that any 
oil company ever gave to the Forest Service. The Tonto was 
the first Forest ever to receive a properly prepared invoice 
covering a credit card purchase. Nowadays it is so simple 
there is nothing to it, but then it took a clerk a whole day to 
make out a voucher for one Forest. You can see where the 
cost amounted to several dollars. 

I probably would have got a $10.00 award under the 
present Awards Program. 

I went to the Coconino in 1 938, and was there during the 
entire period of the War. It was a high-fire Forest. The first 
time I was ever on a fire was on the Long Valley District 
when we had 1 53 on one District going at the same time. 
We had 917 men besides Overhead; 917 fire-fighters. 

Harley was down and we paid off over 600 men on the line 
at one time. There was an error of one quarter of an hour 

that I had to pay for at the regular rate of 50 cents, so that 
was 13 cents I had to pay to the Government for the mistake 
that was made. I didn't do the work. We drafted the entire 
football squad of the College at Flagstaff, and they really 
were the ones who had been fire time-keepers. It was quite 
a thing to figure out the fire slips in the field when everybody 
was tired and exhausted, and make only one mistake, and 
that for only one-fourth of an hour. 

We had to do a lot of things during the War. I know that 
Ethel, who is now Ethel Sutton; she married Gordon Sutton; 

Ethel and I constituted the clerical force on the Coconino 
most of the time. I made all the fire reports. We never had 

anybody come in and help us make out fire reports until we 
had all those big fires on the Long Valley District when we 

had all those college men. On occasions I would go out and 
help Hussey mark timber during the War. I helped to keep 
logs out of the road, and then in addition I was a member of 
the Ration Board. 

We were mixed up in a lot of extracurricular activities and 
there was a lot of things happening. We were probably 
running things to suit ourselves. I know we got in the bad 
graces of the Regional Office, or a lot of people in the 
Regional Office. Hussey, he was a real fine guy to work for 
if he liked you, but he didn't really like very many people in 
the Regional Office. 

Waha, the Regional Engineer, came out inspecting the 
roads. When they came to a culvert, the policy was to stop 
and let Waha look at the culvert. He got Hussey's goat - 
it wasn't hard to get anyway - and with Waha it was the 
easiest thing in the world. Waha and Hussey were driving 
along on this road and somebody was in the back seat - he 
was the one who told this story. 

Waha said, "Well, I'd like to stop at that culvert down there 
at the foot of this hill." When he said that, Hussey put his 
foot on the gas and went like a bat out of a hatbox, "Oh, you 
wouldn't like it anyway, why stop?" - and he kept on going. 
Well, that was an odd way to treat an Assistant Regional 
Forester. But Hussey did that sort of thing quite often. 

On one occasion they were building this road on the Long 
Valley District. They had cut all the trees down on the right 
of way and were pushing a road through, but they wanted 
to get the brush burned before the fire season and it was 
getting real close. Ed Groesbeck, Hussey, and I went out 
one night and were burning brush. It was a little too dry and 
the fire got away from us and burned five or six acres. There 
were a bunch of snags, dead snags, in this area. Ranger 

Harold Pilmer didn't want to cut those snags down until 
daylight, and he let them burn. 

At daylight his crev/s came, and Hussey, Groesbeck, and I 

went to bed. I was so tired I was just barely able to make 
it to the bed. I got thoroughly asleep when all that once 
Pilmer was shaking me and saying, "Ray, wake upl I killed 
a man -1 killed a man -1 killed a man!" Well, if you ever had 

a terrible situation, it's being roused out of a sound sleep by 
a guy standing over you yelling that he just killed a man. I 

finally came to and got Pilmer to his senses. 

He had put two men on a saw, one at each end, and he put 
one man out watching for falling limbs. He waited until 
daylight, which presumably was the right thing to do. While 
these two fellows were sawing this snag down, a limb 
started to fall and the lookout hollered to these two men on 

the sayv, who were Mexicans, to "Get the Hell out of the 
Road." Well, one of the fellows moved out of there in a 
hurry, but the other one just folded his arms and lowered his 

head and stood still. A limb about nine inches or ten inches 
in diameter, and six feet long, broke and fell off of this dead 
snag, and the butt of this limb hit this fellow right on the back 
of the head, and of course killed him instantly. 

Pilmer felt very, very bad about that. It seemed to me that 
he had taken all precautions that were possible. He had 
established the lookout; the lookout called the warning; the 
man froze - there was no reason why he should have frozen, 

but he did, and so that was that. 
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Mr. Alva A. Simpson worked in various other Regions 
before coming to Region 3. He was interviewed in Santa Fe, 
New Mexico. Alva teUs some of his experiences in Region 
3. 

Now, Alva. I know you've had a world of experience in other 
Regions. When did vou come to Region 3? 

I came in October of 1937. 

Your experience was such that vou came down here 
knowing what the Forest Service was about in other 
Regions. How did vou find the situation here in Region 3? 

Well, to my mind, I thought that Region 3 was ingrown. The 
administration had been directed by a small group over a 
long period of time. There were very few technically trained 
Foresters in the Region. Rangers were of the cowboy type, 
all good, honest men and good workers, but were not 
educationally capable of recognizing what conservation 
actually meant in the way of soils, ecology, and forestry in 
its more technical aspects. 

I was told before I came to Region 3 that the Forester's 
office considered Region 3 as the most backward Region in 
the Forest Service; that they felt there should be a transfer 
of new blood into the Region as rapidly as possible, 

recognizing that the personnel in the Region was loyal, that 
they were honest, hard-working people, but had been in 
their environments for such long periods that they could not 
see the forest on account of the trees. (I'd better correct 
that, I guess). 

No, that's ail right. I appreciate a good, honest statement 
because vou were one of the first of the new blood to come 
into the Region, and vou must have had a pretty difficult 
time breakin' up the old "combine." 

I came into the Region by taking a full-grade reduction in 

salary rather than to accept one of the several positions 
offered me in the Washington Office, because with a family 
of six to put through college, I couldn't afford to pay tuition 
and put them through college in Washington, D.C. 

I was in that position for approximately six months when the 
Division of Personnel Management was organized and I was 
made Assistant Regional Forester in charge of Personnel 
Management. Up to that time. Personnel Management had 
been a part of the Division of Operations. 

I took over the Personnel Division and found myself with one 
particular person who seemed to delight in carrying every 
action that was taken by our Division, down to the Division 
of Operation, almost as soon as that action vjas decided 
upon. This situation was not to my liking, but being new in 

the Region, and having made up my mind to proceed 
cautiously, I put up with it for some time. I finally found my 
anger rising over some incident, and I walked down to the 
Division of Operation and told the Chief of the Division that 
I was running the Division of Personnel and I wanted him to 
keep out of it. 

That didn't do me any good in some respects, because the 
Division of Operation and the Associate Regional Forester 
were so close that the Regional Forester himself did not 
know of a great many things that were going on in the 
Region. Anything that they thought might irritate the 
Regional Forester or excite him was never sent to him. I 
found that out shortly after I became Assistant Regional 
Forester. However, my showdown seemed to bear pretty 
good fruit. I found myself able to make decisions with 
respect to Personnel Administration and they were my 
decisions and not necessarily those of any other Division. 

I would say that Frank Pooler was an exceptionally fine man. 
He had been raised in this Region; he had years of experience 
behind him. Frank's difficulty was that he could not foresee 
the future of Forestry, as it should eventually be practiced, 
due to basing his opinions largely upon his previous experi¬ 
ence. And, secondly, he had had so many fights with the 
cowboys that he hadn't been very aggressive in correcting 
the terrible situation that was apparent to anyone on the 

great majority of the range allotments in the various National 
Forests. 

While I was in Personnel Management, my heart was still in 
Range Management. About that time, Woodhead came in, 
sent in as Chief of Range Management after the death of 
Shoemaker. Woodhead found the same situation, and 
many times we discussed it between ourselves. 

With your experience and background in Range Manage¬ 
ment. can vou recall the situation of the range, on the 
ground, when vou arrived in this Region? 

Well, to my mind, the range resources in Region 3 were in 
the most dilapidated condition of any area that I had seen 
from Canada to the Mexican Border, with the possible 
exception of certain Forests in Region 4. 

How did you, as Chief of Personnel, meet that problem? 

I was unable to take a very active part in the administration 
of the range because of being in the Division of Personnel. 
However, Woodhead and I were pretty close together and 
we had many a private conversation. We traveled on 
inspections together frequently, and since our views coin¬ 
cided, I think Woodhead's attempts to correct conditions in 
the Region reflected to some extent our joint consideration 
of the problem. 
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Well. Alva, didn't you take some pretty positive steps in 
promoting the younger, technically trained men and bringing 
them UP into positions of more importance? 

That was one of my chief objectives as Chief of the Division 
of Personnel. I found the Region overburdened with good, 
loyal, uneducated - uneducated in respect to scientific 
knowledge of how to recognize serious deficiencies on the 
ranges, and to some extent in Forest Management itself. I 
found only three or four technically trained men had been 
recruited in this Region from World War I up until about 
1932, when there was an influx of technically trained men 
due to the CCC activities. These men, to a large extent, had 
finally graduated into District Ranger positions by 1937, 
although there were still quite a few who were in Assistant 
grades, or timber sales, scaling, things of that sort. 

Our training program was largely directed toward fire 
control, which was to my notion very inadequate, not only 
in the aspects of recognizing what good fire control should 
be, but in the equipment, particularly in the equipment we 
had provided. For example, I think there were only one or 
two good fire-finders in the entire Region. The location of 
fires from the lookouts were determined by a simple alidade 
on an oriented map, sometimes without the map being 
properly oriented. This led to errors which naturally led to 
some fires perhaps getting away. 

Our training program was directed toward fire control to a 
considerable extent during the first year or two, and then 

switched into more of a Range Management type of 
training, which I think continued long after I left the Forest 
Service and retired. 

You've painted a pretty bleak but accurate picture of the 
range situation, and how you took a little action on it. and 
the fire situation which I know you were active in helping 
correct: what about timber? How did you find that? 

Well, I always thought that the management of Ponderosa 
pine timber was pretty good. I think that Randles recognized 
the use and the research that was developed through the 
efforts of Pearson and I think he had in the organization some 
very fine timber men, particularly after they were assigned 
to that phase of the administration after the CCCs were 

liquidated - maybe "liquidated" isn't the right term. 

That's what happened when the War started? 

That's right. 

How about Watershed? 

There was practically no recognition of Watershed. Just a 
little lip service, that's all. 

Were vou able to get any positive corrective action started 
in that? 

I don't think so. Except indirectly, because efforts in Range 
Management, which didn't result in any great improvement 
during the time that I was in Region 3, would of course have 
some influence on Watershed Management. The whole big 
subject of Watershed Management was practically un¬ 
known, insofar as the administrative force was concerned. 

After vou worked as Chief of Personnel Management for a 
while, vou transferred then, didn't vou. to another Division? 

Yes, that's an interesting phase of a career. 

Woodhead became Regional Forester upon the retirement of 
Regional Forester Pooler, leaving the Division of Range 
Management vacant, and McCutcheon was brought down 
from Region 2 to become Chief of Range Management. 
Mac, after one or two meetings with the cowboys over in 
Arizona, and to some extent in New Mexico, became very 
nervous and disgusted with having to listen to their com¬ 
plaints. After being in Range Management less than a year, 

he came down to my office one day and said, "Alva, how 
about trading Divisions?" Isaid, "Why?" "Well," Mac says, 
"I just can't put up with it. It makes me too nervous, 
listening to all these complaints and going to these meet¬ 
ings. It’s difficult even to talk to some of these stockmen." 

I said, "Well, I'll trade with you, but I don't think you have 
half as many worries in Range Management as I have in 

Personnel Management, so if you want to get some more 
worries, why you go down and propose that to Woodhead, 
and maybe we can work it out." 

The way it worked out put Mac into a position where he was 
happy, and I certainly was happy in Range Management, 
because I had a lot of fun with the stockmen. I used to go 
out and ride the ranges with 'em on their complaint, and kid 
'em, and jump on them about the condition of their range, 

and things of that sort. They'd take it good-naturedly and 
I didn't have any particular difficulty with getting along with 

them at all. 

McCutcheon went ahead and has made an outstanding 

success as a Personnel man. 

Personnel, of course, is controlled to a large extent by the 
policies of the Department and of the Chief's Office. You've 
got a voluminous bunch of standards that you have to be 
very familiar with. Mac’s type of thinking is just the right 

type for that kind of job. To me, a lot of those things were 
irritating. A lot of it is just paper shuffling. No Division can 

shuffle as many papers as Personnel can. 
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Did you find the new men that vou were working into the 
organization carried their load? 

Yes. I found that with a little encouragement, your true 
conservationist wanted to do something, and when you get 
that attitude, then you commence to make progress. 

Of course, I stiffened up on trespass. I decided that I would 
do the same down here in Region 3 that I had done in Region 
1; if a person trespassed, he had to pay the penalty. And 
that penalty was gonna be a pretty stiff cut on his prefer¬ 

ence. That commenced to stop the trespass pretty fast. We 
encouraged roundups, as far as we could finance them, and 
we commenced pickin' up this trespass which had been a 
problem in the Region for 30 or 40 years, I should judge, and 
gradually we commenced getting control. 

Now, of course, the big thing that has happened, to my 
mind, to conservation of the range resources and conserva¬ 
tion as a whole, is the changed attitude of the public in 
looking at conservation as a national necessity, and the 
changed attitude of the Press, and of the Recreation people, 
and things of that sort. Today the political aspects of the 
old livestock associations don't amount to very much; they 
don't care to go up against public opinion today like they 
could 20 years ago. 

I think there's a change in the attitude of the stockmen 
themselves. After a long period of time they have come to 
the conclusion that there's more money to be made in 
having a productive range than there ever was in running a 
bunch of low-bred cattle, in a scarecrow condition, just in 
order to get numbers. That is due to the education of the 
new generation. You couldn't convince some of the old type 
stockmen that anyone knew anything about running live¬ 

stock except themselves. Today you have an entirely 
different type of thinking on the part of your livestock 
industry, with the exception of a few that haven't died yet. 

I wish you'd expand iust a little more on that point, Alva, 
going back, vou started in 1908 or '09 in the Forest Service? 

I took the Ranger's examination in April 1907, and I turned 
down some offers of jobs because I was trying to go through 
school out at the University of California. Finally I went 
broke and thought maybe I'd take a job for six months, then 
go back to school, and I didn't ever get back to school. I 
went to work on the first day of May 1909, on the Hayden. 
At that time the Hayden Division of the present Medicine 
Bow National Forest, had issued permits totaling some¬ 
where around 300,000 head of sheep, which was an 
impossibility for that number of sheep to feed on 300,000 
or 350,000 acres, or whatever it was. And of all the dust 
heaps I ever saw, this Hayden country was probably the 
best example. The aspens were trimmed as far up as the 

sheep could reach. I think today that same section of the 
Medicine Bow probably doesn't have 40,000 head of sheep 
on it. 

What was the attitude of the rancher in those days? 

Well, the attitude, of course, of the stockman in the West, 
going back to the days of Pinchot, was that the establish¬ 
ment of the National Forests, Forest Reserves originally, 
was detrimental to the livestock industry. There was, as we 
all know, a series of fights, political fights you might call 
them, and a great number of editorial and Congressional 
investigations over the years, all of which were instigated 
by the stockmen. They had no respect for anyone who 
advocated conservative grazing, the same as they did years 
ago for the animal husbandman who advocated better bulls. 
Well, that changed from time to time. I think I sensed a 
change in the attitude of stockmen commencing about 
1930, possibly a few years before that, after World War I. 

Down here, in Region 3,1 think there was very little change 
because your cattle industry in particular, was based on 
yearlong grazing; it was based on numbers, and the use of 
browse to a great extent rather than grasses. Any interfer¬ 
ence in the way of regulation was not appreciated by the 
vast majority of the stockmen. It was almost impossible to 
correct the condition because of the terrain and the type of 
country in which the cattle were grazing or were using. 

As I said before, I think the new generation, many of whom 
are graduates of agricultural colleges, have been exposed to 
conservation practices and conservation knowledge, and 
have changed their ideas. I think you'll find not only better 
cattle, but better-conditioned cattle, fewer losses, and 
bigger calf crops today than you did 15 or 20 years ago. 

I know you've been a good close observer of conditions, can 
vou contrast range conditions as they were in '37, when 
vou came here, with what they are today? 

Well, my observations are very limited today on range 
conditions. This summer I made a trip up through a section 
of the Carson Forest that I haven't been in for, I imagine, 20 
years, and while we haven't had normal moisture in that 
particular section of the Carson, it looked to me as if there 
had been a tremendous improvement in the condition on the 
ground. That particular area was north of Ojo Caliente and 
out toward that old mining town up there, a mining camp 

that's abandoned now, and west of Tres Piedras. I know 
there is a vast improvement in the natural condition of that 
range over what it was when I saw it in inspections 20 years 
ago, or more. 

I haven't made any observations in the semi-desert types 
outside of an area north and west of Nogales which I 
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examined about a year ago in connection with an appraisal 
of a ranch property, and which I had seen two different 
times on inspections years before. There was a vast 
improvement in the ground condition of that entire area 

there. 

I did appraise the Y Ranch of the Hubbles here a few years 
back. Glenn Smith and I made the appraisal for the Navajo 
Indian Council. I thought there was a vast improvement in 
their sheep range particularly. Of course they don't run too 
many cattle; I don’t know that they ran any on the Forest, 
I think they kept those on their own private lands. That 
sheep range, with their watering improvements, hauling the 
water to the sheep instead of trailing the sheep to the water, 
made a vast difference in that particular area. I was rather 
amused at the improvements in conditions there. 

So I'd say, from what little I've seen of the ranges, that 
there's improvement almost everywhere. 

You've been observing Forest Service practices and proce¬ 
dures for over 50 years, Alva: do you feel that the Forest 
Service is meeting the conservation objectives that were 
established for it in the beginning? 

That’s a hard question to answer, because in many ways 
I'm pretty much of a conservative. I think that the Forest 
Service is meeting the objectives in resource management 
much better than we were able to meet the objectives 
during my career in the Forest Service, no matter where I 
was. Now that is due to any number of things, one of which 
is adequate manpower. When I mention adequate man¬ 
power, I mean just the manpower that's necessary to do the 
job, that is actually needed. 

Sometimes I worry now. For instance, I would say that here 
on the Santa Fe National Forest today, the total personnel 
is probably greater than the entire Regional Office and five 
or six National Forests in 1909 in Region 2. I have no 
knowledge of whether they are all needed, or whether they 
are not, but sometimes you get people stumbling over each 
other, and more paper. 

I've heard some criticism, from some people, that the Forest 
Service may be over-staffed to some extent. I received 
today a bulletin from the Beaverhead National Forest in 
Region 1. It’s a sizeable Forest of some 2,135,000 acres. 
The number of personnel in the Supervisor's Office in 
Billings, Montana, is 38, according to their statistics. When 
I was Supervisor, there was myself, A. D. Sandvig, an 
Administrative Assistant, and two clerks. That's a consid¬ 
erable increase in a period of 30 years. They have eight 
Ranger Districts there now, and we had six. Their annual 
budget is $1,320,000; we were lucky to have $60,000. 

But of course there are more oroarams. more different 

activities. 

I hope that the programs are useful programs, and not 
because money is easier to get nowadays than it was in 
those days; of course, the money isn't as good now, either. 

A dollar won't oo near the distance that it did in those davs. 

It won't go over a fourth as far. In 1932 an allotment of 
$ 100,000 would have to be at least $400,000 now to do 

the same job. 

But we have gone from the custodial stage to the manaae- 
rial. In fact, vou were instrumental in making that transition 
right down here in this Region. And all of that means more 

work, more programs. 

That's true. I'm not criticizing the need for additional people 
to do the job, because we needed it very badly in those days. 
We didn't do the job because we didn't have the power to 
do it. But it's a contrast well worth thinking about. 

We haven't mentioned the recreational part of the iob. That 

has grown tremendously. 

Of course Recreation is only in its beginning right now. We 

had a very inadequate recreation policy all the time that I 
was in the Forest Service. It was an orphan child in 
Management. After the CCCs came in they built some 
simple improvements, camp grounds, things of that sort, 
but we didn't have any real forward-looking recreational 
program. We weren’t developing recreation, as it's being 
developed today. 

The Forest Service is going to face a lot more responsibilities 
in the recreation field than they’ve ever faced before. People 
have transportation; they have highways; they have leisure 
time; and they're going to use these National Forest areas 
to the very highest degree in the future. They've got to 
enlarge our facilities, even at the expense of some other 
activities. 

Alva, I don't want to tire vou out, but I would like to take 
advantage of vour long experience in tracing the develop¬ 

ment of improvements on the Forests. - What they were 
when vou started back almost at the beginning, up through 

the years. 

Well, of course, when I went into the Forest Service we 
didn't have much in the way of communications. We were 
in the stage of building telephone lines, many of which were 
stretched through the woods, on open insulators, so the 
wires wouldn't break in the wintertime. In 1909, the 
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Supervisor of the old Hayden National Forest had no 
connection whatsoever with but one District Ranger, by 
telephone. My first Ranger District had a telephone line, 
three miles, that went down to the headquarters of the 
Hunter, Castile, and Hunter ranch, and they were on the 
main line from Cheyenne, Wyoming, to Rawlins, on the 
Union Pacific Railroad. If I had an emergency I could call the 
ranch and they could get communications through on this 
main line. They had telephone attachments to the main line. 

As to living improvements, my first Ranger Station was a 
one-room log cabin, that was partially divided by rough 
boards, one end of which I used for cooking and eating, and 
one end to sleep and live in, neither being very large. Heated 
by wood stoves; no sanitation except a" Chick Sales" about 
200 yards from the house. An old log barn and corral. 

No pasture; no pasture fence. Had to hobble our horses. 
There was a bunch of barbed wire there and I decided I'd 
have me a pasture there if I had to work nights to do it. I cut 
aspen posts and dug post holes at odd times and strung the 
wire by pullin', backin' up and pullin' on the spool. I got me 
a three-wire fence around about 60 acres. Had no road in 
to it; the only way I could get hay into the barn was to wait 
until the big crick froze up and then borrow a sled from a 
neighboring rancher and haul the hay up over the ice. 

I built a half-mile of road by pick and shovel at odd times 
during the summer. I had plenty of time to work because 
I was abatchin' and all alone. When I'd come in from the field 
along about 4:00 or 5:00 or 6 o'clock in the evening. I'd get 

out and work until 8:00 or 9 o'clock to get that road through, 
so I could get out with a wagon, at least. 

We had no roads anywhere except the roads that were 
constructed by logging operations, or settlers, but there 
were quite a few trails, such as they were. They weren't 
particularly on grade. That's about the size of the improve¬ 
ments we started out with. 

What salary did vou get for that kind of work? 

I got $75.00 a month to start with. I furnished my own 
horses and I was lucky; the Government decided to pay half 

the feed bill in the wintertime, half the hay and grain bill for 
my horses. They paid half of it. I had to have at least three 
head of horses because I had to have a pack horse. I could 
ride two saddle horses down. 

it might be of interest to know that the first bath tub in a 
ranger dwelling in Region 2 was placed in the Carnero 
Ranger Station on the Carnero District about 1916 and had 
a spring piped into the house by gravity. We hooked it up 
ourselves and put the bathtub in and heated the water over 

a wood fire in the stove. You know I had one of those 
businesses where the water ran through to the tank. That 
was the first bathtub that the Forest Service had in Region 
2 in a Ranger Station. I bought it from Montgomery Ward. 

You bought it yourself? 

No, I talked the Regional Office into paying for it; it cost 
about $25.00, as I remember. 

I'll tell you an experience; you can cut it out of the tape if you 

want to. 

In 1910,1 asked the Supervisor if he would detail me over 
to the sheep range so I could get some knowledge of the 
sheep business - this was on the Hayden - and in those 

days there were no allotments. Sheep came in, first come, 
first served. They'd back up and fight the others off. There 
were too many sheep anyway. We had open range for 
18,000 head in Colorado, which was in settlement of a 
controversy between the cattlemen and the sheepmen, in 
which the cattlemen had a deadline along the Colorado- 
Wyoming border. It wouldn't permit any sheep to come into 

Colorado. 

They gave up this high country and traded it for some low 
country in Wyoming. This Snake River comes down and 
winds back and forth across the border of the two States. 

So I had the job ahead of me, after the sheep had been 
counted, and they'd trailed 'em back to the country, to allot 
these sheep in Colorado. It was virgin range; never'd been 
used by sheep or cattle either one. Too high for cattle and 
they didn't have to have it, and the sheep had been 
prevented from using it on account of the deadline. 

Well, anyway, there were some habits going on in that 
country in those days; prostitutes used to come down out 
of Rawlins, Wyoming, and from Steamboat Springs, Colo¬ 
rado, and come up on this sheep range during the summer 
time, in search of work. The Advisory Board of the Carbon 
County Woolgrowers' Association had asked the Supervi¬ 

sor to see if Forest Rangers couldn't run these women off 
the National Forests, or prevent them from coming in there, 
or prevent them from staying after they did get in. They 
agreed - the sheepmen agreed - that they'd pay any fines, 
or defend anyone who might get into trouble. 

So we got our instructions from the Supervisor to run these 

women out of there. Well, the first experience I had was in 
a little old mining camp, abandoned mining town - I can't 
recall the name right now; there was no one living there. 
There were six girls from Rawlins that had come down and 
established their headquarters in this mining camp. Well, 
we didn't have any trouble movin' them out and startin' 'em 
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on their way back to Rawlins. And different members of the 
Service at different places, every time they'd find one of 
these girls in a camp, why they'd run her off. 

Well, anyway, there was a couple of fellows that brought 
in two women from Steamboat Springs. They came up 
there with a pack horse; walked in, with their junk on this 
pack horse. They got over on a patented mining claim called 
The Independence. That was about half-way between Hog 
Park and where I was camped over in Whiskey Park in 

Colorado. 

The Ranger, Joe Ames, from Hog Park, came in to my camp 
one night and said, "These women are operating at the 
Independence Mine." We decided we'd go over and move 
'em out. The next morning we left about half-past five, and 
had eight or ten miles to ride We got to the Independence 
Mine and there was a whole crowd of sheepherders and 
camp movers already collected, probably a dozen, maybe 
more. Joe said, "I'll go down to the shaft house and you go 
up to the cabin" - they had a cabin, a one-room log cabin - 
one of the girls was operating in the shaft house, and one 
was operating in the cabin. 

So I went up to the cabin and knocked on the door. It had 
one of these latches that you can lock on the inside and a 
string is run through a hole in the door. Unless you had a hold 
of the string you couldn't open the latch. The string was 

pulled in, so there wasn't any way of gettin' in. Sol knocked 

on the door; somebody asked who it was, and I told 'em it 
was the Forest Ranger. Well, he proceeded to tell me to go 
to places where I didn't intend to go. 

I took quite a little of that for a while, then I got a little bit 
angry, and I hit that door with my shoulder and knocked the 
latch off. The guy was standing at the foot of the bed and 
the girl was in bed with this Mexican. Well, as I went in, I 
swung on him with my right hand and hit him on the jaw and 
knocked him over on the bed, and he bounced back, and I 
let him have it again. He threw his hands up over his face 

and commenced beggin' for mercy. About this time the 
Mexican went by me, but I don't remember seein' him go by. 
About then I heard a shot. 

Well, there was a bootlegger operating there, too. He had 
brought up a five gallon jug of whiskey and he was sellin' 
whiskey to these sheepherders. They were down the hill 
quite a little ways. When I heard this shot I thought 
somebody was shootin' at Joe Ames. So I ran out the door, 
and as I got outside, I heard a second shot, and there was 
a Navajo Indian sheepherder who was shootin' at a white 
camp mover. He was just missin' him, hittin' behind the 
heels, and the camp mover was goin' down that hill just as 
fast as he could go. He shot another time, and like a darn 
fool, I ran up to this Navajo Indian and told him to give me 

the gun, and he turned it over to me. Which I wouldn't do 
again. About that time, why practically all the sheepherders 
and camp movers had run for their horses and were leavin'. 

The first thing we knew, Joe and I, we had two girls and their 
two boy friends, and the bootlegger, and what he had left 
of his five gallon jug of whiskey. We gathered 'em up at the 
cabin and told them that they had to leave. Well, they said, 
they didn't know where their pack horse was. Well, we told 
them we'd seen the pack horse as we came in; we'd get him 
for them, and bring them down. I stood there and took the 
worst cursing that I ever took in my life, from one of those 
women. I stood there hopin' that one of those men would 
say something so I could slam him. But he didn't; he kept 
his mouth shut. 

Well, we went up and got the horse, and loaded 'em up and 
started 'em on the trail. It was 60 miles to Encampment, 
Wyoming, all of 'em walkin' and leadin' the pack horse with 

their junk on it. That was the last we heard of 'em until they 
got down to Encampment where they tried to get a 
complaint of assault and battery against me, but the Justice 
of the Peace wouldn't issue the warrant. Well, that was a 
true experience. 

Were vou carrying a gun? 

No, no, I didn't carry a gun; I never carried a gun in the Forest 

Service because I didn't want to be in a position of havin' 

somebody shoot me, and have a gun on me. It's a good idea. 

I made the original allotments in that Long Park area in 1910. 
I talked to the Supervisor of the Routt in 1948. We made 
a trip up through Region 2 looking at some of their ranges, 

and he said essentially those boundaries were holding to this 
day, although they've made some reductions in the number 
of sheep in the allotments. 

On what basis did vou make those original boundaries? 

I had no basis at all. It was virgin country and I directed each 
band of sheep to a certain locality, a certain area. I set 

tentative lines and then adjusted them as the season went 
by. I rode continually in there and if one fellow had more 
range than he actually needed, and another fellow was 
short, why, we'd adjust the lines. That was the only way 
I had of doing it. I had no inventory on forage, or anything 

of that sort. It was just a matter of "cut and fit"; that was 
all I could do. I had 18,000 head to allot. I don't remember 
how many bands there were; a band was about 1200 head. 

********** 

From the Use Book - 1906. "Rangers' cabins should be 
located where there is enough agricultural land for a small 
field and suitable pasture land for a few head of horses and 
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a cow or two, in order to decrease the often excessive 
expense for vegetables and feed." 

Figure 28. Rangers harvesting hay at the Cave Creek Ranger 

Station, Chiricahua National Forest; June 17, 1912. 

Now those allocations came from the Washington Office, 
didn't they? 

In those days, which by the way was a good many years 
ago, the Washington Office issued each Forest Reserve 
Supervisor an authorization to graze so many livestock; so 
many cattle and so many sheep, and also the periods in 
which livestock would be grazed. Of course, after the 
Regions were organized, then the Regional Forester was 
given that authority, and then in later years the authoriza¬ 
tions were done away with. 

Well. I’ve seen those old authorizations and I wondered. 
Alva, on what basis they were made? 

The basis was your annual grazing report; you made a 
recommendation in your annual grazing report. The Super¬ 
visor made this recommendation as to the number he could 
graze by Ranger Districts; so many sheep, so many cattle, 
and for certain periods. That was part of the recommenda¬ 
tion. If the Forester's office disagreed with that, they'd 
come back and question you on it. But they didn't have 
much basis to do much questioning because their field men 
were the ones making the recommendations. 

You see, I knew the Forest Service from about 1898; not 
the Forest Service then, but the General Land Office. 

They first sent Old Charley Baroney up to administer what 
they called the Yellowstone Forest Reserve, which was a 
considerable area that was withdrawn, adjoining the 
Yellowstone National Park, by President Harrison. He was 
paid $5.00 a day for each day he worked, and 50 cents a 
day to hire a saddle horse. He lived at our ranch while he was 
up there. He was from Evanston; he was a political 
appointee by Senator Clark of Wyoming. He was only there 

two summers. Then there were different ones came in. It 
was only a summer job, just during the summertime. 

Then along about 1906 or '07, Gifford Pinchot came 
through that country, and that's when I first met him. I 
worked under Gifford Pinchot from May of 1909 until the 
first of January 1910; that’s when he was kicked out in the 
Ballenger dispute. I cried like a boy. He was a very inspiring 
man. 

In 1954, the Land Utilization Project lands in New Mexico, 
Western Oklahoma, and the Panhandle of Texas, were 
transferred from the Soil Conservation Service to the Forest 
Service. Administration of these lands were placed with the 
Cibola National Forest. Later these LU lands were made a 
separate unit called the Panhandle National Grasslands. 

Mr. Walter J. Caserta was the Supervisor of these lands for 
the S.C.S. at the time of their conversion to the Forest 
Service. In an interview at his home in Albuquerque, Jim 

tells a little bit about the LU lands. 

Now. Jim, when did vou enter Government service? 

I came into Government service as an employee of the 
National Park Service on July 4, 1933. I went to work in 
Palo Duro Canyon, about 14 miles east of the little town of 
Canyon, Texas, and spent four and a half years in the 
Canyon with the Park Service. Because of acquisition 
difficulties, they shut 'er down. This they did, oh, in about 
the early part of '37. This made it necessary to find another 
job or to transfer from the Park Service. 

Well, I had married an Amarillo girl and we had a home there, 
and jobs were looking a little better. The Depression was 
more or less stabilized. People were still on relief, but it was 
an orderly procedure rather than the chaotic sort of thing 
such as it was in 1933. We decided we'd stay in Amarillo, 
so that made it necessary to find another job. 

Well, about that time the Bureau of Agricultural Economics 
was fathering, or sponsoring, a program of the Federal 
Government known as the Bankhead-Jones Farm Tenant 
Act, sponsored incidentally by our representative in Ama¬ 
rillo, Marvin Jones. He, with Senator Bankhead of Alabama, 
having passed the bill to retire lands that were submarginal 
for farming of any nature; preferably retiring these lands to 
grasslands and some timber, where it was possible to grow 
timber. Of course in the Plains, I don't think the Lord ever 
intended timber to grow there. There was considerable 
research during the Shelterbelt days by the United States 

Forest Service, and there wasn't very much enthusiasm 
shown, either by the Forest Service or by the botanists 
employed to make the study. 
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Norman Buck was my first boss in the Department of 
Agriculture. His title was Project Manager of no other place 
than Buffalo Lake in Texas. Of course. Norm is a very fine 
fellow and a very intelligent person, and he didn't last very 
long as Project Manager. He became Assistant Chief as 
Land Economist in a Division that was entitled the Division 
of Project Organization. This Division planned for the 
beneficial use of sub- marginal lands, including the structural 
planning as well as the vegetative planning. This Division 
is the one that I was successful in finally getting a job as a 
Junior Civil Engineer. 

With Norm, and some of the people that later moved to 
Albuquerque, I was responsible for handling recreational 
facilities for submarginal lands. My branch at that time was 
headed by a landscape architect by the name of William 
Anderson. His name still appears on some of the old 
drawings occasionally, site plans, and what- not. We had 
considerably money in those days, kinda like JCC today, and 
we spent it. Ride along in an automobile and say," Put a dam 
here," or "Put a dam there." Wherever there was a gully or 
a canyon, it was planned to put a dam. However, with ten 

million dollars and a lot of land vegetative resources includ¬ 
ing stabilizing sand dunes and whatnot, there wasn't very 
much left for recreation. 

One of the things I remember was planning a recreational 
area with Clancy Waneka - that's a friend of yours, Ed. 

Yeah. 

In a place called Hope, New Mexico. I worked on Hope with 
Clancy and we had $1,000 to build a recreation area. Well, 
after spending the night with an old character by the name 

of White over in Hope, and gettin' up early the next morning 
and gettin' a pail of water out of the irrigation ditch, after 
movin' the manure off the water surface, we got a pail of 
water and washed our face and hands. We didn't dare drink 
it. The only other available liquids there was Bourbon 
whiskey and beer. We had a very fine breakfast with Mr. 
White. This was in July but we had deer meat. He called 
it "summer beef." Where he got it, I don't know, except that 
it was a very delightful breakfast, grits and "summer beef." 

Well, Clancy and I decided it was about time to do 
something for those people, they couldn't afford to drink 
whiskey all the time, and there wasn't enough beer in the 
country, no ice to keep it cold, and hot beer is a very 
unpleasant beverage. We looked around and asked about 
water. Old Man White said, "Yeah, there's a well around 
here; it's about 12 miles off," and he said, "The thing's over 
a thousand feet deep." 

Right away Clancy's eyes lit up; so did mine. We had a 
thousand dollars, and we were thinking very seriously of the 

possibility of people at Hope gathering around a well an' 
bein' able to talk, or sit down, and get a pitcher full of nice 
cool water. An unusual drink; I don't recommend it, but it 
is an unusual drink. So we decided that we were gonna 
make a try for a water well. 

We talked to some local drillers and found out that water 
was available at right about 800 or 900 feet and there was 
a possibility that it would cost about a dollar a foot. That 
left us with enough money for possibly a windmill or a hand 
pump, although I don't know who would've pumped a 
1,000 foot deep well by hand. But we were thinking that 
way. We were a couple of young squirts and just full of 
ideas. The only thing I think was successful about Hope was 
the water well; it did come in at about five gallons a minute. 
We were successful in convincing the Washington Office 
that this was a good expenditure of recreational funds. We 
got approval and put 'er in finally, and put in a couple of 
picnic tables which you could build for about $ 10.00 apiece 
in those days. In other words, we set Hope up. 

Well, when we got back we found out that the magic wand 
of Congress waved, and we had ten million dollars to build 
dams with. Ten million dollars; that's a lot of money. So 
we started the dam projects, and incidentally in that deal 
such places as Tule Lake, Buffalo Lake, Lake Marvin, which 
the Forest Service still has; McClellan Lake, another Forest 
Service endeavor. Wolf Creek Lake; one over near Clovis 
which never did jell, but we had the money and did plan it, 
but for some reason or other, it didn't go through. There's 
another one up by Dalhart, Rio Blanco Lake, and we had 
plans for about seven or eight more scattered around the 
Panhandle of Texas. The people we used in construction 

were largely from WPA: we had as many as 5,000 WPA 
men on our own payroll, BAE payroll, at one time working 

on these recreational projects, identified usually as lake 
projects. 

Now while this was going on. Norm Buck had other duties, 

too, that he was following up, the stabilization of wild lands. 
Have you ever been in a dust storm? 

Yes. 

Weil, you know what wild lands are. The land takes off; 
today it may have a cover of soil, silt, sandy land, from four 
to six feet deep. Tomorrow, after a good storm, it may not 
have any. It may be right down to where you can see the 
old plow furrows, where the plow point had cut in and left 
a little grove in the hardpan below. Well, this I saw. 

One of the places I saw, that was Manhattan, Kansas. 
Clancy and I used to travel a lot together and that was one 
of our favorite places to visit. An old boy, George Atwood, 
was the Project Manager there. He had lost one of his 
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hands, I imagine during World War I. He was an ex-soldier 
and quite a pleasant sort of fellow and an interesting man 
to meet. 

They had a dry summer when we went through Manhattan, 
Kansas, and alongside the river there was a cemetery. We 
bought cemeteries; we bought cities and towns. LaBajada 
is one of them, right out here close at hand in case you want 
a reference on that. Another one was up here near Mora, 
in the Indian lands south of Mora. But this one at Manhattan 
was unusual since the cemetery had a wrought-iron fence 
and swinging entrance gates, the posts of which were cast- 
iron and they had little round black balls on top of them. 
Well, the first time I visited the place, all I saw was about 
a foot of post and a black ball on top of the ground. 

Later on I went up to see what George was doing; he was 
always proud of the fact that on one side of the river he had 
Democrats, and on the other side he had Republicans. And 
the cemetery was on the Republican side and they had to 
wait until they had a dust storm to bury the Republicans and 
preserving those guys was really something. I think it was 
two years before I made another visit with George. We 
drove through the gates of that cemetery. It had been 

uncovered. Those posts were fully six feet high; that much 
soil had moved in two years. 

That was the type of project that started the Land Utilization 
program which the Forest Service is reasonably proud of; 
rightly so, too. Establishing and tying down land of that 
nature is quite a job for any Federal agency, or anybody. The 
Lord was having a little trouble with it Himself at that time; 
it was moving around pretty fast for Him. So I think we 

should be reasonably proud of it. 

These things had a very strange beginning. Mr. Roosevelt, 

in his wisdom as President, decided that everybody should 
benefit from Federal Aid, and in this I support him fully. If 
you can't make a living on a farm you either stay there and 
starve to death, or somebody else moves you off, because 
you don't have money enough to move off by yourself. I 
have some friends, still alive, that can't move now, as good 
as times are now, they still can't move; they're out there just 
dyin' slowly of starvation. 

Most of the people that we moved during that era were sent 
to a place called Ropesville, south of Lubbock, in Texas. 

They were moved off of the land; lock, stock, and barrel. 
The Federal Government paid them for the land, advanced 
them loans to make a new start in this irrigation belt near 
Ropesville, and we took the land and tried to do something 
with it. 

We had a very normal mechanical method of leveling off the 

land so we could get on it and revegetate it with the native 

grasses, which history had shown were belly-deep to a tall 
horse. They were all reported to be that high, and inciden¬ 
tally, they were the coarser grasses, bluestems, the 
andrapogans. These were the grasses we were more 
interested in reestablishing. Again, my responsibility was 
largely Recreation, but everybody was supposed to be a 
conservationist and everybody learned something about 
vegetation, whether it was trees, grass, or whatnot. 

Steps were taken first to prepare a proper seedbed, which 
meant leveling the land. We had an employee in the Forest 
Service, up to a few years ago, by the name of Joe 
Armstrong, who accidentally found a very good method of 
leveling land. Everybody forgot it, but I want to record it to 
you so that someday somebody is gonna pick it up again, 

because it really worked. 

Joe got caught out in a dust storm one night, while he was 
workin' a one-way, goin' round and round on top of a sand 
dune, trying to level the thing off by throwin' the furrows 
this one way, continually movin' 'em on, levelin' the land. 
Well, he found out as he made a round, this terrific wind 
blowin' in 45, 50, maybe even 60-mile gusts, was takin' 
this soil that he had stirred up and movin' it over, and when 

it got off that elevation it dropped. 

Joe was a pretty bright man, one of the brightest I've ever 
known in agriculture. He recorded this. It was picked up 
immediately by the people in the LU program at that time 
and used as a method, an application of a scientific approach 
to land leveling. So our program was speeded up at least 
two years by using Joe Armstrong's uncomfortable period 
of two or three hours during that dust storm. 

We finally leveled enough land in Dallam County to start a 
planting. We couldn't buy grass seed; nobody harvested 
grass seed in those days. You killed it so you could plant the 
land in wheat. The only thing we could find was some fool 
had harvested Amaranthus, pigweed, and we had enough 
pigweed to sow probably three or four sections of land. 
Now, this sounds perfectly ridiculous, but in those days of 
panic you did anything you could. You couldn't plant 
ryegrass; the wind would come along and blow it out. 
Amaranthus seed had some sort of ability to stick to the soil, 
as they say. 

We had a good firm seedbed up there, since Joe had 
wallowed around on the thing for quite a while, while the 
wind was taking the loose stuff off and it left a hardpan. 
Well, we got this stuff in the ground and, one of those 
unusual occurrences - it rained, and we got a good stand of 
pigweed, and that was the basis of a nurse crop. Later on 
we started to harvesting our own grass seed and made 

some plantings that proved quite successful as the years 
went on. Of course. I'm going over a period of development 
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of maybe three or four or five years, and very quickly, but 

that was the start of the thing. 

Meanwhile, there was a little agency that had just been 
created by an Act of Congress, known as the Soil Erosion 
Service, headed up in the area that I worked in by Dr. 
Howard Finnell, a very unusual sort of person. He was about 
as far from appearing to be a doctor as you could possibly 
imagine. He was a little, short fellow, with red hair, very 
jolly, but an extremely capable man. While he was creating 
a cadre of soil erosion specialists, as they were called, he 
was watching us very carefully, too, wallowing around in 
the dry sand and plantin' seed an' prayin' for rain. 

Incidentally, in that Panhandle of Texas, if you don't get any 
rain between the period of November and April, well, you 
don't get any rain. You may get a thunder shower every 50 
miles or something like that, but you don't get general rains. 

He watched us fight the battle all during the summer, and 
sit down and fold our hands from November 'till April, 
waitin' for snow or rain, or whatever might happen. Usually 
it was wind. 

The Land Utilization Program under the Soil Conservation 

Service led toward the completion of the developmental 
stages of the lands and the placing into the management 
stages, for utilization by the general public. The six lakes 
were completed in 1939 and the early 1940s, and opened 
to the public for recreational use. I was the first Supervisor 
of these recreational projects for the Soil Conservation 

Service in what was then known as Region 6. My 
headquarters were located at Amarillo, Lubbock, Buffalo 
Lake, and then finally back to Amarillo. 

Once, during a flood, they telegraphed me to advise me of 
the fact that 1 was having floods at three lakes simulta¬ 
neously. The telegram - there was no station at Buffalo 
Lake - was sent to Hereford and then mailed on to me at 
Buffalo Lake. It took three days for that telegram to get from 
Hereford to Buffalo Lake, 1 5 miles. What happened we 
don't know, except that the railroads were inundated during 
the flood. This was the first flood waters from any of these 
lakes. The results of that storm in 1941 damaged the 
spillways of four out of six of the lakes. 

Dr. H. H. Bennett, of the Soil Conservation Service, Wash¬ 
ington Chief, dedicated that Buffalo Lake; I think it was the 
Fourth of July 1941. There were 50,000 people on hand for 
that dedication. Doc was a pretty good character, a very 
fine man. He liked to associate with his employees. He 
found he had a better insight as to what was going on. He 
liked to sail, so that night, after a little mosquito bite 
preventative and things like that, I had the honor of taking 
him for a sail in Howard Finnell's sailboat. 

Doc Bennett was dressed in a silk hat and tails. Caserta had 
on his very best, which was a tuxedo which was all I could 
afford. We got quite a kick out of it. Doc wanted to stand 
up and walk from one end of the boat to the other, and I 
knew good 'n well if he did, he'd fall overboard, because it 
was all I could do to sit down and stay in the boat. We finally 
made it back into shore and went back to the group again. 
Doc never forgot that because on a future broadcast, oh, 
some several months later, he mentioned the 50,000 
people who came out to Buffalo Lake to watch him go 

sailing. Actually, it wasn't; it was to dedicate the Lake, but 
Doc remembered the sailing I think more than the dedica¬ 
tion. 

Figure 29. Several of the Land Utilization Projects were used for 

Recreational Developments. Lake Marvin, near Canadian, Texas. 

Figure 30. Lake Marvin, shortly after construction, in 1948. 

World War II came along pretty soon after the Soil Conser¬ 
vation Service took over the administration of these areas, 

and with it the problems and the aids that the LU program 
were able to furnish our Government. We did furnish quite 
a bit of grass seed, necessary for revegetation or vegeta¬ 
tion, of airfields, parade grounds, and other areas where the 
soil had been disturbed and considerable problems had been 
involved by dust and erosion. We also furnished land for 
bombing ranges. 
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The Texiine section, now known as the Kiowa District, was 
a bombing range during World War II; in fact, you may still 
be able to find some .50 caliber machine gun bullets, and 
occasionally a three-inch recoilless rifle shell, which was 
being experimented with as a weapon for the B-17. As I 
understand it, the thing fired through a hatch in the bottom 

of a B-17, and it was supposed to be a part of low-level 
strafing of enemy lines. What success was had with this, 
we don’t know, except quite frequently we heard the double 
explosion of the recoilless rifle going off and the shell 
exploding when it hit one of our windmills on the LU land, 
or the ground. 

There was another contribution the LU Program made at 
that time that we think would be interesting to people in this 
generation. The longest runway in the world, then, was 
constructed at Dalhart out of caliche mined on the Rita 
Blanco Lake Project which was right inside of the city limits 
of the City of Dalhart. Out of that mining operation on this 
LU Project, we sold caliche to the Army's contractor buildin' 
this long runway. We sold (it was worth three cents a cubic 
yard) I don't know how many million yards. I know it was 
considerably over three million cubic yards that were mined 
out of there to fill that runway. 

Another thing was fence-cutting. This is a trespass nowa¬ 
days, but during World War II, I'd visit this project on my 
monthly or biweekly visits. Incidentally, gasoline was 

rationed, so Government employees didn't run around the 
country with license to buy gas at every filling station. We 
got coupons, from the local rationing board, at that. But 
anyway, when I got a couple of coupons. I'd run up to 
Dalhart to see how the lake was doing and see what was 
goin' on at the other project up there, the Texline Project. I'd 
find every panel of fence for a mile, maybe, cut, for no 

earthly reason that I could see except that somebody was 
drivin’ through. 

I had a friend in the Post Engineers on the Air Base, and I got 
to talkin' to him about it and, oh yeah, he had the answer for 

that. That was the Provost Marshal's crew; they just cut 
the fence to go in and look for downed gliders. Well, this 
base was a B-17 airplane base, but it also had a glider 
training school in conjunction with it. The fact is that one 
of the schools was on the south end of the Texiine Project 
and the other was off over west of town. 

They'd yank these gliders off of the ground with a B-17; 
sometimes two or three of them at a time, on a long nylon 

rope. Then they'd cut the glider loose from the airplane and 
drop the rope; incidentally that's how we accumulated our 
stock of nylon rope. These gliders were absolutely helpless, 
at the whim of the winds. They may be blown as far as 50 
miles away, or they may come right straight nose-down. If 

the crew didn't call in, they were considered lost. If they did 

call in, they sometimes told 'em to just leave the glider and 
come on in the best way you know how. They was rather 
unusual, but for the winning of a war, I guess things like that 
are expected. 

Well, anyway, when a glider would go down within sight of 
the field, they would go out and look for it, and this is the 
reason they cut the fence in every panel. Everybody that 
had a truck and wanted through, in place of goin' where the 
fence had been cut by the first crew through, they'd cut the 
panel right in front of 'em an' go on through. 

Well, I knew the CO pretty well, too, and about that time we 
formulated the first cooperative agreement: The Military 
had the authority to cut the fence whenever and wherever 
they pleased, provided the Military repaired the fence 
wherever the cut it, or wherever they found it down. That 

relieved me of a considerable amount of maintenance work. 
And it's good policy for operating, even today. We still have 
rocket crews, you know, chasin' rockets around, and 
there's no telling how much fence they cut. That's all right; 
but let 'em fix it though. I don't know if we have such an 

agreement; maybe I ought to get a merit badge for that! 

The War wore on; we wore down. The wind blew. There 
were no developments. You couldn't hire people to do 
development. You couldn't hire people to harvest. They 
were all on a full standby basis. What help we got, we got 
from the Military. We couldn't use prisoners, although there 
were hundreds of German prisoners on the Dalhart area, and 
literally thousands of Italian prisoners around the Buffalo 
Lake area. None of these was available for use by another 
governmental agency, but they were available to the 
farmers, and they did a pretty good job of utilizing the 

prisoners. 

We had some wonderful wheat crops. The fact is, that 
1941 rain - some of the drainage was done by these 
prisoners, pick 'n shovel work - resulted in one of the finest 
wheat crops we've ever had in that country. So, although 
we didn't get to use 'em, some good results were had. 

About 1943 or '44, Ed Grest was Chief of the LU Program 
in the SCS. After Cap Clayton went to the Jap Relocation 
Camp in Tule, California, Ed wound up being the LU Chief. 
He met Leo Wortman and I out in the field and apprised us 
of the fact that things looked pretty rough; there was gonna 
be an entire reorganization of the Department of Agriculture, 
as soon as things slowed down, and there'd be some drastic 

changes. Well, we braced ourselves for a shock, but 
fortunately, there was no big reorganization. President 
Roosevelt died and Harry Truman succeeded him and we 
finally won the War on both sides of the ocean, and we felt 
pretty good about what the future would hold in store for us. 
But again, floods kept naggin' at us. 
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Every time the stockmen had a meeting, the stockmen 
wanted all this good grassland back into private ownership. 
We were just livin' from day to day, so to speak, 'cause we 
didn't know when some cowboy was gonna ride up an' say, 
"This is mine, by an Act of Congress," - and it almost 
occurred, several times. A very rough period, and the 
elements didn't help any. We began to have terrific rains 
again. In fact, we lost the McClellan spillway in '45, '46, 
and again in '51. Wolf Creek washed out down to creek 
bottom. 

The policy of, I guess you would say, a give-away program 
was started. The section of the Act that created the project, 
in which any other sub-division of Government could 
assume custody of these projects, I think it's Section 33, 
Title 3, of the Bankhead-Jones Act, was put into effect. 
That's when we started disposing of projects. 

The first one, of course, was the one that gave us the worst 
headache. Now these things aren't done overnight. LU had 
their share of slow administrative work in transfer of lands. 
I started negotiating with Ochiltree County, which resulted 
in the final disposition of Wolf Creek to that County, and 
Tule Lake to Swisher County in Texas, which resulted finally 
in the disposition of that one to the County. And Dalhart to 
the City of Dalhart; Rita Blanca Lake, to be exact. We were 
working along with Buffalo Lake to Randall County in Texas. 
This was in the Fifties; '51, '52. 

All of a sudden, Ed Grest called a hurry-up meeting of 
Wortman and Caserta. We met, strangely enough, of all 
places, in Cheyenne, Oklahoma, a very fine town to hold a 
meeting, in the old hotel over there. The floors all sloped 
towards the middle; you could get in bed on the window side 
and wake up in the morning up against the door! Anyway, 
it was a good convention town - dry as a bone, too - not 
a drop of liquor within 500 miles in any direction. We 
discussed the future. 

Ed said, "I was approached the other day by the Forest 
Service, who wanted to know, ]f the President placed LU 
lands under the Forest Service, I would go along with the 
lands. Now you two guys have got a decision to make, too, 

because they informed me that such key people as the 
Service at the present time felt were necessary to imple¬ 
ment the transfer, would be held by the Forest Service. 
What do you guys want to do?" 

Well, Leo was a little reluctant to answer. I had followed Ed 
around quite a bit. In fact, I had followed Ed ever since I went 
to work on this LU Program. We became friends in the early 
days on these field inspections. You know these Washing¬ 
ton inspectors that come out and harass the young Rangers 
now? They used to not be like that; they used to be nice 
people. The fact is I've got some very fine friends in 

Washington. But Ed, he came out and said, "Oh, I'm 
followin' the land." So I said, "OK; I'll follow you." Still no 
decision from Leo. So things rocked along. 

One day, I was in my little cubbyhole in Amarillo and three 
gentlemen walked in and introduced themselves, one of 
them by the name of McCutchen, another one by the name 
of Davis, and another one, a big fat roly-poly Irishman by the 
name of Monighan. This man, McCutchen, led the group. 

Fie came in, stuck out his hand and says," Caserta, welcome 
to the Forest Service!" Well Brother! 

Of course I had been working for the SCS and these things 
I know are rather mysterious in the way they go on, but, 
believe me, at that time I had about 20 years of Federal 
service, and that was the first time in 20 years that anybody 
had welcomed me anywhere, let alone to the Forest 
Service. So, I thanked him. I guess he could see the 
amazement. Fie says, "There's nuthin'in the world to worry 
about," he says, "We just came over here to tell you that you 
are still holdin' your present position, and your responsibili¬ 

ties are the same, except now you're gonna be paid by the 
Forest Service." Isays, "Well, is this good or bad?" "Well," 
he says, "You make up your own mind." I said, "Well, I will, 

in 20 or 30 years." 

Well, a couple of weeks later, sure 'nuff, the phone rang: 
"Get yourself up to Dalhart and notify your people to be in; 
we want to discuss organization, and the integration from 
one agency to another." That meeting gave me an insight 
into the Forest Service that I don't think very many people 
get. Even if you're a Supervisor, there's always a shadow 
of a doubt that there isn't some character that can take you 
over. So you'd better be sharp and you'd better be on your 
toes. I felt like I had a friend, a guy that knew the score. So, 
from there we went around through all the areas and about 
the only thing I can say is we had too many tools, too many 
people, too much land, too much of everything; get rid of it! 
And this I proceeded to do. I was still Supervisor over there, 

but Supervisor of LU Projects. This was an arrangement for 
convenience of integration. 

When you were buying this land that became the LU land, 
what was the feeling of the people in the countryside: were 
they very much for it. or were they aain’ it? 

Well, there were two schools of thought on the thing. The 
people that owned the land, of course, welcomed any sort 
of buyer. The people that had elected to remain, and the 
lesser Goyernmental, or County, authorities particularly, 
were worried about the effect on the tax rolls. People that 
elected to remain were the ones that got the benefit, as did 
the County. The people that remained were among the 
preferred applicants for grazing priyileges on the land. And 
yery fortunately, we normally had enough grazing to take 
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care of them. Our grazing was based on land, not the 
number of head. We never did go on that premise that a man 
had established preference for so many head. 

Ours was an established preference for so many acres, and 
that was adjusted annually to what forage there was 
available. It's still a good premiseto handle grazing. There's 

no use puttin' 1,000 cattle on a hundred sections if you 
can't raise 500 on it. It doesn't make sense. If it was 
capable of supportin' 500, we ran 500. If it was ten, we ran 

ten. And they had no choice. 

Oil was found on much of the lands, and of course the 
Counties benefited from the 25 percent in lieu of taxes. Our 
25 percent was solely restricted to school and road funds. 
You wouldn't believe it, but I've gotten up before County 
Commissioners' Courts and asked 'em, "What did you do 
with that money last year; show me your books where you 
spent it for roads and schools. I just drove over some of the 
roads." We had the authority to face 'em and do that. Of 
course, you don't dare do that now. But we didn't care; 
what did we have to lose? -- Just a job! 

Sometimes the District Judge would get a little bit red in the 
face and say, "Well, next year it will be a different story." 

Which meant, if he was reelected, because there was a 
reporter in the audience listenin' to my questions. "What did 

you do with that money?" Don't try it now, of course; it 
wouldn't be good politics. But in those days it was very 
effective. 

In the latter years, during the Eisenhower administration 
particularly, not as a national effort but as a local effort, the 
cattlemen were quite anxious to get this land back, and they 
were told by their own Counties, "You can't have it; we're 
gonna oppose you." And that's the reason why the LU 
Program has continued. We made a reputation, locally, of 
good land managers. 

Our policy of use of only the available grazing made sense 
to them. Our fees, compared to National Forest fees, were 
exorbitant. When I left, we were gettin' a dollar and a half 
per animal unit month for grazing. And of this, 25 percent 

went to the county. So they wanted us to be good land 
managers. 

You've been with the LU lands right from the beginning: saw 
them developed: saw them transferred from one agency to 
another, and finally end up in the Forest Service. Do vou 
think they still have a place in our economy? 

I think the goal of retiring the land to a more beneficial use 
has been achieved. Certainly it's been stabilized. I don't 
think any of the LU lands have contributed to dust storms; 
they have certainly contributed a lot to the local economy. 

stabilized it. They even participated for a very short time to 
the Soil Bank. I think they're in a good agency, an agency 
that is experienced in managing resources, and I think they 
should remain in an agency that has knowledge of resource 
management. I think the Program should be kept on the 
books. I don't think the law should be repealed, or ignored. 

I think in time we're gonna have more wild lands. In fact, 
right at the present time I can name several areas, including 
the bombing range at Clovis, or the Cannon Air Force Base. 
Those lands are just as wild as they can be; live sand dunes. 
Don't you think the agency to re-establish those lands into 
productive use should be the Forest Service, through the LU 
Program? 

Of course. Congress has to appropriate money to acquire 
lands, but again I think we have Congressmen in whose 
memory the work of Congressman Marvin Jones - who is 
still alive; he's now Chief Justice of the Court of Claims - 
we've got Congressmen from the Texas Panhandle still 
around and still aware of the benefits of this Program. 
Certainly Sam Rayburn was aware of it. I know President 
Johnson is aware of it because he was very active with 
Marvin Jones and Sam Rayburn in settin' up the Program in 

the very beginning. Yes, I think the lands have become 
productive; I think the Program is a good one. 

Mr. Hoyt Marvel was Project Manager on the Dallam County 
Land Utilization Project when it was taken over by the Forest 
Service. Hoyt continued on that project until 1961 when he 
transferred to the Prescott National Forest where he is 
presently employed as the District Forest Ranger on the 
Verde Ranger District. He was interviewed at Prescott, 
Arizona. His story about the L.U. lands follows. 

Now Hovt. where were vour early days spent? Your 

boyhood? 

My boyhood was spent in Hale County, Texas. That's about 
35 or 40 miles north of Lubbock, Texas. I was brought up 
on a ranch, a ranch and farm combination there in Hale 

County. 

Where did vou go to school? 

Well, I spent two years at a teacher's college. West Texas 
State Teachers College, with the thought maybe of going 
into the teaching profession. Then I transferred and went 
to school at Texas Tech, and finished there at Texas Tech 
at Lubbock. 

This transfer down there was a wise move because I went 
from the teaching profession into an agriculture profession. 

That seemed to fit the bill. 
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After I got out of there, I began working with the Govern¬ 
ment as a ranch planner and ranch organizer with the Soil 
Conservation Service. Later on I was transferred to the L. 
U. projects up at Dalhart in Dallam County, Texas, where I 
spent the next 11 years in developing, or attempting to 
develop that area that we had in the dust bowl days. 

When did vou start on that. Hovt? 

I started the work there myself in 1950. Prior to that, of 

course, there had been quite a little work done there. The 
biggest part of it had been in the seeding end of the deal. 
When I came there the development, that is, the fencing and 
watering and those kinds of things, were the major jobs to 
be done. 

Incidentally, you might be interested in knowing where this 
location is. It's part of the old XIT Ranch. Maybe you recall, 
or have read in history, the three million acres in the 
northern, or northwestern part of the Panhandle was traded 
to a syndicate out of Chicago by the name of Snyder. 

The Snyder Brothers built the capitol at Austin for three 
million acres of land. They later put a fence around it, the 
entire area. They made a slight mistake of something like 
546,000 acres, that they got fenced in with their headquar¬ 
ters. The entire area was later broken down into such 
ranches as the F. B. Wyatts, the Matadores, et cetera. The 
ranches were further broken down into smaller divisions 
which were later sold out as farms or small ranches. By 
small ranches, meaning 5,000 or 10,000 acres, or some¬ 

thing in that neighborhood. The headquarters for the 
northern division of the XIT Ranch was located at Buffalo 

Springs, a very large spring located something like four miles 
north of the old project headquarters. 

Now the people that sold off these small ranches, of course, 
broke 'em up into what we might call a development area. 
They built a hotel away out in the boondocks and they would 
bring the Easterners out and put 'em up at the hotel. They'd 
wine 'em and dine 'em for two or three days, and then take 
'em out and sell 'em a piece of land. The down payment on 
this land was just whatever they'd been able to determine 
they had in ready cash during the wining and dining. It might 
be $500 or a thousand, but they sold them the land. 

People then began to move in there from back in Missouri, 
Pennsylvania, all those areas, and buy this land and put it in 
cultivation. Naturally, they were building their homes as 
economically as they could. Most all of them had base¬ 
ments under their homes, and I'll have an interesting story 
to tell you in a minute about the basements in some of those 
homes. They began to plow up this country and put it into 
cultivation; of course the land by nature is susceptible to 
blowing. All that is necessary for it to blow is for it to 

become bare and dry. A wind always blows, so you have 
a blowing situation on hand. 

The cultivation started back there in about 1927 and 1928. 
They did pretty good with their farming the first year and 
made a good crop, in 1929 they made a good crop and got 
a pretty fair price for the commodity produced. And then the 
drought hit, and at the same time, the Depression came on. 
The cash they got for their crops was very small. Production 
was very low. Along inthe early '30s,many of those people 

said, "To Hell with It," and got up and left. 

Now when I say "got up and left" that's exactly what I 
mean. There were several of those old farm homes that had 
dinner settin' on the table. When I went there, you could find 
old homes that had dishes and plates on the table and dried 
pinto beans that had been cooked and left settin' on the table 
- been settin' there all that time, see. Syrup pitcher with the 
syrup long since turned to sugar, still on the tables in those 

old homes there. 

They'd moved out, went on back to Missouri, Pennsylvania, 
or wherever they might have come from, and turned the 
farm back to whoever was holding the mortgage on the 

land. In many cases that was the Federal Land Bank, and in 
other cases it was life insurance companies. 

Many people have the impression that a lot of that land was 

bought by the Government against the will of the people, 
which isn't true. The people in that locality petitioned the 
Federal Government to buy this land in order to restore it to 
at least a stable condition, if not a productive condition. The 
land was bought, in many cases, from the Federal Land Bank 
by sending out a team of appraisers. They arrived at some 
fair price, and the Federal Government bought from the 
Federal Land Bank. 

There were a few cases where the people were paid up 
sufficiently that the Government did buy from them. After 
many months of searching to locate the people, we'd find 
'em back in Missouri, and Tennessee, and write to them and 
ask if they would like to sell their land and, if so, what they 
would like to have for it. It was surprising -- some of those 

people would write back and their letters were rather 
pathetic. They'd write back and say they'd like to sell their 
land, that would be the essence of the message, and 
wondered if $500 would be too much to ask for a section 
of land. Well, in those cases, the appraisers did go out to 
value the land and they would come up with probably 
$3.00, $4.00, maybe $5.00 an acre. Those people were 
reimbursed on that basis rather than the $500 that they 

thought was all that was due them. 

Were vou involved in that land acquisition program? 
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To a minor extent. My only involvement would be to locate 
the land and tell the people workin' in our Department the 
condition of the land. By that I mean whether it was 
hummocked to the extent that land leveling would be 
needed to bring it back to a productive state, or just the 
general physical topography of the land. Then of course, 
when any appraisers came around I would naturally act as 
a guide to take them to the land, to that particular block of 
land. 

Then you were a field man? 

I was a field man strictly, yes sir. As these people sold out 
their land to the Federal Government, they, in many cases, 
relinquished all mineral rights to it. Some few did hold their 
mineral rights. On the particular tract of land where the 
headquarters buildings used to stand, there on the old 
Texiine project, that block of ground was held for mineral 
purposes. In latter years, those people were able to realize 
a considerable sum' of money, up in the hundreds of 
thousands of dollars, in mineral leases for this land. They 
had sold the land to the Government, but they retained the 

mineral rights. So they were able to at least realize quite a 
sum of money from their lands from mineral rights. 

Did that happen on many of those L. U. lands? 

Not too many. The other L. U. lands didn't have as much 
mineral development; that is, oil and gas, I mean when I 

speak of minerals. They were so located that there wasn't 
too much oil and gas activity in that area. As you know, in 
that Panhandle around Pampa and up in there, there's lots 
of oil and gas activity. We were only a few miles west of 
there, so some of them did realize quite a little bit from their 
mineral rights. 

After this land had been acquired - of course it went on for 
several years - naturally the first thing the people wanted 
to see, after the Government bought a section of land, the 
next day they wanted to see grass growin' on it. As a result, 
we did a lot of emergency tilling by using the old LO type 
tractor and the free-bottom lister (a plow with a double 
moldboard], as it was commonly called; a buster that 
throws up a large bed. 

A peculiar incident happened one year there, when we were 
experiencing quite severe dust storms. I had three men on 
those LO tractors, up on a particular section of ground, 
northwest from the compound office. They were there 
simply to emergency-till, bust it up, clod it up, to try to keep 
it from blowin'. They were going around the section of land 

instead of straight up through it; they were goin' around the 
outside area as though you were using a turning plow or a 
breaking plow, or something like that. 

The dust became dark enough that those men became lost 
in their sense of direction. Time to quit and they stopped at 
a corner which they thought was the southeast corner of the 

Figure 31. A sand drift around the chicken house on the Harold Murdock farmstead. Mr. Murdock lost 1200 acres of wheat. Dust 
storms forced him to move away from the farm. 
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Figure 32. The winds of the dustbowl have piled up large drifts 

of soil near this farmer's barn near Liberal, Kansas. Resettlement 

Administration photo by Rothstein. 

of the section. In reality, they were at the northwest corner. 
They started walking what they thought was towards the 
office. They walked for about three miles and wound up in 
a grove of trees. When they got to this grove of trees they 
realized where they were. So they just sat down and made 
camp right there in the trees that night and waited until the 
next morning, 'til it cleared up, so they could come back to 
the office. They spent the night there in that grove of trees. 
Lost in a dust storm! 

Those storms would come over; cows would go in the barn 
for milking, and chickens went in the chicken house, at 
twelve noon, or one o'clock, right in the middle of the 

daytime they’d actually come up and go into their buildings, 
thinking it was night -- time to go to sleep. 

Well, after we began to get a few of those emergency things 
taken care of, we began to seed grass. A lot of it was on 

an experimental basis, on a trial basis. Grass seed was 
awfully scarce. Up to that time, no one had ever paid much 
attention about producing grass seed - row crops and 
annuals, sure, but there was no major production of grass 
seed. So we planted most anything we could get ahold of, 
from sand drop-seed to Johnson grass, and on down the 
line. 

On our places there were quite a few buildings. We tore 
down quite a number of them. Then we had an incident; a 
little cyclone at this small town in Oklahoma. The name has 
slipped my mind now, but I'll think of it in a moment. The 
old FHA, the Farm Home Administration, acquired 37 of our 
buildings as donations to them. The people whose homes 
had blown away in this cyclone were given these houses. 
All the cost to them was the transportation on the house; 

the FHA picked them up and moved them over to the little 
town; all they had to pay was the transportation. 

I mentioned before, quite a few of those houses had 
basements under 'em. I had a foreman that was doin' this 
emergency tillage work with his crew. He was quite an old 
character. He believed in puttin' in from sun-up to sundown 
for a day’s work, although we were on an eight hour basis. 
He had some men doing some work for him and they'd 

always quit and be back around the office around four 
o’clock in the afternoon. He decided he'd fix it so they'd 
stay out their allotted time. On this particular day, he caught 
two of 'em down in the basement of one of those old 
houses, more or less resting, so he just closed and bolted the 
door and came on back. One of these men weighed around 
150-60 pounds, was rather fat and portly, and couldn’t get 
out. The smaller one could get out, but he decided he'd be 
a good Joe and wouldn't go off and leave his buddy. 

Well, along about twelve o'clock, this foreman I was 
speakin' of felt a little sorry for 'em, so he did make ’em a 
sandwich each and a pot of coffee and took it over and 
lowered it down to ’em on a wire, but they stayed there all 
night. They were there ready to go to work at eight the next 
morning. From then on, Joe didn’t have trouble keepin' his 
men out there workin' until five o'clock in the afternoon. 

The story went around over there that those people, when 
they were issued their deeds and title to the land, were 
issued a running deed, 'cause they never knew where their 
farm was gonna be. So the running deed was the general 
issuance over there. 

Later, as the thing began to develop, we began our fencing 

and water development, that is, our wells and windmills. I 
had set a deadline when I went there in 1950 to have that 
all completed by July 1, 1955. It was supposed to have 
been about all done by then. We almost made it. 

Where was vour headquarters exactly? 

Well, originally the headquarters was in Dalhart, the county 
seat of Dallam County, which was about 35 miles from 
what we called the working compound. At one time we had 
the entire top floor of the Keems Building there in Dalhart, 
which gave us a series of some 12 or 15 offices. 

Later on, as the work was finished, we cut down on 
personnel and came down to a much smaller office. After 
I went there in '50, I gradually worked the office out of 
Dalhart, out to the compound, as we called it - a working 
area 17 miles due east of Texiine, Texas. There's where the 

office stayed until the time came when I left there. I 
understand now their office has been moved into town. 
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The original set-up of our particular unit was called the Tri- 
State, because it did include part of Oklahoma, part of New 
Mexico, and of course the portion there in Dallam County in 

Texas. It was the Tri-State Land Utilization Project. The 
acreage in the old Tri-State was around 156,000 acres. 

Your old district there at Texiine you call the Dallam County 
L.U.. what was the acreage in that? 

There's about 96,000 acres. Of course, that was checker- 
boarded all over that whole northern half of Dallam County. 
That was quite an interesting thing - we had to do our own 
surveying, that is, the engineering part of it, to locate land 
corners and so forth. We did get into quite a few hassles, 
of course, on location of certain corners and certain lines. 
But we were able to get out of it. 

This stuff, these lands, were quite scattered because the 
Federal Government stayed away from buying land that 
was already in grass. Now, of course, in many cases in 
buying from the Federal Land Bank, their policy was "Take 
it all or none." We did wind up buying some grassland that 
was in a very poor condition, hummocky and blown, et 

cetera. It was treated just about like the regular land that 
had been under cultivation. The Government even bought 
40-acre tracts, down to that small. If a fellow only owned 
40 acres, and its condition justified, they bought it. 

Of course, quite a few people held onto cultivated lands and 
didn't sell it, and they gave us quite a lot of trouble. Soil 
would blow from their lands onto ours, that we'd tried to 

seed, and over the fences, after they'd been built. I believe 
you saw some of those fences over there. 

I saw some of them. 

I know we had a visiting crew from Washington, Forest 

Service people. I think they were down there just checking 
up to see what that old boy down at Texiine was doin'. I had 
put in an emergency request for $3,500 to plow out some 
fence line. The idea being to take an ordinary road patrol, 
or"maintainer," as some people call 'em, and move the sand 
away from the fence line. They gave me the money but I 
think they were checkin' up, to see just what was going on. 
As I went around with 'em, I showed 'em some of those 
fences that were actually covered up. It was unbelievable 
to those men that had lived most of their lives back in the 
Northeast. 

Then I told them, I said, "If you think that’s a little bit odd, 
we'll go on down the road here a few miles and I'll show you 
where the fence is blown out of the ground and the posts 
are two feet off the ground." So when they saw that, they 
realized that they had a little bit different situation from a 
wet forest with a lot of pine trees in it. 

Back to these patchwork or broken-up tracts that we had. 
This is a story told by my engineer to some of these visiting 
dignitaries that were out. This fellow could tell a long story 

about it. 

We started at a certain point with a survey crew and we 
went north so many miles, we turned and went west so 
many miles, and then south so many miles, and then back 
east so many miles, to a point we were tryin' to locate. We 
drove our peg into the ground and dug all around and 
couldn't find the iron pipe. So we went back the same route 
we’d come and we took a turn and started back, and we 
went back again the same way. We went north five miles, 
and we went west six miles, and south three miles, and 
back east four miles, and drove a peg. We shoveled all 
around it and couldn't find any pipe. Finally we decided, 
well, we'd just dig up that peg and set a post there. When 
we dug up that peg we found we had drove the peg into the 
two inch pipe -- that was the reason we couldn't find the 
stake! 

That was pretty good engineering. 

That was pretty accurate. - pretty good engineering. 

Of course, on the Oklahoma strip and the Texas strip, all that 
land a lot of people have heard called "No Man's Land" for 
many years; at one time there were five surveys along that 
strip. Texas claimed the strip about a quarter of a mile north 
of the present State line. Oklahoma was claimin' a strip 
about a quarter of a mile south of the line. So they had an 
overlapping in there of, oh, about half a mile. 

In that overlapping there were five different surveys - the 
old Antonio Rey Survey, the FDY survey, and the FWD, 
which is the Fort Worth and Denver Railroad survey. And 
then we had the Seneca surveys in there. All were supposed 
to be legal surveys. Of course, later on in years, the GLO 
did go in there and resurvey the whole thing and established 
the definite line that became the line between Oklahoma and 
Texas. That portion north that had been in dispute was 
given to Oklahoma and the portion south to Texas. Those 
blocks of land then were sold off to individuals who owned 
the land adjoining. 

Well, in many cases along those strips, both in Oklahoma 
and in Texas, the Federal Government owned the land 
adjoining them. We weren't in position to buy that land from 
the State or do anything about it. So there was all this 
squabble as to whether that fence line around our L. U. 
pastures was gonna be a quarter of a mile north, or whether 
it was gonna be down on the old State line. In many cases, 
we just waited until the other fellow fenced his place north 
of there, and then ran a fence line north and joined onto him. 
That way we did acquire the benefit and use of that strip 
country in there. 
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Of course the strip country, or "No Man's Land", you know, 
a lot of old-timers said all it was for was a passageway or 
strip-way for the Indians out West to go back through the 
Indian Reservation into Oklahoma. 

It is always a big feeling of pride to go back into that country 
now and see some of those old areas that were blowin’, and 
the fields with sand ripples on 'em just like the bottom of a 
creek bed, or like any desert; go back there now and see a 
good stand of side oats gramma, blue gramma, switch grass 
or something like that on it, and cattle growin', grazin' all 
over the place. 

Think back and remember the time when, by Golly, you 
didn't dare go across there, either afoot or in an automobile 
or truck, because you'd get stuck in the sand. You didn't 
know whether you were gonna get lost or not because those 
dust storms can be a little more severe than a snow storm. 
You get choked up and can't breathe. Those people tell me 
that in those early days, when the dust was blowin', a lot 
of people died with what they called dust pneumonia. 

To get into some of those old houses that I mentioned 
earlier, and see the tables still set with dishes was a pathetic 
thing. The sand and dust would be maybe two, three feet 
deep inside the house. All the basements, or half base¬ 
ments, or quarter basements, that they might have had, 
would be full of sand. 

After we started working there, we found tractors and 
combines that had been completely covered up. Due to our 
work of seeding and working around there, we stopped sand 
from blowing, and as a result then, the sand began to move 
off the high places and would uncover tractors and com¬ 
bines that had been covered up. The tractors and combines 
weren't rusty or anything; they were just as pretty and 
bright as the day there were covered up. That sand was dry, 
powder dry. Moisture never had penetrated deep enough 
down to cause any rusting or oxidation. 

A lot of people acquired the combines and tractors simply 
by going over and digging them out. We had no use for 
them. We hadn't bought them to begin with. In those early 
days people acquired tractors and combines and used them 
for years. 

When you took over the land in that depleted situation and 
started reseeding, what did vou do with it? How did you use 
it? 

Well, we began to at least get a part of it under control, by 
that I mean we had a stand of grass on it and had it up in such 
condition that it was ready to be used. Of course, those 
people in that part of the country needed all the help they 
could get; they needed all the income they could possibly 
scare up. As we developed a pasture, with maybe a section 

in it, maybe four or five sections, then the problem came as 
to who to put on that pasture, who to give the permit to. 

We issued permits, practically identical to the way we do on 
the Forests today, but the problem was "who". We always 
had 15 to 20 men after every unit as it would be completed 
and developed. 

The criterion that we applied was this: the man who had 
a unit, that is, a farm of his own, that could supply feed for 
those cattle during the time they weren't on the project 
pasture, was given Number One priority. Then Number Two 
consideration was the closeness of his farm, the nearness 
of his farm, or range combination, to the unit. That might 
in some cases eliminate the Number One man because he'd 
be too far away to come to the unit, so then we'd maybe 
drop down to Number Two man and see how he would fit 
in. 

Eventually we'd come down to what we thought was the 
fair man to go on the project. He would go on a permit basis. 
Of course, they only ran cattle six months out of the year, 
during the summertime. He would be required to show 
evidence that he had enough feed, or enough pasture of 
some kind, to take care of his cattle during the winter 
months when he wasn't out on the project. 

I look back at it now - then I didn't think too much about it 
- but I look back now and think that was quite a responsi¬ 
bility to put a Ranger out there on the desert. He had to say 
whether Sam Jones had it or John Jones had it. It was quite 
a responsibility and, by the same token, whether it was right 
or wrong - I'm not tryin' to justify it either way- but the land 
managers in those early days ruled those things with an iron 
hand. 

I remember I used to go out and make my own analysis. I 
mean, we didn't do the analyses like we do 'em now, but 
we did go out and take clippings, et cetera. I determined 
myself how many cattle could go on a pasture, and then I 
determined who was gonna put the cattle on the pasture. 
Then we had a figure that was given to us, on the average 
price of cattle in the 17 Western States, and we figured the 
grazing fee right there on the District. We wrote the permit, 
we collected the money and mailed it in. And we had very, 
very little trouble. It wasn't only me, all those fellows on the 
L. U. projects went through that same procedure; they 
determined who was gonna get the pasture. 

Well now, you can feature in this day and time, what a 
hassle would happen whenever you'd say, "All right, you've 
got the pasture, and you haven't." And of course, by the 
same token, at that time we were required to take an 
application. In other words, if you came in and said "I want 
to make an application for grazing," we had to take the 
application. We might not be able to honor it, or course, or 
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do anything with it, but we had to sit down and discuss it 
with you and take that application and try to figure out what 
we were gonna do. 

What size did permits usually run? You said some of those 
farms, or acquisitions, got down to 40 acres. Did you have 
any 40-acre pastures? 

I had, on my District, some two or three 40-acre pastures. 
In those cases, well, in every case on my District, we were 
able to include them into a pasture of private lands. They 
were used very similar to the way we use off-and-on 
permits, or the G3B4 permit today. The acreage of land in 
the entire unit was determined and we were paid on a share 
basis of the acreage we had. 

Then, of course, there were quite a few others where the 
farm, or farm-and-range combination were small, but would 
be adjacent to each other - we could include several of 
these farms into one unit, as a grazing unit you see. We 
might have several farms included into one unit. The largest 
single unit, that I recall we had, was 16 sections in one unit. 
That was in the "high lonesome" country, as we called it. 
Later, as a management phase, we did break that 16- 
section pasture down into four units, and it seemed to work 
out better. 

An incident I had back there one time in this "high lonesome" 
country we're talkin' about - we took our grazing applica¬ 
tions in March, and the permits were written right in the 
office there. The notice was mailed to the permittees, and 
they came into the office and gave us their checks for the 
grazing fees. All that took place during March. It's a little 
bit hard, along in March, to tell whether you're gonna have 
a lot of grass that summer. Everyone, most everyone at 
least, realized that. 

I had one fellow one time -- it didn't rain after those grazing 
permits were issued, the drouth went on up into summer. 
He decided he'd just sue Old Hoyt because I'd sold him grass 
that wasn't there. He proceeded to go to Fort Worth, which 
was our Regional Office at that time, and talked to the man 
in charge of L. U. lands. Said he was gonna sue me because 
I had sold him grass that wasn't there. Well, the fellow was 
real diplomatic and talked to the boss for quite a while, and 
finally got a date set up on which we'd all meet and look at 
the land, look the country over. In the meantime, it started 
to rain and, as you know, that country can change 90 
percent when it starts raining a little bit. 

The date arrived and the man from Fort Worth came out and 
we visited at the office a while. Then we went over to the 
pasture where we were to meet the permittee; we found 
him right out in the middle of the pasture, just bogged down 
clear up to the hub on his pick-up - stuck, couldn't get out. 
He spent the entire day explaining and apologizing to us for 

his cattle being so fatl That's the first - and the only time 
- I've ever had a permittee apologize to me as a range 
manager for his cattle bein' so fat. But that happened during 
that trip. 

What happened if you set too many numbers on a pasture 
and they overgrazed it before the end of the permitted 
season? 

Well, that's what I was speakin' of a while ago, whether it 
was right or wrong, the range manager did rule with an iron 
hand. We were supposed to be able to see whether that was 
gonna be over-used or not. As it got along to the middle of 
the season, or three-fourths of the season was gone; then 
we had the prerogative of goin' out there and tailin' that 
man, and seein' to it that he moved so many head off of 
there - and he did it. Then we'd come back the next year 
and we'd say, "Now look, we overgrazed a little. We can't 
put 70 head on there; we can only put 45." And 45 was 
what he put on there. We never had any trouble. We never 
had trouble with a permittee runnin' in to the Supervisor's 
office complainin' about this or about that thing. They 
accepted it; it was that way. 

If you had a man remove some stock before the end of the 
permitted season, did you make a refund of his payment? 

That's right; we either made a refund or extended it into 
the next year's payment - gave him credit for it. He knew 
that he wasn't gonna lose his grazing fees that he had paid. 
Of course, those grazing fees were considerably higher then 
they were on the average National Forest. 

How high did they run? 

They have gone as high as $2.09 per cow per month. In 
other words, run a cow for a six-months' period, the fee 
would run in the neighborhood of $15.00. 

I did have a couple of permittees on my District back there 
that also had Forest permits, in the neighbor of Magdalena. 
When I first found out about it, I thought, "Well, my trouble's 
fixin' to start because they're payin' probably 32 or 33 
cents, and here they're paying $2.09". But both of those 
fellows told me they'd rather pay $2.09 on that country 
there than 31 cents in the country they were located on at 
Magdalena. Management-wise as much as anything, not 
particularly from the amount of forage, but distances they 
had to go to it. 

Did you ever make an attempt to cut out the ones that were 
using poor conservation practices? 

Right. At one time we were set up that way. It wasn't the 
Soil Conservation at that time, it was the agency that 
started back in there just prior to the Soil Conservation 
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Service -- Resettlement. They had to have more or less a 
plan on their place, and that plan might be very simple, but 

it would require them to have so many milk cows, so many 
hogs, so many chickens, and those kinds of things, before 
they could qualify to get on grazing. Then later on, the 
weeding out; actually, it looked like it might be a big 
problem, but those fellows weeded themselves out. Their 
management practices and their conservation measures in 
the way they took care of their own place, was such that 
they just naturally weeded themselves out of the picture 
and lost their cattle. 

I had one particularfellow that was issued a permit. I believe 
he had 60 head of cattle, and he got a little bit concerned, 
a little uneasy, about the market just prior to going on the 
allotment, so he sold the cattle to an individual and then in 
turn leased him his permit. Well, this fellow that leased the 
section of ground, or whatever the acreage, it appeared to 
him that there was an awful lot of grass on it, so he put on 
80-some cows instead of the 60 listed on the permit. 

We used to count cattle in that country by plane. We'd fly 
over the country and count 'em. I flew over and counted his 
cattle and found the 80-some head on there rather than the 
60 head. I wrote the fellow a letter and explained to him that 
the permit was for 60 head and a few days later I was back 
over the country again, and there was still 80 head. Well, 
to make a long story short, we wrote him several letters and 
couldn't get an answer from him at all. I'd drive by there 
with a pick-up and couldn't find anyone at home. Found out 
that they were in Hawaii and California and places like that 
on vacation all this time, and he hadn't been gettin' his 
letters. 

Finally they came back from their vacation and I went by the 
house and stopped and talked to his wife. She was one of 
those ladies that didn't know anything about their husband's 
business, so she just told me the whole story, just what had 
happened - about sellin' the cattle to John Doe over there, 
and he put 'em on there, and the whole works. I went back 
to the office and dug out my manuals and sat down, and I 
just cake-booked it right down the list, 1,2,3, and came up 
with a bill of $498. 

I went over and presented this bill to the fellow. I had my 
letters to him and I had his letters written back to me, and 
mine written back to him and all that, ready for his signature. 
So when he saw what I had there, he said, "All right, what 
do I owe you?" and I told him $498. He just wrote me out 
a check. I put it in my pocket and went on back to the office. 

When I sent in all of the papers and I had read a little bit 
further in the manual -- of course, it always pays to read 
those things - but had that amounted to as much as $500, 
I'd have had to gone all the way to Washington with it, to 
get a settlement. I've always been accused, in the Regional 

Office at Fort Worth, of purposely settin' it at $498 instead 
of $500. But some of those things that you look back on, 
in reminiscing, that happened back there in those early days, 
they were quite the thing, all right. 

It was a new proaram. a more or less new aaencv. There 
must have been a lot of thinos that vou just had to set a 
precedent. 

That's right; we just had to say, "This is what it's gonna be." 
Maybe the next time you look back, or think back to what 
you did last time and do the same thing again, the first thing 
you know you've got the precedent set. And that's it. The 
next fellow that comes along will be a lot smarter, but still 
he looks back and says, "Well, this is the way it's been done, 
so maybe I'd better do it that way." And they'd pretty well 
set up the way. But it was a great experience and one that 
I'll always remember. As I mentioned a while ago, to go 
back now and see some of those places that I personally had 
a hand in developing, seeding, putting a fence around it, 
putting mills on it, and then writing the permit to so-and-so 
to put cattle on there; it does give you a feeling of 
accomplishment. It's just something you've done. 

Are the pastures holding up pretty well? 

They're holding up real well. Of course as you know, in 
1956 we almost had another dust bowl. I firmly believe that 
if we hadn't had that country, or so much of it, back in grass 
to break up strip cropping, I firmly believe that we'd have 
had another dust bowl then. We had less rain that year than 
we did any time in the dust bowl - less rain recorded there 
on the official rain gauge. And we had the wind. 

The only thing we were lacking in a dust bowl was bare 
ground, bare soil. That was what we had in the Thirties; no 
stubble, nothing to hold it. It was dry, and the wind always 
blows. So the three elements for a dust bowl were there in 
the Thirties, where we only had two in '56; that was the 
wind and the drouth, lack of moisture. We did have 
something on the soil, something on the ground to hold it 
down. 

The old building that was used as an office there, Eddie - 
you visited me in the old building - well, that was an old 
homestead building. The basement of the building was 
completely full of dust or sand. It's a peculiar thing, in that 
country that isn't a real sand. We think of it as sand blowing, 
but it's a very fine textured soil, with coloration a little on the 
darkish side - chocolate brown. It's so fine textured that it 
just moves with the least amount of wind. Consequently, 
when you had those hummocky areas, even if no more than 
two feet, it was extremely difficult to get anything growin' 
back on them because of lack of penetration of moisture. 
It'd rain, and that fine silt would just seal over and the rain 
would run off. Because of the fact it was hummocked, there 
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was a slope there, you see, which gave it a chance to run 
off. The soil was fine textured, a fine sandy loam, I suppose 
you’d classify it, in soil terminology. You can still see the 
sand marks in that house, about four or five feet deep. It 
had just eddied and accumulated in there, just like snow will 
swirl around and drift up -- the sand was doin' the same 
thing. 

Was the basic cause of the dust bowl the type of farming 
that they were doing, or was it because they were farming 
at all? 

Well, it was some of both. I think primarily it was the type 
of farming they were doing. They were farming that 
country; a big portion of it was in wheat, which was drilled 
in. That wheat land was prepared by a disc plow which, at 
the most, only stirred the ground down four or five inches 
deep. And then, of course, they'd get this soil bare-tilled and 
they'd cultivate it with those disc plows, which were 
commonly called one-way plows. By that, they meant 
they'd throw the soil all one way. The result was that this 
ground was only disturbed for four or five inches on top, and 
there was no clay or more compacted soil brought up from 
deeper and mixed in with it. 

That was proved later on by what we call deep plowing over 
certain areas, so that they can control blowing, or 90 
percent of it, anyhow. Then, of course, it goes right back 
to the fact that particular type of soil shouldn't have ever 
been put under plow to begin with. And after it was, the 
type of farming methods they were using and the soil they 
were farming, just weren't compatible at all. 

Now there were some areas over there - you remember the 
picnic area that I developed? There were two sections in 
that original purchase by those people -- they were sitting 
on a gold mine if they'd been able to stick it out. Most any 
place on the 1,280 acres you can build an artesian well. 
You'd hit water anywhere from four to five feet down. 
Those people sure didn't know it, didn’t realize it, and as a 
result they sold out to the Government, or turned it back to 
the Federal Land Bank and let the Government buy it. That 
particular block of ground could have been plowed and put 
into some form of cultivation, and with proper conservation 
practices it could have been made to produce an abundance 
of material over the years. 

Would you recommend that any of those lands that were 
acquired under this program be turned back to farming? 

No, I couldn't recommend it. You might be able to pick out 
small tracts of from 20 to 30 acres, something like that, that 
from all appearance might safely be put into cultivation. But 
the majority of it can't be. Even those small areas - if, in 
their farming they let the land become bare, that is, no 
organic matter on it, no straw, no mulch, and they hit a dry 

year, it will blow. They can plow all they want to, the soil 
is of such a nature that it will blow when it’s dry and the wind 
is blowing. As we know, the wind blows nearly all the time. 

In that country, the only two elements you need there for a 
dust bowl are bare soil and dry weather. And we hit those 
ever so often, we know. And by the same token, if blowing 
gets started, there may be a good sodded pasture, grass¬ 
land, on the east and southeast of those places, this blowing 
area will move right on over and start them to blowing. You 
just get a chain reaction, right on across the grassland. I've 
seen it happen. 

Hovt. when you’d oet those pastures in good shape, was 
there much of a demand for return to private ownership? 

Well, there was at one time, quite an agitation, people 
wantin' it returned to private ownership; not, of course, 
from the people that were usin' the pastures, but from other 
people who thought maybe they were entitled to use the 
pastures and for various and sundry reasons had never been 
given a permit. Back several years ago. I've written reports 
about that country to our Soil Conservation Service offices, 
and I always recommended against returning it to private 
ownership, simply because of the type of country it is and 
the fact that ever so often you're gonna have a drouth in that 
country and the wind is always blowin'. 

Hovt. from vour wide experience would you think that there 
are other lands over there that should be purchased by the 
Government and rehabilitated? 

One time there was - there was a lot of that land that 
should've been purchased and put under this controlled 
system, and put back under stable use. When our Soil Bank 
program came into effect, there were many of those 
farmers that were farming a section or two of land, that put 
all of it they could into the soil bank program. Well, that 
enhanced our program. In other words, it was compatible 
with it. 

I had several pastures where I always had a blowing 
problem. Cultivated fields on the west and northwest of 
those pastures would give me anywhere from 200 feet to 
a quarter of a mile of my seeded acreage covered with sand 
each year. Those fields, naturally, when they went into the 
Soil Bank, they'd put 'em into grass and they've been there 
since that time, and that's eliminated the problem. I think 
those areas in that Soil Bank - if they ever turn that loose 
and let those fellows go back in there and plow it up, they 
are gonna have the same situation we had before. Then 
those areas, those sections in there, I think, should be 
purchased by the Government and put back into stable 
condition. As long as the Soil Bank picture goes along and 
those places stay in grass, it's fine. 
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It did supplement our program, then? 

It supplemented our program and, after all, it wasn’tthe fact 
that the Federal Government wanted to own land in Dallam 
County; that wasn’t the purpose; the purpose was to get 
in there and try to stabilize and keep it from blowin'. So if 
a private individual does the same thing, why, we heartily 
agree with it. 

Hovt. when I was over there you showed me some 
cooperative work with the State on wildlife restoration. 
There were some quail plantings and vou were putting in 
shrubs for a quail habitat improvement. Did that ever 
amount to anything? 

It turned out really above my expectations. I was a little 
dubious to begin with, but it has turned out well. They 
continued that kind of work, and that is a wonderful country 
over there for blue quail now. They use those plantings, of 
course, for cover as well as for feed-producing plants. We 
had some failures where we were experimenting on shrub¬ 
bery. We found skunk-bush was very good cover, it would 
really take and stay. Russian olive is a good plant, and the 
wild cherry is another planting we used. I think it's been 
worthwhile; it's been good. The sportsmen in that particular 
area were pretty hard pressed for some sporting activity 
within a reasonable driving distance of their homes. Of 

course, they don't hunt in those particular areas, but the 
quail move out from those areas and out into the hunting 
areas where they do have good hunting. 

Do vou think there'll ever be a time when mavbe more of 
those lands should be used for recreation purposes rather 
than grazing purposes? 

Well, they probably should. Many of those farmers and 
ranchers have, through better methods of farming, and their 
agricultural conservation practices, gotten on top of the 
situation considerably. The local need for supplemental 
grazing isn't nearly as great as it was at one time. Conse¬ 
quently, I think there can be quite a bit of that country put 
into recreational uses. I'd be highly in favor of lakes and 
dams for fishing. 

Of course the Regional Office in Albuquerque used to ask me 
about the fishing situation over there, you know, and I 
always answered: my pat answer, "We're right in the heart 
of the fishing country; 300 miles in any direction there's 
good fishing. Any direction you want to go." But I do think 
that, well, that little old picnic area was an example. As far 
as intensive use, it was almost unbelievable the way that 
thing was used. And that was, to me, good evidence of the 
need of other similar types. 
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APPENDIX A: 
REGIONAL OFFICE ORGANIZATIONS 

NO TE: An attempt has been made to add to Tucker's data and bring the lists up to date through 1992. Names with dates 
post-1964 have been added by the Editor. 

TABLE 1. Forest Superintendents for Forest Reserves, Southern District in the office located at Santa Fe, N.M. 

Incumbent 

John D. Benedict 
William H. Buntain 
Isaac B. Hanna 

Title 

Forest Superintendent 
Forest Superintendent 
Forest Superintendent 

Term of Office 

1897 -1899 
1899 - 5/1900 

5/1900 - 1/1905 

TABLE 2. District and Regional Foresters, District and Region 3, U.S. Forest Service in the office located at Albu¬ 
querque, N.M. 

Incumbent 

Arthur C. Ringland 
Pajjl G. Redington 
Frank C. W. Pooler 
Frank C. W. Pooler 
Phillip V. Woodhead 
C. Otto Lindh 
Fred H. Kennedy 
William D. Hurst 
Milo Jean Hassell 
Sotero Muniz 
David F. Jolly 
Larry Henson 

Title 

District Forester 
District Forester 
District Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 
Regional Forester 

Term of Office 

12/08 - 4/16 
4/16 - 12/19 
1/20 - 5/30 
5/30 - 6/45 
7/45 - 7/49 

10/49 - 10/55 
10/55 - 1/66 
2/66 - 6/76 

8/76 - 7/85 
10/85 - 10/88 
12/88 - 1/92 
2/92 . 

TABLE 3. Personnel in Charge of District and Regional Organizations from start of District 3, December 1908. 

Incumbent Title Term of Office 

H. B. Jamison District Law Officer 12/08 - 7/10 
Blake Franklin Assistant to Solicitor 7/10 - 3/12 
D. F. McGowan Assistant to Solicitor 4/12 - 12/13 
J. 0. Seth Assistant to Solicitor 1/14 - 12/17 
Morton M. Cheney Assistant to Solicitor 1/18 - 3/19 
Charles S. Brothers Assistant to Solicitor 4/19 - 2/22 
Morton M. Cheney Assistant to Solicitor 2/22 - 9/22 
A. McNaught Assistant to Solicitor 10/22 - 9/23 
Wendell Rawlins Assistant to Solicitor 10/23 - 9/24 
Edwin S. French Assistant to Solicitor 10/24 - 1930 
Edwin S. French Regional Law Officer and 

Senior Attorney 1930 - 1950 
Edwin S. French Attorney in Charge 1950 - 1954 

(Unit transferred to Solicitor's Office in 1954.1 
Dick Fowler Attorney in Charge 1954 - 1975 
Adrian Pedron Attorney in Charge 1975 - 8/91 
Ethel J. Abeita Attorney in Charge 1-92 . 
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Unit Name 

Operation 

Incumbent Title Term of Office 

A. 0. Waha Chief 12/08 
Assistant District Forester 3/10 - 6/17 

Don P. Johnston Assistant District Forester 7/17 - 9/18 
Ward Shepard Forest Examiner 10/18 - 3/19 
Robert L. Deering Forest Examiner 4/19 - 9/19 
Aldo Leopold Assistant District Forester 10/19 - 10/24 
Joseph C. Kircher Assistant District Forester 10/24 - 2/25 

Vacant 3/25 - 5/25 
Hugh G. Calkins Assistant District Forester 5/25 - 5/30 

Assistant Regional Forester 5/30 - 2/34 
Stanley F. Wilson Assistant Regional Forester 2/34 - 5/36 
George W. Kimball Assistant Regional Forester 7/36 - 12/50 
Mathew H. Davis Assistant Regional Forester 1/51 - 1/62 
Walter L. Graves Assistant Regional Forester 1/62 . 
Joe Hundley 
Al Smith 

Changes in Unit designation, with dates of Changes: 

Operation- 12/08 
Operation, Fire Control, 
and Personnel Management - 7/37 

Operation and Fire Control - 1/42 

Administrative Management - 8/57 

Operation - 7/61 

[The system of Assistant Regional Foresters, or "ARFs", was discontinued in 1974 and replaced with a new 
three-Deputy organization. In this new system, the line officers who had been ARFs were titled "Directors". 
Thomas G. Schmeckpeper, who continued until 1989 as Deputy for State and Private Forestry, reported for duty 
on July 1,1974 as one of the original three Deputies in this Region. The other Deputy areas are Resources (William 
L. Evans, then Gary E. Cargill, James Overby, David Jolly and R. Forrest Carpenter); and Administration (Robert 
E. Carey, then Sotero Muniz and Louis R. Volk). The number of Director areas, or Staff Units, was much greater 
than the old ARF areas. The following charts trace only the continuity of the old units without attempting to trace 
the branching of all the new ones.] 

Unit Name 

Silviculture 

Incumbent Title Term of Qffice 

T. S. Woolsey, Jr. Chief of Division 12/08 - 3/10 

Assistant District Forester 3/10 - 12/11 
R. L. Rogers 
Joseph C. Kircher 

Forest Examiner 1/12 - 9/12 

and R. L. Rogers Forest Examiner 10/12 - 12/12 
A. B. Rrecknagel Assistant District Forester 1/13 - 3/13 
Joseph C. Kircher Forest Examiner 4/13 - 6/15 
0. M. Butler Assistant District Forester 7/15 - 6/17 
H. H. Chapman Assistant District Forester 7/17 - 10/19 
R. E. Marsh Assistant District Forester 10/19 - 3/26 
Quincy Randles Assistant District Forester 4/26 - 5/30 
Quincy Randles Assistant Regional Forester 5/30 - 10/46 
C. Otto Lindh Assistant Regional Forester 10/46 - 10/49 
Dahl J. Kirkpatrick Assistant Regional Forester 1/50 - 3/64 
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Unit Name 

Grazing 

Unit Nanne 

Lands 

Marlin C. Galbraith 
Roy Bond 
Mark M. Johannesen 

Assistant Regional Forester 3/64 

12/70 - 12\78 
Robert A. Cook Director 12/78 - 4/82 
Marlin Q. Hughes Director 7/82 - 1/92 

Changes in Unit designation, with dates of Changes: 
Silviculture - 12/08 

Forest Management - 4/20 
Timber Management and State and Private Forestry 7/37 

Timber Management - 1/50 

Incumbent Title Term of Office 

J. K. Campbell Chief of Division 12/08 - 3/10 
J. K. Campbell Assistant District Forester 3/10 - 9/11 
John Kerr Assistant District Forester 10/11 - 5/30 
John Kerr Assistant Regional Forester 5/30 - 7/34 
D. A. Shoemaker Assistant Regional Forester 7/34 - 5/38 
James A. Scott (Act.) Assistant Regional Forester 5/38 - 6/39 
Phillip Woodhead Assistant Regional Forester 7/39 - 6/45 
Arthur A. McCutchen Assistant Regional Forester 7/45 - 7/46 
Alva A. Simpson Assistant Regional Forester 7/46 - 12/48 
Darrel M. Traugh Assistant Regional Forester 1/49 - 1/50 
Clifford E. McDuff Assistant Regional Forester 2/50 - 12/63 
Frank J. Smith Assistant Regional Forester 1/64 - 7/71 

Bill Fallis 7/71 . 
Don D. Seaman .... - 2/83 
William R. Snyder Director 3/83 /90 
Gerald Henke Director 

Changes in Unit designation, with dates of Changes: 
Grazing - 12/08 

Range Management - 1/28 

Wildlife and Range Management - 7/37 

Range Management - 7/46 
Wildlife and Range Management - 
Range - 

8/57 

Rangeland Management and Ecology - 1/91 

Incumbent Title Term of Office 

Frank C. W. Pooler Assistant District Forester 5/10 - 12/17 
Frank E. Andrews Forest Examiner 1/18 - 9/18 
Frank C. W. Pooler Assistant District Forester 10/18- 12/19 
Frank E. Andrews (Acting) Forest Supervisor 1/20 - 2/20 
John D. Jones Assistant District Forester 2/20 - 6/24 
M. M. Cheney Assistant District Forester 7/24 - 5/30 
M. M. Cheney Assistant Regional Forester 5/30 - 7/34 
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G. W. Kimball Assistant Regional Forester 7/34- 6/35 
E. G. Miller Assistant Regional Forester 7/35 - 12/46 
Erwin A. Schilling Assistant Regional Forester 1/47 - 12/56 
Zane G. Smith Assistant Regional Forester 8/57 - /68 
John T. Koen Assistant Regional Forester 1968 - 1974 

[Recreation and Lands become separate Staff Units] 
John T. Koen Director of Recreation 1974 - 1/80 
Paul D. Weingart Director of Recreation 4/80 - 7/88 
L. Roger Deaver Director of Recreation 1/89 . 
Robert Safran Director of Lands & Min. 1974 - 5/77 
Richard Harris Director of Lands & Min. 6/77 - 6/82 
Richard M. Pederson Director of Lands & Min. 1/83 . 

Changes in Unit designation, with dates of Change 
Lands - 5/10 
Recreation and Lands - 7/37 
Watershed Management and Lands - 8/46 
Watershed and Wildlife Management, 
Recreation and Lands - 1/47 
Wildlife Management, Recreation, and Lands 2/50 
Recreation and Lands - 8/57 
Lands and Minerals - 1974 

Unit Name Incumbent Title Term of Office 

Engineering 

T. W. Norcross (Note) 1/12 - 1917 

Ralph R. Randell District Engineer 4/17 - 6/17 
C. A. Long (Acting) Surveyor 7/17 - 6/18 
C. A. Long (Acting) District Engineer 7/18 - 5/30 
C. A. Long (Acting) Regional Engineer 5/30 - 5/37 
Howard B. Waha Assistant Regional Forester 5/37 - 4/52 
Earl R. Huber Assistant Regional Forester 4/52 - 160 
Earl R. Huber Regional Engineer ISO - 11/61 
Roger J. Nelson Regional Engineer 11/61 . 
Homer L. Cappleman Regional Engineer 1971 - 1975 
Walter E. Furen Regional Engineer 1975 - 1977 
D. 0. (Jack) Frost Regional Engineer 1977 - 1985 
John R. Pruitt Regional Engineer 1/86 - 1/92 

Editor's Note: Norcross was stationed in Denver 
and was apparently "shared" with District 3. 

Unit Name Incumbent Title Term of Office 

Public Relations 
Joseph C. Kircher Assistant District Forester 4/22 - 9/24 
John D. Jones Assistant District Forester 10/24 - 5/30 
John D. Jones Assistant Regional Forester 5/30 - 2/35 
Rex King Assistant Regional Forester 2/35 - 12/50 
J. Morgan Smith Assistant Regional Forester 
Chuck Williams Assistant Regional Forester 2/73 - 
Chuck Williams Director - 9/82 
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Wayne Nicolls 
Charles R. Bazan 

7/83 
5/88 

-11/87 

Changes in Unit designation, with approximate dates of changes: 
Public Relations - 4/22 
Information and Education - 7/37 
(Combined with Watershed Management) - 3/51 
Information and Education - 5/61 
Information Office - 6/74 
Office of Information - 11/81 

Public Affairs Office - 7/86 

Unit Name Incumbent Title Term of Office 

Personnel Management 

Alva A. Simpson Assistant Regional Forester 9/41 - 7/46 
A. Allen McCutchen Assistant Regional Forester 7/46 - 8/57 
Orlo M. Jackson Assistant Regional Forester 7/61 - 

Milt Ray 
Hal Watson - 1/80 
Louis Volk, Jr. Director 5/80 - 5/83 
Jerald Baker Director 6/83 - 12/89 
Judy Hudson Director 2/90 . 

Changes in Unit designation, with dates of Changes: 
Personnel Management - 9/41 

(Combined with Administrative Management) 8/57 

Human Resources 3/90 

Unit Name Incumbent Title Term of Office 

Watershed Management 

Wayland G. Koogler Senior Range Examiner 5/41 - 8/46 
Wilford L. Hansen Assistant Regional Forester 7/50 - 3/60 

Lowell G. Woods Assistant Regional Forester 6/60 - 1970 
George R. Proctor 
Vacant for most of 1976 

Assistant Regional Forester* 1971 - 1975 

Gearhart H. Nelson Director 9/76 - 1979 
Noel Larsen Director 6/79 - 

Changes in Unit designation, with dates of Changes: 
Watershed Management - 5/41 
(Combined with Lands) - 8/46 
Watershed Management - 7/50 
Watershed Management and Information - 3/51 
Watershed Management, Multiple Use Coordination, 

and Information - 3/60 
Multiple Use, Soils and Watershed Management 1961 
Watershed Management - 1962 
Watershed Management & State & Private Forestry 1973 
Soil and Watershed Management 1975 



Watershed and Air Management - 1985 

Unit Name Incumbent Title Term of Office 

Fire Control, State 
and Private Forestry 

Andrew G. Brenneis 
John M. Pierovich 
Lynn R. Biddison 

Unit Name Incumbent 

Accounts 
J. J. Duffy 
Albert Morris 

L. P. Wilsey 
R. H. Jensen 
Homer P. Nichols 
Lewis W. Darby 

Assistant Regional Forester 2/57 - 1967 
Assistant Regional Forester 1968 - 1971 
Director 1971 - 1980 

Title Term of Office 

District Fiscal Agent 4/10 - 9/13 
District Fiscal Agent 10/13 - 5/30 
Regional Fiscal Agent 5/30 - 6/41 
Regional Fiscal Agent 11/41 ^ 10/43 
Regional Fiscal Agent 11/43 - 6/47 
Regional Fiscal Agent 7/47 - 7/52 
Fiscal Agent 8/52 

Changes in Unit designation, with dates of Changes: 
Accounts - 4/10 
Finance and Accounts - 4/22 
Fiscal Control - 6/38 

Figure 33. Ranger Stewart, circa 1914, with a mountain telephone packed fortransport at Panchuela Ranger Station, 
Pecos N.F. 
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APPENDIX B: 
Establishment and Modification of Forest Reserve and National Forest 
Boundaries - Region 3 (Formerly District 3) - 1892 to 1962 

Forest Reserve Date 
and State Kind Aooroved Citation Effect 

Baboquivari 
Arizona 

Procla. 11 /5/06 34 Stat. 3251 Established 

Big Burros 
N.M. 

Procla. 2/6/07 34 Stat. 3274 Established 

Black Mesa 
Arizona 

Procla. 8/17/98 30 Stat. 1782 Established 

Chiricahua 
Arizona 

Procla. 7/30/02 32 Stat. 2019 Established 

Gallinas 
N.M. 

Procla. 11 /5/06 34 Stat. 3243 Established 

Gila River 
N.M. 

Procla. 

Procla. 

3/2/99 

7/21/05 

34 Stat. 3126 

34 Stat. 3123 

Established 

Redescribed boundary 
Changed name to Gila 

Grand Canon 
Arizona 

Procla. 

Procla. 

2/20/93 

8/8/06 

27 Stat. 1064 

34 Stat. 3223 

Established 

Added and eliminated lands. 
Changed spelling to Grand 
Canyon (vice Spanish form). 

Huachuca 
Arizona 

Procla. 11 /6/06 34 Stat. 3255 Established 

Jemez 
N.M. 

Procla. 10/12/05 34 Stat. 3182 Established 

Las Animas 
Colo. 
N.M. 

Procla. 3/1/07 34 Stat. 3288 Established 

Lincoln 
N.M. 

Procla. 7/26/02 32 Stat. 2018 Established 

Magdalena 
N.M. 

Procla. 11 /5/06 34 Stat. 3245 Established 

Manzano 
N.M. 

Procla. 11 /6/06 34 Stat. 3257 Established 

Mount Taylor 
N.M. 

Procla. 10/5/06 34 Stat. 3239 Established 

Mt. Graham 
Arizona 

Procla. 7/22/02 32 Stat. 2017 Established 

Pecos River 
Established 
N.M. 

Procla. 1/11/92 27 Stat. 998 

Peloncillo 
N.M. 

Procla. 11 /5/06 34 Stat. 3248 Established 

Pinal Mtns. 
N.M. 

Procla. 3/20/05 34 Stat. 2991 Established 

Portales 
N.M. 

Procla. 10/3/05 34 Stat. 3178 Established 

Prescott 
Arizona 

Procla. 5/10/98 30 Stat. 1771 Established 

San Francisco 
Mtns. Arizona 

Procla. 8/17/98 30 Stat. 1780 Established 

San Mateo Procla. 11 /5/06 34 Stat. 3249 Established 
N.M. 
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Santa Catalina 
Arizona 

Procla. 7/2/02 32 Stat. 2012 Established 

Santa Rita 
Arizona 

Procla. 4/11/02 32 Stat. 1989 Established 

Taos 
N.M. 

Procla. 11/7/06 34 Stat. 3262 Established 

Tonto 
Arizona 

Procla. 10/3/05 34 Stat. 3166 Established 

Tumacacori 
Arizona 

Procla. 11 /7/06 34 Stat. 3263 Established 

Wichita 
Oklahoma 

Procla. 7/4/01 32 Stat. 1973 Established 

"The Forest Reserves shall hereafter be known as National 
(See Act of Congress approved March 4, 1907, 34 Stat. 

Forests." 
1269) 

National Forest 
and State 

Kind & 
Number 

Date 
Approved Citation Effect 

Alamo 
N.M. 

E.O. 908 7/2/08 Established by consolidation 
of the Guadalupe and 
Sacramento N.F.s 

Procla. 
862 

3/2/09 35 Stat. 2239 Added parts of Mescalero 
Apache Indian Reservation 

E.O. 
1481 

2/17/12 Restored land to Mescalero 
Apache Indian Reservation 

E.O. 
2633 

6/6/17 Transferred entire Forest to 
Lincoln. Discontinued name 

Apache 
Arizona 

E.O. 876 7/1/08 Established from portion of 
Black Mesa NF. 

Ariz.; 
N.M. 

Procla. 
866 

3/2/09 35 Stat. 2244 Added that portion of Crook 
NF formerly the White Mtn. 
Apache Indian Reservation 

Ariz. Procla. 
1088 

9/26/10 36 Stat. 2746 Transferred portion to Crook 
Eliminated other lands 

Ariz. E.O. 
1475 

2/17/12 Restored land to White Mtn. 
Apache Indian Reservation 

Ariz.; 
N.M. 

Procla. 
1728 

1/23/25 43 Stat. 1983 Added land from Datil. 
Transferred land to Crook 

Ariz.; 
N.M. 

P.L.O. 
1719 

8/15/58 23 F.R. 6453 Added land from Gila. 
Transferred land to Gila 

Arkansas 
Ark. 

Procla. 12/18/07 35 Stat. 2167 
786 

Transferred from District 3, December 31, 1913. 

Established 

Baboquivari Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. E.O. 908 7/2/08 Combined with Huachuca and 
Tumacacori to establish the 
Garces. Discontinued name 

Big Burros Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. Procla. 6/18/08 35 Stat. 2190 Combined with Gila 
811 Discontinued name. 
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Black Mesa Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. E.O.s 
868, 869 
and 876 
Procla. 818 

7/2/08 Divided land among the 
Sitgreaves, Tonto, 
Apache, and Coconino. 
Discontinued name 

Carson 

N.M. 

E.O. 
848 

6/26/08 Established from entire Taos 
and part of Jemez N.F.s 

Procla. 
863 

3/2/09 35 Stat. 2240 Added part of Jicarilla 
Apache Indian 
Reservation. 

E.O. 
1476 

2/17/12 Restored land to the 
Jicarilla Apache Indian 
Reservation 

Choctawhatchee 

Florida 

Procla. 
825 

Procla. 
1122 

11/27/08 

4/17/11 

35 Stat. 2208 

37 Stat. 1678 

Established 

Combined with Ocala to 
establish the Florida 
NF. Discontinued 
name. 

Chiricahua Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz.; 
N.M. 

E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Added entire 
Peloncillo 

Ariz.; E.O. 
2630 

6/6/17 Transferred entire 
Forest to Coronado 
Discontinued name. 

Cibola 
N.M. 

E.O. 
5752 

12/3/31 Established. 
Changed name from Manzano 
to Cibola N.F. 

Public 
156 

6/20/35 Transferred land to Zuni 
Reservation 

P.L.O. 
1719 

8/15/58 23 F.R. 6453 Added land from Lincoln 
N.F. Eliminated land 

Coconino 
Ariz. 

Procla. 
818 

7/2/08 35 Stat. 2196 Established from parts of 
Tonto, Black Mesa, Grand 
Canyon, and entire San 
Francisco Mtns. 

Procla. 
1048 

6/28/10 36 Stat. 2708 Added land. 
Transferred part to 
Tusayan and eliminated 
other lands. 

Procla. 
1538 

9/29/19 41 Stat. 1770 Transferred land to 
Prescott. Added and 
eliminated other lands 

Procla. 
1671 

8/14/23 43 Stat. 1922 Added land from Tonto N.F. 

Procla. 
1911 

5/26/30 Withdrawal for Sunset 
Crater National Monument 

Procla. 
2226 

2/23/37 50 Stat. 1817 Transferred land 
to Montezuma Castle 
National Monument 

Procla. 
2300 

9/24/38 3 - F.R. 2321 
53 Stat. 2469 

Transferred Land to Walnut 
Canyon National Monument 

Secretary of 
the Interior 
1642411 

3/18/48 13 - F.R. 1632 Transferred land to 
Montezuma Castle 
National Monument 

109 



Coronado 
Ariz. 

E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 

Procla. 
1121 

4/17/11 

E.O. 
1397 

8/10/11 

Ariz.; 
N.M. 

E.O. 
2630 

6/6/17 

Ariz. E.O. 
4246 

6/5/25 

E.O. 7/1/29 

5147 

Ariz.; 

N.M. 

Procla. 
2288 

6/10/38 

Ariz. Procla. 
2995 

11/5/52 

P.L.O. 
924 

10/23/53 

Public 
689 

9/2/60 

Crook 
Ariz. 

Procla. 
816 

7/1/08 

Ariz. Procla. 
1089 

9/26/10 

Ariz. E.O. 
1397 

8/10/11 

E.O. 
1477 

2/17/12 

P.L.O. 
924 

10/23/53 

Datil 
N.M. 

Procla. 
812 

6/18/08 

Established by consolidation 
of Dragoon, Santa Catalina, 
and Santa Rita. 

Added entire Garces N.F. 

Fort Grant Transferred 
to Crook 

Added entire 
Chiricahua N.F. 

Added part of FortHuachuca 
Military Reservation 

Eliminated Huachuca Dist. 
by Revocation of E.O. 
4246, 6/5/25, and E.O. 
4278, 7/31/25 

3 - F.R. 1399 
52 Stat. 1551 

Transferred land to 
Chiricahua 
National Monument 

67 Stat. C-18 Transferred land to 
Coronado National 
Monument 

18 - F.R. 6823 Added land from Crook N.F. 

55 Stat. 630 Transferred land to and from 
Coronado National Monu¬ 
ment 

35 Stat. 2194 Established from part of 
Tonto (E.O. 869); also from 
part of Mount Graham 
and other lands. 

36 Stat. 2747 Added land from Apache. 
Transferred part to Tonto. 
Eliminated other lands. 

Fort Grant added from 
Coronado 

Restored land to the White 
Mtn. Apache Indian 
Reservation. 

18 - F.R. 6823 Entire Forest divided among 
Coronado, Gila, and Tonto. 

35 Stat. 2191 Established from part of Gila 
and other lands 
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Procla. 2/23/09 35 Stat. 2230 Added entire Magdalena and 
851 other lands 

Ariz.; Procla. 1/23/25 43 Stat. 1983 Transferred land to 
N.M. 1728 Apache 

N.M. E.O 12/3/31 Transferred land to 
5752 Manzano 

N.M. E.O. 12/24/31 Transferred entire Forest 
5765 to Gila. Discontinued name 

Dragoon Procla. 5/25/07 35 Stat. 2135 Established 

Ariz. E.O. 7/2/08 Combined with Santa 
908 Catalina and Santa Rita to 

establish the Coronado 
N.F. Discontinued name. 

Florida Procla. 4/17/11 37 Stat. 1678 Established by combining 
Fla. 1122 

Transferred out of District 3. 12/31/13 

Ocala with Choctawhatchee 

Gallinas Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. E.O. 7/2/08 Added entire Forest to 
908 Lincoln Discontinued name 

G areas 
Ariz. 

E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Established by consolidation 
of Baboquivari, Huachuca, 
and Tumacacori N.F.s 

Procla. 
1121 

4/17/11 Combined with Coronado. 
Discontinued name. 

Gila Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. Procla. 
781 

11/16/07 Transferred land to Gila Cliff 
Dwellings 

Procla. 
811 

6/18/08 35 Stat. 2190 Combined part with other 
lands to establish Datil. 
Added entire Big Burros and 
other lands. 

Procla. 
1586 

3/3/21 41 Stat. 1815 Added and eliminated lands 
to and from Datil. Eliminated 

other lands. 

E.O. 
5765 

12/24/31 Added entire Datil 

Ariz. P.L.O. 
924 

10/23/53 18 - F.R. 6823 Added land from 
Crook 

Ariz.; 
N.M. 

P.L.O. 
1719 

8/15/58 23 - F.R. 6453 Added land from Apache; 
transferred land to Apache 

Grand Canyon Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. Procla. 
818 

7/2/08 35 Stat. 2196 Combined part with 
Coconino; part created 
the Kaibab and restored 
part to Public Domain. 



7/2/08 E.O. 
909 Discontinued name. 

Guadalupe Procla. 4/19/07 35 Stat. 2124 Established. 

N.M. E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Became part of Alamo. 
Discontinued name. 

Huachuca 

Ariz. 

Established from Forest Reserve 

E.O. 7/2/08 
908 

Combined with Baboquivari 
and Tumacacori to 
establish the Garces. 
Discontinued name. 

Jemez Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. E.O. 
849 

6/26/08 Combined part with Taos 
and established the 
Carson N.F. 

E.O. 
2160 

4/6/15 Combined with Pecos to 
establish the Santa Fe 
N.F. Discontinued name. 

Kaibab 
Ariz. 

E.O. 
909 

7/2/08 Established from North 
portion of Grand Canyon 

Ariz. Public 
277 

2/26/19 40 Stat. 1175 Transferred land to Grand 
Canyon National Park 

Ariz.; 
Utah 

E.O. 
3972 

3/18/24 Added the Mt. Trumbull 
Div. of the Dixie 

Ariz.; 
Utah 

E.O. 
645 

2/25/27 45 Stat. 1238 Transferred land to Grand 
Canyon National Park 

Ariz. E.O. 
6806 

8/4/34 Added land from the 
Tusayan 

Las Animas Established from Forest Reserve. 

Colo.; 
N.M. 

Procla. 
1040 

5/27/10 36 Stat. 2701 Transferred part to San 
Isabel. Restored the 
remainder to Public 
Domain. 
Discontinued name. 

Lincoln Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. Procla. 4/24/07 35 Stat. 2126 Added land. Combined 
portion with other lands 
to establish the 
Sacramento River N.F. 

E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Added entire 
Gallinas 

E.O. 
2633 

6/6/17 Added entire Alamo 
N.F. 

P.L.O. 
1719 

8/15/58 23 - F.R. 6453 Transferred land to 
Cibola. Eliminated other 
lands. 

Magdalena Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Added entire 
San Mateo. 

Procla. 
851 

2/23/09 35 Stat. 2230 Combined with Datil. 
Discontinued name 

Manzano Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. 
Procla. 
803 

4/16/08 35 Stat. 2184 Added entire Mount 
Taylor and other lands. 
Eliminated land 
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Procla. 7/1/10 36 Stat. 2723 Transferred part to Zuni. 
1065 Added and eliminated 

other lands 

Ariz.; E.O. 9/10/14 Added entire Zuni 
N.M. 2045 Forest. 

N.M. Procla. 11/30/17 40 Stat. 1723 Added land from Navajo 
1412 Indian Reservation. 

Eliminated land 

E.O. 12/3/31 Added land from Datil; 
5752 changed name to Cibola 

Mt. Graham Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. Procla. 7/1/08 35 Stat. 2194 Combined part with the 
816 Crook. Restored re¬ 

mainder to Public Domain. 
Discontinued name 

Mt. Taylor Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. Procla. 4/16/08 35 Stat. 2184 Combined with Manzano 
803 Discontinued name 

Ocala Procla. 
823 

11/24/08 35 Stat. 2206 Established. 

Fla. 
Procla. 4/17/11 37 Stat. 1678 Combined with 
1122 Choctawhatchee to 

establish Florida N.F. 
Discontinued name 

Ozark Procla. 
802 

3/6/08 35 Stat. 2182 Established. 

Ark. 
Transferred from District 3, 12/31/13. 

Pecos River Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. E.O. 7/2/08 Changed name to 
908 Pecos N.F. 

E.O. 4/6/15 Combined with Jemez to 
2160 establish the Santa Fe. 

Discontinued name 

Pinal Mtns. Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. Procla. 1/13/08 35 Stat. 2176 Combined with Tonto N.F. 
795 Discontinued name 

Paloncillo Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. E.O. 7/2/08 Combined with Chiricahua. 
908 Discontinued name 

Portales Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. Procla. 3/16/07 35 Stat. 2120 Revoked the 
Proclamation dated 
10/3/05. Restored land 
to Public Domain. 

Prescott Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. E.O. 7/2/08 Added entire Verde 
908 N.F. 

Procla. 9/29/19 41 Stat. 1770 Added land from 
1537 Coconino. Added and 

eliminated other lands. 

Procla. 8/14/23 43 Stat. 1923 Transferred land 
1673 to Tonto 
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E.O. 
6882 

10/22/34 Added entire Tusayan. 
Transferred land to 
Tonto 

San Francisco 
Mtns. 

Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. Procla. 
818 

7/2/08 35 Stat. 2196 Combined entire Forest 
with other Forest lands 
to establish the 
Coconino N.F. 
Discontinued name. 

Sacramento 
River 
N.M. 

Procla. 

E.O. 
908 

4/24/07 

7/2/08 

35 STat. 2127 Established from part of 
Lincoln and other lands 

Became part of Alamo. 
Discontinued name. 

San Mateo Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Added entire Forest 
to Magdalena N.F. 
Discontinued name. 

Santa Catalina Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Combined with Santa Rita 
and Dragoon to 
establish Coronado 
Discontinued name. 

Santa Fe 

N.M 

E.O. 
2160 

Procla. 
1322 

4/6/15 

2/11/16 

Established by combining 
the Jemez and Pecos N.F.s 

Transferred land to 
Bandolier National 
Monument. 

Procla. 
1991 

2/25/32 47 Stat. 2503 Transferred land to 
Bandolier National 
Monument. 

P.L.O. 
632 

1/27/50 15 - F.R. 603 Transferred land to 
Carson N.F. 

Santa Rita Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Combined with Santa 
Catalina and Dragoon to 
establish the Coronado. 
Discontinued name. 

Sitgreaves 
Ariz. 

E.O. 
868 

7/1/08 Established from parts of 
Black Mesa and Tonto N.F.s 

E.O. 
1479 

2/17/12 Restored land to the White 
Mtn. Apache Indian 
Reservation. 

Taos Established from Forest Reserve. 

N.M. E.O. 
848 

6/26/08 Combined entire Forest with 
part of Jemez to establish 
the Carson. Discontinued 
name. 

Tonto Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. Procla. 
795 

1/13/08 35 Stat. 2176 Added the Pinal Mtns. and 
other lands. 

E.O. 
869 

7/1/08 Added land from Black 
Mesa. Transferred lands 
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Procla. 
1672 

8/14/23 43 Stat. 1923 Added land from Prescott. 
Transferred land to 
Coconino. 

E.O. 
6882 

10/22/34 Added land from 
Prescott. 

Procla. 
2230 

4/1/37 50 Stat. 1825 Transferred land to Tonto 
National Monument. 

P.L.O. 
924 

10/23/53 18 - F.R. 6823 Added land from 
Crook. 

T umacacori Established from Forest Reserve. 

Ariz. E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Combined with Baboquivari 
and Huachuca to establish 
the Garces N.F. 
Discontinued name. 

Tusayan 
Ariz. 

Procla. 
1049 

6/28/10 36 Stat.2709 Established from part of 
Coconino and other lands. 

Public 
277 

2/26/19 40 Stat. 1175 Transferred land to Grand 
Canyon National Park. 

Public 
645 

2/25/27 45 Stat. 1238 Added and eliminated land 
to and from Grand Canyon 
National Park. 

Public 5/23/30 
250 

46 Stat.378 Transferred land to West 
ern Navajo Indian Reserva 
tion 

E.O. 
6806 

8/4/34 Transferred land to Kaibab. 
Eliminated other lands 

E.O. 
6882 

10/22/34 Transferred entire Forest to 
Prescott. 
Discontinued name. 

Verde Procla. 12/30/07 35 Stat.2170 Established. 

Ariz. E.O. 
908 

7/2/08 Combined with Prescott. 
Discontinued name. 

Wichita Established from Forest Reserve. 

Okla. Procla. 
1096 

10/13/10 36 Stat.2754 Added and eliminated 
lands 

Transferred out of District 3, 6/30/14 

Zuni 

Ariz.; 
N.M. 

Procla. 
864 

3/2/09 35 Stat.2242 Established from parts of 
Zuni & Navajo Indian 
Reservations, and other 
lands. 

N.M. Procla. 
1064 

7/1/10 36 Stat.2722 Added part from Manzano. 
Added & eliminated other 
lands. 

E.O. 
1367 

5/31/11 Added land from Fort 
Wingate Military 
Reservation. 

E.O. 
1482 

2/17/12 Restored lands to the 
Zuni & Navajo Indian 
Reservations. 
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E.O. 
2045 

9/10/14 Transferred entire 
Forest to Manzano. 
Discontinued name. 

Figure 34. Early day horse work on the Apache National Forest. 
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APPENDIX C: 
Forest Supervisors for Forest Reserves in Region 3 (formerly District 3) 
Note: Each of these units which was still a "Forest Reserve" on April 3, 1907 became a "National Forest" on that (Jate. 

Unit Suoervisor From lo Office Location 

Baboqivari F.R. Never placed under Administration as a Forest Reserve. 

Big Burros F.R. Never placed under Administration as a Forest Reserve. 

Black Mesa F.R. Matthew H. Rowe -/1898 4/1900 Showlow, Arizona 

W. H. Bowen 4/1900 2/1901 Showlow, Arizona 

Frank Hanna 2/1901 4/1901 Showlow, Arizona 

Fred S. Breen 5/1901 11/1906 Flagstaff, Arizona 

T. S. Woolsey 12/1906 1/1907 Flagstaff, Arizona 

On January 1, 1907, Black Mesa Forest Reserve was divided 
Black Mesa North and Black Mesa South Forest Reserves. 

into 

Black Mesa North F.R. Fred S. Breen 1/1907 3/1907 Flagstaff, Arizona. 

Black Mesa South F.R. Drayton C. Martin 1/1907 3/1907 Clifton, Arizona 

Chiricahua F.R. Charles T. McGlone -/1903 3/1907 Paradise, Arizona 

Gallinas F.R. Not under Administration 11/1906 1/1907 

John Kerr 2/1907 3/1907 Capitan, N.M. 

Gila River F.R. Martin M. Mulhall 
Eastern Division 

-/1899 -/1900 Silver City, N.M. 

Albert F. Ostermann 
Western Division 

-/I 899 -/1900 Silver City, N.M. 

R. Vaux -/1900 --/I 901 Silver City, N.M. 

George C. Langenberg -/1901 -/1901 Graham, N.M. 

George C. Langenberg -/1901 -/I 903 Silver City, N.M. 

Robert C. McClure -/1903 3/1907 Silver City, N.M. 

Grand Canyon F.R. (North) Arthur B. Hermann -/1899 -/1901 Flagstaff, Arizona 

Lorum Pratt -/1903 1/1907 Fredonia, Arizona 

Seldon F. Harris 2/1907 3/1907 Fredonia, Arizona 
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Grand Canyon F.R. (South) W. P. Hermann -/1898 6/1899 (died) Flagstaff, Arizona 

Arthur B. Hermann -/1901 -/1901 Flagstaff, Arizona 

Fred S. Breen -/1901 11/1906 Flagstaff, Arizona 

T. S. Woolsey 12/1906 1/1907 Flagstaff, Arizona 

Fred S. Breen 2/1907 3/1907 Flagstaff, Arizona 

Huachuca F.R. Robert J. Selkirk 12/1906 1/1907 (Roving Ranger) 

R. A. Rogers 2/1907 3/1907 Nogales, Arizona 

Jemez F.R. Leon F. Kneipp -/1905 3/1907 Santa Fe, N.M. 

Las Animas F.R. Never placed under administration as a Forest Reserve. 

Lincoln F.R. Clement Hightower -/1902 -/1905 Coalora, N.M. 

John Kerr -/1906 3/1907 Capitan, N.M. 

Mount Graham F.R. Thomas Hampton — -/1905 Thatcher, Arizona 

John W. Farmer -/1905 12/1906 Safford, Arizona 

Harold A. E. Marshall 1/1907 3/1907 Safford, Arizona 

Pecos River F.R. James B. Wilhoit — -/1899 Santa Fe, N.M. 

Robert C. McClure -/1899 -/1903 Sanat Fe, N.M. 

George C. Langenburg -/1903 -/1905 Santa Fe, N.M. 

Leon F. Kneipp -/1905 3/1907 Sanat Fe, N.M. 

Pinal Mnts. F.R. Thomas Hampton -/1905 -/1906 Thatcher, Arizona 

Harold A. E. Marshall -/1906 12/1906 Globe, Arizona 

Harold A .E. Marshall 1/1907 3/1907 Safford, Arizona 

Portales F.R. A. L.Chesher 11/1906 1/1907 Portales, N.M. 

Ross McMillan 1/1907 3/1907 Portales, N.M. 
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Prescott F.R. Wm. H. Thayer -/1898 -/1899 Prescott, Arizona 

Frank R. Stewart -/1900 -/1905 Prescott, Arizona 

Fred S. Breen -/1905 7/1905 Flagstaff, Arizona 

Frank C. W. Pooler 8/1905 2/1907 Prescott, Arizona 

C. H. Hinderer 2/1907 3/1907 Prescott, Arizona 

San Francisco Mtns. F.R. Fred S. Breen -/1899 11/1906 Flagstaff, Arizona 

T. S. Woolsey 12/1906 1/1907 Flagstaff, Arizona 

Fred S. Breen 2/1907 3/1907 Flagstaff, Arizona 

Santa Catalina F.R. Thomas F. Meagher .... -/1905 Rosemont, Arizona 

Thomas F. Meagher -/1905 1/1907 Tucson, Arizona 

Robert J. Selkirk 2/1907 3/1907 Tucson, Arizona 

Santa Rita F.R. Thomas F. Meagher -/1905 1/1907 Tucson, Arizona 

Robert J. Selkirk 2/1907 3/1907 Tucson, Arizona 

Taos F.R. Not under Administration 11/1906 1/1907 

Leon F. Kneipp 2/1907 3/1907 Santa Fe, N.M. 

Tonto F.R. William H. Reed -/1906 3/1907 Roosevelt, Arizona 

Tumacacori F.R. Not under Administration 11/1906 2/1907 

R. A. Rogers 2/1907 3/1907 Nogales, Arizona 

Wichita F.R. E. F. Morrissey -/1905 3/1907 Cache, Oklahoma 

Note: The list of Supervisors continues in Appendix D which lists all units with the title of "National Forest." 
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APPENDIX D: 
Forest Supervisors for National Forests in Region 3 (formerly District 3) 

A Chronological Record to 1964 
Editor's Note: Alternative dates for some entries were offered following Supervisors Offices' reviews. It was not possible 
to determine which alternatives were more accurate so this presentation closely follows Tucker's original, with the addition 
of a few names that had been penciled into the ms copy. 

Alamo N.F. Arthur M. Neal 7/1908 6/1910 Alamogordo, NM 

Charles C. Hall 7/1910 4/1911 Alamogordo, NM 

Russel F. Balthis 5/1911 7/1913 Cloudcroft, NM 

Russel F. Balthis 7/1913 4/1916 Alamorgordo, NM 

Transferred to Lincoln N.F., 6/6/1917. 

Apache N.F. Drayton C. Martin 7/1908 11/1908 Springerville, AZ 

John D. Guthrie 12/1908 10/1914 Springerville, AZ 

Frederic Winn 10/1914 4/1918 Springerville, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 4/1918 1/1922 Springerville, AZ 

James H. Sizer 1/1922 9/1925 Springerville, AZ 

K.C. Kartchner 9/1925 1/1930 Springerville, AZ 

Ralph W. Hussey 1/1930 6/1935 Springerville, AZ 

Chas. E. Moore 7/1935 4/1938 Springerville, AZ 

Robert B. Ewing 4/1938 11/1951 Springerville, AZ 

John C. Baird 11/1951 12/1956 Springerville, AZ 

Kenneth Daniels 12/1956 2/1959 Springerville, AZ 

E. Lavelle Thompson 2/1959 2/1964 Springerville, AZ 

George R. Proctor 5/1964 .... Springerville, AZ 

Hallie Cox 

Jim Kimball 6/1974 11/1979 Springerville, AZ 

Arkansas N.F. S.J. Record 1/1908 6/1908 Fort Smith, Arkansas 

S.J. Record 7/1908 3/1910 Mena, Arkansas 

S.J. Record 4/1910 6/1910 Hot Springs, Arkansas 

Daniel W. Adams 7/1910 4/1911 Hot Springs, Arkansas 

Robert L. Rogers 4/1911 10/1911 Hot Springs, Arkansas 

Sidney A. Chappell 10/1'911 12/1913 Hot Springs, Arkansas 

Transferred from District 3, 12/31/1913. 

Baboquivari N.F. Robert J. Selkirk 4/1907 6/1907 Tuscon, AZ 

Roscoe G. Willson 7/1907 6/1908 Nogales, AZ 

Combined with Huachuca and Tumacacori to establish 

Big Burros N.F. R.C. McClure 

the Garces N.F., 7/2/1908. 

4/1907 11/1907 Silver City, NM 

W.H. Goddard 12/1907 3/1908 Silver City, NM 

Douglas Rodman 4/1908 5/1908 Silver City, NM 
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W.H. Goddard 

Combined with Giia N.F., 6/18/1908. 

Black Mesa North N.F Fred S. Breen 

T.S. Woolsey 

Alex. J. Mackay 

7/1/1908 Name changed to Sitgreaves N.F. 
Land divided among Sitgreaves, Tonto, and Coconino. 

Black Mesa South N.F. Drayton C. Martin 

Drayton C. Martin 

7/1/1908 Name changed to Apache N.F. 

Carson N.F. Thomas R. Stewart (Act) 

Ross McMillan 

Ross McMillan 

Harry C. Hall 

Charles C. Hall 

Aldo Leopold 

Raymond E. Marsh 

Raymond E. Marsh 

Elliott S. Barker 

L.R. DeCamp (Act) 

John D. Guthrie 

Earl W. Loveridge 

Stanley F. Wilson 

Carroll R. Dwire 

Leonard R. Lessen 

Clarence A. Merker 

James B. Beal 

Carroll R. Dwire 

Louis F. Cottam 

Walter L. Graves 

Robert E. Courtney 

George R. Proctor 

Don D Seaman 

Jean Hassell 

Jack Crellin 

Chiricahua N.F. C.T. McGlone 

C.T. McGlone 

5/1908 6/1908 Silver City, NM 

3/1907 12/1907 Flagstaff, AZ 

1/1908 1/1908 Showlow, AZ 

2/1908 7/1908 Showlow, AZ 

3/1907 12/1907 Clifton, AZ 

1/1908 7/1908 Springerville, AZ 

7/1908 8/1908 Santa Fe, NM 

9/1908 6/1909 Santa Fe, NM 

6/1909 2/1911 Antonito, Colorado 

2/1911 4/1911 Antonito, Colorado 

5/1911 3/1912 Tres Piedras, NM 

8/1912 4/1914 Tres Piedras, NM 

7/1914 1/1915 Tres Piedras, NM 

1/1915 7/1917 Taos, NM 

8/1917 3/1919 Taos, NM 

4/1919 9/1919 Taos, NM 

9/1919 1/1920 Taos, NM 

2/1920 1/1924 Taos, NM 

3/1924 2/1927 Taos, NM 

3/1927 7/1927 Taos, NM 

8/1934 1/1935 Taos, NM 

2/1935 12/1941 Taos, NM 

2/1942 5/1943 Taos, NM 

5/1943 4/1945 Taos, NM 

4/1945 8/1951 Taos, .M 

9/1951 7/1956 Taos, NM 

7/1956 5/1959 Taos, NM 

5/1959 5/1964 Taos, NM 

5/1964 10/1968 Taos, NM 

3/1907 8/1907 Paradise, AZ 

9/1907 4/1908 Douglas, AZ 
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Arthur H. Zachau 

Arthur H. Zachau 

5/1908 

6/1909 

6/1909 

4/1916 

Douglas, AZ 

Portal, AZ 

Transferred to Coronado, 6/6/17. 

Editor's Note: At this point, the Tucker manuscrbt changed format and added a column for the title of the Forest 
Supervisor -- "city" was also removed from the Table. The Editor has added the city and changed the format to be 
consistent throughout the Table. 

Cibola N.F. John A. Adams 12/31 2/35 Albuquerque, NM 

0. Fred Arthur 3/35 3/45 Albuquerque, NM 

W. Ellis Wiltbank 3/45 4/49 Albuquerque, NM 

Francis J. Monighan 6/49 11/63 Albuquerque, NM 

Irvin P. Murray 

George Proctor 

Wally Lloyd 

Keith Pefferle 

11/63 Albuquerque, NM 

Coconino N.F. 

Frank C. W. Pooler 7/08 1/09 Flagstaff, AZ 

Willard M. Drake 2/09 6/09 Flagstaff, AZ 

Frank C. W. Pooler 7/09 4/10 Flagstaff, AZ 

Willard M. Drake 5/10 6/10 Flagstaff, AZ 

For the Coconino Division 

Stanton G. Smith 6/10 7/10 

For the Tusayan Division 

Willard M. Drake 7/10 10/14 Flagstaff, AZ 

John D. Guthrie 10/14 7/17 Flagstaff, AZ 

Raymond E. Marsh 7/17 7/19 Flagstaff, AZ 

Edward G. Miller 7/19 6/35 Flagstaff, AZ 

Ralph W. Hussey 7/35 4/47 Flagstaff, AZ 

Roland Rotty 4/47 1/50 Flagstaff, AZ 

Clifford E. McDuff 1/50 2/50 Flagstaff, AZ 

Kenneth A. Keeney 2/50 6/56 Flagstaff, AZ 

Ralph W. Crawford 7/56 2/60 Flagstaff, AZ 

Jay H. Cravens 2/60 3/64 Flagstaff, AZ 

Raymond M. Housley 3/64 3/64 Flagstaff, AZ 

Don Seaman 10/68 10/75 Flagstaff, AZ 

Mike Kerrick 3/76 10/80 Flagstaff, AZ 

Niel Paulsen 11/80 Flagstaff, AZ 

Coronado N.F. M.W. Hockaday 7/08 9/08 Benson, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 10/08 9/09 Benson, AZ 

9/08 4/16 Tucson, AZ 
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Don P. Johnston 4/16 5/17 Tucson, AZ 

Paul P. Pitchlynn 6/17 10/19 Tucson, AZ 

H. Basil Wales 10/19 6/20 Tucson, AZ 

Hugh G. Calkins 7/20 5/25 Tucson, AZ 

Vacant 5/25 11/25 Tucson, AZ 

Frederic Winn 11/25 1/42 Tucson, AZ 

Clarence A. Merker 1/42 2/51 Tucson, AZ 

Wm. H. Woods 3/51 1/57 Tucson, AZ 

Norman P. Weeden 1/57 6/61 Tucson, AZ 

Clyde W. Doran 6/61 1/73 Tucson, AZ 

Ken Weissenborn 11/73 8/81 Tucson, AZ 

Robert B. Tippeconnic 8/81 Tucson, AZ 

Crook N.F. Geo. H. Birdno 7/08 8/08 Safford, AZ 

Theodore T. Swift 9/08 2/23 Safford, AZ 

Rex King 2/23 3/25 Safford, AZ 

Francis L. W. Grubb 5/35 8/41 Safford, AZ 

William H. Woods 9/41 3/51 Safford, AZ 

Allan G. Watkins 3/51 5/53 Safford, AZ 

Divided among Coronado, Gila, and Tonto, 10/23/53. 

Datil N.F. John Kerr 7/08 8/08 Magdalena, NM 

R. F. Blathis 9/08 11/08 Magdalena, NM 

W. H. Goddard 12/08 3/16 Magdalena, NM 

A. H. Douglas 4/16 4/24 Magdalena, NM 

F. L. W. Grubb 4/24 6/26 Magdalena, NM 

F. L. Kirby 7/26 8/31 Magdalena, NM 

Divided among Apache, Gila, and Manzano. 

Dragoon, N.F. Not under Administration 5/07 6/07 

Robt. J. Selkirk 7/07 7/07 Tucson, AZ 

Robt. J. Selkirk 8/07 6/08 Benson, AZ 

Combined with Santa Catalina and Santa Rita to establish the Coronado N.F., 7/2/08. 

Florida; (Choctawhatchee) N.F. 
(Ocala) Not under Administration 11/08 10/09 

1. F. Eldredge 11/09 1/11 DeFuniak Springs, Florida 

1. F. Eldredge 1/11 4/11 Pensacola, Florida 

Choctawhatchee and Ocala combined into Florida N.F., April 1911. 

1. F. Eldredge 4/11 7/12 Pensacola, Florida 
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1. F. Eldredge 7/12 1/13 Camp Pinchot, Florida 

1. F. Eldredge 1/13 7/13 Pensacola, Florida 

1. F. Eldredge 7/13 12/13 Camp Pinchot, Florida 

Transferred from District 3, December 31, 1913. 

Gallinas N.F. James H. Kinney 4/07 4/07 Capitan, NM 

E. W. Shaw 5/07 5/07 Capitan, NM 

James H. Kinney 6/07 6/08 Capitan, NM 

Combined with Lincoln N.F., 7/2/08. 

Garces N.F. Roscoe G. Willson 7/08 10/08 Nogales, AZ 

Robert A. Rogers 10/08 11/08 Nogales, AZ 

W. H. B. Kent 12/08 9/09 Nogales, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 10/09 4/11 Tucson, AZ 

Combined with Coronado N.F., 4/17/11. 

Gila N.F. R. C. McClure 4/07 11/07 Silver City, NM 

W. H. Goddard 12/07 3/08 Silver City, NM 

Douglas Rodman (Acting) 4/08 5/08 Silver City, NM 

W. H. Goddard 6/08 11/08 Silver City, NM 

W. H. B. Kent 7/10 12/10 Silver City, NM 

Don P. Johnston 12/10 4/14 Silver City, NM 

Hugh G. Calkins 4/14 5/17 Silver City, NM 

0. Fred Arthur 5/17 4/18 Silver City, NM 

Frederic Winn 4/18 11/25 Silver City, NM 

James A. Scott 11/25 6/35 Silver City, NM 

Leonard R. Lessel 7/35 8/46 Silver City, NM 

Claude W. McKenzie 8/46 9/47 Silver City, NM 

Wilson M. Beveridge 9/47 12/49 Silver City, NM 

Edwin A. Tucker 1/50 2/54 Silver City, NM 

G. Lee Wang (Acting) 2/54 8/54 Silver City, NM 

Russel E. Rea 8/54 2/60 Silver City, NM 

Richard C. Johnson 

Bob Williamson 

Ken Scoggin 

2/60 Silver City, NM 

Silver City, NM 

Silver City, NM 

Grand Canyon N.F. 
(North) 4/07 7/07 Fredonia, AZ 

Selden F. Harris 8/07 5/07 Kanab, UT 
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Transferred to District 4 in May 1907. 

Returned to District 3 in June 1907. 

Selden F. Harris 7/07 1/07 Fredonia, AZ 

Selden F. Harris 8/07 11/07 Kanab, Utah 

R. E. Benedict 11/07 12/07 Kanab, Utah 

John H. Clark 1/08 6/08 Kanab, Utah 

Part to establish the Kaibab; part to the Coconino, 7/2/08. 

Grand Canyon N.F. 
(South) F. S. Breen 4/07 3/08 Flagstaff, AZ 

F. C. W. Pooler 4/08 6/08 Flagstaff, AZ 

Transferred to Coconino N.F., 7/2/08. 

Guadalupe N.F. J. H. Kinney 5/07 5/07 Carlsbad, NM 

T. S. Woolsey, Jr. 6/07 6/07 Carlsbad, NM 

C. H. Hinderer 7/07 1/08 Alamogordo, NM 

Arthur M. Neal 2/08 6/08 Alamogordo, NM 

Combined with Aiamo N.F., 7/2/08. 

Huachuca N.F. R. A. Rodgers 4/07 5/07 Nogales, AZ 

Roscoe G. Willson 6/07 6/08 Nogales, AZ 

Combined with Baboquivari and Tumacacori to establish the Garces N.F., 7/2/08 

Jemez N.F. Ross McMillan 4/07 8/07 Santa Fe, NM 

Thos. R. Stewart 9/07 11/07 Santa Fe, NM 

Ross McMillan 12/07 6/08 Santa Fe, NM 

Thos. R. Stewart 7/08 8/08 Santa Fe, NM 

Ross McMillan 9/08 5/09 Santa Fe, NM 

Thos. R. Stewart 6/09 10/09 Santa Fe, NM 

Frank E. Andrews 11/09 4/14 Santa Fe, NM 

Don P. Johnston 4/14 4/15 Santa Fe, NM 

Combined with Pecos to establish the Santa Fe N.F., 4/6/15. 

Kaibab N.F. J. H. Clark 8/08 11/08 Kanab, Utah 

Transferred to District 4 in December 1908. 

Returned to Region 3, July 1934. 

Walter G. Mann 8/34 11/43 Williams, AZ 

Fred W. Johnson 11/43 7/46 Williams, AZ 

Leonard R. Lessel 7146 6/51 Williams, AZ 
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Russel E. Rea 

Floyd M. Hodgin 

Jack H. Prevey 

Keith F^efferle 

Leonard A. Lindquist 

Lincoln N.F. James H. Kinney 

E. W. Shaw 

James H. Kinney 

James A. Scott(Acting) 

James H. Kinney 

James A. Scott (Acting) 

J. H. Kinney 

Charles H. Jennings 

O. Fred Arthur 

Carroll R. Dwire 

Charles E. Moore 

Donald D. Cutler 

Everett R. Doman 

.Russell E. Rea 

Bob Cook 

Ken Evans 

John Hafterson 

Jim Abbott 

Magdalena N.F. John Kerr 

R. F. Balthis 

W. H. Goddard 

Combined with Datil N.F., 2/23/09. 

Manzano N.F. Hugh H. Harris 

Arthur D. Read 

James F. Mullen 

Arthur D. Read 

Wilbur R. Mattoon 

H. B. Hammond 

Hugh G. Calkins 

James F. Mullen 

7/51 8/54 Williams, AZ 

8/54 12/65 Williams, AZ 

4/66 11/70 Williams, AZ 

5/71 3/76 Williams, AZ 

5/76 .... Williams, AZ 

4/07 4/07 Capitan, NM 

5/07 5/07 Capitan, NM 

6/07 9/08 Capitan, NM 

10/08 11/08 Capitan, NM 

12/08 2/09 Capitan, NM 

3/09 4/09 Capitan, NM 

5/09 1/15 Capitan, NM 

4/16 4/18 Alamogordo, NM 

4/18 6/34 Alamogordo, NM 

7/34 4/38 Alamogordo, NM 

4/38 12/53 Alamogordo, NM 

1/54 3/57 Alamogordo, NM 

3/57 2/60 Alamogordo, NM 

2/60 ~ Alamogordo, NM 

4/07 9/03 Magdalena, NM 

10/08 11/08 Magdalena, NM 

12/08 5/09 Magdalena, NM 

4/07 3/08 Albuquerque, NM 

4/08 2/09 Albuquerque, NM 

3/09 4/09 Albuquerque, NM 

5/09 6/09 Albuquerque, NM 

7/09 3/12 Albuquerque, NM 

3/12 6/12 Albuquerque, NM 

7/12 4/14 Albuquerque, NM 

4/14 1/20 Albuquerque, NM 
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L. J. Putsch (Acting) 1/20 7/20 Albuquerque, NM 

Ward Shepard 7/20 6/21 Albuquerque, NM 

K. C. Kartchner 7/21 9/25 Albuquerque, NM 

John A. Adams 10/25 12/31 Albuquerque, NM 

Name changed to Cibola N.F.. 12/3/31. 

Mount Graham N.F. H. A. E. Marshall 4/07 5/07 Safford, AZ 

T. T. Swift 6/07 9/07 Safford, AZ 

H. A. E. Marshall 9/07 10/07 Safford, AZ 

T. T. Swift 11/07 5/08 Safford, AZ 

George H. Birdno 6/08 6/08 Safford, AZ 

Became part of Crook N.F., 7/1/08. 

Mount Taylor N.F Hugh H. Harris 4/07 3/08 Albuquerque, NM 

Arthur D. Read 4/08 4/08 Albuquerque, NM 

Combined with Manzano, 4/16/08. 

Ozark N.F. S. J. Record 4/08 6/08 Fort Smith, Arkansas 

David E. Fitton 7/08 10/08 Fort Smith, Arkansas 

David E. Fitton 11/08 9/09 Harrison, Arkansas 

W. F. Hill 10/09 10/09 Harrison, Arkansas 

Francis Kiefer 11/09 12/13 Harrison, Arkansas 

Transferred from District 3, December 31, 1913. 

Pecos River N.F. Ross McMillan 4/07 8/07 Santa Fe, NM 

Thos R. Stewart 9/07 11/07 Santa Fe, NM 

Ross McMillan 12/07 6/08 Santa Fe, NM 

Name changed to "Pecos" N.F. 

Thos. R. Stewart 7/08 8/08 Santa Fe, NM 

Ross McMillan 9/08 5/09 Santa Fe, NM 

Thos. R. Stewart 6/09 4/14 Santa Fe, NM 

Don P. Johnston 

Combined with Jemez to establish the Santa Fe N.F., 

4/14 

4/16/15. 

4/15 Santa Fe, NM 

Peloncillo N.F. C. T. McGlone 4/07 8/07, Paradise, AZ 

C. T. McGlone 9/07 4/08 Douglas, AZ 

A. H. Zachau 5/08 6/08 Douglas, AZ 

Combined with Chiricahua N.F., 7/2/08. 
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Pinal Mountains N.F. H. A. E. Marshall 

T. T. Swift 

H. A. E. Marshall 

T. T. Swift 

Combined with Tonto N.F., 1/13/08. 

Portales N.F. Ross McMillan 

Land Restored to Public Domain on 3/16/07. 

Prescott N.F. C. H. Hinderer 

Frank C. W. Pooler 

C. H. Hinderer 

John C. McNelty (Acting) 

Edward G. Miller 

Robert L. Deering 

H. Basil Wales 

Frank L. W. Grubb 

Jacob C. Nave 

Clifford E. McDuff 

Wilson M. Beveridge 

Richard C. Johnson 

Ralph W. Crawford 

Dan Macivryre 

Jim Kimball 

Don Bolander 

Bruce Lamb (Acting) 

Coy Jemmett 

Sacramento N.F. C. H. Hinderer 

Arthur M. Neal 

Combined with Alamo N.F. 7/2/08. 

San Francisco Mtns. Fred S. Breen 
N.F. 

Frank C. W. Pooler 

Combined with other lands to establish the Coconino 

San Mateo N.F. John Kerr 

Added to Magdalena N.F., 7/2/08. 

Santa Catalina N.F. Robert J. Selkirk 

4/07 5/07 Safford, AZ 

6/07 9/07 Safford, AZ 

9/07 10/07 Safford, AZ 

11/07 1/08 Safford, AZ 

4/07 4/07 Portales, NM 

4/07 6/07 Prescott, AZ 

7/07 3/08 Prescott, AZ 

4/08 11/16 Prescott, AZ 

11/16 6/17 Prescott, AZ 

7/17 7/19 Prescott, AZ 

7/19 6/20 Prescott, AZ 

7/20 6/26 Prescott, AZ 

6/26 5/35 Prescott, AZ 

5/35 10/48 Prescott, AZ 

10/48 12/49 Prescott, AZ 

12/49 5/57 Prescott, AZ 

5/57 2/60 Prescott, AZ 

2/60 Prescott, AZ 

7/71 Prescott, AZ 

8/71 6/74 Prescott, AZ 

6/86 Prescott, AZ 

6/86 4/87 Prescott, AZ 

4/87 Prescott, AZ 

6/07 1/08 Alamogordo, N.M 

2/08 6/08 Alamogordo, N.M 

4/07 3/08 Flagstaff, AZ 

4/08 6/08 Flagstaff, AZ 

/^., 7/2/05. 

4/07 6/08 Magdalena, NM 

4/07 4/07 Tucson, AZ 
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Robert J. Selkirk 5/07 6/07 Paradise, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 6/07 7/07 Tucson, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 8/07 6/08 Benson, AZ 

Combined with Dragoon and Santa Rita to establish the Coronado N.F., 7/2/08. 

Santa Fe N.F. Don P. Johnston 4/15 4/16 Santa Fe, NM 

Joseph C. Kircher 4/16 2/20 Santa Fe, NM 

Frank E. Andrews 2/20 9/44 Santa Fe, NM 

G. Lee Wang 9/44 3/47 Santa Fe, NM 

Kester D. Flock 3/47 2/51 Santa Fe, NM 

Clarence A. Merker 2/51 4/61 Santa Fe, NM 

Robert E. Latimore 4/61 -- Santa Fe, NM 

John Hall Santa Fe, NM 

Chris Zamora Santa Fe, NM 

Jim Perry Santa Fe, NM 

Santa Rita N.F. Robert J. Selkirk 4/07 4/07 Tuscon, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 5/07 6/07 Paradise, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 6/07 7/07 Tuscon, AZ 

Robert J. Selkirk 8/07 6/08 Benson, AZ 

Combined with Santa Catalina and Dragoon to establish the Coronado • N.F., 7/2/08. 

Sitgreaves N.F. Alexander J. Mackay 7/08 4/09 Snowflake, AZ 

Ashburn H. Douglas 5/09 5/09 Snowflake, AZ 

Alexander J. Mackay 6/09 4/11 Snowflake, AZ 

Charles H. Jennings (Acting) 5/11 7/11 Snowflake, AZ 

Hugh G. Calkins 7/11 4/12 Snowflake, AZ 

Charles H. Jennings 4/12 4/16 Snowflake, AZ 

Paul P. Pitchlynn 4/16 5/17 Snowflake, AZ 

T. C. Hoyt 5/17 7/22 Snowflake, AZ 

Paul H. Roberts 7/22 6/31 Holbrook, AZ 

Fred Merkle (Acting) 6/31 8/31 Holbrook, AZ 

Francis L. Kirby 8/31 2/35 Holbrook, AZ 

Leonard R. Lessel 2/35 6/35 Holbrook, AZ 

Fred Merkle 7/35 1/41 Holbrook, AZ 

Francis J. Monighan 1/41 6/49 Holbrook, AZ 

Kenneth A. Keeney 7/49 2/50 Holbrook, AZ 

Frederic N. Newnham 2/50 8/52 Holbrook, AZ 

Clarence K. Spaulding 8/52 12/63 Holbrook, AZ 

Fred J. Wirth 1/64 - Holbrook, AZ 
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Stan Tixier 

Combined with Apache 

Taos N.F. Ross McMillan 4/07 8/07 Santa Fe, NM 

Thos. R. Stewart 9/07 11/07 Santa Fe, NM 

Ross McMillan 12/07 6/08 Santa Fe, NM 

Combined with part of Jemez to establish the Carson N.F., 6/26/08. 

Tonto N.F. William H. Reed 4/07 1/09 Roosevelt, AZ 

John W. Farmer 2/09 6/09 Roosevelt, AZ 

Roscoe G. Willson 7/09 4/13 Roosevelt, AZ 

C. C. Hall 4/13 4/16 Roosevelt, AZ 

W. H. Goddard 4/16 9/22 Roosevelt, AZ 

Francis L. Kirby 9/22 2/23 Roosevelt, AZ 

Theodore T. Swift 2/23 1/35 Phoenix, AZ 

Francis L. Kirby 1/35 6/46 Phoenix, AZ 

Carlyle J. Lillevig 7/46 7/52 Phoenix, AZ 

Fred 0. Leftwich 7/52 5/59 Phoenix, AZ 

Robert E. Courtney 5/59 Phoenix, AZ 

Fred Wirth Phoenix, AZ 

Bruce Hronek Phoenix, AZ 

Jim Kimball 11/79 Phoenix, AZ 

Tumacacori N.F. R. A. Rodgers 4/07 5/07 Nogales, AZ 

Roscoe G. Willson 6/07 6/08 Nogales, AZ 

Combined with Baboquivari and Huachuca to establish the Garces N.F., 7/2/08. 

Tusayan N.F. Stanton G. Smith 7/10 1/13 Williams, AZ 

Harold Greene 1/13 6/17 Williams, AZ 

Ira T. Yarnall 7/17 9/19 Williams, AZ 

Francis L. W. Grubb 9/19 4/20 Williams, AZ 

James A. Scott 4/20 7/22 Williams, AZ 

Geo. W. Kimball 

Transferred to Kaibab and Prescott. 

7/22 7/34 Williams, AZ 

Verde N.F. Frank C. W. Pooler 2/08 3/08 Prescott, AZ 

C. H. Hinderer 4/08 6/08 Prescott, AZ 

Combined with Prescott N.F., 7/2/08. 
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Wichita N.F. E. F. Morrissey 4/07 6/07 Cache, Oklahoma 

W. R. Mattoon 7/07 12/07 Cache, Oklahoma 

Frank Rush 1/08 6/14 Cache, Oklahoma 

Transferred from District 3, 6/30/14. 

Zuni N.F Not under administration 3/09 6/09 

Arthur D. Read 7/09 9/10 Gallup, NM 

W. R. Mattoon 10/10 7/12 Albuquerque, NM 

Hugh G. Calkins 7/12 4/14 Albuquerque, NM 

James F. Mullen 4/14 9/14 Albuquerque, NM 

Transferred to Manzano N. F., 9/10/14. 

Panhandle National 
Grasslands Francis J. Monighan 12/53 6/58 Albuquerque, NM; 

(Part of Cibola N.F) 

Clyde W. Doran 7/58 5/61 Amarillo, Texas 

Figure 35. When Charles Hall was Forest Supervisor of the Carson, in 1911, his office was a primative affair 
as was Tres Piedras. Photo dated 1911 by R. E. Marsh. 
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APPENDIX E 
Some of the Ranger Districts, by National Forests, with Forest Rangers in 
Charge 
(Included is District in Prescott Forest Reserve.) 

A Chronological Record from Start of Districts to December 1964. 

Editor's note: In 1988 R-3 Forests sent in updated lists in response to attempts to bring the author's work forward. This 
resulted in finding some conflicts in the records that can not be resolved at this time. Rather than complicate already 
lengthy lists with additional footnotes, Tucker's work in this Appendix, and the following one, will be presented as given 
in his manuscript. He noted there that not all names and dates are confirmed. 

Forest Ranoer District District Forest Ranoer From lo 

ALAMO N.F. Carson Seep John J. Plowman 7/08 10/10 

William P. Johnson 1/10 12/15 

Jesse A. Brubaker 1/16 6/17 

Alamo N.F. combined with Lincoln N.F. on 6/16/17. 
District name changed to Guadalupe R.D. 

Fairchilds William J. Anderson 
Combined with the LaLuz R.D. on 12/12/11. 
Name discontinued. 

1911 12/11 

Fresnal Walter S. Barnes 7/08 3/12 

William J. Anderson 8/12 6/16 

George W. Messer 6/16 6/17 

Alamo N.F. combined with the Lincoln N.F. 6/16/17. 
Fresnal R.D. Name changed to Cloudcroft R.D. 

LaLuz James A. Simmons 7/08 12/11 

William J. Anderson 12/11 8/12 

Arthur S. Wingo 8/14 6/17 

Transferred to Lincoln N.F., 6/6/17. 

Mayhill William P. Johnson 1908 1909 

J. W. Belk 1910 1910 

Marshall W. Parker 1910 1910 

William J. Anderson 1910 1911 

Verne Rhoads 1910 1910 

John R. Plowman 10/10 12/10 

George W. Messer 12/11 1/12 

Albert N. Bailey 12/11 10/14 

Arthur S. Wingo 1914 1916 

A. S. Wallen 1916 1916 

Thomas C. Turk 2/16 6/17 

Transferred to Lincoln N.F., 6/6/17. 
District name retained. 

Weed Frederick M. Bradford 7/08 10/09 

William J. Anderson 1909 1910 

James A. Simmons 1910 1911 
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APACHE N.F. 

George W. Messer 1911 12/11 

Jesse A. Brubaker 1/12 1/16 

Arthur S. Wingo 7/16 6/17 

Alamo N.F. combined with Lincoln N.F. 6/16/17. 
District name retained. 

Alpine William C. Martin 1909 12/11 

Benton S. Rogers 1/12 9/15 

Ernest R. Patterson 9/15 7/19 

Harry H. Boyer 7/19 7/22 

Roy Swapp 8/22 2/33 

Willard F. Bond 4/33 7/34 

Henry A. McDaniel 8/34 8/39 

Merle C. Oleson 9/39 4/43 

Harlen G. Johnson 4/43 8/44 

Lawrence F. Hamilton 9/44 8/45 

Robert L. Diggs 8/45 1/51 

Frank Casanova 1/51 2/54 

Wm. H. Brainard 2/54 10/61 

Rollo P. Julander 10/61 _71 ? 

Baseline William 0. Wheatley 5/09 11/10 

John H. Hinck 11/10 2/14 

Ernest R. Patterson 2/14 9/15 

William R. Warner 9/15 8/17 

C. C. Searls 10/17 2/18 

J. M. Harris 2/18 11/19 

Baseline R.D. combined with Clifton R.D., 12/19, and 
called Baseline-Clifton R.D. 

Baseline-Clifton Jacob C. Nave 12/19 6/22 

James W. Girdner 7/22 1/25 

Transferred to Crook N.F., 1/23/25. Name retained. 

Black River: Established from parts of Alpine and Luna R.D., 12/29/57. 

Darrell W. Crawford 12/57 7/63 

Robert Lee Quade 7/63 

Blue John C. Wheatley 1908 11/10 

Benton S. Rogers 11/10 1/12 

Drue Underwood 1/12 8/12 

Carl H. Riblett 9/12 9/14 

Willis M. Baker 9/14 12/14 

Guy B. Rencher 12/14 10/16 
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David S. Marks 10/16 3/20 

Roy Swapp 3/20 1/22 

David S. Marks 2/22 8/25 

Dempsey H. Suite 8/25 4/30 

Arthur Gibson 4/30 1/31 

District discontinued; split among Alpine, Luna, and Frisco 
R.D.s, Jan. 1931. Name discontinued. 

Chase Creek Justus W. Bush 11/09 5/10 

Jacob L. Pritchard 5/10 9/10 

Name of R.D. changed to Metcalf R.D. Sept. 1910. 
Name discontinued. 

Clifton Frank H. Mitchel 1908 11/10 

William 0. Wheatley 11/10 1/11 

Ernest R. Patterson 1/11 6/11 

Made a part of Metcalf R.D., July 1911; 
Established as separate R.D., Oct. 1912. 

G. Harris Collingwood 10/12 4/13 

Name changed to Greenlee R.D., April 1913; 
Resumed name of Clifton R.D., Sept. 1915. 

John A. Adams 9/15 9/17 

William R. Warner 9/17 11/19 

Combined with Baseline R.D. 12/1/19, and called 
Baseline-Clifton R.D. 
Transferred from Gila N.F. back to Apache N.F., 8/15/58. 

John A. Hafterson 8/58 3/62 

Duane A. RiedI 4/62 

Eagle James A. Sizer 12/09 6/11 

Guy B. Rencher 6/11 9/14 

G. Harris Collingwood 9/14 9/15 

Willis M. Baker 9/15 6/16 

George E. Galer 6/16 9/17 

Harry H. Boyer 9/17 11/18 

Peter J. Wilson 4/19 1/22 

Hugh Balke 8/22 7/24 

W. Ellis Wiltbank 7/24 1/25 

Transferred to Crook N.F., 1/23/25. Name retained. 

Frisco Transferred from Datil N.F., 1/23/25. 

Benton S. Rogers 1/25 8/43 

Donald D. Cutler 9/43 8/46 

Roy Swapp 9/46 6/51 

Robert E. Carey 6/51 12/52 
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Name changed to Reserve R.D. 12/31/52. 

Greenlee Established by combining Clifton and Metcalf R.D.s, April 1913. 

Harry R. Batterton 4/13 8/13 

Milford L. Nichols 8/13 12/13 

District divided between Eagle and Baseline R.D.s, 
Dec. 1913. Name discontinued. 

Greer Administered first two years from Water Canyon R.S.; 
then from Riverside R.S.; until June 1919; then back 
to Water Canyon R.S. 

Drayton C. Martin 11/08 11/10 

John C. Wheatley 11/10 5/11 

Homer 0. Eaton 1/10 5/11 

Raymond E. Hopson 5/11 6/11 

James H. Sizer 6/11 3/12 

Ernest R. Patterson 4/12 2/14 

William L. Scofield 2/14 5/14 

Thomas Earl Wylder 5/14 10/16 

James H. Billingslea 10/16 3/17 

Roy Swapp 5/17 7/17 

C. C. Searls 9/17 10/17 

L. R. DeCamp 11/17 4/18 

Floyd R. Wigely 5/18 10/18 

Harry H. Boyer 11/18 6/19 

George L. Haynes 6/19 5/24 

Jesse T. Fears 6/24 8/28 

Ed L. McPhaul 8/28 8/35 

Merle C. Oleson 8/35 9/39 

Henry A. McDaniel 9/39 6/51 

Name changed to Springerville R.D., 7/1/51. 

Jewett Transferred from Datil N.F., 1/23/25. 

Fred L. McCament 1/25 11/31 

James A. Newton 11/31 12/39 

Robert L. Diggs 12/39 8/45 

Louis Liedman 8/45 11/49 

Jerome Thompson 11/49 2/54 

Ross L. Teuber 2/54 3/58 

W. Quinten Cole 5/58 

Luna Transferred from Datil N.F., 1/23/25. 

Fred N. Ares 1/25 2/32 

Henry A. McDaniels 3/32 8/34 
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Merle C. Oleson 9/34 

Laurence E. Stotz 8/35 

Leonard A. Prichard 3/39 

Dean M. Earl 3/44 

Louis Liedman 11/49 

Jack B. Shumate 4/51 

Kenneth R. Weissenborn 4/54 

Franklin 0. Carroll 1/57 

Joe A. Clayton 7/60 

Mangus Tranferred from Datil N.F., 1/23/25 

Hurst R. Julian 1/25 

District added to Jewett R.D., Dec. 1926; 
Name discontinued. 

Metcalf Established by change of name from Chase Creek R.D., 
Sept. 1910. 

Milford L. Nichols 9/10 

Harry R. Batterton 12/11 

Name changed to Greenlee R.D., April 1913; 
name discontinued. 

Nutrioso Guilford B. Chapin 1908 

Jacob L. Pritchard 5/11 

Milford L. Nichols 12/11 

William L. Scofield 8/13 

Milford L. Nichols 12/13 

James H. Billingslea 2/16 

Guy B. Rencher 10/16 

Mack McCrady 8/17 

Ellis W. Lund 10/17 

David S. Marks 4/20 

Roy Swapp 7/22 

Jesse T. Fears 8/22 

Dempsey H. Suite 7/24 

Divided between Alpine and Greer R.D.s, Aug. 1925; 
name discontinued. 

Reserve Established by change of name from Frisco R.D., 12/31/52. 

Robert E. Carey 1/53 

Robert C. Ziegler 10/56 

Transferred to Gila N.F., 8/15/58. 

Springerville Established by change of name from Greer 
R.D., 7/1/51 

7/51 

8/35 

2/39 

1/44 

11/49 

3/51 

1/54 

1/57 

7/60 

12/26 

11/11 

4/13 

4/11 

10/11 

8/13 

12/13 

2/16 

10/16 

8/17 

9/17 

3/20 

2/22 

8/22 

6/24 

8/25 

10/56 

8/58 

5/55 Henry A. McDaniel 



Tularosa 

CARSON N.F. 

Whiteriver 

Canjilon 

Chandler P. St. John 6/55 9/55 

Edwin H. Collins 11/55 3/59 

Wesley E. Lathrop 4/59 1/63 

S. Paul Gordon 1/63 

from Datil N.F., 1/23/25. 

Allen F. Bloom 1/25 12/25 

Hollis S. Palmer 12/25 3/28 

en Jewett and Frisco R.D.s in 
discontinued. 

Davis B. Rudd 9/09 10/10 

Drue Underwood 5/11 1/12 

Tie discontinued. 

Leonard A. Shartzer 4/09 8/19 

Jonathan L. Hughes 9/20 6/24 

L. L. Feight 7/24 10/26 

James A. Newton 12/26 10/31 

Edward C. Groesbeck 10/31 4/35 

Kenneth A. Keeney 8/35 12/38 

Frank L. Jackson 12/38 10/41 

Nathan Snyder 10/41 2/42 

Vernon B. Bostick 3/42 2/45 

Frank M. Burton 8/45 9/51 

Alan J. Lamb 9/51 2/55 

Gilbert Duran 2/55 9/57 

Donald H. Bolander 9/57 3/59 

Talmage L. Figart 3/59 8/63 

Chester P. Smith 8/63 

El Rito Established by change of name from Vallecitos R.D. 
June 1952. 

Jicarilia 

Fred R. Swetnam 6/52 10/54 

Bufford F. Starkey 10/54 8/57 

David F. Baum 8/57 8/62 

Jack R. Miller 8/62 

Marshall D. Loveless 5/11 7/12 

Charles D. Hager 8/12 11/15 

William R. Lynch 11/15 12/15 

Edgar L. Perry 2/16 7/17 

Charles E. Simpson 7/17 9/17 

Walter J. Perry 9/17 12/17 
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Charles S. Schofield 12/17 8/18 

Lewis W. Lynch 8/18 9/19 

Roy Perry 11/19 7/21 

Robert L. Ground 7/21 8/21 

Harry W. Naylor 8/21 10/22 

W. E. Murk 11/22 5/24 

James A. Newton 5/24 10/26 

A. L. Bolander 11/26 4/28 

H. J. Turney 4/28 4/29 

Charles Askins 4/29 2/30 

Lester Rush (Act.) 3/30 9/30 

Maurice Jones 9/30 4/33 

J. Homer Groesbeck 4/33 11/35 

Robert L. Diggs 11/35 12/39 

James A. Newton 12/39 4/46 

Lester Rush (Act.) 4/46 9/46 

John M. Mazzetta 9/46 4/49 

Charles C. Elsbree 4/49 4/50 

George R. Proctor 4/50 12/50 

Chester A. Shields 12/50 4/51 

Raymond L. Brown 4/51 11/55 

Edgar L. Whipple 12/55 7/58 

James F. D'Amelio 7/58 11/61 

Thomas A. Baker 11/61 4/62 

Cleo J. Anderson 4/62 

Penasco Established by change of name from Rio Pueblo R.D., 
Dec. 31, 1951. 

Chester A. Shields 1/52 8/56 

Robert E. Carey 10/56 1/58 

Fred R. Swetnam 2/58 

Questa Lester S. Myers 5/11 8/11 

Ellery F. Lawrence 3/11 6/11 

Philip V. Dieckman 6/11 11/11 

Leo R. Anderson 11/11 5/18 

Ira K. Cummings 5/18 4/19 

Louis F. Cottam 4/19 5/23 

R. H. Westveld 5/23 5/24 

Johnathan L. Hughes 7/24 9/26 

Gunnar L. Wang 9/26 4/28 



A. L. Bolander 5/28 2/31 

Combined with Taos R.D., March 1931; name discontinued. 
Reactivated Nov. 1959. 

Donald H. Bolander 11/59 1/60 

Harry 0. Sontag 1/60 9/61 

Bernard H. Brunner 10/61 

Rio Pueblo-Established by transfer of Picuris R.D. from Santa Fe 
N.F. on 6/16/23, and change of name. 

Edward W. Cottam 6/23 4/26 

Lloyd A. Brisbin 4/26 7/26 

A. L. Bolander 10/26 11/26 

L. L. Feight 11/26 2/31 

A. L. Bolander 3/31 12/38 

Kenneth A. Keeney 12/38 3/41 

David 0. Scott 4/41 7/44 

Verne A. Greco 8/44 7/45 

Lawrence F. Hamilton 9/45 11/49 

Urban J. Post 11/49 4/51 

Chester A. Shields 4/51 12/51 

Name changed to Penasco R.D., 12/31/51 

San Antone Henry F. Wade 4/11 

T. M. Graham 4/11 8/11 

Ross Liston 9/11 12/11 

Charles V. Shearer 12/11 6/12 

W. R. Lynch 6/12 12/15 

Alexander Best 12/15 11/16 

Thomas J. Ground 11/16 8/21 

Robert L. Ground 8/21 9/28 

Added to Tres Piedras R.D., Oct. 1928. 
Name discontinued. 

Servilleta Charles H. Berry 6/08 5/09 

Carroll R. Dwire 5/09 4/11 

Charles B. Rumsey 4/11 5/11 

Charles Wilton 5/11 8/12 

Elliott S. Barker 10/12 11/14 

Alexander Best 11/14 5/15 

Walter J. Perry 5/15 4/17 

Maximillian M. Bruhl 4/17 1/21 

C. G. Harrington 1/21 10/22 

Harry W. Naylor 10/22 10/26 

139 



Name changed to Tres Piedras R.D., Oct. 1926. 

Taos Bert G. Phillips 6/08 5/12 

Ellery F. Lawrence 6/11 8/11 

Clifford E. Hulbert 8/11 10/17 

Carroll R. Dwire 11/17 5/20 

D. M. Barker 6/20 12/21 

E. Stover 12/21 1/22 

Lloyd A. Brisbin 1/22 3/26 

L. P. Martinez 3/26 8/46 

George E. Engstrom 10/46 8/63 

Arthur L. Foster 8/63 

Tres Piedras Established by change of name from 
Servilleta R.D., Oct. 1926. 

Harry W. Naylor 10/26 5/28 

T. L. Heggie 5/28 9/28 

Robert L. Ground 10/28 9/42 

Samuel R. Servis 10/42 7/44 

Allan G. Watkins 10/44 3/47 

Irvin P. Murray 3/47 3/49 

Eugene W. Wilton 3/49 7/54 

Kenneth W. Sahlin 7/54 8/57 

Gilbert Duran 9/57 10/60 

Kenneth G. Scoggin 10/60 11/64 

Amon J. Garner 12/64 

Vallecitos Carroll R. Dwire 6/08 5/09 

H. E. Vote 5/09 5/11 

Clifford E. Hulbert 6/11 8/11 

K. Van Slyck 8/11 10/11 

Dayton G. Darrah 10/11 3/16 

Roy Perry 3/16 4/17 

Omar S. Barker 4/17 9/17 

Francis L. Hoffarth 9/17 12/17 

Walter J. Perry 12/17 4/18 

Edgar L. Perry 4/18 4/22 

W. E. Murk 4/22 11/22 

Gunnar L. Wang 12/22 7/26 

Lloyd A. Brisbin 7/26 4/28 

Gunnar L. Wang 4/28 2/31 

L. L. Feight 3/31 4/35 
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CIBOLA 

Edward C. Groesbeck 4/35 9/35 

Floyd M. Hodgin 11/35 8/41 

Frank L. Jackson 10/41 7/42 

Merle A. Gee 8/42 9/46 

J. Paul Martinez 1/47 6/52 

Name changed to El Rito R.D., June 1952. 

Alvord Transferred from Soil Conservation Service 12/24/53. 

Keith W. Newton 12/53 8/57 

Tom M. Smith 8/57 6/58 

Became part of Panhandle Unit, 7/1/58. 

Amarillo Transferred from Soil Conservation Service 12/24/53. 

Walter J. Caserta 12/53 1/54 

Added to Cheyenne R.D., Jan. 1954. 

Baldwin Transferred from Datil N.F., 12/3/31. 

Stephen Q. Garst 12/31 7/32 

Combined with Rosedale R.D. to establish the San 
Augustine R.D., July 1932. Discontinued name. 

Bonham Transferred from Soil Conservation Service, 12/24/53. 

Cecil T. Beard 12/53 6/58 

Became part of Panhandle Unit, 7/1/58. 

Cheyenne Transferred from Soil Conservation Service, 12/24/53. 

William P. Blarney 12/53 6/58 

Became part of Panhandle Unit, 7/1/58. 

Clayton Transferred from Soil Conservation Service, 12/24/53. 

Ernest C. Hemphill 12/53 6/58 

Became part of Panhandle Unit, 7/1/58. 

Decatur Transferred from Soil Conservation Service, 12/24/53. 

Keith W. Newton 12/53 8/57 

Tom M. Smith 8/57 6/58 

Became part of Panhandle Unit, 7/1/58. 

Gallup Established by change of name from Zuni R.D., 12/31/51. 

Robert E. Courtney 1/52 5/53 

Frank J. Paradise 9/53 12/56 

Wayne R. Cook 1/57 11/57 

Chester H. Olson 11/57 2/60 

Theodore A. Roll 3/60 8/61 

Ned R. Jackson 8/61 

Grants Established by change of name from Mt. Taylor R.D., 
12/231/51. 
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George R. Proctor 1/52 5/55 

Wayne R. Cook 5/55 1/57 

Roger L. Voyles 1/57 12/59 

Mark F. Jones 1/60 5/63 

Estevan Romero 5/63 

Magdalena Transferred from Datil N.F., 12/3/31. 

H. Garvin Smith 12/31 4/35 

Arthur Gibson 4/35 11/37 

Samuel R. Servis 12/37 1/40 

John H. Mims 2/40 8/42 

John S. Pomeroy 9/42 8/43 

Arthur Gibson 8/43 7/46 

Name changed to San Augustine, July 1946. Again became Magdalena R.D., June 1952 

Magdalena Edwin H. Collins 6/52 11/55 

Raymond L. Brown 11/55 10/56 

Roger L. Voyles 10/56 1/57 

Euel R. Nave 2/57 6/59 

Clay C. Withrow 7/59 10/61 

Dick A. Cox 10/61 

Mountainair Transferred from Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. 

William H. Woods 12/31 6/35 

John H. Mims 6/35 1/40 

Edward W. Cottam 2/40 2/51 

Harlen G. Johnson 2/51 4/51 

Euel R. Nave 4/51 9/55 

Harlen G. Johnson 9/55 11/55 

Harry 0. Sontag 1/56 3/57 

Vincent R. Price 3/57 6/58 

George E. Shilling 7/58 9/61 

Billy B. Buck 10/61 

Mt. Taylor Transferred from Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. 

John H. Mims 12/31 5/35 

Paul Y. Vincent 6/35 4/37 

John H. Hunts 4/37 8/39 

Edwin A. Tucker 9/39 9/43 

E. L. Besondy 9/43 4/45 

Samuel R. Servis 5/45 7/45 

Verne A. Greco 7/45 12/47 



Joy J. Baldwin 2/48 12/50 

George R. Proctor 12/50 12/51 

Name changed to Grants R.D., Dec. 31, 1951. 

Red Rock Transferred from Datil N.F., 12/3/31. 

T. L. Heggie 12/31 2/34 

Henry E. Andrews 2/34 3/35 

John H. Hunts 4/35 4/37 

Paul Y. Vincent 4/37 10/39 

Lauence E. Stotz 10/39 11/39 

Leon 0. Hill 11/39 2/43 

Kenneth 0. Wilson 3/43 11/43 

Name changed to San Mateo, Nov. 1943. 

Rosedale Transferred from Datil N.F., 12/3/31. 

William H. Koogler 12/31 7/32 

Combined with Baldwin R.D. to establish the San 
Augustine R.D., July 1932. Discontinued name. 

San Augustine Established by combining Baldwin R.D. and Rosedale 
R.D., July 1932. 

William H. Koogler 7/32 12/37 

Arthur Gibson 12/37 8/43 

Combined with Magdalena R.D. in 1943. Name discontinued. 
Resumed name of San Augustine R.D. in July 1946. 

Arthur Gibson 7/46 2/50 

G. Le Grand Olson 3/50 6/52 

Name changed to Magdalena R.D. in June 1952. 

Sandia Transferred from Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. 

Landis J. Arnold 12/31 3/33 

Edward W. Cottam 4/39 1/40 

Zane G. Smith 1/40 10/43 

Samuel R. Servis 7/44 5/45 

Samuel R. Servis 7/45 1/47 

Robert 1. Stewart 1/47 4/51 

Harlen G. Johnson 4/51 12/64 

Jack Miller 

San Mateo Established by change of name from Red Rock R.D., Nov. 1943. 

Kenneth 0. Wilson 11/43 1/44 

Archie R. Rea 4/44 1/46 

Leon 0. Hill 1/46 9/47 

Cleo J. Anderson 9/47 10/48 

Norman P. Weeden 10/48 6/52 
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COCONINO N.F. 

Texiine 

Zuni 

Beaver Creek 

Jewell Wyche 6/52 1/57 

James W. Thorne 2/57 9/61 

George E. Shilling 9/61 

m Soil Conservation Service 12/24/53. 

Hoyt R. Marvel 12/53 6/58 

anhandle Unit, 7/1/58. 

1 Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. 

Edward W. Cottam 12/31 4/33 

John H. Hunts 4/33 4/35 

Paul Y. Vincent 4/35 6/35 

Leon 0. Hill 7/35 11/39 

Laurence E. Stotz 11/39 2/40 

Samuel R. Servis 2/40 9/42 

LeGrand Olson 9/42 5/45 

H. Glenn Lewis 5/45 5/47 

Robert E. Courtney 6/47 12/51 

illup R.D., Dec. 31, 1951. 

James D. Bailey 7/09 9/15 

Alston D. Morse 9/15 4/16 

John C. Vandevier 4/16 10/16 

Alston D. Morse 10/16 4/17 

Fred W. Croxen 4/17 11/17 

Percy L. Bonebrake 11/17 4/18 

Charles N. Lochman 4/18 10/18 

R. W. Cummings 10/18 4/19 

Walter Hackleman 4/19 3/27 

Oscar L. McClure 5/27 2/31 

Harold Linn 12/32 11/43 

Howard B. Smith 12/43 7/45 

Henry C. Summerfield 8/45 1/46 

Leonard A. Prichard 1/46 2/48 

Edward T. Carr 3/48 11/54 

Charires P. Pase 12/54 9/55 

Raymond M. Housley 9/55 3/57 

Robert N. Gashwiler 3/57 11/59 

Roger L. Voyles 12/59 7/63 

Tom E. Brierley 7/63 11/63 

Gerald L. Mundell 11/63 
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Bly Lorenzo B. Maxwell 7/13 3/17 

Fred W. Croxen 11/17 6/21 

Jewell D. Massey 6/21 6/21 

James W. Girdner 7/21 7/22 

Robert 1. Stewart 7/22 9/24 

Frank W. Buster 10/24 12/26 

Eastburn R. Smith 2/27 12/33 

Wilson M. Beveridge 4/34 9/35 

Harold E. Pilmer 9/35 10/35 

District discontinued and divided between Mormon Lake and Long Valley. 

Chalendar Established by transfer from Grand Canyon N.F., 7/2/08. 

Fred Flatten 7/08 6/10 

Transferred to Tusayan N.F., 6/28/10. 

Elden Established from part of Flagstaff R.D., Sept. 1935. 

Oscar L. McClure 9/35 11/49 

Henry V. Allen 11/49 5/53 

Fed Adm. Unit 2/54 1/57 

Wallace B. Gallaher 1/57 3/60 

Milo J. Hassell 3/60 7/62 

William R. Snyder 7/62 

John Hatt 

Ben Wallingford 11/68 5/72 

Dennis Lund 5/72 2/77 

Stan Gruenwald 

Jack (John) Sims 

Flagstaff Tom Dusick 1909 1910 

Lewis Benedick 1910 5/12 

Herbert B. Fay 6/12 3/18 

Claude W. McKenzie 3/18 11/20 

Milford L. Nichols 12/20 9/23 

Ed H. Oldham 7/24 7/46 

Donald D. Cutler 8/46 12/47 

Vern A. Greco 1/48 3/50 

Feris E. McDermaid 4/50 7/51 

Wm. H. Brainard 9/51 2/54 

Fed. Adm. Unit 2/54 1/57 

Nelson T. Bernard 1/57 5/57 

Donald E. Jirsa 5/57 2/58 
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Dean C. Gossard 2/58 4/61 

John S. Hart 4/61 

Long Valley George L. Pratt 7/08 12/09 

M. 0. Dumas 12/09 1/10 

W. W. Wilson 4/10 10/10 

Lorenzo B. Maxwell 10/10 7/13 

Leslie Clayton 8/13 8/15 

Oscar F. Schaefer 8/15 12/16 

Will W. Brown 12/16 12/16 

Will J. Brown 1/19 6/41 

Henry C. Summerfield 6/41 9/41 

Harold E. Pilmer 9/41 9/43 

Ferd M. Chapman 10/43 1/44 

Walter L. Graves 2/44 4/45 

Ferd M. Chapman 4/45 12/45 

James A. Egan 1/46 10/49 

David C. Stevens 12/49 9/51 

Jay H. Cravens 9/51 1/54 

Fed. Adm. Unit 2/54 1/57 

William J. Fleishman 1/57 5/57 

Nelson T. Bernard 5/57 1/59 

Tom M. Smith 2/59 9/60 

Robert M. Williamson 9/60 

Mormon Lake William F. Wallace 7/08 12/09 

John Anderson 4/10 12/10 

Jerry J. Fisher 4/11 5/15 

Jesse 1. Bushnell 5/15 10/15 

Fred W. Croxen 10/15 5/16 

Frederick 0. Knipe 5/16 2/17 

Walter M. Mickelson 3/17 4/18 

Walter Hackleman 4/18 12/18 

John A. Adams 5/19 11/19 

Roy H. Rice 12/19 9/40 

Donald D. Cutler 9/40 9/41 

H. Cranson Fosberg 9/41 11/43 

Ferd M. Chapman 1/44 3/45 

Elmer E. Hokanson 4/45 12/45 

John Hall 1/46 2/46 
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Kenneth 0. Wilson 8/46 4/47 

Farris E. McDermaid 4/47 3/50 

Frank J. Paradise 4/50 9/53 

Fed. Adm. Unit 2/54 1/57 

Frederick H. Richardson 1/57 2/59 

James S. Cochrane 2/59 10/62 

Eric G. Johanson 10/62 

Munds Park James D. Bailey 7/08 6/09 

Claude Thompson 1/10 6/12 

Fred W. Croxen 7/12 10/15 

Jesse 1. Bushnell 10/15 9/28 

Lloyd A. Wall 9/28 8/29 

Walter Hackleman 9/29 1/31 

Oscar L. McClure 2/31 12/32 
added to Rogers Lake R.D., Dec. 31, 1932, to establish the Oak Creek R.D. Name discontinued. 

Oak Creek Established by combining Munds Park and Roger's Lake R.D.s, Dec. 31, 1931 

Oscar L. McClure 1/33 9/35 

Harold E. Pilmer 10/35 9/41 

Donald D. Cutler 9/41 8/43 

Merle C. Oleson 9/43 1/51 

Gordon A. Mammon 2/51 6/52 

Name changed to Sedona R.D., June 30, 1952. 

Rogers Lake Henry C. Deutsch 5/16 7/17 

John E. Cook 4/19 4/20 

J. L. Stevens 4/20 2/23 

Oscar L. McClure 3/23 5/27 

Harold Linn 6/27 12/32 

Discontinued Dec. 1 932. Added to Munds Park to establish Oak Creek R.D. 

Sedona Established by change of name from Oak Creek R. 

Gordon A. Mammon 

,D. July 1, 1952. 

7/52 8/55 

Chester H. Olson 8/55 11/57 

William L. Holmes 11/57 7/63 

James L. Perry 7/63 

Walnut Canyon National Monument 

William H. Pierce 7/10 7/16 

Neil Erickson 4/21 12/27 

Walter Hackleman 6/28 4/29 

Frank J. Cox 4/29 3/34 

Administration to National Park Service. 
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CORONADO N.F. 

Williams Established by transfer from Grand Canyon N. F., 7/2/08. 

Reuben L. Neill 6/08 11/09 

Willard L. Sevier 6/08 6/10 

Transferred to Tusayan N.F., 6/28/10. Name retained. 

Winslow Established from parts of Long Valley and other R.D.s, Nov. 1957. 

Norman E. Johnson 11/57 7/58 

Harry L. Severtson 7/58 

Animas Established by change of name from Peloncillo R.D., May 1927. 

David S. Marks 5/27 9/32 

Name changed in Sept. (?), 1932, to Douglas R.D. 

Chiricahua Established by change of name from Paradise R.D., July 1952. 

Urban J. Post 7/52 5/53 

District divided between Willcox and Douglas R.D.s, May 1953. Name discontinued. 

Douglas Established by change of name from Animas R.D., Nov. 1932 (7). 

Samuel A. Sowell 11/32 9/35 

Phil Kennedy 10/35 4/48 

John S. Bower 4/48 8/53 

Frank L. Jackson 8/53 8/57 

Edward T. Carr 8/57 

Dragoon-Whetstone Neil Erickson 6/17 4/21 

John A. Frieborn 4/21 12/21 

Edwin G. Mettler 1/22 12/31 

Added to Huachuca R.D., Jan 1. 1932. Name discontinued. 

Huachuca Robert A. Rodgers 5/16 1/22 

Robert Thompson 1/22 4/30 

Olof J. Olson 4/30 6/35 

Volney Douglas 10/35 8/36 

Thomas W. Bentley 10/36 10/48 

Nathan Snyder 10/48 3/50 

Robert M. Schmitt 3/50 7/53 

Reginald Reynolds 8/53 1/57 

District divided between Santa Rita and Patagonia, Jan. 1957. Name discontinued. 

Nogales Established by change of name from Tumacacori R.D . (?) 1952. 

Gilbert W. Sykes 7/52 4/62 

Miles P. Hanrahan 4/62 

Paradise Otto P. Schoenbert 7/17 8/21 

Carl B. Scholefield 1924 10/30 

Samuel A. Sowell 11/30 10/32 
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Thomas W. Bentley 10/32 10/36 

Gilbert W. Sykes 10/36 8/39 

John H. Hunts 9/39 2/45 

Euel R. Nave 3/45 4/51 

Urban J. Post 4/51 6/52 

Name changed in June 1952 to Chiricahua R.D. 

Patagonia Established by change of name from Santa Rita R.D. 

Frank M. Burton 

Dec. 1952. 

12/52 7/53 

Robert M. Schmitt 7/53 7/57 

Theodore A. Roll 7/57 6/58 

Edward W. Cottam 6/58 7/61 

Adrian Hill 7/61 

Rincon George E. Galer 7/19 3/22 

Frank D. Harris 3/22 6/24 

Olof J. Olson 7/24 9/25 

Thomas W. Bentley 9/25 4/28 

John S. Pomeroy 4/28 3/30 

Robert Thompson 4/30 9/31 

Added to Santa Catalina R.D. in 1931. 

Safford Transferred from Crook N.F., 10/23/53. Renamed from Mt. Graham R.D. 

John S. Bower 10/53 11/54 

Mark F. Jones 11/54 8/57 

Kenneth W. Sahlin 8/57 1/60 

Roy C. Gandy 1/60 8/63 

Ernest E. McCrary 8/63 

Santa Catalina James F. Westfall 7/08 1913 

Arthur H. Zachau 1913 10/15 

Stanley F. Wilson 10/15 3/17 

Elmer A. Staggs 4/17 6/18 

Lyle B. Smith 6/18 12/21 

John A. Frieborn 1/22 3/28 

Lloyd A. Brisbin 4/28 1/35 

H. Garvin Smith 4/35 8/35 

Ed L. McPhaul 8/35 2/45 

John H. Hunts 3/45 2/54 

Lawrence F. Hamilton 4/54 4/57 

Charles R. Ames 4/57 4/58 

John W. Waters 5/58 
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Santa Rita Carl B. Scholefield 10/19 8/21 

Olof J. Olson 9/21 12/21 

Lyle B. Smith 1/22 9/25 

Olof J. Olson 9/25 4/30 

John S. Pomeroy 4/30 5/35 

George E. Engstrom 5/35 10/41 

Euel R. Nave 1/42 2/45 

Walter Hackleman 4/45 8/48 

Thomas W. Bentley 10/48 7/51 

Frank M. Burton 9/15 12/52 

District name changed to Patagonia, December 1952. Santa Rita name reused for another R.D. in 1957. 

Frank L. Jackson 8/57 8/60 

Barry G. Peterson 8/60 3/62 

Randolph R. Riley 3/62 

Tumacacori Transferred from Garces N.F., 4/17/11. 

Albert J. Abbott 4/11 8/18 

Robert Thompson 8/18 12/21 

Olof J. Olson 1/22 7/22 

Arthur S. Wingo 7/22 8/39 

Gilbert W. Sykes 9/39 6/52 

Name changed in June 1952 to Nogales R.D. 

Willcox Established from part of Chiricahua and Aravaipa R.D.s, May 1953. 

Mark F. Jones 5/53 11/54 

Ed T. Carr 11/54 7/57 

Robert M. Schmitt 8/57 2/60 

Dan E. Williams 2/60 10/63 

Cecil R. Sims 10/63 

CROOK N.F. Aravaipa C. A. Frith 4/14 11/14 

J. Clark Owens ' 1/15 4/15 

George H. Birdno 6/15 4/16 

Frank Angle 6/16 3/19 

Leroy E. Gardner 5/19 7/19 

C. B. Smith 7/19 4/20 

Hugh E. Chipman 4/20 3/25 

Samuel A. Sowell 4/25 10/30 

James W. Girdner 10/30 8/39 

C. W. White 8/39 9/41 

Richard C. Johnson 9/41 1/42 
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Ben Nelson 2/42 11/42 

John J. Humbert 11/42 12/43 

Carl B. Scholefield 1/44 12/49 

Russell Hawk 1/50 4/53 

Transferred to Coronado N.F. in May 1953. Became part of Willcox R.D. 

Baseline-Clifton Transferred from Apache N.F., 1/23/25. 

James W. Girdner 1/25 12/26 

Name changed to Clifton R.D., Dec. 31, 1926. 

Clifton Established by change of name from Baseline-Clifton R.D. 12/31/26. 

James W. Girdner 1/27 10/30 

Chester V. Christensen 10/30 9/35 

Clarence Shumway 9/35 6/43 

D. Homan Dodge 7/43 12/45 

Leon 0. Hill 12/45 1/46 

Kenneth 0. Wilson 2/46 8/46 

Ben G. Rutherford 9/46 1/50 

William J. Fleishman 3/53 10/53 

Transferred to Gila N.F. on 10/23/53. 

Eagle Transferred from Apache N.F., 1/23/25. 

W. Ellis Wiltbank 1/25 12/27 

Albin D. Molohon 2/28 12/30 

Arthur Gibson 1/31 4/35 

Russell Hawk 7/35 1/50 

Ben G. Rutherford 1/50 8/52 

Added to Clifton R.D., Aug. 1952. Name discontinued. 

Globe Established by combining North Globe and Pinal R.D.s, 9/30/46. 

William E. Baldwin 10/46 5/51 

John S. Pomeroy 6/51 10/53 

Transferred to Tonto N.F., 10/23/53. Name continued. 

Mt. Graham Gerald Merrill 7/08 1/17 

Francis P. Porcher 4/17 10/17 

R. W. Hundley 11/17 7/20 

Chester V. Christensen 7/20 1/22 

Raymond D. Rowley 4/22 9/35 

Chester V. Christensen 9/35 9/46 

Floyd A. Nichols 10/46 8/53 

John S. Bower 8/53 10/53 

Transferred to Coronado N.F. on 10/23/53 and renamed Safford R.D. 
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North Globe Established by change of name from Queen Creek R.D., May 1928. 

Pinal 

DATIL N.F. 

View 

Baldwin 

John Ray Painter 5/28 10/36 

Jesse T. Fears 11/36 12/43 

William P. Dasman 12/43 4/46 

William E. Baldwin 4/46 9/46 

I.D. to establish Globe R.D., Sept. 30, 1946. Name discontinued. 

Frank R. Taylor 7/08 4/14 

Francis L. Kirby 4/14 2/22 

Chester V. Christensen 2/22 10/30 

Carl B. Scholefield 10/30 12/43 

John J. Humbert 1/44 9/46 

)e R.D. to establish Globe R.D. , Sept. 30,1946. Name discontinued. 

Francis L. Kirby 1913 4/14 

1 in 1914 to Aravaipa R.D. 

Frederic Winn 1/09 11/09 

James J. Bruten 12/09 5/10 

Dallas F. Wells 5/10 6/11 

Clinton A. Hodges 7/11 11/11 

Walter R. Atkeson 4/12 4/14 

Walter A. Foor 5/14 9/14 

Robert W. Nourse 10/14 7/15 

Henry P. Barksdale 8/15 8/16 

Lewis J. Mundell 8/16 2/18 

Clarence E. Weatherford 2/18 10/19 

Jack B. Crain 10/19 9/20 

Frank Hiler 9/20 7/22 

Stephen Q. Garst 7/22 12/31 

Transferred to Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. Manzano changed to Cibola N.F. District name continued. 

Beaverhead Established from parts of Black Range and Elk Mtn. R.D.s, March 1923. 

Claude Fritz 3/23 11/23 

Harold Peckenpaugh 12/23 1/26 

Jewell Wyche 2/26 7/28 

Floyd Ellington 11/28 1/31 

Combined with Elk Mtn. R.D., Jan. 1931. Name discontinued. 

Black Range Robert B. Ewing ? 8/22 

Fred L. McCament 9/22 2/23 

H. Garvin Smith 3/23 7/26 

Ed L. McPhaul 7/26 8/28 
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James A. Simmons 8/28 12/31 

Transferred to Gila N.F., 12/24/31. Datil discontinued. Name changed to Chloride R.D. 

Elk Mountain Albert Yochelson 2/20 3/21 

Jack B. Crain 4/21 8/23 

Ed L. McPhaul 8/23 6/26 

H. Garvin Smith 7/26 8/28 

Jewell Wyche 8/28 12/31 

Transferred to Gila N.F., 12/24/31. Name retained for District. Datil discontinued. 

Frisco John Mundy & 
Frederick Winn 6/08 12/08 

Silas Shank 1/09 7/09 

Ausburn H. Douglas 8/09 11/09 

Guy S. Exon 12/09 8/10 

Joseph J. Jones 8/10 9/10 

Amasa 0. Reynolds 9/10 7/11 

Robert S. Blatchford 7/11 8/17 

James A. Simmons 9/17 7/22 

Frank Hiler 8/22 11/22 

Allen F. Bloom 1/23 7/24 

Transferred to Apache N.F., 1/23/25. Name retained. 

Jewett John F. Russell ? 1910 

Charles P. Gage 1910 7/15 

Joseph Eggum 7/15 2/16 

Clifford R. Minner 2/16 1/17 

George D. Russell 1/17 4/18 

Vernon E. Seitz 5/18 8/18 

Hugh E. Chipman 9/18 3/19 

Louis Ketcham 3/19 7/21 

Allen F. Bloom 7/21 1/23 

Fred L. McCament 2/23 1/25 

Transferred to Apache N.F., 1/23/25. Name retained. 

Luna Stephen Q. Garst 5/10 12/10 

Amaso 0. Reynolds 7/11 4/15 

Benton S. Rogers 9/15 8/16 

Walter A. Foor 8/16 4/18 

A. W. Anderson 5/18 11/20 

Benton S. Rogers 11/20 1/25 

Transferred to Apache N.F., 1/23/25. Name retained. 

Magdalena James J. Bruten 2/09 12/09 
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Guy Exon 12/09 12/09 

Joseph J. Jones 1/10 7/10 

Lawrence G. Haynes 7/10 7/13 

Otis E. Watson 11/12 4/15 

Stephen Q. Garst 8/16 6/22 

James A. Simmons 7/22 8/28 

H. Garvin Smith 8/28 12/31 

Transferred to Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. Datil name changed to Cibola N.F. District name retained. 

Mangus Established from parts of Jewett and Luna R.D.s, Nov. 1922. 

Joseph N. Kimmel 11/22 9/24 

Hollis S. Palmer 9/24 11/24 

Hurst R. Julian 11/24 1/25 

Transferred to Apache N.F., 1/23/25. Retained name. 

Negrito John Mundy 1/09 5/09 

Robert S. Blatchford 5/09 7/11 

William H. Criswell 7/11 6/12 

North Star Benjamin F. Hooten 7/10 4/12 

Red Rock Walter M. Barnes 2/09 3/12 

Stanley Calvin 3/12 11/12 

Jacob C. Nave 11/12 4/18 

George D. Russell 4/18 4/20 

Robert S. Blatchford 4/20 7/21 

Thomas J. Ground 8/21 5/22 

George L. Beckwith 5/22 8/26 

Carl Welch 8/26 1/29 

T. L. Heggie 1/29 12/31 

Transferred to Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. District name retained. Forest name changed to Cibola, 12/3/31. 

Rosedale Robert F. Rhinehart 12/08 8/12 

Lawrence G. Haynes 7/13 2/14 

Ward Shepard 4/14 3/15 

Charles L. Rak 4/15 9/15 

Lewis J. Mundell 10/15 8/16 

John J. Gualrapp 3/19 12/19 

Henry P. Barksdale 4/20 6/21 

Louis Ketcham 7/21 3/26 

William H. Koogler 4/26 12/31 

Transferred to Manzano N.F., 12/3/31. Forest name changed to Cibola N.F. District name continued. 

Tularosa Walter Musick 5/09 6/10 
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Marshall D. Loveless 7/10 5/11 

William B. Bunton 5/11 1/14 

Walter L. Onstad 7/20 8/22 

Ed L. McPhaul 8/22 3/23 

Frank Hiler 3/23 12/23 

Fred N. Ares 1/24 7/24 

Allen F. Bloom 7/24 1/25 

Transferred to Apache N.F. 1/23/25. Retained District name. 

Beaverhead Established by change of name from Elk Mtn. R.D. July 1952. 

Buford H. Starkey 7/52 10/54 

Frederick H. Richardson 10/54 1/57 

Wendell M. Doty 2/57 8/60 

J. Stanton Wyche 8/60 

Big Burros Ausburn H. Douglas 1908 8/09 

Robert C. Munro 5/09 12/09 

Samuel A. Frey 5/10 11/11 

James A. Simmons 2/12 6/12 

Robert W. Reid 7/12 1/13 

Percy L. Bonebrake 2/13 4/14 

Albert J. Connell 4/14 11/14 

Howard A. Thrall 11/14 1/16 

Percy Reid 1/16 4/16 

Charles K. Cooperrider 5/16 6/17 

George H. Currie 7/17 1/18 

Frank Hiler 1/18 9/20 

William R. Warner 11/20 8/22 

Benjamin F. Nabours 9/22 4/25 

Orval C. Painter 4/25 1/26 

Clifford E. Hulbert 3/26 3/29 

Earl C. Albright 3/29 4/35 

Roy Swapp 4/35 10/44 

Name changed to Silver City R.D., Oct. 1944. 

Black Range Joseph W. Reid 1/08 12/11 

Clayton M. Howells 1/12 10/13 

Percy L. Bonebrake 4/14 8/15 

James A. Simmons 8/15 8/17 

Nettles F. Chapman 8/17 9/17 

Germain H. Gage 9/17 4/18 
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John Ray Painter 4/18 11/25 

Euel R. Nave 3/26 4/37 

John S. Pomeroy 4/37 9/42 

John H. Mims 9/42 2/47 

Randolph R. Riley 2/47 3/50 

Leonard S. Dearborn 3/50 6/52 

Name changed to Kingston R.D., June 1952. Name changed back to Black Range Feb. 1955. 

Frank G. Dougherty 2/55 2/57 

Warren S. Hall 2/57 9/57 

Roy C. Gandy 11/57 1/60 

Clarence E. Rice 1/60 7/63 

John B. Downs 7/63 

Chloride Transferred from Datil N.F., 12/24/31. Name changed from Black Range R.D. 

James A. Simmons 12/31 3/33 

Roy Swapp 3/33 4/35 

Willard A. McDowell 5/35 12/50 

Buford H. Starkey 1/51 10/51 

Reginald Reynolds 10/51 8/53 

Divided between Beaverhead and Kingston R.D.s, August 1953. Name discontinued. 

(Name change necessary in 12/24/31 as the Gila already had a Black Range R.D.) 

Clifton Transferred from the Crook N.F., 10/23/53. 

William J. Fleishman 10/53 8/55 

Euel R. Nave 9/55 2/57 

Arthur J. Riggs 2/57 5/58 

Transferred to Apache N.F., 8/15/58. 

Dry Creek Ellery F. Lawrence 1908 1908 

Arthur J. Stockbridge 1908 11/10 

Robert C. Munro 1/11 6/12 

James A. Simmons 7/12 8/15 

Percy L. Bonebrake 8/15 2/17 

Francis L. W. Grubb 2/17 3/18 

Name changed March 1 91 8 to Frisco R.D. Name of DryCreek reserved for the Ranger Station, but discontinued for 
the Ranger District. 

Elk Mountain Transferred from Datil N.F. 12/24/31. 

Jewell Wyche 12/31 7/35 

Edwin A. Tucker 7/35 9/39 

William H. Cole 9/39 4/42 

Ben Kemp 4/42 6/47 

William H. Cole 7/47 2/49 
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Phil Kennedy 3/49 4/49 

John M. Mazzette 5/49 3/50 

Charles C. Elsbrea 4/50 10/51 

Buford H. Starkey 10/51 7/52 

Name changed to Beaverhead R.D., July 1952. 

Elk Mtn. R.D. reestablished from part of Beaverhead R.D. in Feb. 1955. 

Gerald W. Van Gilst 2/55 7/56 

George S. Pickett 7/56 7/58 

Robert L. Hunt 7/58 8/58 

Divided into parts of Reserve and Frisco R.D.s on 8/1 5/58. Name discontinued. 

Frisco Established by change of name from Dry Creek R.D. Mar. 1918. 

Clarence H. Bowen 3/18 11/22 

George H. Currie 12/22 3/27 

Combined with Mogollon R.D. and called Frisco- Mogollon R.D., 
Established from parts of Reserve and Elk Mtn. R.D.s 8/15/58. 

April 1927. 

Robert L. Hunt 8/58 10/58 

Barry R. Flamm 10/58 3/61 

Richard D. Heninger 3/61 

Frisco-Mogollon Established by combining Frisco and Mogollon R.D.s in April 1927. 

Benjamin F. Nabours 4/27 5/35 

Olof J. Olson 7/35 4/48 

Name changed to Glenwood R.D., April 1948. 

Glenwood Established by change of name from Frisco-Mogollon R.D. in April 1948. 

Arthur J. Riggs 4/48 3/49 

Ernest W. Perry 4/49 6/52 

William B. Finley 6/52 7/56 

George E. Shilling 8/56 6/58 

Theodore A. Roll 7/58 3/59 

Walter B. Lockhart 3/59 7/60 

Ralph H. Rainwater 8/60 6/62 

Fred W. Galley 7/62 

Kingston Established by change of name from Black Range, June 30, 1952. 

Leonard S. Dearborn 7/52 2/55 

Name changed back to Black Range R.D. Kingston name discontinued February 1955. 

McKinney Park Name changed to McKenna Park R.D. in 1924. 

Henry Woodrow 5/11 8/42 

Jackson M. Phillips 9/42 1/45 

Harvey K. Barlow 3/45 3/49 

Arthur J. Riggs 4/49 10/53 
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Name changed to Wilderness R.D., 10/23/53. 

Mimbres Cecil R. C. Reindorp 2/10 5/12 

Albert J. Connell 5/12 4/14 

Robert W. Reid 5/14 6/15 

Serrin S. Van Boskirk 7/15 1/16 

Howard A. Thrall 1/16 6/17 

Calvin L. Warnock 6/17 9/17 

Howard A. Thrall 9/17 8/18 

Jay R. McLure 9/18 10/21 

Robert W. Wood 10/21 4/25 

Benj. F. Nabours 4/25 4/27 

Robert P. Boone 4/27 2/31 

Gunnar L. Wang 2/31 4/37 

Euel R. Nave 4/37 11/41 

Arthur J. Riggs 11/41 4/48 

Charles C. White 4/48 10/48 

Paul D. Wild 10/48 9/51 

Gerald W. Van Gilst 9/51 2/55 

Leonard S. Dearborn 2/55 7/56 

Dennis P. Grassi 7/56 1/58 

Theodore R. Ingersoll 3/58 11/63 

Douglas M. Bird 11/63 

Mogollon Earl B. Young 1909 1910 

Herbert B. Fay 1/08 6/12 

Chas. H. Kissam 2/13 4/13 

Howard A. Thrall 4/13 11/14 

Marinus Westveld 11/14 10/15 

Germain H. Gage 10/15 8/16 

Johnathan L. Hughes 4/17 10/17 

Calvin L. Warnock 11/17 7/21 

S. G. Meigs 1922 

Orval C. Painter 7/24 4/25 

Euel R. Nave 5/25 2/26 

Irvan B. Lash 3/26 4/27 

Combined with Frisco R.D. in April 1927, and called 

Pinos Altos Ausburn H. Douglas 

Frisco-Mogollon R.D. 

1907 1908 

Cecil R. C. Reindorp 1908 1909 

Elya E. Poynter 1908 1909 
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Silver City 

KAIBAB N. 

Benjamin H. Cross 1/10 9/11 

Paul P. Pitchlynn 3/11 9/11 

William E. Carter 9/11 11/12 

Robert Munro 11/12 5/14 

Germain H. Gage 5/14 11/14 

Serrin S. Van Buskirk 11/14 6/15 

Ralph W. Hussey 5/16 8/16 

Germain H. Gage 8/16 2/17 

Clifford E. Hulbert 10/17 3/26 

Oscar B. Beckstrom 3/26 7/33 

Added to Big Burros R.D., July 1933. Name discontinued. 

Reserve Transferred from Apache N.F., 8/15/58. 

Robert Q. Ziegler 8/58 8/60 

Thomas J. Loring 8/60 11/62 

Thomas M. Smith 12/62 

by change of name from Big Burros R.D., Oct. 1944. 

Roy Swapp 10/44 9/46 

Frank L. Jackson 9/46 8/53 

Arthur J. Riggs 1/54 1/57 

Frank G. Dougherty 2/57 7/58 

George S. Pickett 7/58 

Wilderness Established by change of name from McKenna Park R.D., 10/23/53. 

Arthur J. Riggs 10/53 1/54 

Don E. Jirsa 2/54 10/55 

Warren S. Hall 1/56 12/56 

Andrew P. Ellis 2/57 2/58 

Milton E. Hooker 3/58 10/61 

S. Richard Albert 10/61 3/63 

Charles V. Hill 3/63 

Anita Moqui Transferred from Tusayan N.F., 8/4/34. 

A. W. Vogelsang 8/34 6/48 

Clyde P. Moose 6/48 12/52 

Name changed to Tusayan R.D., Dec. 1952. 

Big Springs Transferred from Region 4, 4/1/33. 

Robert H. Park 4/33 3/37 

Arthur J. Riggs 4/37 3/41 

Gordon J. Gray 10/41 11/45 
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Frank L. Jackson 12/45 9/46 

Merle A. Gee 9/46 1/49 

Irvin Pat Murray 3/49 12/50 

Joy J. Baldwin 12/50 10/52 

District name changed in Oct. 1952 to Fredonia R.D. Name of Big Springs R.D. resumed in Feb. 1958. 

Thomas R. Jones 2/58 5/59 

William B. Finley 5/59 

Chalendar Transferred from Tusayan N.F., 8/4/34. 

Clyde P. Moose 8/34 3/37 

Stanton Wallace 3/37 4/40 

Vincent J. Schroeder 4/40 1/51 

Merle C. Oleson 1/51 7/60 

Daniel C. MacIntyre 7/60 9/63 

Merrill E. Richards 9/63 

Fredonia Established by change in name from Big Springs, Oct. 1952. 

Joy J. Baldwin 10/52 2/54 

Jay H. Cravens 2/54 3/57 

Raymond M. Housley 3/57 2/58 

Divided into Big Springs and Jacob Lake, Feb. 1958. 

Jacob Lake Fredonia R.D. divided into Big Springs R.D. and Jacob Lake R.D. in Feb. 1958 

William B. Finley 3/58 5/59 

Paul F. Senteney 5/59 7/63 

William E. Pint 7/63 

Spring Valley Transferred from Tusayan N.F., 8/4/34. 

Wilson E. Auman 8/34 9/39 

Victor 0. Sandberg 9/39 5/43 

Combined with Chalendar R.D. May 1,1943. Name discontinued. 

Tusayan Established by change of name from Anita Moqui R.D., Dec. 1952 

Clyde P. Moose 12/52 2/54 

Frank E., Casanova 2/54 10/57 

Barry R. Flamm 10/57 10/58 

Floyd E. Page 10/58 9/60 

George H. Burfiend 10/60 

Williams Transferred from Tusayan N.F., 8/4/34. 

Tracy W. Rice 8/34 4/35 

Jewell Wyche 7/35 6/52 

Ernest W. Perry 6/52 1/54 

Cleo J. Anderson 1/54 4/56 
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Dean C. Gossard 4/56 2/58 

George D. Welch 2/58 10/58 

Arthur L. Foster 11/58 8/63 

George E. Engstrom 8/63 

LINCOLN N.F. Baca Ranch Ernest E. Wright 3/07 4/08 

John R. Coleman 5/08 6/11 

Raymond R. Rogers 7/11 3/13 

Alfred W. Mullan 3/13 8/13 

Benj. F. Nabours 9/13 8/16 

Rollin C. Hill 9/16 4/17 

Edward L. Yott 5/17 8/17 

Frank F. McLure 8/17 5/20 

Name changed to Capitan R.D. in Feb. 1919. Headquarters remain at the BacaRanch Station until 1929, when moved 
to Capitan. 

Capitan Established by change of name from Baca Ranch R.D., Feb. 1919. 

Barnard H. Hendricks 2/19 6/21 

William C. White 7/21 4/26 

Vance A. Thomas 4/26 1/27 

Willard F. Bond 3/27 8/29 

Lee Beall 10/29 2/35 

Richard V. Galt 4/35 12/35 

Ed Pierson 12/35 10/36 

Walter Hackleman 12/36 3/45 

Walter L. Graves 4/45 9/46 

John J. Humbert 10/46 7/47 

Lawrence W. Pattison 7/47 11/49 

Dean M. Earl 11/49 8/51 

Paul D. Wild 9/51 7/54 

Milton E. Guck 10/54 6/60 

Name changed to Smokey Bear R.D., June 1960. 

Cloudcroft Transferred from Alamo N.F., 6/6/17. Name changed from Fresnal. 

George W. Messer 6/17 4/20 

H. Garvin Smith 4/20 3/23 

William H. Woods 4/23 11/31 

Louis H. Laney 11/31 10/36 

Thomas P. Buchanan 10/36 10/41 

George E. Engstrom 10/41 10/46 

Walter L. Graves 10/46 4/48 
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Gallinas 

Olof J. Olson 

Paul D. Wild 

Dean C. Gossard 

Franz F. Menninghaus 

Harold C. Reynolds 

Donald A. Schultz 

Gary E. Cargill 

Lewis J. Mundell 

Benjamin F. Nabours 

Edward A. Lamirand 

William H. Woods 

John H. Mims 

George W. Messer 

Ansley E. Hutchinson 

David J. Stouffer 

4/48 7/54 

7/54 1/56 

2/56 4/56 

4/56 1/59 

1/59 7/60 

7/60 9/63 

9/63 

7/10 12/11 

1/12 9/13 

9/13 12/18 

12/18 7/22 

7/22 9/24 

9/24 6/36 

7/36 2/39 

2/39 8/45 

Administration transferred to Cibola N.F. on 8/22/1945. District added to the Mountainair R.D. The Gallinas name 
discontinued. Area added to Cibola 7/1/58 by Executive Order. 

Guadalupe Transferred from Alamo N.F., 6/6/17. Name changed from Carson Seep. 

Mayhill 

Jesse A. Brubaker 6/17 6/18 

Willard Z. Lyons 7/18 9/18 

Eddy E. Hudman 9/18 1/19 

Robert R. Bell 4/19 1/21 

Lee Beall 1/21 8/26 

Richard V. Galt 10/26 3/30 

Vance A. Thomas 3/30 11/32 

Cornelius F. Dierking 4/33 6/35 

Robert L. Diggs 8/35 10/35 

Walter J. Pinson 11/35 1/39 

Dean M. Earl 2/39 2/44 

Maximillian M. Bruhl 3/44 12/50 

Edward W. Cottam 2/51 4/56 

Cleo J. Anderson 4/56 4/62 

John S. Tixier 4/62 

Transferred from Alamo N.F., 6/6/17. 

Thomas C. Turk 6/17 8/17 

H. Garvin Smith 8/17 4/20 

Frank F. McLure 5/20 10/20 

Maurice J. Addison 10/20 9/21 

George D. Russell 11/21 9/27 
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A. W. Vogelsang 9/27 4/30 

Combined with Weed R.D. to establish the Penasco R.D., April, 1930. Resumed name of Mayhill R.D., December 1952 

Ansley E. Hutchinson 12/52 2/56 

Edward W. Cottam 2/56 3/58 

Andrew P. Ellis 3/58 3/59 

Rolfe C. Hoyer 3/59 7/62 

Donnie R. Bilbrey 7/62 

Mesa John L. Bryan 5/08 4/12 

John V. Hobbie 4/12 11/16 

Benjamin F. Nabours 11/16 9/18 

Jesse A. Brubaker 4/19 7/22 

Richard V. Galt 7/22 8/22 

Robert B. Ewing 8/22 5/26 

Richard V. Galt 5/26 6/26 

Willard F. Bond 7/26 10/26 

Lee Beall 10/26 10/29 

Combined with Ruidoso R.D., Oct. 1929 to establish the White Mtn. R.D. 

Penasco Established from Mayhill and Weed R.D.s, April 1930. 

Reuben 1. Boone 4/30 2/35 

Lee Beall 2/35 2/35 

Jesse A. Brubaker 2/35 12/35 

Richard V. Galt 1/36 2/39 

Ansley E. Hutchinson 2/39 12/52 

Name changed to Mayhill R.D., Dec. 1952. 

Ruidoso James A. Scott 1907 1908 

Charles F. Pepper 1908 1908 

Charles C. Coe 1908 1909 

Ralph C. Bateman 1909 12/11 

Unoccupied 1/12 9/13 

Roscoe C. James 9/13 4/20 

George W. Messer 4/20 9/24 

John H. Mims 9/24 1/27 

Vance A. Thomas 1/27 10/29 

Combined with Mesa R.D. in Oct. 1 929 to establish the White Mtn. R.D. Ruidoso R.D. name resumed in 1952. 

Milton E. Guck 7/52 10/54 

Fred R. Swetnam 10/54 2/58 

Clarence S. Sinclair 2/58 7/60 

Buford H. Starkey 7/60 
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Sacramento Established by change of name from Weed R.D., Dec. 1961. 

MANZANO N.F. 

Andrew P. Ellis 12/61 7/63 

Roger L. Voyles 

Smokey Bear Established by change of name from Capitan R.D., 

7/63 

June 1960. 

Milton E. Guck 6/60 4/62 

Ralph B. Solether 4/62 

Weed Transferred from Alamo N.F., 6/6/17. 

Arthur S. Wingo 6/17 7/22 

Ray E. King 7/22 11/24 

Robert F. Hinchey 11/24 4/27 

Reuben 1. Boone 4/27 4/30 

R.D. to establish the Penasco R.D. 4/15/30. Name Weed R.D. again used March 1959. 

Andrew P. Ellis 3/59 12/61 

Name changed to Sacramento R.D., Dec. 1961. Name of Weed R.D. discontinued. 

White Mtn. Established by combining Mesa and Ruidoso R.D.s Oct. 1929. 

Vance A. Thomas 10/29 3/30 

Richard V. Galt 3/30 4/35 

Harold A. Kendall 4/35 5/35 

Gordon J. Gray 5/35 10/41 

Thomas P. Buchanan 11/41 3/48 

Milton E. Guck 3/48 6/52 

Name changed to Ruidoso R.D. in 1952. 

Hell Canyon Hezekiah B. Hammond 1908 9/08 

James F. Mullen 9/08 8/09 

Lewellyn J. Putsch 9/10 2/12 

District added to Northern R.D. in 1912. Name of Hell Canyon discontinued. 

Mountainair Established by change of name from Southern R.D. July 1923. 

Mt. Taylor 

Louis H. Laney 7/23 11/31 

William H. Woods 11/31 12/31 

nged to Cibola N.F. Mountainair R.D. continued. 

George K. Pradt 4/08 8/14 

Ray E. King 9/14 7/17 

Louis H. Waters 7/17 9/17 

Robert M. Barton 9/17 10/17 

Jonathan L. Hughes 1/18 3/19 

Raymond E. Nafziger 4/19 4/19 

Paul M. Ellis 4/19 11/19 

Alfred E. Watson 3/20 4/21 
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Louis H. Laney 4/21 6/23 

G. M. Flake 7/23 7/28 

John H. Mims 8/28 12/31 

Manzano N.F. discontinued 12/3/31. Name changed to Cibola N.F. Mt. Taylor R.D. continued. 

Northern Hezekiah B. Hammond 9/08 5/12 

0. Fred Arthur 6/12 5/13 

Otto P. Schoenberg 5/13 7/16 

Earnest C. Damon 8/16 1/17 

Llewellyn J. Putsch 7/17 5/18 

Hubert N. Kimbrough 5/18 8/18 

George H. Cook 9/18 9/20 

Guy 0. Wheeler 9/20 7/21 

Calvin L. Warnock 7/21 7/23 

Name changed to Sandia R.D. July 1923. 

Sandia Established by change of name from Northern R.D. July 1923. 

Calvin L. Warnock 7/23 1/24 

Reuben 1. Boone 5/42 3/27 

Landis J. Arnold 5/27 12/31 

Manzano N.F. Discontinued 12/3/31. Name changed to Cibola N.F. Sandia R.D. continued. 

Southern Thomas W. Carscallen 9/08 2/12 

Llewellyn J. Putsch 2/12 7/17 

Ray E. King 8/17 8/19 

Leonard A. Shartzer 8/19 7/23 

Name changed to Mountainair R.D. July 1923. 

Tajique J. H. Sherman 1907 1909 

Herbert N. Gaines 12/09 12/12 

Combined with Southern R.D. Dec. 1912. Name discontinued. 

Zuni Transferred from Zuni N.F., 9/10/14. 

Fred Merkle 9/14 2/18 

Germain H. Gage 4/18 10/19 

Johnathan L. Hughes 10/19 3/20 

Frank E. Brennan 3/20 7/25 

William M. Sherman 7/27 8/28 

Edward W. Cottam 8/28 12/31 

Transferred to Cibola N.F., 12/3/31. Manzano N.F. discontinued. Zuni District continued. 

PANHANDLE UNIT Alvord Transferred from Cibola N.F., 7/1/58. 

Thomas M. Smith 6/58 2/59 
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Kenneth C. Scoggin 2/59 

Became Panhandle National Grasslands, 6/20/60. 

Kenneth C. Scoggin 6/60 

William R. Snyder 10/60 

Combined with Decatur to establish Cross Timbers R.D., 4/1/61. 

Bonham Transferred from Cibola N.F., 7/1/58. 

James M. Longmire 7/58 

Became Panhandle National Grasslands, 6/20/60. 

James M. Longmire 6/60 

Name changed to Caddo R.D., 4/1/61. 

Cheyenne Transferred from Cibola N.F., 7/1/58. 

William P. Blarney 

Became Panhandle National Grasslands, 6/20/60. 

William P. Blarney 

Name changed to Black Kettle R.D., 4/1/61. 

Clayton Transferred from Cibola N.F. 7/1/58 

Ernest C. Hemphill 

Ralph H. Rainwater 

Became Panhandle National Grasslands, 6/20/60. 

Ralph H. Rainwater 

Jack R. Miller 

Name changed to Kiowa R.D., 4/1/61. 

Decatur Transferred from Cibola N.F., 7/1/58. 

Thomas M. Smith 

Kenneth C. Scoggin 

Became Panhandle National Grasslands, 6/20/60. 

Kenneth C. Scoggin 

William R. Snyder 

Combined with Alvord to establish the Cross Timber R.D., 4/1/61 

Texiine Transferred from Cibola N.F., 7/1/58. 

Hoyt R. Harvel 

Became Panhandle National Grasslands, 6/20/60. 

Hoyt R. Harvel 

John B. Downs 

Name changed to Rita Blanca R.D., 4/1/61. 

Black Kettle Established by change of name from Cheyenne, 4/1/61. 

William P. Blarney 4/61 

Duane R. Freeman 5/62 

7/58 

6/60 

7/58 

4/59 

6/60 

7/60 

6/58 

2/59 

6/60 

10/60 

7/58 

6/60 

3/61 

6/60 

10/60 

3/61 

6/60 

3/61 

6/60 

3/61 

4/59 

6/60 

7/60 

3/61 

2/59 

6/60 

10/60 

3/61 

6/60 

3/61 

3/61 

5/62 
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Caddo Established by change of name from Bonham, 4/1/61. 

James M. Longmire 4/61 

Cross Timbers Established by combining Alvord and Decatur, 4/1/61. 

William R. Snyder 4/61 7/62 

Rex K. Owen 7/62 

Kiowa Established by change of name from Clayton, 4/1 /61. 

Jack R. Miller 4/61 8/62 

Bert W. Schulle 9/62 

Rita Blanca Established by change of name from Texiine, 4/1/61. 

John B. Downs 4/61 7/63 

Carl D. Warrick 7/63 

PRESCOTT F.R. Crown King Theo. A. Newbold 1902 1902 

Joe R. Blackburn 1902 1903 

J. Monroe Rinsinger 1903 1903 

William H. Cokely 10/03 2/04 

Frank C. W. Pooler 3/04 7/05 

Harold A. W. Marshall 5/05 9/05 

Roscoe G. Willson 12/05 3/07 

Forest Reserve became National Forest, 3/4/07. 

PRESCOTT N.F. Bloody Basin Harvey Hance 2/08 12/08 

Shepard Hiscox 12/08 4/12 

Ralph E. King 4/12 6/16 

Geoge A. Churchwell 6/16 8/16 

George K. Pradt 8/16 9/18 

Jack E. Marlowe 9/18 8/19 

Walter M. Mickelson 8/19 5/23 

Richard S. Taliaferro 5/23 2/25 

Paul R. Grey 3/25 10/28 

Harold A. Kendall 11/28 4/35 

Arthur J. Riggs 4/35 4/37 

Milton E. Guck 4/37 10/41 

Dan L. Childress 10/41 11/42 

Ben Nelson 11/42 12/45 

Jerome Thompson 12/45 11/49 

Ross L. Teuber 11/49 6/52 

Name changed to Sycamore R.D., June 1952. Bloody Basin name discontinued. 

Cave Creek Thomas L. Mercer 1/09 1/10 
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George R. Yorke 1/10 9/10 

0. Fred Arthur 9/10 5/11 

George R. Yorke 6/11 4/13 

Clark A. Gingery 5/13 11/15 

George R. Yorke 11/15 9/16 

Thomas B. Ruth 9/16 11/17 

Ed. H. Oldham 11/17 9/19 

George Mutz 9/19 8/21 

R. H. Thompson 9/21 8/23 

Transferred to Tonto N.F., 8/14/23. Retained same R.D. name. 

Cherry George K. Pradt 9/18 12/20 

Alfred P. Jahn 1/21 8/22 

Paul R. Grey 8/22 3/25 

Thomas W. Wilkins 4/25 4/26 

Clifford E. McDuff 5/26 3/28 

Divided between Jerome and Bloody Basin, March 1928. 

Chino Valley Established by change of name from Drake R.D 

John D. Sims 

Name discontinued. 

March 1963. 

3/63 

Crown King Roscoe G. Willson 3/07 6/07 

Clark W. Story 5/07 2/09 

William C. Roderus 3/09 12/12 

Harry W. Ulmo 1/13 2/14 

Edward P. Ancona 4/14 4/16 

Alverous W. Fletcher 4/16 12/18 

Richard S. Taliaferro 4/19 5/23 

Earl C. Albright 7/23 3/28 

Clifford E. McDuff 3/28 7/29 

H. J. Turney 7/29 4/35 

William H. Cole 4/35 9/39 

Wilson E. Auman 9/39 8/41 

Charles C. White 9/41 6/43 

James W. Esenwein 6/43 12/45 

Charles C. White 1/46 4/48 

P. Ray Adair 5/48 4/51 

Neil Hamilton 4/51 10/51 

Harold C. Reynolds 10/51 6/57 

John A. Hafterson 6/57 5/58 

Earl B. Blann 5/58 5/62 
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Richard D. Beaubien 5/62 — 

Drake Established by change of name from Verde R.D., Oct. 1952. 

Oscar L. McClure 10/52 2/57 

John D. Sims 2/57 3/63 

Name changed to Chino Valley R.D., March 1963. Drake name discontinued. 

Granite Established from part of Prescott R.D., July 1962. 

Jerome 

Prescott 

Robert L. Blanchard 7/62 10/63 

Theodore R. Ingersoll 11/63 

William A. Rosenberger 2/08 8/08 

James T. Cook 8/08 8/12 

Ralph L. Bateman 8/12 1/13 

Robert H. Zeiger 1/13 8/16 

Edward H. Oldham 8/16 1/17 

Claude W. McKenzie 1/17 3/18 

Frank Bascom 3/18 5/18 

Russell L. Linton 5/18 11/20 

Bert 1. Menzie 11/20 1/21 

George K. Pradt 1/21 8/21 

George Mutz 8/21 9/41 

Milton E. Guck 10/41 12/43 

Harold Linn 12/43 9/50 

Mark F. Jones 12/50 5/53 

Wayne R. Cook 5/53 5/55 

Henry A. McDaniel 5/55 12/55 

Joe E. Adam 1/56 12/58 

Jack R. Mathews 1/59 3/63 

en the Verde and Chino Valley R.D. Jerome name discontinued. 

Edward A. Hinderer 3/07 4/13 

Edward P. Ancona 5/13 3/14 

Everette A. Marlowe 4/14 11/15 

Robert H. Zieger 8/16 9/16 

Jesse A. Brubaker 7/18 4/19 

Milford L. Nichols 4/19 7/20 

Willis M. Baker 7/20 1/21 

John C. McNelty 1/21 3/35 

H. J. Turney 5/35 9/43 

Monta R. Stewart 9/43 12/54 

Floyd A. Nichols 12/54 12/58 
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different R.D. 

Fritz F. Menninghaus 1/59 

Skull Valley Hugh H. Higgins 3/17 11/22 

John E. Cook 1/23 6/24 

Ralph H. Anderson 7/24 4/26 

Robert V. Boyle 4/26 12/26 

John Ray Painter 2/27 5/28 

Harold A. Kendall 6/28 11/28 

Jesse T. Fears 1/29 11/36 

John Ray Painter 11/36 5/37 

Harry P. Irving 5/37 12/37 

William H. Koogler 12/37 12/41 

Name changed to Walnut Creek R.D. Name of Skull Valley discontinued Dec. 1941. 

Sycamore Established by change of name from Bloody Basin R.D. ,, June 1952. 

Ross L. Teuber 6/52 2/54 

Wallace B. Gallaher 7/54 1/57 

Rollo P. Julander 1/57 3/58 

Richard D. Heninger 4/58 3/61 

Hoyt R. Harvel 3/61 3/63 

Name changed to Verde R.D. Sycamore discontinued March 1963. 

Verde Transferred from Tusayan, 7/1/34. 

Robert Thompson 7/34 8/37 

Zane G. Smith 11/37 1/40 

Laurence E. Stotz 2/40 4/45 

E. L. Besondy 4/45 11/49 

Oscar L. McClure 11/49 10/52 

Drake R.D. Verde discontinued Oct. 1952. Resumed name of Verde R.D. on March 1963, for i 

Hoyt R. Harvel 3/63 

Walnut Creek Asa Bozarth 2/08 3/08 

Everette A. Marlowe 10/08 1/14 

Harry W. Ulmo 2/14 9/15 

Fred Haworth 9/15 9/19 

Edward H. Oldham 11/19 9/23 

Walter M. Mickelson 7/24 8/28 

Jesse T. Fears 8/28 12/28 

Added to Skull Valley R.D. Walnut Creek name discontinued Jan. 1929. 

Skull Valley R.D. name discontinued Dec. 1941. Resumed name of Walnut Creek R.D. 

William H. Koogler 12/41 2/51 

George S. Pickett 3/51 7/56 
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SANTA FE N.F. 

William B. Finley 7/56 3/58 

Rollo P. Julander 3/58 10/61 

Theodore V. Russell 10/61 

Bandelier National Monument Established by Presidential Proclamation, 
2/11/16. 

Guilford B. Chapin 2/16 5/16 

Albert J. Abbott 8/18 8/19 

W. E. Murk 8/19 1920 

Donald E. Harbison 4/21 6/22 

L. D. Lemley 7/22 1927 

Transferred to National Park Service. 

Chama Frank D. Harris 7/19 5/20 

Joseph A. Rodriguez 5/20 3/37 

Harvey K. Barlow 3/37 3/39 

Walter L. Graves 3/39 1/44 

E. Shirley Bliss 2/44 3/48 

Gordon R. Heath 4/48 11/51 

Chandler P. St. John 11/51 1/55 

Name changed to Coyote R.D., Jan. 1955. 

Colonias Established from part of the Pecos R.D., 1924. 

Frank M. Burton 3/24 3/31 

Jackson W. Space 1931 1934 

Walter L. Graves 1/37 3/39 

Irvin P. Murray 3/39 8/40 

G. LeGrand Olson 8/40 9/42 

Robert L. Ground 10/42 1/44 

Joseph A. Rodriguez 11/45 6/51 

Name changed to Lower Pecos R.D., June 1951. 

Coyote Established by change of name from Chama R.D., Jan. 1 955. 

Chandler P. St. John 1/55 5/55 

George R. Proctor 5/55 12/56 

Kenneth R. Weissenborn 1/57 10/57 

Robert W. Bates 10/57 12/59 

Estevan Romero 12/59 11/62 

A. Earl Haught 12/62 

Cuba Transfer from Jemez N.F., 4/16/1 5. 

Marcel F. Pincetl 5/20 

Frank D. Harris 5/20 3/22 
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Edgar L. Perry 4/22 1926 

L. W. Rodgers 1926 1927 

Ralph N. Earl 1927 1927 

District added to Jemez River R.D. Resumed name of Cuba R.D. , Dec. 1947. 

Dan L. Childress 12/47 1/51 

Chester H. Olson 1/51 8/55 

Harry L. Severtson 8/55 7/58 

Paul Weaver 7/58 8/60 

Leonard A. Linguist 8/60 8/62 

Acie T. Pittman 8/62 10/62 

Jay W. Eby 11/62 

Frijole Canyon Cliff Dwellings Transferred from Jemez N.F. 4/16/15 

Guilford B. Chapin 4/15 2/16 

Name changed to Bandolier National Monument, 2/11/16. 

Jemez Established in 1952 by name change from Jemez River R.D. 

Leon 0. Hill 12/52 5/54 

Nathan Snyder 5/54 1/57 

Keith T. Pfefferle 1/57 6/61 

John S. Crellin 6/61 10/62 

David F. Keddy 10/62 — 

Jemez River Established from part of the Cuba R.D., 1928. 

Perl Charles 4/28 4/35 

L. W. Lewis 4/35 3/39 

Harvey K. Barlow 3/39 3/45 

Laurence E. Stotz 4/45 9/47 

Leon 0. Hill 9/47 12/52 

Name changed to Jemez R.D., Dec. 1952. 

LaMesa Transferred from Pecos N.F., 4/16/15. 

David L. Williams 4/15 10/15 

Charles E. Moore 11/15 2/17 

Combined with Panchuela District on March 1, 1917. Name discontinued. 

Las Vegas Established by name change from Mora R.D., 1922. 

Thomas J. Ground 5/22 12/23 

Maximillian M. Bruhl 1/24 3/44 

Murillo A. Daniels 4/44 1/48 

William A. Brainard 2/48 9/51 

Leonard A. Prichard 9/51 6/62 

Earl B. Blann 6/62 
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Lower Pecos Established by name change from Colonias R.D., June 1951. 

Joseph A. Rodriguez 6/51 3/56 

Robert W. Bates 3/56 10/57 

James L. Perry 10/57 7/63 

Andrew P. Ellis 7/63 

Pecos Established by combining Panchuela and Sands R.D.s in 1923. 

John W. Johnson 1923 1/44 

Robert L. Ground 2/44 12/49 

Name changed to Upper Pecos R.D., Dec. 1949. 

Picuris Wayne Russell 1915 1916 

Henry C. Viles 1916 1916 

Thomas A. Stewart 1916 1917 

Matthew J. Culley 1917 1918 

Evan W. Hadley 7/19 1919 

Charles E. Moore 5/19 6/20 

Clifford Stewart 1920 1920 

W. E. Murk 1920 3/21 

Lloyd A. Brisbin 3/21 1/22 

W. R. Shoemaker 3/22 4/23 

Edward W. Cottam 4/23 6/23 

Area transferred to Carson N.F., 6/16/23. 

Sands Established Nov. 17, 1920 from parts of Panchuela and San Miguel Districts. 

Donald E. Harbison 11/20 4/21 

Antonio F. Martinez 5/21 1923 

Combined with Panchuela R.D. to establish Pecos R.D., 1923. 

San Miguel Transferred from Pecos N.F., 4/16/15. 

Cecil R. C. Reindorp 1/18 7/18 

William Kested 7/18 8/18 

Oscar J. Williams 9/18 3/19 

Clifford H. Stewart 4/19 3/20 

Donald E. Harbison 4/20 11/20 

Added to Mora R.D., Nov. 17, 1920. Name discontinued. 

Santa Clara Transferred from Jemez N.F., 4/16/15. 

Fred V. Plomteaux — 1921 

Charles E. Moore 1/22 1/23 

Charles E. Moore 8/23 6/24 

Perl Charles 7/24 4/28 

Combined with Cochiti R.D. to establish the Rio Grande R.D., April 1928. 
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SITGREAVES N.F. 

Tesuque Transfer from Pecos N.F. 4/16/1 5. 

Chevelon 

Heber 

Antonio F. Martinez 4/15 4/16 

Leonard D. Blodgett 4/16 9/19 

C. K. Harriman 1922 

Walter J. Pinson 7/24 5/28 

L. W. Rogers 5/28 12/45 

Floyd M. Hodgin 1/46 5/47 

David C. Stevens 9/47 11/49 

Lawrence F. Hamilton 11/49 4/54 

John E. Stephenson 4/54 7/63 

Clarence E. Rice 7/63 

d by name change from Pecos R.D., Dec. 1949. 

Robert L. Ground 12/49 3/55 

Bill Hames 5/55 11/57 

Adrian Hill 11/57 7/61 

Amon J. Garner 7/61 12/64 

Raymond D. Rowley 4/18 7/20 

William E. Baldwin 4/21 4/35 

Clarence Shumway 4/35 9/35 

Jerome Thompson 11/35 1/41 

Allan G. Watkins 3/41 10/44 

Frank M. Burton 12/44 8/45 

Henry V. Allen 10/46 11/49 

Lawrence W. Pattison 11/49 2/51 

Douglas C. Morrison 2/51 11/55 

Don E. Jirsa 11/55 2/57 

John S. Crellin 6/57 6/61 

Norman C. Anderson 6/61 7/63 

Jack Peters 7/63 

August J. Schugmann 7/08 

Osmer D. Flake — 

Virgil D. Smith — 

Franklin D. Owens — 

James L. Hall 5/16 1/17 

Lafayette S. Kartchner 2/17 2/18 

Roy Cummings 6/18 12/18 

Lafayette S. Kartchner 1/19 10/21 

James L. Hall 11/21 1/23 
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Lakeside 

Pinedale 

Show Low 

Landis J. Arnold 

John R. Nelson 

Dolph E. Slosser 

Harlan G. Johnson 

Lawrence W. Pattison 

Verne A. Greco 

Clarence Shumway 

Frank M. Burton 

Edwin A. Tucker 

Jerome Thompson 

Richard C. Johnson 

Nathan Snyder 

Nelson T. Bernard 

Frank C. Bell 

Robert K. Bennett 

Thomas W. Seiger 

John W. Chambers 

Andrew Hansen 

LeRoy V. Colbath 

John Lewis 

Cyril Byrne 

George F. Campbell 

Virgil D. Smith 

Dolph E. Slosser 

Clarence Shumway 

William E. Baldwin 

Howard B. Smith 

Milton E. Guck 

Leonard A. Prichard 

Charles C. Elsbree 

Robert K. Bennett 

Dennis P. Grassi 

Duane G. Breon 

David F. Baum 

Duane G. Breon 

J. C. Owens 

Raymond D. Rowley 

Lafayette S. Kartchner 

5/23 4/25 

5/25 3/31 

4/31 11/44 

12/44 2/51 

2/51 1/54 

2/54 

1/20 3/31 

3/31 2/43 

9/43 7/45 

10/45 12/45 

12/45 2/50 

3/50 5/54 

5/54 1/57 

1/57 1/58 

1/58 10/61 

11/61 9/64 

9/64 

8/16 4/31 

4/31 4/35 

4/35 10/35 

11/35 12/43 

12/43 2/48 

3/48 9/51 

10/51 7/56 

8/56 1/58 

1/58 7/60 

8/60 8/63 

9/63 6/64 

6/64 

8/16 7/20 

7/20 10/21 

10/21 12/25 
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TONTO N.F. 

Clarence A. Merker 12/25 7/26 

Discontinued in July 1926. District divided between Pinedale and Lakeside. 

Willow Wash Dolph E. Slosser 10/14 8/16 

Divided between Pinedale and Heber R.D.s, August 1916. Name discontinued. 

Cave Creek Transferred from Prescott N.F., 8/14/23. 

Joseph C. Hand 8/23 4/40 

Clyde P. Moose 4/40 6/48 

H. J. Turney 9/48 4/59 

Perl Charles 5/59 2/62 

Barry G. Peterson 3/62 

Globe Transferred from Crook N.F., 10/23/53. 

John S. Pomeroy 10/53 7/55 

John W. Waters 7/55 5/58 

Arthur J. Riggs 5/58 10/59 

Donald H. Bolander 1/60 1/63 

Wesley E. Lathrop 1/63 

Mazatzal Established by consolidation of Mesa and Tonto River 
R.D.'s, April 1920. 

Guy B. Rencher 4/20 6/20 

Joseph C. Hand 6/20 2/21 

Monta R. Stewart 2/21 5/21 

A. L. Hall 5/21 6/21 

Fred W. Croxen 6/21 8/24 

Alexander N. Kay 8/24 1/27 

Ben G. Rutherford 2/27 2/30 

Arthur J. Riggs 3/30 1/31 

Floyd Ellington 2/31 9/31 

Harold C. Hulbert 9/31 9/44 

P. Bruce Centerwall 9/44 4/48 

Jesse T. Fears 10/48 5/51 

Benton C. Rogers 5/51 8/52 

Ben G. Rutherford 8/52 9/52 

Name changed to Tonto Basin R.D., 9/30/52. 

Mesa James W. Girdner 4/09 4/13 

John R. Coleman 8/13 5/15 

Charles A. Firth 5/15 9/15 

Walter C. Loudermilk 9/15 5/16 

, Alfred W. Voight 5/16 9/16 
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Theron R. Littlefield 9/16 

Bent S. Benson 9/17 

Michael J. Doran 5/18 

Consolidated with Tonto River R.D., April 1920, to establish Mazatzal R.D. 
Resumed name of Mesa R.D., Aug. 1952. 

Randolph R. Riley 8/52 

Robert A. Wier 3/60 

Talmage L. Figart 8/63 

Payson John D. F. Beard 7/07 

Harry L. Castle 2/13 

Leonard R. Lessel 4/14 

Leo E. Anderson 5/18 

Roscoe C. James 3/21 

Fred W. Croxen 8/24 

Robert I. Stewart 2/30 

John R. Nelson 6/36 

Edward Fuel 12/36 

Clyde P. Moose 3/37 

Stanton Wallace 4/40 

Jesse T. Fears 12/43 

Cleo J. Anderson 10/48 

Carter P. Qualls 2/54 

Harry 0. Sontag 3/57 

Robert W. Bates 1 /60 

Leonard A. Lindquist 8/62 

Pine Harry L. Castle 1908 

Leonard R. Lessel 6/13 

No record. 

Harry A. Chamberlain 8/16 

Vacant 8/17 

Guy B. Rencher 6/20 

John D. Lewis 1 2/20 

Maximillian M. Bruhl 2/21 

Leonard A. Shartzer 1/24 

Robert I. Stewart 10/24 

Ben G. Rutherford 2/30 

Nathan Snyder 2/47 

Pine R.D. divided among Pleasant Valley, Mazatzel, 
and Payson in Qct. 1948. Name discontinued. 

9/17 

5/18 

4/20 

3/60 

8/63 

1/13 

3/14 

3/18 

2/21 

8/24 

2/30 

5/36 

11/36 

3/37 

4/40 

11/43 

10/48 

1/54 

3/57 

12/59 

7/62 

2/13 

4/14 

8/17 

6/20 

12/20 

2/21 

12/23 

9/24 

2/30 

1/46 

10/48 
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Pleasant Valley Claude B. Delbridge 2/08 8/15 

Joseph R. Calloway 9/15 10/17 

John A. Frieborn 11/17 5/18 

Don S. Sullivan 6/18 9/18 

Joseph C. Hand 9/18 4/19 

John A. Frieborn 4/19 11/20 

Guy B. Rencher 12/20 9/22 

Monta R. Stewart 9/22 10/25 

Hollis S. Palmer 10/25 12/25 

Allen F. Bloom 12/25 4/28 

James H. Sizer 6/28 8/28 

Walter J. Pinson 8/28 11/35 

Monta R. Stewart 11/35 9/43 

H. J. Turney 9/43 8/48 

Frank E. Casanova 9/48 1/51 

Carter P. Qualls 2/51 10/51 

Neil Hamilton 10/51 2/52 

Keith T. Pfefferle 3/52 1/57 

Reginald Reynolds 2/57 — 

Roosevelt Established by change of name from Salt River, 2/1/54. 

Jerome Thompson 2/54 

Salt River John W. Johnson 10/14 8/16 

Charles L. Rak 10/16 4/18 

Bent S. Benson 5/18 11/19 

William M. Sherman 12/19 5/21 

William M. Sherman 7/21 1/22 

Monta R. Stewart 1/22 9/22 

Arthur 1. Hall 9/22 4/23 

Albert L. Alexander 5/23 4/46 

John S. Pomeroy 4/46 6/51 

William T. Anderson 6/51 9/51 

Charles R. Ames 9/51 1/54 

Name changed to Roosevelt R.D., Feb. 1, 1954. 

Sierra Ancha No earlier record. 

John W. Johnson 8/16 11/17 

Michael J. Doran 11/17 5/18 

John A. Frieborn 5/18 4/19 

Joseph Hand 4/19 8/19 



TUSAYAN N.F. 

Geoerge G. Curry 8/19 12/20 

William M. Sherman 5/21 7/21 

Arthur 1. Hall 8/21 9/22 

Guy B. Bencher 9/22 10/25 

Monta R. Stewart 10/25 11/29 

Lewis Rice 12/29 12/30 

Arthur J. Riggs 1/31 9/31 

Floyd Ellington 9/31 8/35 

John J. Humbert 9/35 11/42 

Victor 0. Sandberg 5/43 10/44 

William T. Anderson 1/45 1/46 

Nathan Snyder 1/46 2/47 

District divided among Payson, Pleasant Valley, and 
Salt River R.D.'s, Feb. 1947. 

Tonto Basin Established from all of Mazatzal R.D. and parts of 
Pleasant Valley and Payson, 9/30/52. 

Ben G. Rutherford 10/52 

Tonto River Robert Thompson 1909 8/18 

Thomas Turk 8/18 9/18 

Don S. Sullivan 9/18 9/19 

Andrew Rogers 9/19 3/20 

Guy B. Rencher 3/20 4/20 

Consolidated with Mesa R.D., April 1920, to establish 
the Mazatzal R.D. 

Verde Established from Mazatzal R.D., March 1927. 

Alexander N. Kay 2/27 8/28 

Jesse 1. Bushnell 9/28 4/45 

G. LeGrand Olson 5/45 3/50 

Randolph R. Riley 3/50 8/52 

Name changed to Mesa R.D. in August 1952. 

Anita Moqui George A. Reed .... 1/13 

Edgar M. Twitty 12/14 12/17 

Robert Scott Bingham 12/17 1/18 

J. Earl Kintner 5/18 4/23 

Floyd E. Betts 5/23 7/24 

Arthur Gibson 7/24 4/30 

A. W. Vogelsang 5/30 8/34 

Forest transferred to Kaibab N.F., 8/4/34. 
R.D. name continued. 
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Cedar Glade Established by transfer from Coconino N.F., 6/28/10. 

Willard L. Sevier 7/10 1/12 

Paul E. Miller 3/12 12/14 

Chester V. Christensen 12/14 8/15 

Robert H. Zieger 8/15 8/16 

Wesley K. Trippet 9/16 11/16 

Tracy W. Rice 11/16 7/20 

Name changed to Verde R.D. in July 1920. 
Name discontinued. 

Chalender Established by transfer from Coconino N.F., 6/28/10. 

Bert Stratton 6/10 9/10 

Fred Flatten 6/10 4/11 

Richard H. Kennerdell 5/11 12/12 

Paul E. Miller 1/15 10/16 

Albert W. Hendrix 11/16 3/17 

Harry W. Ulmo 5/17 11/17 

Robert Shepard 11/17 12/17 

Robert Scott Bingham 1/18 3/18 

Frederick H. Smith 4/18 10/18 

Frank Bascom 11/18 10/23 

Clyde P. Moose 10/23 8/34 

Transferred to Kaibab N.F., 8/4/34. 
District name retained. 

Spring Valley Fred Haworth 6/20 7/20 

J. E. Cook 7/20 1921 

Arthur Gibson 1921 1922 

Harold C. Hulbert 1923 9/31 

Wilson E. Auman 9/31 8/34 

Transferred to Kaibab N.F., 8/4/34. 
District retained name. 

Verde C. B. Smith 7/20 7/20 

Fred HavVorth 7/20 5/23 

Harold W. Ern 5/23 9/24 

Floyd E. Betts 9/24 1/26 

Wilson E. Auman 2/26 9/31 

Robert Thompson 9/31 6/34 

District transferred to Prescott N.F., July 1, 1934. 
Retained name of District. 

Williams Established by transfer from Coconino N.F., 6/28/10. 

Henry L. Benham 6/10 4/12 
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Edgar M. Twitty 1/12 11/14 

Richard H. Kennerdell 8/13 7/16 

Chester V. Christensen 8/16 6/20 

Tracy W. Rice 7/20 8/34 

Transferred to Kaibab N.F., 8/4/34. District name retained. 

Figure 36. A Ranger meeting at Douglas Arizona in 1908. Included in this photo is the newly appointed District Forester, Arthur Ringland 
- the only person whose picture turned out badly. 
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Figure 37. Clyde Leavitt (forest assistant) and Bill Donovan (camp tender) on the Huachuca 
National Forest. Photo provided by Fred Winn to Ed Tucker. [Editor's note: The caption says 
that this is a 1905 photo but the Huachuca was proclaimed as a Forest Reserve in 1906 and 
became a National Forest in 1907.] 
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Figure 38. Forest Ranger Dolph Slosser, seen here with his cutting horse, was a Forest Ranger 
from 1914 to 1944. In this photo he is on the Sitgreaves National Forest where he spent his 
whole career. 



APPENDIX F 
A Partial List of the Forest Rangers and the Districts they served in the Forest 
Reserves and National Forests in the Southwest, 

From 1898 to 1964 
* Denotes Forest Reserve 

Forest Reserve 

Ranaer 
or 

National Forest 
Ranqer 
District 

Tenure 
From lo 

Abbott, Albert J. Jemez* 11/06 3/07 

Garces -/10 4/11 

Coronado Tumacacori 4/11 8/18 

Santa Fe Bandolier Nat. 
Monument 8/18 8/19 

Adair, P. Ray Prescott Crown King 5/48 4/51 

Adam, Joe E. Prescott Jerome 1/56 12/58 

Adams, John A. Arkansas 1/12 5/13 

Apache Clifton 9/15 9/17 

Coconino Mormon Lake 5/19 11/19 

Adams, William Black Mesa* -/99 -199 

Addison, Maurice J. Lincoln Mayhill 10/20 9/21 

Albert, S. Richard Gila Wilderness 10/61 3/63 

Albright, Earl C. Prescott Crown King 7/23 3/28 

Gila Big Burros 3/29 4/35 

Alexander, Albert L. Tonto Salt River 5/23 4/46 

Alexander, David R. Grand Canyon* -/01 -/01 

Alexander, S.A. Gila River* -/99 -199 

Allen, Henry V. Sitgreaves Chevelon 10/46 11/49 

Coconino Elden 11/49 5/53 

Ames, Charles R. Tonto Salt River 9/51 1/54 

Coronado Santa Catalina 4/57 4/58 

Ancona, Edward P. Prescott Prescott 5/13 3/14 

Prescott Crown King 4/14 4/16 

Anderson, A.W. Datil Luna 5/18 11/20 

Anderson, Cleo J. Cibola San Mateo 9/47 10/48 

Tonto Payson 10/48 1/54 

Kaibab Williams 1/54 4/56 

Lincoln Guadalupe 4/56 4/62 

Carson Jicarilla 4/62 

Anderson, John Coconino Mormon Lake 4/10 12/10 

Anderson, Leo E. Alamo Carrissa -/08 11/11 

Carson Questa 11/11 5/18 

Tonto Payson 5/18 2/21 

Anderson, Norman C. Sitgreaves Chevelon 6/61 7163 

Anderson, Ralph H. Prescott Skull Valley 7/24 4/26 

Anderson, Wm. J. Alamo Weed -/09 -/10 

Alamo Mayhill -/10 -/11 
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Alamo Fairchilds -/II 12/11 

Alamo La Luz 12/11 8/12 

Alamo Fresnal 8/12 6/16 

Anderson, Wm. T. Tonto Sierra Ancha 1/45 1/46 

Tonto Salt River 6/51 9/51 

Andrews, Henry E. Cibola Red Rock 2/34 3/35 

Angle, Frank Crook Aravaipa 6/16 3/19 

Ares, Fred N. Datil Tularosa 1/24 7/24 

Apache Luna 1/25 2/32 

Armijo, George W. Pecos River* -102 -/02 

Arnold, Landis J. Sitgreaves Heber 5/23 4/25 

Manzano Sandia bill 12/31 

Cibola Sandia 12/31 3/33 

Arthur, 0. Fred Prescott Poland 5/08 9/10 

Prescott Cave Creek 9/10 5/11 

Prescott Groom Creek 5/11 5/12 

Manzano Northern 6/12 5/13 

Askins, Charles Carson Jicarilla 4/29 2/30 

Atkeson, Walter R. Datil Baldwin 4/12 4/14 

Auman, Wilson E. Tusayan Verde 2/26 9/31 

Tusayan Spring Valley 9/31 8/34 

Kaibab Spring Valley 8/34 9/39 

Prescott Crown King 9/39 8/41 

Averett, Murray Chiricahua -/I 3 1/15 

Bailey, Albert N. Alamo Mayhill 12/11 10/14 

Bailey, James D. San Francisco Mtns* -/06 -107 

Coconino Munds Park 7/08 6/09 

Coconino Beaver Creek 7/09 9/15 

Baker, Charles E. Black Mesa* -/01 -/05 

Baker, Thomas A. Carson Jicarilla 11/61 4/62 

Baker, Willis M. Apache Blue 9/14 12/14 

Apache Eagle 9/15 6/16 

Prescott Prescott 7/20 1/21 

Baldwin, Joy J. Cibola Mt. Taylor 2/48 12/50 

Kaibab Big Springs 12/50 10/52 

Kaibab Fredonia 10/52 2/54 

Baldwin, William E. Sitgreaves Chevelon 4/21 AI3b 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 4/35 10/35 

Crook North Globe 4/46 9/46 

Crook Globe 10/46 5/51 

Balke, Hugh Apache Eagle 8/22 7/24 

Barker, D.M. Carson Taos 6/20 12/21 

Barker, Elliott S. Jemez Cuba 1/09 6/09 
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Jemez Bluebird 7/09 11/09 

Pecos Pecos 11/09 4/10 

Pecos Panchuela 4/10 8/12 

Carson Servilleta 8/12 4/13 

Carson Cow Creek 4/13 10/14 

Barker, Omar S. Carson Vallecitos 4/17 9/17 

Barksdale, Henry P. Datil Baldwin 8/15 8/16 

Datil Rosedale 4/20 6/21 

Barlow, Harvey K. Santa Fe Chama 3/37 3/39 

Santa Fe Jemez River 3/39 3/45 

Gila McKenna Park 3/45 3/49 

Barnes, Walter M. San Mateo 6/08 7/08 

Datil Red Rock 2/09 3/12 

Barnes, Walter S. Sacramento River -/08 7/08 

Alamo Fresnal 7/08 3/12 

Barton, Robert M. Manzano Mt. Taylor 9/17 10/17 

Bascom, Frank Prescott Jerome 3/18 5/18 

Tusayan Chalender 11/18 10/23 

Bateman, Joseph A. Arkansas 7/10 3/13 

Bateman, Ralph C. Lincoln Ruidoso -/09 12/11 

Bateman, Ralph L. Coconino 3/12 8/12 

Prescott Jerome 8/12 1/13 

Bates, Robert W. Santa Fe Lower Pecos 3/56 10/57 

Santa Fe Coyote 10/57 12/59 

Tonto Payson 1/60 7/62 

Batterton, Harry R. Apache Metcalf 12/11 4/13 

Apache Greenlee 4/13 8/13 

Baum, David F. Carson El Rito 8/57 8/62 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 9/63 6/64 

Beall, Lee Lincoln Guadalupe 1/21 8/26 

Lincoln Mesa 10/26 10/29 

Lincoln Capitan 10/29 2/35 

Lincoln Penasco 2/35 2/35 

Beard, Cecil T. Cibola Bonham 12/53 6/58 

Beard, John D.F. Black Mesa* -/06 -107 

Tonto Payson 7/07 1/13 

Beaubien, Richard D. Prescott Crown King 5/62 

Beckstrom, Oscar B. Gila Pinos Altos 3/26 7/33 

Beckwith, George L. Datil Red Rock 5/22 8/26 

Belden, Walter C. Gila River* -/01 -/01 

Belk, J.W. Alamo Mayhill -/10 -/10 

Bell, Frank C. Sitgreaves Lakeside 1/57 1/58 

Bell, Robert R. Lincoln Guadalupe 4/19 1/21 

Benedick, Lewis San Francisco Mtns* -/05 -107 
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Grand Canyon* -/07 -107 

Grand Canyon 3/07 7/08 

Coconino Ash Fork 7/08 6/10 

Coconino Flagstaff 6/10 5/12 

Benham, Henry L. Tusayan Williams 6/10 4/12 

Bennett, Robert K. Sitgreaves Pinedale 8/56 1/58 

Sitgreaves Lakeside 1/58 10/61 

Benson, Bent S. Tonto Mesa 9/17 5/18 

Tonto Salt River 5/18 11/19 

Bentley, Thomas W. Coronado Rincon 9/25 4/28 

Coronado Sunset 4/28 1/31 

Coronado Paradise 10/32 10/36 

Coronado Huachuca 10/36 10/48 

Coronado Santa Rita 10/48 7/51 

Bergman, James E. Lincoln* -107 -107 

Bernard, Nelson T. Sitgreaves Lakeside 5/54 1/57 

Coconino Flagstaff 1/57 5/57 

Coconino Long Valley 5/57 1/59 

Berry, Charles H. Jemez* 11/06 3/07 

Jemez 3/07 6/08 

Carson Servilleta 6/08 5/09 

Berthelson, James C. Jemez Coyote 5/11 5/13 

Besondy, E. L. Cibola Mt. Taylor 9/43 4/45 

Prescott Verde 4/45 11/49 

Best, Alexander Carson Servilleta 11/14 5/15 

Carson San Antone 12/15 11/16 

Betts, Floyd E. Tusayan Anita Moqui 5/23 7/24 

Tusayan Verde 9/24 1/26 

Beveridge, Wilson M. Coconino Bly 4/34 9/35 

Bilbrey, Donnie R. Lincoln Mayhill 7/62 

Billingslea, James H. Apache Nutrioso 2/16 10/16 

Apache Greer 10/16 3/17 

Bingham, Robert Scott Tusayan Anita Moqui 12/17 1/18 

Tusayan Chalender 1/18 3/18 

Tusayan 3/18 3/19 

Bingham, William F. Lincoln* -/05 -/05 

Bird, Douglas M. Gila Mimbres 11/63 

Birdno, Charles M. Crook -/08 4/09 

Birdno, George H. Crook Aravaipa 6/15 4/16 

Blackburn, Joe R. Prescott* -102 -/03 

Blake, Frank G. Jemez* -105 12/06 

Jemez Coyote -no 5/11 

Blarney, William P. Cibola Cheyenne 12/53 6/58 
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Panhandle Unit Cheyenne 7/58 6/60 

Panhandle Nat. 
Grasslands Cheyenne 6/60 3/61 

Panhandle Nat. 
Grasslands Black Kettle 4/61 5/62 

Blanchard, Robert L. Prescott Granite 7/62 10/63 

Blandford, Richard G. Gila River* --/01 -/01 

Blann, Earl B. Prescott Crown King 5/58 5/62 

Santa Fe Las Vegas 6/62 

Blatchford, Robert S. Datil Negrito 5/09 7/11 

Datil Frisco 7/11 8/17 

Datil Red Rock 4/20 7/21 

Bletcher, Winfred B. Jemez* 1/07 3/07 

Jemez* Bluebird -107 -/10 

Jemez La Jara -no -/II 

Jemez Rio de Las Vacas -n 1 4/15 

Blevins, E.A. Chiricahua* -/06 -/07 

Bliss, E. Shirley Santa Fe Chama 2/44 3/48 

Blocker, Samuel A. Alamo Sargent Seep -/11 12/11 

Blodgett, Leonard D. Santa Fe Tesuque 4/16 9/19 

Bloom, Allen F. Datil Jewett 7/21 1/23 

Datil Frisco 1/23 7/24 

Datil Tularosa 7/24 1/25 

Apache Tularosa 1/25 12/25 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 12/25 4/28 

Bohan, Martain F. Wichita 5/13 6/14 

Bolander, A.L. Carson Rio Pueblo 10/26 11/26 

Carson Jicarilla 11/26 4/28 

Carson Questa 5/28 2/31 

Carson Rio Pueblo 3/31 12/38 

Bolander, Donald H. Carson Canjilon 9/57 3/59 

Carson Questa 11/59 1/60 

Tonto Globe 1/60 1/63 

Bolan, Thomas P. San Francisco Mtns* -/01 -/01 

Boland, Thomas H. San Francisco Mtns* -/01 -/01 

Bond, Willard F. Lincoln Mesa 7/26 10/26 

Lincoln Capitan 3/27 8/29 

Apache Alpine 4/33 7/34 

Bonebrake, Percy L. Gila Big Burros 2/13 4/14 

Gila Black Range 4/14 8/15 

Gila Dry Creek 8/15 2/17 

Coconino Beaver Creek 11/17 4/18 

Boone, Reuben 1. Manzano Sandia 5/24 3/27 

* Lincoln Weed 4/27 4/30 

Lincoln Penasco 4/30 2/35 
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Boone, Robert L. Gila Mimbres 4/27 2/31 

Bostick, Vernon B. Carson Canjilon 3/42 2/45 

Santa Fe Rio Grande 3/45 4/45 

Bowen, Clarence H. Gila Frisco 3/18 11/22 

Bower, John S. Coronado Douglas 4/48 8/53 

Crook Mt. Graham 8/53 10/53 

Coronado Safford 10/53 11/54 

Boyer, Harry H. Apache Eagle 9/17 11/18 

Apache Greer 11/18 6/19 

Apache Alpine 7/19 7/22 

Boyle, Robert V. Prescott Skull Valley 4/26 12/26 

Bozarth, Asa Prescott Walnut Creek 2/08 3/08 

Bradford, Frederick M. Alamo Weed 7/08 10/09 

Bradford, George L. Lincoln* -/03 -/05 

Brainard, William H. Santa Fe Las Vegas 2/48 9/51 

Coconino Flagstaff 9/51 2/54 

Apache Alpine 2/54 10/61 

Brennan, Frank E. Manzano Zuni 3/20 7/25 

Breon, Duane G. Sitgreaves Pinedale 8/60 8/63 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 6/64 

Brewer, Guy Arkansas -/12 3/13 

Brierley, Tom E. Coconino Beaver Creek 7/63 11/63 

Briggs, Charles H. Gila River* -/01 -/01 

Brisbin, Lloyd A. Santa Fe Picuris 3/21 1/22 

Carson Taos 1/22 3/26 

Carson Rio Pueblo 4/26 7/26 

Carson Vallecitos 7/26 4/28 

Coronado Santa Catalina 4/28 1/35 

Brodie, James C. Pinal Mtns.* -/05 -/05 

Bronson, Daniel D. Prescott* -/05 -/05 

Browne, Alexander G. Florida -/11 2/13 

Brown, Bascom H. Santa Fe Cochiti -120 -/22 

Brown, Frank S. Grand Canyon* -/06 -/06 

Brown, Isaac 0. Grand Canyon* -/01 --/01 

Brown, Raymond L. Carson Jicarilla 4/51 11/55 

Cibola Magdalena 11/55 10/56 

Brown, Will J. Coconino Long Valley 1/19 6/41 

Brown, Will W. Coconino Long Valley 12/16 12/18 

Brubaker, Jesse A. Alamo 9/09 6/11 

Alamo Pinon 7/11 1/12 

Alamo Weed 1/12 1/16 

Alamo Carson Seep 1/16 6/17 

Lincoln Guadalupe 6/17 6/18 
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Prescott Prescott 7/18 4/19 

Lincoln Mesa 4/19 7/22 

Lincoln Penasco 2/35 12/35 

Bruhl, Maximillian M. Carson Servilleta 4/17 1/21 

Tonto Pine 2/21 12/23 

Santa Fe Las Vegas 1/24 3/44 

Lincoln Guadalupe 3/44 12/50 

Brunner, Bernard H. Carson Questa 10/61 

Bruten, James J. Magdalena -/08 -/09 

Datil Magdalena 2/09 12/09 

Datil Baldwin 12/09 5/10 

Datil Monica 5/10 7/11 

Bryan, George W. Black Mesa* -/99 -/OO 

Bryan, Hugh Santa Fe Rio Las Vacas 4/15 12/15 

Bryan, John L. Lincoln Mesa 5/08 4/12 

Buchanan, Thomas P. Lincoln Cloudcroft 10/36 10/41 

Lincoln White Mountain 11/41 3/48 

Buck, Billy B. Cibola Mountainair 10/61 

Bulware, Robert Gila River* -/99 -100 

Bunton, William B. Datil Tularosa 5/11 1/14 

Burfiend, George H. Kaibab Tusayan 10/60 

Burgess, H.F. San Francisco Mtns* -/99 -/99 

Burton, Frank M. Santa Fe Colonias 3/24 3/31 

Sitgreaves Lakeside 3/31 2/43 

Sitgreaves Chevelon 12/44 8/45 

Carson Canjilon 8/45 9/51 

Coronado Santa Rita 9/51 12/52 

Coronado Santa Rita 12/52 7/53 

Bush, Charles J. Santa Rita* -/05 -/05 

Bush, Justus W. Apache Chase Creek 11/09 5/10 

Bushnell, Charles H. Prescott* -/01 -/01 

Bushnell, Jesse 1. Coconino 5/12 5/15 

Coconino Mormon Lake 5/15 10/15 

Coconino Munds Park 10/15 9/28 

Tonto Verde 9/28 AI45 

Buster, Frank W. Coconino Bly 10/24 12/26 

Byrne, Cyril Sitgreaves Pinedale .... .... 

Calloway, Joseph R. Tonto Pleasant Valley 9/15 10/17 

Calvin, Stanley Datil Red Rock 3/12 11/12 

Campbell, George F. San Francisco Mtns* -/01 -107 

Sitgreaves Pinedale .... .... 

Campbell, William A. San Francisco Mtns* -/06 -107 

Canfield, Fred W. Zuni -/09 3/12 

189 



Cannon, Harry D. San Francisco Mtns* -/01 -/01 

Carey, Robert E. Apache Frisco 6/51 MI52 

Apache Reserve 1/53 10/56 

Carson Penasco 10/56 1/58 

Cargill, Gary E. Lincoln Cloudcroft 9/63 

Carr, Edward T. Coconino Beaver Creek 3/48 11/54 

Coronado Willcox 11/54 7/57 

Coronado Douglas 8/57 

Carroll, Franklin 0. Apache Luna 1/57 7/60 

Carscallen, Thomas W. Manzano Southern 9/08 2/12 

Carter, Daniel R. Jemez Cochiti 12/10 1/14 

Carter, William E. Alamo 5/10 9/11 

Gila Pinos Altos 9/11 11/12 

Casanova, Frank E. Tonto Pleasant Valley 9/48 1/51 

Apache Alpine 1/51 2/54 

Kaibab Tusayan 2/54 10/57 

Case, John B. Gila River* -/05 -/06 

Caserta, Walter J. Cibola Amarillo 12/53 1/54 

Casper, Jemez Cuba -107 -108 

Cassidy, Hugh 0. Gila 3/17 10/17 

Castle, C. L. Gila River* --/07 -107 

Castle, Harry L. Tonto Pine -108 2/13 

Tonto Payson 2/13 3/14 

Centerwall, P. Bruce Tonto Mazatzal 9/44 4/48 

Chamberlain, Harry A. Tonto Pine 8/16 8/17 

Chambers, John W. Sitgreaves Lakeside 9/64 

Chapin, Guilford B. Black Mesa* 100 -107 

Apache Nutrioso -108 4/11 

Jemez Friiole Canyon 
Cliff Dwellings 7/11 4/15 

Santa Fe Frijole Canyon C.D. 4/15 2/16 

Santa Fe Bandelier Nat. 
Monument 2/16 5/16 

Chapman, Ferd M. Coconino Long Valley 10/43 1/44 

Coconino Mormon Lake 1/44 3IA5 

Coconino Long Valley AlAb 12/45 

Chapman, Nettles F. Gila Black Range 8/17 9/17 

Charles, Perl Santa Fe Santa Clara 7/24 4/28 

Santa Fe Jemez River A128 4/35 

Tonto Cave Creek 5/59 2/62 
Chesher, A.L. Portales* -/06 -/07 
Childress, Dan L. Prescott Bloody Basin 10/41 11/42 

Santa Fe Rio Grande 4/45 12/47 

Santa Fe Cuba 12/47 1/51 
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Chipman, Hugh E. Datil Jewett 9/18 3/19 

Crook Aravaipa 4/20 3/25 

Chrisman, Morris Santa Rita* -107 -107 

Christensen, Chester V. Tusayan Cedar Glade 12/14 8/15 

Tusayan Williams 8/16 6/20 

Crook Mt. Graham 7/20 1/22 

Crook Pinal 2/22 10/30 

Crook Clifton 10/30 9/35 

Crook Mt. Graham 9/35 9/46 

Churchwell, George A. Prescott Bloody Basin 6/16 8/16 

Clayton, Joe A. Apache Luna 7/60 

Clayton, Leslie Coconino Long Valley 8/13 8/15 

Click, John A. Gila River* -/03 -/03 

Cochrane, James S. Coconino Mormon Lake 2/59 10/62 

Coe, Charles C. Lincoln Ruidoso -/08 -/09 

Cokely, William H. Prescott* 10/03 2/04 

Colbath, LeRoy V. Black Mesa* -199 -/01 

Sitgreaves Pinedale — .... 

Coleman, John R. Lincoln Baca Ranch 5/08 6/11 

Tonto Mesa 8/13 5/15 

Cole, William E. Prescott Crown King 4/35 9/39 

Gila Elk Mtn. 9/39 4/42 

Gila Elk Mtn. 7/47 2/49 

Cole, W. Quinten Apache Jewett 5/58 

Collard, William J. San Francisco Mtns* -/01 -/01 

Collingwood, G. Harris Apache Clifton 10/12 4/13 

Apache Eagle 9/14 9/15 

Collins, Edwin H. Cibola Magdalena 6/52 11/55 

Apache Springerville 11/55 3/59 

Conger, Willis San Francisco Mtns* -/06 -/07 

Connell, Albert J. Gila Mimbres 5/12 4/14 

Gila Big Burros 4/14 11/14 

Pecos Horseshoe 3/15 4/15 

Santa Fe Horseshoe 4/15 4/17 

Cook, George H. Manzano Northern 9/18 9/20 

Cook, James T. Prescott Jerome 8/08 8/12 

Cook, John E. Coconino Rogers Lake 4/19 4/20 

Tusayan Spring Valley 7/20 -/21 

Prescott Skull Valley 1/23 6/24 

Cook, Wayne R. Prescott Jerome 5/53 5/55 

Cibola Grants 5/55 1/57 

Cibola Gallup 1/57 11/57 

Cooperrider, Charles K. Gila Big Burros 5/16 6/17 

Santa Fe Panchuela 7/17 7/18 
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Cope, H. Norton Crook 4/17 8/17 

Cosper, Bert Chiricahua* -/04 -/07 

Cottam, Edward W. Santa Fe Picuris 4/23 6/23 

Carson Rio Pueblo 6/23 4/26 

Manzano Zuni 8/28 12/31 

Cibola Zuni 12/31 4/33 

Cibola Sandia 4/33 1/40 

Cibola Mountainair 2/40 2/51 

Lincoln Guadalupe 2/51 4/56 

Lincoln Mayhill 2/56 3/58 

Coronado Patagonia 6/58 7/61 

Cottam, Louis F. Carson Questa 4/19 5/23 

Courtney, Robert E. Cibola Zuni 6/47 12/51 

Cibola Gallup 1/52 5/53 

Cox, Dick A. Cibola Magdalena 10/61 

Cox, Frank J. Tusayan 3/17 6/24 

Tusayan Ash Fork 7/24 4/29 

Coconino Walnut Canyon 
Nat'i Monument 4/29 3/34 

Crain, Jack B. Datil Baldwin 10/19 9/20 

Datil Elk Mountain 4/21 8/23 

Cravens, Jay H. Coconino Long Valley 9/51 1/54 

Kaibab Fredonia 2/54 3/57 

Crawford, Darrell W. Apache Black River 12/57 7/63 

Crellin, John S. Sitgreaves Chevelon 6/57 6/61 

Santa Fe Jemez 6/61 10/62 

Criswell, William H. Datil Negrito 7/11 6/12 

Cross, Benjamin H. Gila Pinos Altos 1/10 9/11 

Crow, Benjamin H. San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 -/05 

Crow, George San Francisco Mtns.* -103 -/05 

Croxen, Fred W. Coconino Munds Park 7/12 10/15 

Coconino Mormon Lake 10/15 5/16 

Coconino Beaver Creek 4/17 11/17 

Coconino Bly 11/17 6/21 

Tonto Mazatzal 6/21 8/24 

Tonto Payson 8/24 2/30 

Culberson, Victor Gila River* -/99 -/99 

Culley, Matthew J. Santa Fe Picuris -/17 -/18 

Cullom, James E. Gila River* -/05 -/05 

Cummings, Ira K. Carson Questa 5/18 4/19 

Cummings, Roy Sitgreaves Heber 6/18 12/18 

Cummings, R.W. Coconino Beaver Creek 10/18 4/19 

Currie, George H. Gila Big Burros 7/17 1/18 

Gila Frisco 12/22 5/27 
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Curry, George G. Tonto Sierra Ancha 8/19 12/20 

Cutler, Donald D. Coconino Mormon Lake 9/40 9/41 

Coconino Oak Creek 9/41 8/43 

Apache Frisco 9/43 8/46 

Coconino Flagstaff 8/46 12/47 

D'Amelio, James F. Carson Jicarilla 7/58 11/61 

Damon, Earnest C. Manzano Northern 8/16 1/17 

Daniels, C. A. San Fransicso Mtns.* -107 -107 

Daniels, Murillo A. Santa Fe Las Vegas AIAA MAS 

Darrah, Daton G. Carson Vallecitos 10/11 3/16 

Dasman, William P. Crook North Globe 12/43 4/46 

Davis, Bert C. Prescott* -/01 -/01 

Davis, James G. Gila River* -/99 -107 

Day, Samuel E. Zuni -/09 11/11 

Day, Winfield S. Datil Council Rock 5/11 10/14 

Dearborn, Leonard S. Gila Black Range 3/50 6/52 

Gila Kingston Hbl 2/55 

Gila Mimbres 2/55 7/56 

DeCamp, L. R. Apache Greer 11/17 An 8 

Delbridge, Claude B. Tonto Pleasant Valley 2/08 8/15 

Deutsch, Henry C. Coconino Rogers Lake 5/16 7/17 

Dexter, James C. Jemez* 11/06 1/07 

Dieckman, Philip V. Carson Questa 6/11 11/11 

Dierking, Cornelius F. Lincoln Guadalupe 4/33 6/35 

Diggs, Robert L. Lincoln Guadalupe 8/35 10/35 

Carson Jicarilla 11/35 12/39 

Apache Jewett 12/39 8/45 

Apache Alpine 8/45 1/51 

Dockwiller, Alphonso Pecos River* -/05 -/05 

Dockwiller, Anthony Pecos River* -/99 -/03 

Dodge, D. Homan Crook Clifton 7/43 12/45 

Doran, Michael J. Tonto Sierra Ancha 11/17 5/18 

Tonto Mesa 5/18 4/20 

Doty, Wendell M. Gila Beaverhead 2/57 8/60 

Dougherty, Frank G. Gila Black Range 2/55 2/57 

Gila Silver City 2/57 7/58 

Douglas, Ausburn H. Gila River* -/03 -107 

Gila Pinos Altos -/07 -108 

Gila Big Burros -108 8/09 

Datil Frisco 8/09 11/09 

Douglas, Volney Coronado Huachuca 10/35 8/36 

Downs, John B. Panhandle National 
Grasslands Texiine 3/61 3/61 

Panhandle N.G. Rita Blanca 4/61 7/63 
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Gila Black Range 7/63 

Doyle, Burton A. Grand Canyon* -/03 -/03 

Dumas, M. 0. Coconino Long Valley 12/09 1/10 

Duran, Gilbert Carson Canjilon 2/55 9/57 

Carson Tres Piedras 9/57 10/60 

Durham, Harris K. Black Mesa* -/01 -/01 

Dusick, Tom Coconino Flagstaff -/09 -/10 

Dwire, Carroll R. Jemez* -/06 -/06 

Taos* -/06 3/07 

Taos 3/07 6/08 

Carson Vallecitos 6/08 5/09 

Carson Servilleta 5/09 4/11 

Carson Taos 11/17 5/20 

Earl, Dean M. Lincoln Guadalupe 2/39 2/44 

Apache Luna 3/44 11/49 

Lincoln Capitan 11/49 8/51 

Earl, Ralph N. Santa Fe Cochiti -123 -125 

Santa Fe Cuba -in -127 

Santa Fe Rio Grande -m -128 

Eaton, Homer 0. Apache Greer 1/10 5/11 

Eby, Jay W. Santa Fe Cuba 11/62 

Egan, James A. Coconino Long Valley 1/46 10/49 

Eggum, Joseph Datil Jewett 7/15 2/16 

Ellington, Floyd Datil Beaverhead 11/28 1/31 

Tonto Mazatzal 2/31 9/31 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 9/31 8/35 

Ellis, Andrew P. Gila Wilderness 2/57 2/58 

Lincoln Mayhill 3/58 3/59 

Lincoln Weed 3/59 12/61 

Lincoln Sacramento 12/61 7/63 

Santa Fe Lower Pecos 7/63 

Ellis, Paul M. Manzano Mt. Taylor 4/19 11/19 

Elsbree, Charles C. Carson . Jicarilla 4/49 4/50 

Gila Elk Mountain 4/50 10/51 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 10/51 7/56 

Engstrom, George E. Coronado Santa Rita 5/35 10/41 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 10/41 10/46 

Carson Taos 10/46 8/63 

Kaibab Williams 8/63 

Erickson, Neil Chiricahua* 7/03 3/07 

Chiricahua 3/07 6/17 

Coronado Dragoon- 
Whetstone 6/17 4/21 

Coconino Walnut Canyon 
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National Monument 4/21 12/27 

Ern, Harold W. Tusayan Verde 5/23 9/24 

Esenwein, James W. Prescott Crown King 6/43 12/45 

Ewell, James R. Jemez Coyote 5/13 4/15 

Santa Fe Coyote 4/15 10/15 

Ewing, Robert B. Datil Black Range 
(Chloride) — 8/22 

Lincoln Mesa 8/22 5/26 

Ewing, Robert J. Pecos River* -/99 -103 

Exon, Guy S. Datil Magdalena 7/08 12/09 

Datil Frisco 12/09 8/10 

Farmer, John W. San Francisco Mtns* -/03 -/05 

Fay, Frank San Francisco Mtns* -/99 -100 

Fay, Herbert B. Gila Mogollon 1/08 6/12 

Coconino Flagstaff 6/12 3/18 

Fears, Jesse T. Apache Nutrioso 8/22 6/24 

Apache Greer 6/24 8/28 

Prescott Walnut Creek 8/28 12/28 

Prescott Skull Valley 1/29 11/36 

Crook North Globe 11/36 12/43 

Tonto Payson 12/43 10/48 

Tonto Mazatzal 10/48 5/51 

Feight, L. L. Carson Canjilon 7/24 10/26 

Carson Rio Pueblo 11/26 2/31 

Carson Vallecitos 3/31 4/35 

Fenton, Patrick A. Grand Canyon* -102 -/07 

Figart, Talmage L. Carson Canjilon 3/59 8/63 

Tonto Mesa 8/63 

Finley, William B. Gila Glenwood 6/52 7/56 

Prescott Walnut Creek 7/56 3/58 

Kaibab Jacob Lake 3/58 5/59 

Kaibab Big Springs 5/59 

Firth, Charles A. Tonto Mesa 5/15 9/15 

Fisher, Jerry J. San Francisco Mtns* -/99 -107 

Coconino Mormon Lake 4/11 5/15 

Flake, G. M. Manzano Mt. Taylor 7/23 7/28 

Flake, Osmer D. Sitgreaves Heber 

Flamm, Barry R. Kaibab Tusayan 10/57 10/58 

Gila Frisco 10/58 3/61 

Fleishman, Wm. J. Crook Clifton 3/53 10/53 

Gila Clifton 10/53 8/55 

Coconino Long Valley 1/57 5/57 

Fletcher, Alverous W. Prescott Crown King 4/16 12/18 

Fletcher, Samuel 0. Pecos River* -/99 -100 
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Poor, Walter A. Datil Baldwin 5/14 9/14 

Datil Luna 8/16 4/18 

Forbush, 0. 0. San Francisco Mtns* -/99 -/99 

Fosberg, H. Cranson Coconino Mormon Lake 9/41 11/43 

Foster, Arthur L. Kaibab Williams 11/58 8/63 

Carson Taos 8/63 

Frazer, Louis D. San Francico Mtns.* -/01 -/01 

Freeman, Duane R. Panhandle Nat. 
Grasslands Black Kettle 5/62 

Frey, Samuel A. Gila Big Burros 5/10 11/11 

Frieborn, John A. Tonto Pleasant Valley 11/17 5/18 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 5/18 4/19 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 4/19 11/20 

Coronado Dragoon- 
Whetstone 4/21 12/21 

Coronado Santa Catalina 1/22 3/28 

Frith, C. A. Crook Aravaipa 4/14 11/14 

Fritz, Claude Datil Beaverhead 3/23 11/23 

Fuel, Edward Tonto Payson 12/36 3/37 

Gage, Charles P. Datil Jewett -/10 7/15 

Gage, Germain H. Gila Pinos Altos 5/14 11/14 

Gila Mogollon 10/15 8/16 

Gila Pinos Altos 8/16 2/17 

Gila Black Range 9/17 4/18 

Manzano Zuni 4/18 10/19 

Gaines, Herbert N. Manzano Tajique 12/09 12/12 

Gaines, John R. Prescott* -/01 -/01 

Galer, George E. Apache Eagle 6/16 9/17 

Coronado Rincon 7/19 3/22 

Coronado Peloncillo 3/22 5/27 

Galley, Fred W. Gila Glenwood 7/62 

Gallaher, Wallace B. Prescott Sycamore 7/54 1/57 

Coconino Elden 1/57 3/60 

Galt, Richard V. Lincoln Mesa 7/22 8/22 

Lincoln Mesa 5/26 6/26 

Lincoln Guadalupe 10/26 3/30 

Lincoln White Mountain 3/30 4/35 

Lincoln Capitan 4/35 12/35 

Lincoln Penasco 1/36 2/39 

Gandy, Roy C. Gila Black Range 11/57 1/60 

Coronado Safford 1/60 8/63 

Gardner, Leray E. Crook Aravaipa 5/19 7/19 

Garner, Amon J. Santa Fe Upper Pecos 7/61 12/64 

Carson Tres Piedras 12/64 
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Garner, Will A. Arkansas -/12 -/12 

Garst, Stephen Q. Datil Luna 5/10 12/10 

Datil Magdalena 8/16 6/22 

Datil Baldwin 7/22 12/31 

Cibola Baldwin 12/31 7/32 

Gashwiler, Robert N. Coconino Beaver Creek 3/57 11/59 

Gatlin, Albert A. Huachuca* 1/07 3/07 

Gee, Merle A. Carson Vallecitos 8/42 9/46 

Kaibab Big Springs 9/46 1/49 

Gibson, Arthur Tusayan Spring Valley -/21 -122 

Tusayan Anita Moqui 7/24 4/30 

Apache Blue 4/30 1/31 

Crook Eagle 1/31 4/35 

Cibola Magdalena 4/35 11/37 

Cibola San Augustine 12/37 8/43 

Cibola Magdalena 8/43 7/46 

Cibola San Augustine 7/46 2/50 

Gingery, Clark A. Chiricahua 4/12 5/13 

Prescott Cave Creek 5/13 11/15 

Girdner, James W. Tonto Mesa 4/09 4/13 

Coconino Bly 7/21 7/22 

Apache Baseline-Clifton 7/22 1/25 

Crook Baseline-Clifton 1/25 12/26 

Crook Clifton 1/27 10/30 

Crook Aravaipa 10/30 8/39 

Glossbrenner, John W. Gila River* -/03 -107 

Goddard, Clarence Arkansas -/10 -/12 

Goddard, William H. Gila River* -/06 -/06 

Gossard, Dean C. Lincoln Cloudcroft 2/56 4/56 

Kaibab Williams 4/56 2/58 

Coconino Flagstaff 2/58 4/61 

Goutchey, James J. Pecos River* -/01 -/01 

Gordon, S. Paul Apache Springerville 1/63 

Graham, T.M. Carson San Antone 4/11 8/11 

Grassi, Dennis P. Gila Mimbres 7/56 1/58 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 1/58 7/60 

Graves, Walter L. Santa Fe Colonias 1/37 3/39 

Santa Fe Chama 3/39 1/44 

Coconino Long Valley 2/44 4/45 

Lincoln Capitan 4/45 9/46 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 10/46 4/48 

Gray, Gordon J. Lincoln White Mountain 5/35 10/41 

Kaibab Big Springs 10/41 11/45 
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Greco, Verne A. Carson Rio Pueblo 8/44 7/45 

Cibola Mt. Taylor 7/45 12/47 

Coconino Flagstaff 1/48 3/50 

Sitgreaves Heber 2/54 

Grey, Paul R. Prescott Cherry 8/22 3/25 

Prescott Bloody Basin 3/25 10/28 

Griffith, Paul F. Lincoln* -/06 -/07 

Griffiths, Rees B. Grand Canyon* --/06 -101 

Groesback, Edward C. Carson Canjilon 10/31 4/35 

Carson Vallecitos 4/35 9/35 

Groesbeck, J. Homer Carson Jicarilla 4/33 11/35 

Grose, Madison F. Grand Canyon* -/03 -/03 

Ground, Robert L. Carson Jicarilla 7/21 8/21 

Carson San Antone 8/21 9/28 

Carson Tres Piedras 10/28 9/42 

Santa Fe Colonias 10/42 1/44 

Santa Fe Pecos 2/44 12/49 

Santa Fe Upper Pecos 12/49 3/55 

Ground, Thomas J. Carson San Antone 11/16 8/21 

Datil Red Rock 8/21 bill 

Santa Fe Las Vegas 5/22 Mill 

Grubb, Francis L. W. Gila Dry Creek 2/17 3/18 

Gualrapp, John J. Datil Rosedaie 3/19 12/19 

Guck, Milton E. Prescott Bloody Basin 4/37 10/41 

Prescott Jerome 10/41 MI43 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 12/43 1148 

Lincoln White Mountain 3/48 bibl 

Lincoln Ruidoso 7/52 10/54 

Lincoln Capitan 10/54 6/60 

Lincoln Smokey Bear 6/60 4/62 

Hackleman, Walter Coconino Mormon Lake 4/18 12/18 

Coconino Beaver Creek 4/19 3/27 

Coconino Walnut Canyon 
National Monument 6/28 6118 

Coconino Munds Park 9/29 1/31 

Lincoln Capitan 12/36 3/45 

Coronado Santa Rita 4/45 8/48 

Hadley, Evan W. Santa Fe Picuris 7/19 -/19 

Haffley, C.H. San Francisco Mtns.* -/06 -107 

Hafterson, John A. Prescott Crown King 6/57 5/58 

Apache Clifton 8/58 3/62 

Hager, Charles D. Carson Jicarilla 8/12 11/15 

Hale, Edward Pecos River* -/03 -/03 

Hale, Forest Black Mesa* -/05 -/05 
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Hall, A.L. Tonto Mazatzal 5/21 6/21 

Hall, Arthur 1. Tonto Sierra Ancha 8/21 9/22 

Tonto Salt River 9/22 A122 

Hall, James L. Sitgreaves Heber 5/16 1/17 

Sitgreaves Heber 11/21 1/23 

Hall, John Black Mesa* -/OO -107 

Hall, John Coconino Mormon Lake 1/46 2/46 

Hall, Warren S. Gila Wilderness 1/56 12/56 

Gila Black Range 2/57 9/57 

Hamilton, Lawrence F. Apache Alpine 9/44 8/45 

Carson Rio Pueblo 9/45 11/49 

Santa Fe Tesuque 11/49 AI5A 

Coronado Santa Catalina 4/54 4/57 

Hamilton, Neil Prescott Crown King 4/51 10/51 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 10/51 2/52 

Hammon, Gordon A. Coconino Oak Creek 2/51 6/52 

Coconino Sedona 7/52 8/55 

Hammond, Hezekiah B. Manzano Hell Canyon -/08 9/08 

Manzano Northern 9/08 5/12 

Hance, Harvey Prescott Bloody Basin 2/08 12/08 

Hand, Joseph C. Tonto Pleasant Valley 9/18 4/19 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 4/19 8/19 

Tonto Mazatzal 6/20 2/21 

Tonto Cave Creek 8/23 4/40 

Hanna, Richard H. Prescott* -/99 -/99 

San Francisco Mtns* -/99 -100 

Pecos River* -/OO -10 ^ 

Hanna, Thomas W. Gila River* -/01 -/01 

Hanrahan, Miles P. Coronado Nogales 4/62 — 

Hansen, Andrew Sitgreaves Pinedale .... — 

Harbison, Donald E. Santa Fe San Miguel 4/20 11/20 

Santa Fe Sands 11/20 4/21 

Santa Fe Bandelier Nat. 
Monument 4/21 6/22 

Hareford, Edward H. San Francisco Mtns. -/05 -/05 

Harriman, C. K. Santa Fe Tesuque -122 

Harrington, C. G. Carson Servilleta 1/21 10/22 

Harris, Frank D. Santa Fe Chama 7/19 5/20 

Santa Fe Cuba 5/20 3/22 

Coronado Rincon 3/22 6/24 

Coronado Sunset 7/24 4/28 

Harris, Hugh H. Jemez* 11/06 3/07 

Harris, J. M. Apache Baseline 2/18 11/19 

Harrison, Claude S. San Francisco Mtns* -/06 -107 
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Harrison, Wesley B. Ozark 5/11 — 

Hart, John S. Coconino Flagstaff 4/61 — 

Harvel, Hoyt R. Cibola Texiine 12/53 6/58 

Panhandle Unit Texiine 7/58 6/60 

Panhandle Nat'l 
Grasslands Texiine 6/60 3/61 

Prescott Sycamore 3/61 3/63 

Prescott Verde 3/63 — 

Hassell, Milo J. Coconino Elden 3/60 7/62 

Hastings, Clive Pecos River* -100 -/01 

Hastings, E.F. Black Mesa* -/05 -/06 

San Francisco Mins* -/06 --/06 

Hatch, James 1. Jemez Gallina 5/14 4/15 

Santa Fe Gallina 4/15 -/21 

Haught, A. Earl Santa Fe Coyote 12/62 

Hawk, Russell Crook Eagle 7/35 1/50 

Crook Aravaipa 1/50 4/53 

Haworth, Fred Prescott Walnut Creek 9/15 9/19 

Tusayan Spring Valley 6/20 7/20 

Tusayan Verde 7/20 5/23 

Hayes, Will S. Gila River* -/99 -100 

Haynes, George L. Apache Greer 6/19 5/24 

Haynes, Lawrence G. Datil Magdalena 7/10 7/13 

Datil Rosedale 7/13 in A- 

Heath, Gordon R. Santa Fe Chama 4/48 11/51 

Heggie, T. L. Carson Tres Piedras 5/28 9/28 

Datil Red Rock 1/29 12/31 

Cibola Red Rock 12/31 2/34 

Hemphill, Ernest C. Cibola Clayton 12/53 6/58 

Panhandle Unit Clayton 7/58 4/59 

Henderson, Sebird B. Black Mesa* -/03 -101 

Hendricks, Barnard H. Lincoln Capitan 2/19 6/21 

Hendrix, Albert W. Tusayan Chalender 11/16 3/17 

Heninger, Richard D. Prescott Sycamore 4/58 3/61 

Gila Frisco 3/61 

Hess, John B. Ozark 7/10 

Higgins, Eugene E. Gila River* -/03 -/03 

Higgins, Hugh H. Prescott Skull Valley 3/17 11/22 

Hightower, Clement Gila River* -/01 -102 

Hilburn, Bart L. Alamo* 4/09 

Hiler, Frank Gila Big Burros 1/18 9/20 

Datil Baldwin 9/20 7/22 

Datil Frisco 8/22 11/22 

Datil Tularosa 3/23 MHZ 

200 



Hill, Adrian Santa Fe Upper Pecos 11/57 7/61 

Coronado Patagonia 7/61 

Hill, Charles V. Gila Wilderness 3/63 

Hill, Leon 0. Cibola Zuni 7/35 11/39 

Cibola Red Rock 11/39 2/43 

Crook Clifton 12/45 1/46 

Cibola San Mateo 1/46 9/47 

Santa Fe Jemez River 9/47 12/52 

Santa Fe Jemez 12/52 5/54 

Hill, Rollin C. Lincoln Baca Ranch 9/16 4/17 

Hinchey, Robert F. Lincoln Weed 11/24 4/27 

Hinck, John H. Apache Baseline 11/10 2/14 

Hinderer, Charles H. Prescott* -/06 2/07 

Hinderer, Edward A. Prescott* -103 3/07 

Prescott Prescott 3/07 4/13 

Hiscox, Shepard Prescott Bloody Basin 12/08 4/12 

Hobbie, John V. Lincoln Mesa 4/12 11/16 

Hodge, Herbert Wichita -/09 7/10 

Hodges, Clinton A. Datil Baldwin 7/11 11/11 

Hodgin, Floyd M. Carson Vallecitos 11/35 8/41 

Santa Fe Tesuque 1/46 5/47 

Hoffarth, Francis L. Carson Vallecitos 9/17 12/17 

Hokanson, Elmer E. Coconino Mormon Lake 4145 12/45 

Holden, Thomas F. San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 -/05 

Holmen, William L. Coconino Sedona 11/57 7/63 

Hooker, Milton E. Gila Wilderness 3/58 10/61 

Hoopengarner, Guy V. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 -/01 

Hooten, Benjamin F. Datil North Star 7/10 4/12 

Hopson, Raymond E. Apache Greer 5/11 6/11 

Arkansas 6/11 5/12 

Hotchkiss, Henry H. Gila River* -/06 -107 

Housley, Raymond M. Coconino Beaver Creek 9/55 3/57 

Kaibab Fredonia 3/57 2/58 

Howells, Clayton M. Gila Black Range 1/12 -/13 

Hoyer, Rolfe C. Lincoln Mayhill 3/59 7/62 

Hudman, Eddy E. Lincoln Guadalupe 9/18 1/19 

Hughes, Jonathan L. Gila Mogollon 4/17 10/17 

Manzano Mt. Taylor 1/18 3/19 

Manzano Zuni 10/19 3/20 

Carson Canjilon 9/20 6/24 

Carson Questa 7/24 9/26 

Hulbert, Clifford E. Carson Vallecitos 6/11 8/11 

Carson Taos 8/11 10/17 

Gila Pinos Altos 10/17 3/26 
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Gila Big Burros 3/26 3/29 

Hulbert, Harold C. Tusayan Spring Valley -123 9/31 

Tonto Mazatzal 9/31 9/44 

Hulsey, Bailey San Francisco Mtns.* -/03 -/04 

Humbert, John J. Tonto Sierra Ancha 9/35 11/42 

Crook Aravaipa 11/42 12/43 

Crook Pinal 1/44 9/46 

Lincoln Capitan 10/46 7/47 

Hundley, R. W. Crook Mt. Graham 11/17 8/20 

Hunt, Robert L. Gila Elk Mountain 7/58 8/58 

Gila Frisco 8/58 10/58 

Hunts, John H. Cibola Zuni 4/33 4/35 

Cibola Red Rock 4/35 4/37 

Cibola Mt. Taylor 4/37 8/39 

Coronado Paradise 9/39 2/45 

Coronado Santa Catalina 3/45 2/54 

Hussey, Ralph W. Gila Pinos Altos 5/16 7/17 

Hutchinson, Ansley E. Lincoln Gallinas 7/36 2/39 

Lincoln Penasco 2/39 12/52 

Lincoln Mayhill 12/52 2/56 

Ingersoll, Theodore R. Gila Mimbres 3/58 11/63 

Prescott Granite 11/63 

Irving, Harry P. Prescott Skull Valley 5/37 12/37 

Isachsen, Alfred C. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 --/03 

Jackson, Frank L. Carson Canjilon 12/38 10/41 

Carson Vallecitos 10/41 7/42 

Kaibab Big Springs 12/45 9/46 

Gila Silver City 9/46 8/53 

Coronado Douglas 8/53 8/57 

Coronado Santa Rita 8/57 8/60 

Jackson, Ned R. Cibola Gallup 8/61 

Jagels, Philip Gila River* -/06 -/06 

Jahn, Alfred P. Prescott , Cherry 1/21 8/22 

James, Andrew J. Ozark 5/11 .... 

James, Roscoe C. Lincoln Ruidoso 9/13 4/20 

Tonto Payson 3/21 8/24 

Jirsa, Donald E. Gila Wilderness 2/54 10/55 

Sitgreaves Chevelon 11/55 2/57 

Coconino Flagstaff 5/57 2/58 

Johanson, Eric G. Coconino Mormon Lake 10/62 

Johnson, Clarence M. Zuni -/09 5/12 

Johnson, Harien G. Apache Alpine 4/43 8/44 

Sitgreaves Heber 12/44 2/51 
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Cibola Mountainair 2/51 4/51 

Cibola Sandia 4/51 12/64 

Johnson, John W. Tonto Salt River 10/14 8/16 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 8/16 11/17 

Santa Fe Panchuela 3/20 -123 

Santa Fe Pecos -123 1/44 

Johnson, Lewis E. San Francisco Mnts* -106 -107 

Johnson, Norman E. Coconino Winslow 11/57 7/58 

Johnson, Richard C. Crook Aravaipa 9/41 1/42 

Sitgreaves Lakeside 12/45 2/50 

Johnson, William P. Alamo Mayhill --/08 -109 

Alamo Carson Seep 1/10 12/15 

Jones, Birtsall W. Santa Catalina* -/06 -107 

Jones, Joseph J. Datil Magdalena 1/10 7/10 

Datil Frisco 8/10 9/10 

Jones, Mark F. Prescott Jerome 12/50 5/53 

Coronado Willcox 5/53 11/54 

Coronado Safford 11/54 8/57 

Cibola Grants 1/60 5/63 

Jones, Maurice Carson Jicarilla 9/30 A/33 

Jones, Thomas M. Ozark 7/10 .... 

Jones, Thomas R. Kaibab Big Springs 2/58 5/59 

Julander, Rollo P. Prescott Sycamore 1/57 3/58 

Prescott Walnut Creek 3/58 10/61 

Apache Alpine 10/61 .... 

Julian, Hurst R. Datil Mangus 11/24 1/25 

Apache Mangus 1/25 12/26 

Kartchner, Lafayette S. Sitgreaves Heber 2/17 2/18 

Sitgreaves Heber 1/19 10/21 

Sitgreaves Show Low 10/21 12/25 

Kay, Alexander N. Tonto Mazatzal 8/24 1/27 

Tonto Verde 2/27 8/28 

Keddy, David F. Santa Fe Jemez 10/62 .... 

Keeney, Kenneth A. Carson Canjilon 8/35 12/38 

Carson Rio Pueblo 12/38 3/41 

Kelling, Ernest Gila River* -/99 -100 

Kemp, Ben Gila Elk Mountain 4/42 6/47 

Kendall, Harold A. Prescott Skull Valley 6/28 11/28 

Prescott Bloody Basin 11/28 4/35 

Lincoln White Mountain 4/35 5/35 

Kennedy, Phil Coronado Douglas 10/35 4/48 

Gila Elk Mountain 3/49 4/49 

Kennerdell, Richard H. Tusayan Chalender 5/11 12/12 
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Tusayan Williams 8/13 7/16 

Kerley, David C. Pecos River* -/99 -/01 

Kerney, Charles B. San Francisco Mtns.* -/05 -/05 

Kerr, John Gila River* -/01 -/05 

Kested, William Santa Fe San Miguel 7/18 8/18 

Ketcham, Louis Datil Jewett 3/19 7/21 

Datil Rosedale 7/21 3/26 

Kimbrough, Hubert N. Manzano Northern 5/18 8/18 

Kimmel, Joseph N. Datil Mangus 11/22 9/24 

King, Ralph E. Prescott Bloody Basin 4/12 6/16 

King, Ray E. Manzano Mt. Taylor 9/14 7/17 

Manzano Southern 8/17 8/19 

Lincoln Weed 7/22 11/24 

Kinney, James H. Lincoln* -/06 -101 

Kinser, Robert J. San Francisco Mnts.* -/99 -/99 

Kinter, J. Earl Tusayan Anita Moqui 5/18 4/23 

Kirby, Francis Lee Crook View -/I 3 4/14 

Crook Pinal 4/14 2/22 

Kirchner, Richard G. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 -/03 

Kissam, Charles H. Gila Mogollon 2/13 4/13 

Kneipp, Leon F. Prescott* -/01 -/04 

Pecos River* -/05 -/05 

Knipe, Frederick C. Coconino Mormon Lake 5/16 2/17 

Coronado 2/17 5/18 

Koen, Harry R. Ozark 8/13 12/13 

Koogler, William H. Datil Rosedale 4/26 12/31 

Cibola Rosedale 12/31 7/32 

Cibola San Augustine 7/32 12/37 

Prescott Skull Valley 12/37 12/41 

Prescott Walnut Creek 12/41 2/51 

Krupp, Frank A. Tumacacori 2/08 7/08 

Garces 7/08 11/10 

Lamb, Alan J. Carson Canjilon 9/51 2/55 

Lamirand, Edward A. Wichita 4/09 5/13 

Lincoln Gallinas 9/13 12/18 

Laney, Louis H. Manzano Mt. Taylor 4/21 6/23 

Manzano Mountainair 7/23 11/31 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 11/31 10/36 

Lash, Irvin B. Gila Mogollon 3/26 4/27 

Lathrop, Wesley E. Apache Springerville 4/59 1/63 

Tonto Globe 1/63 

Lawrence, Ellery F. Gila Dry Creek -/08 -lOS 

Carson Questa 3/11 6/11 
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Carson Taos 6/11 8/11 

Carson 8/11 2/12 

Lawson, William P. Arkansas -/II -/I 3 

Leese, James P. Jemez* 1/07 3/07 

Jemez Santa Clara 5/11 1/12 

Lemley, L. D. Santa Fe Gallina -/21 -122 

Santa Fe Bandolier Nat. 
Monument -122 -127 

Lessel, Leonard R. Tonto Pine 6/13 4/14 

Tonto Payson 4/14 3/18 

Coconino 3/18 6/18 

Lewis, H. Glenn Cibola Zuni 5/45 5/47 

Lewis, John D. San Francisco Mtns. -/03 -/05 

Black Mesa* -/05 -107 

Sitgreaves Pinedale — — 

Tonto Pine 12/20 2/21 

Lewis, L. W. Santa Fe Jemez River 4/35 -/39 

Liedman, Louis Apache Jewet 8/45 11/49 

Apache Luna 11/49 3/51 

Lindquist, Leonard A. Santa Fe Cuba 8/60 8/62 

Tonto Payson 8/62 

Linn, Harold Coconino Rogers Lake 6/27 12/32 

Coconino Beaver Creek 12/32 ^M43 

Prescott Jerome 12/43 9/50 

Linton, Russell L. Prescott Jerome 5/18 11/20 

Liston, Ross Carson San Antone 9/11 12/11 

Littlefield, Theron R. Tonto Mesa 9/16 9/17 

Lochman, Charles N. Coconino Beaver Creek 4/18 10/18 

Lockhart, Walter B. Gila Glenwood 3/59 7/60 

Long, Ernest B. San Francisco Mtns.* -/03 -/05 

Longmire, James M. Panhandle Unit Bonham 7/58 6/60 

Panhandle Nat.ional 
Grasslands Bonham 6/60 3/61 

Panhandle N.G. Caddo 4/61 

Longwell, Thomas B. Arkansas -/12 9/13 

Loring, Thomas J. Gila Reserve 8/60 11/62 

Loudermilk, Walter C. Tonto Mesa 9/15 5/16 

Loveless, Marshall D. Datil Tularosa 7/10 5/11 

Carson Jicarilla 5/11 7/12 

Loveridge, Earl Santa Fe Rio Las Vacas -/16 7/18 

Lund, Ellis W. Apache Nutrioso 10/17 3/20 

Lynch, Lewis W. Carson San Antone 6/12 12/15 

Carson Jicarilla 8/18 9/19 

Lynch, William R. Carson Jicarilla 11/15 12/15 

Lyons, Willard Z. Lincoln Guadalupe 7/18 9/18 
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MacIntyre, Daniel C. Kaibab Chalender 7/60 9/63 

Mackay, Alexander J. Grand Canyon* -/99 -/01 

Black Mesa* -/01 -/05 

Malbone, Claude E. Coconino 11/12 9/14 

Mallory, W. H. San Francisco Mtns.* -/05 -/05 

Marks, David S. Apache Blue 10/16 3/20 

Apache Nutrioso 4/20 nil 

Apache Blue 2/22 8/25 

Coronado Animas 5/27 9/32 

Marloe, Jack E. Prescott Bloody Basin 9/18 8/19 

Marlowe, Everett A. Prescott Walnut Creek 10/08 1/14 

Prescott Prescott 4/14 11/15 

Marshall, Harold A. E. Prescott* -/05 -/05 

Martin, Drayton C. Black Mesa* -103 -107 

Apache Greer 11/08 11/10 

Martin, J. B. Grand Canyon* -/01 -102 

Martin, William C. Black Mesa* -/06 -107 

Apache Alpine -/09 12/11 

Martinez, Antonio F. Santa Fe Tesuque 4/15 4/16 

Santa Fe Sands 5/21 -123 

Martinez, J. Paul Carson Vallecitos 1/47 6lb2 

Martinez, L. P. Carson Taos 3/26 8/46 

Massey, Jewell D. Coconino Bly 6/21 6/21 

Matthews, Jack R. Prescott Jerome 1/59 3/63 

Santa Fe Espanola 5/64 

Mattice, Benjamin Santa Catalina* -/05 -/06 

Mattoon, Wilbur R. Gila River* -/05 -/05 

Maxwell, Lorenzo B. Coconino 7/10 10/10 

Coconino Long Valley 10/10 7/13 

Coconino Bly 7/13 3/17 

Mazzetta, John M. Carson Jicarilla 9/46 4/49 

Gila Elk Mountain 5/49 3/50 

McCabe, James Pecos River* -/OO -/OO 

McCament, Fred L. Datil Black Range 
(Chloride) 9/22 2/23 

Datil Jewett 2/23 1/25 

Apache Jewett 1/25 11/31 

Santa Fe Rio Grande -133 .... 

McClure, A. H. Pecos River* -/OO -/01 

McClure, Oscar L. Coconino Rogers Lake 3/23 5/27 

Coconino Beaver Creek bill 2/31 

Coconino Munds Park 2/31 12/32 

Coconino Oak Creek 1/33 9/35 

Coconino Elden 9/35 11/49 
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Prescott Verde 11/49 10/52 

Prescott Drake 10/52 2/57 

McCrady, Mack Apache Nutrioso 8/17 9/17 

McCrary, Ernest E. Coronado Safford 8/63 

McCulloh, Hiram W. Pecos River* -/99 -/01 

McDaniel, Eugene San Francisco Mtns.* -/05 --/05 

McDaniel, Henry A. Santa Fe Rio Grande 5/29 2/32 

Apache Luna 3/32 8/34 

Apache Alpine 8/34 8/39 

Apache Greer 9/39 6/51 

Apache Springerville 7/51 5/55 

Prescott Jerome 5/55 12/55 

McDermaid, Feris E. Coconino Mormon Lake 4/47 3/50 

Coconino Flagstaff 4/50 7/51 

McDowell, Willard A. Gila Chloride 5/35 12/50 

McDuff, Clifford E. Prescott Cherry 5/26 3/28 

Prescott Crown King 3/28 7/29 

McDuffie, Arthur F. Coronado Sunset 5/19 8/21 

McGlone, Charles T. Pecos River* -100 -/01 

McGuyre, James C. Grand Canyon* -/03 -/03 

McKenzie, Claude W. Prescott Jerome 1/17 3/18 

Cocnino Flagstaff 3/18 11/20 

McLain, John W. San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 -107 

McLeod, Jennings D. Ozark 7/10 2/13 

Ozark 5/13 12/13 

McLeod, William P. Prescott* -103 -/05 

McLure, Frank F. Lincoln Baca Ranch 8/17 5/20 

Lincoln Mayhill 5/20 10/20 

McLure, Jay R. Gila Mimbres 9/18 10/21 

McNaughton, Charles Grand Canyon* -/99 -/01 

Gila River* -/05 -/06 

McNelty, John C. Prescott Prescott 1/21 3/35 

McPhaul, Ed L. Datil Tularosa 8/22 3/23 

Datil Elk Mountain 8/23 6/26 

Datil Black Range 
(Chloride) 7/26 8/28 

Apache Greer 8/28 8/35 

Coronado Santa Catalina 8/35 2/45 

Mead, Ernest J. Arkansas 12/12 12/13 

Meagher, Thomas F. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 -103 

Meeker, Harry C. Gila River* -/05 -lOb 

Meigs, S. G. Gila Mogollon -122 — 

Menninghaus, Fritz F. Lincoln Cloudcroft 4/56 1/59 

Prescott Prescott 1/59 
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Menzie, Bert I. 

Mercer, Thomas L. 

Merker, Clarence A. 

Merkle, Fred 

Merrill, Gerald 

Messer, George W. 

Mettler, Edwin G. 

Mickelson, Walter M. 

Millar, Paul E. 

Miller, Edward G. 

Miller, Jack R. 

Miller, Roy H. 

Miller, William 

Millett, Joseph 

Mims, John H. 

Minner, Clifford R. 

Mitchell, Frank H. 

Moak, Robert R. 

Molohon, Albin D. 

Molter, Robert W. 

Prescott 

Prescott 

Sitgreaves 

Wichita 

Zuni 

Manzano 

Mt. Graham 

Crook 

Alamo 

Alamo 

Alamo 

Alamo 

Lincoln 

Lincoln 

Lincoln 

Coronado 

Coconino 

Prescott 

Prescott 

Tusayan 

Tusayan 

Zuni 

Panhandle National 
Grasslands 

Panhandle N.G. 

Carson 

Crook 

Grand Canyon* 

Grand Canyon* 

Lincoln 

Lincoln 

Manzano 

Cibola 

Cibola 

Cibola 

Gila 

Datil 

Black Mesa* 

Apache 

Chiricahua 

Arkansas 

Zuni 

Crook 

Black Mesa* 

Jerome 

Cave Creek 

Show Low 

Zuni 

Mt. Graham 

Weed 

Mayhill 

Sargent Seep 

Fresnal 

Cloudcroft 

Ruidoso 

Gallinas 

Dragoon-Whetstone 

Mormon Lake 

Bloody Basin 

Walnut Creek 

Cedar Glade 

Chalender 

Clayton 

Kiowa 

El Rito 

Gallinas 

Ruidoso 

Mt. Taylor 

Mt. Taylor 

Mountainair 

Magdalena 

Black Range 

Jewett 

Clifton 

Eagle 

11/20 1/21 

1/09 1/10 

12/25 7/26 

2/13 4/13 

4/13 9/14 

9/14 2/18 

1/08 7/08 

7/08 1/17 

-/II 12/11 

12/11 6/12 

1/12 6/16 

6/16 6/17 

6/17 4/20 

4/20 9/24 

9/24 6/36 

1/22 12/31 

3/17 4/18 

8/19 5/23 

7/24 8/28 

3/12 12/14 

1/15 10/16 

-/10 -/14 

7/60 3/61 

4/61 8/62 

8/62 

12/11 

10/06 3/07 

-/03 -/05 

7/22 9/24 

9/24 1/27 

8/28 12/31 

12/31 5/35 

6/35 1/40 

2/40 8/42 

9/42 2/47 

2/16 1/17 

-/07 -107 

-/08 11/10 

6/11 6/12 

6/12 12/12 

12/12 — 

2/28 12/30 

-/03 -/05 
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Moore, Charles E. Pecos Borrego .... 4/15 

Santa Fe Borrego 4/15 11/15 

Santa Fe La Mesa 11/15 ini 

Santa Fe Panchuela 3/17 4/17 

Santa Fe Horseshoe 4/17 5/19 

Santa Fe Picuris 5/19 6/20 

Santa Fe Santa Clara 1/22 1/23 

Santa Fe Cochiti 1/23 8/23 

Santa Fe Santa Clara 8/23 6/24 

Moore, Hugh R. Ozark 5/12 5/13 

Moose, Clyde P. Tusayan Chalender 10/23 8/34 

Kaibab Chalender 8/34 3/37 

Tonto Payson 3/37 4/40 

Tonto Cave Creek 4/40 6/48 

Kaibab Anita Moqui 6/48 12/52 

Kaibab Tusayan 12/52 2/54 

Morissey, Otto A. Wichita* -/05 -/05 

Morrison, Douglas C. Sitgreaves Chevelon 2/51 11/55 

Morse, Alston D. Coconino Beaver Creek 9/15 4/16 

Coconino Beaver Creek 10/16 4/17 

Mosimann, Louis H. Pecos River* -103 -/05 

Mullan, Alfred W. Alamo inz 3/13 

Lincoln Baca Ranch 3/13 8/13 

Mullen, James F. Manzano Hell Canyon 9/08 8/09 

Mundell, Gerald L. Coconino Beaver Creek 11/63 

Mundell, Lewis J. Jemez* 11/06 3/07 

Lincoln Gallinas 7/10 12/11 

Datil Rosedale 10/15 8/16 

Datil Baldwin 8/16 2/18 

Mundy, John Gila River* -/03 -/07 

Datil Frisco 6/08 12/08 

Datil Negrito 1/09 5/09 

Munro, Robert C. Gila Big Burros 5/09 12/09 

Gila Dry Creek 1/11 6/12 

Gila Pinos Altos 11/12 5/14 

Murk, W. E. Santa Fe Bandelier National 
Monument 8/19 -/20 

Santa Fe Picuris -120 3/21 

Carson Vallecitos 4/22 11/22 

Carson Jicarilla 11/22 5/24 

Murray, Irvin Pat Santa Fe Colonias 3/39 8/40 

Carson Tres Piedras 3/47 3/49 

Kaibab Big Springs 3/49 12/50 

Musick, Walter Datil Tularosa 5/09 6/10 
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Mutz, George Alamo 9/16 6/17 

Prescott Cave Creek 9/19 8/21 

Prescott Jerome 8/21 9/41 

Myers, Lester S. Carson Questa 5/11 8/11 

Nafziger, Raymond E. Mazano Mt. Taylor 4/19 4/19 

Nabours, Benjamin F. Lincoln Gallinas 1/12 9/13 

Lincoln Baca Ranch 9/13 8/16 

Lincoln Mesa 11/16 9/18 

Gila Big Burros 9/22 4/25 

Gila Mimbres 4/25 4/27 

Gila Frisco-Mogollon 4/27 5/35 

Nave, Euel R. Gila Mogollon 5/25 2/26 

Gila Black Range 3/26 4/37 

Gila Mimbres 4/37 11/41 

Coronado Santa Rita 1/42 2/45 

Coronado Paradise 3/45 4/51 

Cibola Mountainair 4/51 9/55 

Gila Clifton 9/55 2/57 

Cibola Magdalena 2/57 6/59 

Nave, Jacob C. Datil Red Rock 11/12 4/18 

Apache Baseline- 
Clifton 12/19 6/22 

Naylor, Harry W. Carson Jicarilla 8/21 10/22 

Carson Servilleta 10/22 10/26 

Carson Tres Piedras 10/26 5/28 

Neill, Reuben L. San Francisco Mtns.* -/06 -101 

Coconino Williams 6/08 11/09 

Nelson, Ben Crook Aravaipa 2/42 11/42 

Prescott Bloody Basin 11/42 12/45 

Nelson, John R. Sitgreaves Heber 5/25 3/31 

Tonto Payson 6/36 11/36 

Newbold, Theodore A. Prescott* -102 -102 

Newton, James A. Carson Jicarilla 5/24 10/26 

Carson Canjilon 12/26 10/31 

Apache Jewett 11/31 12/39 

Carson Jicarilla 12/39 4/46 

Newton, Keith W. Cibola Alvord 12/53 8/57 

Cibola Decatur 12/53 
(Held both Districts at same time.) 

8/57 

Neylon, John J. Gila River* -/05 -/05 

Nichols, Floyd A. Crook Mt. Graham 10/46 8/53 

Prescott Prescott 12/54 12/58 

Nichols, Milford L. Apache Metcalf 9/10 11/11 

Apache Nutrioso 12/11 8/13 
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Apache Greenlee 8/13 12/13 

Apache Nutrioso 12/13 2/16 

Prescott Prescott 4/19 7/20 

Coconino Flagstaff 12/20 9/23 

Nofsinger, Roland E. Gila River* -/01 -/01 

Noon, Arthur H. Coronado 5/12 5/13 

Nourse, Robert W. Datil Baldwin 10/14 7/15 

O'Hagan, Oswald H. Gila River* -/01 -/02 

Oldham, Edward H. Prescott Jerome 8/16 1/17 

Prescott Cave Creek 11/17 9/19 

Prescott Walnut Creek 11/19 9/23 

Coconino Flagstaff 7/24 7/46 

Oleson, Merle C. Apache Luna 9/34 8/35 

Apache Greer 8/35 9/39 

Apache Alpine 9/39 4/43 

Coconino Oak Creek 9/43 1/51 

Kaibab Chalender 1/51 7/60 

Olson, Chester H. Santa Fe Cuba 1/51 8/55 

Coconino Sedona 8/55 11/57 

Cibola Gallup 11/57 2/60 

Olson, G. LeGrand Santa Fe Colonias 8/40 9/42 

Cibola Zuni 9/42 5/45 

Tonto Verde 5/45 3/50 

Cibola San Augustine 3/50 6/52 

Olson, Olof J. Coronado Rosemont 10/19 9/21 

Coronado Santa Rita 9/21 12/21 

Coronado Tumacacori 1/22 7/22 

Coronado Rincon 7/24 9/25 

Coronado Santa Rita 9/25 4/30 

Coronado Huachuca 4/30 6/35 

Gila Frisco-Mogollon 7/35 4/48 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 4/48 7/54 

Onstad, Walter L. Datil Tularosa 7/20 8/22 

Osenton, Ebbert Pecos River* -/99 -/Ol 

Owen, Rex K. Panhandle Nat. 
Grasslands Cross Timbers 7/62 

Owens, Franklin H. Sitgreaves Heber — .... 

Owens, J. Clark Crook Aravaipa 1/15 4/15 

Sitgreaves Show Low 8/16 7/20 

Raffle, R. L. Jemez Espanola 5/14 4/15 

Page, Floyd E. Kaibab Tusayan 10/58 9/60 

Painter, John Ray Gila Black Range 4/18 11/25 

Prescott Skull Valley 2/27 5/28 

Crook North Globe 5/28 10/36 

Prescott Skull Valley 11/36 5/37 
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Painter, Orvai C. Gila Mogollon 7/24 4/25 

Gila Big Burros 4/25 1/26 

Palmer, Hollis S. Datil Mangus 9/24 11/24 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 10/25 12/25 

Apache Tularosa 12/25 3/28 

Paradise, Frank J. Coconino Mormon Lake 4/50 9/53 

Cibola Gallup 9/53 12/56 

Parker, Marshall W. Alamo -/10 2n2 

Park, Robert H. Kaibab Big Springs 4/33 3/37 

Pase, Charles P. Coconino Beaver Creek 12/54 9/55 

Patterson, Ernest R. Apache Clifton 1/11 6/11 

Apache Greer 4/12 2/14 

Apache Baseline 2/14 9/15 

Apache Alpine 9/15 7/19 

Pattison, Lawrence W. Lincoln Capitan 7/47 11/49 

Sitgreaves Chevelon 11/49 2/51 

Sitgreaves Heber 2/51 1/54 

Pearce, Joseph H. Black Mesa* -/99 -/OO 

Peck, Allen S. Gila River* -/05 --/05 

Peckenpaugh, Harold Datil Beaverhead 12/23 1/26 

Penrod, David 1. Black Mesa* -/99 -107 

Pepper, Charles F. Lincoln Ruidoso -/08 -108 

Perry, Edgar L. Carson Jicarilla 2/16 7/17 

Carson Vallecitos 4/18 4/22 

Santa Fe Cuba 4/22 -126 

Perry, Ernest W. Gila Glenwood 4/49 6/52 

Kaibab Williams 6/52 1/54 

Perry, James L. Santa Fe Lower Pecos 10/57 7163 

Coconino Sedona 7/63 

Perry, Roy Carson Vallecitos 3/16 4/17 

Carson Jicarilla 11/19 7/21 

Perry, Walter J. Carson 5/12 5/15 

Carson Servilleta 5/15 4/17 

Carson Jicarilla 9/17 12/17 

Carson Vallecitos 12/17 4/18 

Peter, George A. Lincoln* -/05 -/06 

Peters, Jack Sitgreaves Chevelon 7/63 1/67 

Peterson, Barry G. Coronado Santa Rita 8/60 3/62 

Tonto Cave Creek 3/62 

Pfefferle, Keith T. Tonto Pleasant Valley 3/52 1/57 

Santa Fe Jemez 1/57 6/61 

Pfingsten, A. T. Santa Fe Cochiti -126 -127 
Phelps, William A. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 -107 
Phillips, Bert G. Taos* 1/07 3/07 
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Taos 3/07 6/08 

Carson Taos 6/08 5/12 

Phillips, Jackson M. Gila McKenna Park 9/42 1/45 

Pickett, George S. Prescott Walnut Creek 3/51 7/56 

Gila Elk Mountain 7/56 7/58 

Gila Silver City 7/58 — 

Pierce, William H. San Francisco Mtns.* -/05 -107 

Coconino Walnut Canyon 
National Monument 7/10 7/16 

Pierson, Ed Lincoln Capitan 12/35 10/36 

Pigott, Arthur W. Coronado Peloncillo 10/18 2/22 

Pilmer, Harold E. Coconino Bly 9/35 10/35 

Coconino Oak Creek 10/35 9/41 

Coconino Long Valley 9/41 9/43 

Pincetl, Marcel F. Pecos San Geronimo 4/14 4/15 

Santa Fe Cuba — 5/20 

Santa Fe Mora 11/20 -122 

Pinson, Walter J. Santa Fe Borrego 12/17 7/24 

Santa Fe Tesuque 7/24 5/28 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 8/28 11/35 

Lincoln Guadalupe 11/35 1/39 

Pint, William E. Kaibab Jacob Lake 7/63 — 

Pitchlynn, Paul P. Gila Pinos Altos 3/11 9/11 

Pittman, Acie T. Santa Fe Cuba 8/62 10/62 

Platten, Fred San Francisco Mtns.* -/03 3/07 

San Francisco Mtns 3/07 7/08 

Coconino Chalender 7/08 6/10 

Tusayan Chalender 6/10 4/11 

Plomteaux, Fred D. Jemez Santa Clara —- 4/15 

Santa Fe Espanola 4/15 — 

Santa Fe Santa Clara — -/21 

Plowman, John R. Guadalupe 2/08 7/08 

Alamo Carson Seep 7/08 10/10 

Alamo Mayhill 10/10 12/10 

Plymale, Charles A. Arkansas 7/10 — 

Pollock, Luther F. Gila River* -/06 -/06 

Pomeroy, John S. Coronado Rincon 4/28 3/30 

Coronado Santa Rita 4/30 5/35 

Gila Black Range 4/37 9/42 

Cibola Magdalena 9/42 8/43 

Tonto Salt River 4/46 6/51 

Crook Globe 6/51 10/53 

Tonto Globe 10/53 7/55 

Pooler, Frank C. W. Prescott* 3/04 7/05 
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Porcher, Francis P. Crook Mt. Graham 4/17 10/17 

Post, Urban J. Carson Rio Pueblo 11/49 4/51 

Coronado Paradise 4/51 6/52 

Coronado Chiricahua 7/52 5/53 

Power, William H. San Francisco Mtns.* -/03 -101 

Poynter, Elza E. Gila Pinos Altos -/08 -/09 

Ozark 1/10 1/12 

Pratt, George K. Mt. Taylor 3/07 4/08 

Manzano Mt. Taylor 4/08 8/14 

Prescott Bloody Basin 8/16 9/18 

Prescott Cherry 9/18 12/20 

Prescott Jerome 1/21 8/21 

Pratt, George L. San Francisco Mtns.* -/06 3/07 

San Francisco Mtns 3/07 7108 

Coconino Long Valley 7/08 12/09 

Pratt, Lorum, Jr. Grand Canyon* -/05 -/06 

Pratt, Lorum, Sr. Grand Canyon* -/01 -/03 

Pratt, Orson W. Grand Canyon* -/06 --/06 

Price, Vincent R. Cibola Mountainair 3/57 6/58 

Prichard, Leonard A. Apache Luna 3/39 1/44 

Coconino Beaver Creek 1/46 2/48 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 3/48 9/51 

Santa Fe Las Vegas 9/51 6/62 

Pritchard, Jacob L. Apache Chase Creek 5/10 9/10 

Apache Nutrioso 5/11 10/11 

Proctor, George R. Carson Jicarilla 4/50 12/50 

Cibola Mt. Taylor 12/50 12/51 

Cibola Grants 1/52 5/55 

Santa Fe Coyote 5/55 12/56 

Putsch, Llewellyn J. Manzano Hell Canyon 9/10 2/12 

Manzano Southern 2/12 7/17 

Manzano Northern 7/17 5/18 

Pyle, Lewis Black Mesa* -/05 -107 

Quade, Robert Lee Apache Black River 7/63 

Qualls, Carter P. Tonto Pleasant Valley 2/51 10/51 

Tonto Payson 2/54 3/57 

Rainwater, Ralph H. Panhandle Unit Clayton 4/59 6/60 

Panhandle N. G. Clayton 6/60 7160 

Gila Glenwood 8/60 6/62 

Rak, Charles L. Datil Rosedale 4/15 9/15 

Tonto Salt River 10/16 4/18 

Ramsdell, Frank Pecos River* -/Ol -102 
Rankin, Francis W. Grand Canyon* -/01 -103 
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Rea, Archie F. Cibola San Mateo 4/44 1/46 

Reed, George A. Grand Canyon* --/04 -/05 

San Francisco Mtns.* -/05 3/07 

Tusayan Anita Moqui .... 1/13 

Reed, Lorenzo B. Gila River* --/01 -/01 

Reed, William H. Black Mesa* -/01 -/05 

Reid, Joseph W. Gila River* -/06 3/07 

Gila Black Range 1/08 12/11 

Reid, Percy Gila Big Burros 1/16 4/16 

Reid, Robert W. Gila Alma 3/11 6/12 

Gila Big Burros 7/12 1/13 

Gila Mimbres 5/14 6/15 

Reindorp, Cecil R. C. Gila Pinos Altos -/08 -/09 

Gila Mimbres 2/10 5/12 

Pecos Sebadilla 4/14 4/15 

Santa Fe Sebadilla 4/15 12/17 

Santa Fe San Miguel 1/18 7/18 

Santa Fe Panchuela 8/18 2/20 

Rencher, Guy B. Apache Eagle 6/1 1 9/14 

Apache Blue 12/14 10/16 

Apache Nutrioso 10/16 8/17 

Tonto Tonto River 3/20 4/20 

Tonto Mazatzal 4/20 6/20 

Tonto Pine 6/20 12/20 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 12/20 9/22 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 9/22 10/25 

Reynolds, Amasa 0. Gila River* -101 -107 

Datil Frisco 9/10 7/11 

Datil Luna 7/11 4/15 

Reynolds, Harold C. Prescott Crown King 10/51 6/57 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 1/59 7160 

Reynolds, Reginald Gila Chloride 10/51 8/53 

Coronado Huachuca 8/53 1/57 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 2/57 -/69 

Tonto Blue Ridge -169 

Reynolds, Thomas N. Pecos River* 11/06 3/07 

Rhinehart, Robert F. Magdalena -/08 12/08 

Datil Rosedale 12/08 8/12 

Zuni 5/14 6/14 

Alamo 7/14 11/16 

Rhoads, Verne Alamo Mayhill --/10 -/10 

Riblett, Carl H. Apache Blue 9/12 9/14 

Rice, Clarence E. Gila Black Range 1/60 7/63 

Santa Fe Tesuque 7/63 
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Rice, Lewis Tonto Sierra Ancha 12/29 12/30 

Rice, Roy H. Coconino Mormon Lake 12/19 9/40 

Rice, Tracy W. Tusayan Cedar Glade 11/16 7/20 

Tusayan Williams 7/20 8/34 

Kaibab Williams 8/34 4/35 

Richards, Merrill E. Kaibab Chalender 9/63 

Richards, Fredrick H. Gila Beaverhead 10/54 1/57 

Coconino Mormon Lake 1/57 2/59 

RiedI, Duane A. Apache Clifton 4/62 

Riggs, Arthur J. Tonto Mazatzal 3/30 1/31 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 1/31 9/31 

Prescott Bloody Basin 4/35 4/37 

Kaibab Big Springs 4/37 3/41 

Gila Mimbres 11/41 4/48 

Gila Glenwood 4/48 3/49 

Gila McKenna Park 4/49 10/53 

Gila Wilderness 10/53 1/54 

Gila Silver City 1/54 1/57 

Gila Clifton 2/57 5/58 

Tonto Globe 5/58 10/59 

Riggs, Eddie M. Chiricahua* -/03 -/04 

Riggs, Herbert E. Grand Canyon* -/03 -/05 

Riley, Randolph R. Gila Black Range 2/47 3/50 

Tonto Verde 3/50 8/52 

Tonto Mesa 8/52 3/60 

Coronado Santa Rita 3/62 

Ringland, Arthur C. Lincoln* -/05 -/05 

Rinsinger, J. Monroe Prescott* -/03 -/03 

Rivard, Edward J. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 -/Ol 

Roach, Thomas G. Prescott* -/05 -/05 

Robertson, Benjamin Magdalena 3/07 -/08 

Roderus, William C. Prescott Crown King 3/09 12/12 

Rodgers, Robert A. Coronado Huachuca 5/16 1/22 

Rodriguez, Joseph A. Santa Fe Chama 5/20 3/37 

Santa Fe Rio Grande 3/37 3/45 

Santa Fe Colonies 11/45 6/51 

Santa Fe Lower Pecos 6/51 3/56 

Rogers, Andrew Tonto Tonto River 9/19 3/20 

Rogers, Benton C. Tonto Mazatzal 1/51 8/52 

Rogers, Benton S. Apache Blue 11/10 1/12 

Apache Alpine 1/12 9/15 

Datil Luna 9/15 8/16 

Datil Luna 11/20 1/25 
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Apache Frisco 1/25 8/43 

Rogers, B. L. Mt. Graham Pinal 4/07 3/08 

Rogers, Charlie H. Florida -/13 12/13 

Rogers, L. VJ. Santa Fe Cuba -126 -HI 

Santa Fe Tesuque 5/28 12/45 

Rogers, Raymond R. Lincoln Baca Ranch 7/11 3/13 

Roll, Theodore A. Coronado Patagonia 7/57 6/58 

Gila Glenwood 7/58 3/59 

Cibola Gallup 3/60 8/61 

Romero, Estevan Santa Fe Espanola 1/58 12/59 

Santa Fe Coyote 12/59 11/62 

Cibola Grants 5/63 

Root, Pierre V. Prescott* -/01 -/01 

Root, Thomas B. Black Mesa* -/04 -/07 

Roper, William H. Black Mesa* -/06 -101 

Rosenberger, William A. Prescott Jerome 2/08 8/08 

Rowley, Raymond D. Sitgreaves Chevelon 4/18 7/20 

Sitgreaves Show Low 7/20 10/21 

Crook Mt. Graham 4/22 9/35 

Rudd, Davis B. Black Mesa* -/04 3/07 

Black Mesa 3/07 7108 

Apache Whiteriver 9/09 10/10 

Rudd, William M. San Francisco Mtns.* -/03 -107 

Ruiz, Frank Black Mesa* -m -/01 

Rumsey, Charles B. Carson Servilleta 4/11 5/11 

Ruscoe, Fredrick W. Grand Canyon* -/99 -100 

Rush, Lester Carson Jicarilla 3/30 9/30 

Carson Jicarilla 4/46 9/46 

Russell, George D. Datil Jewett 1/17 4/18 

Datil Red Rock 4/18 4/20 

Lincoln Mayhill 11/21 9/27 

Russell, John F. Datil Jewett -/10 -/10 

Russell, Theodore V. Prescott Walnut Creek 10/61 

Russell, Wayne Santa Fe Picuris -/I 5 -/16 

Ruth, Thomas B. Black Mesa* -/06 -107 

Chiricahua 5/16 9/16 

Prescott Cave Creek 9/16 11/17 

Rutherford, Ben G. Tonto Mazatzal 2/27 2/30 

Tonto Pine 2/30 1/46 

Crook Clifton 9/46 1/50 

Crook Eagle 1/50 8/52 

Tonto Mazatzal 8/52 9/52 

Tonto Tonto Basin 10/52 

Sahlin, Kenneth A. Carson Tres Piedras 7/54 8/57 
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Coronado Safford 8/57 1/60 

Sandberg, Victor 0. Kaibab Spring Valley 9/39 5/43 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 5/43 10/44 

Sauter, Andrew H. Pecos River* -/99 -/99 

Schaefer, Oscar F. Coconino Long Valley 8/15 12/16 

Schmitt, Robert M. Coronado Huachuca 3/50 7/53 

Coronado Patagonia 7/53 7/57 

Coronado Willcox 8/57 2/60 

Schoenberg, Otto P. Manzano Northern 5/13 7/16 

Chiricahua 7/16 6/17 

Coronado Paradise 7/17 8/21 

Coronado Sunset 8/21 9/22 

Schofield, Charles S. Carson Jicarilla 12/17 8/18 

Scholefield, Armour M. Santa Catalina* -/03 -/05 

Santa Rita* -/05 -/06 

Scholefield, Carl B. Coronado Rosemont -/15 10/19 

Coronado Santa Rita 10/19 8/21 

Coronado Paradise -/24 10/30 

Crook Pinal 10/30 12/43 

Crook Aravaipa 1/44 12/49 

Schroeder, Vincent J. Kaibab Chalender 4/40 1/51 

Schugmann, August J. Black Mesa* -/01 -103 

Sitgreaves Heber 7/08 

Schulle, Bert W. Panhandle N. G Kiowa 9/62 

Schultz, Donald A. Lincoln Cloudcroft 7/60 9/63 

Scofield, William L. Apache Nutrioso 8/13 12/13 

Apache Greer 2/14 5/14 

Scoggin, Kenneth C. Panhandle Unit Alvord 2/59 6/60 

Panhandle Unit Decatur 2/59 6/60 

Panhandle N. G. Alvord 6/60 10/60 

Panhandle N. G. Decatur 6/60 
(Alvord and Decatur handled together.) 

10/60 

Carson , Tres Piedras 10/60 11/64 

Scott, David 0. Carson Rio Pueblo 4/41 7/44 

Scott, James A. Lincoln Ruidoso -107 -/08 

Searls, C. C. Apache Greer 9/17 10/17 

Apache Baseline 10/17 2/18 

Seckner, James L. Santa Rita* -107 -107 

Santa Rita 3/07 5/08 

Seiger, Thomas W. Sitgreaves Lakeside 11/61 9/64 

Seitz, Vernon E. Datil Jewett 5/18 8/18 

Senteney, Paul F. Kaibab Jacob Lake 5/59 7/63 

Selkirk, Robert J. Huachuca* 12/06 3/07 

Santa Rita* 12/06 3/07 
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Huachuca 3/07 7/08 

(Huachuca and Santa Rita handled together.) 

Servis, Samuel R. Cibola Magdalena 12/37 1/40 

Cibola Zuni 2/40 9/42 

Carson Tres Piedras 10/42 7/44 

Cibola Sandia 7/44 5/45 

Cibola Mt. Taylor 5/45 7/45 

Cibola Sandia 7/45 1/47 

Severtson, Harry L. Santa Fe Cuba 8/55 7/58 

Coconino Winslow 7/58 

Sevier, Willard L. San Francisco Mtns.* -/06 3/07 

San Francisco Mns. 3/07 7108 

Coconino Williams 7/08 6/10 

Tusayan Cedar Glade 7/10 1/12 

Shank, Silas Datil Frisco 1/09 7109 

Shartzer, Leonard A. Jemez* 1/07 3/07 

Carson Canjilon 4/09 8/19 

Manzano Southern 8/19 7/23 

Tonto Pine 1/24 9/24 

Shearer, Charles V. Carson San Antone 12/11 6/12 

Pecos San Geronimo 6/12 3/14 

Shepard, Robert Tusayan Chalender 11/17 12/17 

Shepard, Ward Datil Rosedale 4/14 3/15 

Sherman, J. H. Manzano Tajique -101 -/09 

Sherman, William M. Tonto Salt River 12/19 5/21 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 5/21 7/21 

Tonto Salt River 7/21 1/22 

Manzano Zuni 7/25 8/28 

Shields, Chester A. Carson Jicarilla 12/50 4/51 

Carson Rio Pueblo 4/51 12/51 

Carson Penasco 1/52 8/56 

Shilling, George E. Gila Glenwood 8/56 6/58 

Cibola Mountainair 7/58 9/61 

Cibola San Mateo 9/61 

Shoemaker, W. R. Santa Fe Picuris 3/22 4/23 

Shumate, Jack B. Apache Luna 4/51 1/54 

Shumway, Clarence Sitgreaves Lakeside 1/20 3/31 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 4/31 4/35 

Sitgreaves Chevelon 4/35 9/35 

Crook Clifton 9/35 6/43 

Shumway, Spencer B. Black Mesa* -103 -/05 

Grand Canyon* -/05 -106 

Simmons, James A. Sacramento River HOI 7/08 
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Alamo La Luz 7/08 12/11 

Gila Big Burros 2/12 6/12 

Gila Dry Creek 7/12 8/15 

Gila Black Range 8/15 8/17 

Datil Frisco 9/17 7/22 

Datii Magdalena 7/22 8/28 

Datil Black Range 
(Chloride) 8/28 12/31 

Gila Chloride 12/31 3/33 

Simonds, Robert H. Grand Canyon* -101 -101 

Simpson, Charles E. Carson Jicarilla im 9/17 

Sims, Cecil R. Coronado Willcox 10/63 

Sims, John D. Prescott Drake Hbl 3/63 

Prescott Chino Valley 3/63 

Sinclair, Clarence S. Lincoln Ruidoso 2/58 7/60 

Sizer, James H. Apache Eagle 12/09 6/11 

Apache Greer 6/11 3/12 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 6/28 8/28 

Slonaker, Louis V. Florida 1/13 8/14 

Slosser, Dolph E. Sitgreaves Willow Wash 10/14 8/16 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 8/16 4/31 

Sitgreaves Heber 4/31 11/44 

Smith, C. B. Crook Aravaipa 7/19 4/20 

Tusayan Verde 7/20 7/20 

Smith, Chester P. Carson Canjilon 8/63 

Smith, Eastburn R. Coconino Bly 2/27 12/33 

Smith, Frank W. San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 -100 

Black Mesa* -/01 -102 

Smith, Frederick H. Tusayan Chalender 4/18 10/18 

Smith, H. Garvin Lincoln Mayhill 8/17 4/20 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 4/20 3/23 

Datil Black Range 
((ihloride) 3/23 7/26 

Datil Elk Mountain 7/26 8/28 

Datil Magdalena 8/28 12/31 

Cibola Magdalena 12/31 4/35 

Coronado Santa Catalina 4/35 8/35 

Smith, Howard B. Sitgreaves Pinedale 11/35 12/43 

Coconino Beaver Creek 12/43 7/45 

Smith, Lyle B. Coronado Santa Catalina 6/18 12/21 

Coronado Santa Rita 1/22 9/25 

Smith, Tom M. Cibola Alvord 8/57 6/58 

Cibola Decatur 8/57 
(Alvord and Decatur handled together.) 

6/58 

Panhandle Unit Alvord 6/58 2/59 

Panhandle Unit Decatur 6/58 2/59 
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Coconino Long Valley 2/59 9/60 

Gila Reserve 12/62 

Smith, Virgil D. Sitgreaves Heber 

Sitgreaves Pinedale 

Smith, Zane G. Prescott Verde 11/37 1/40 

Cibola Sandia 1/40 10/43 

Snyder, Bert M. Pecos River* -/03 -/03 

Snyder, Nathan Carson Canjilon 10/41 2/42 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 1/46 2/47 

Tonto Pine 2/47 10/48 

Coronado Huachuca 10/48 3/50 

Sitgreaves Lakeside 3/50 5/54 

Santa Fe Jemez 5/54 1/57 

Snyder, William R. Panhandle N. G. Alvord 10/60 3/61 

Panhandle N. G. Decatur 10/60 3/61 
(Alvord and Decatur handled together.) 

Panhandle N. G. Cross Timbers 4/61 7/62 

Coconino Elden 7/62 

Solether, Ralph B. Lincoln Smokey Bear 4/62 

Sontag, Harry 0. Cibola Mountainair 1/56 3/57 

Tonto Payson 3/57 12/59 

Carson Questa 1/60 9/61 

Sooysmith, Kenneth C. Gila River* -/06 -/06 

Sowell, Samuel A. Crook Aravaipa 4/25 10/30 

Coronado Paradise 11/30 10/32 

Coronado Douglas 11/32 9/35 

Space, Jackson W. Santa Fe Colonias --/31 -/34 

Sparklin, Jacob H. Grand Canyon* -/99 -/01 

Staggs, Elmer A. Coronado Santa Catalina 4/17 6/18 

Starkey, Bufford F. Gila Chloride 1/51 10/51 

Gila Elk Mountain 10/51 7/52 

Gila Beaverhead 7/52 10/54 

Carson El Rito 10/54 8/57 

Lincoln Ruidoso 7/60 

Stephenson, John E. Santa Fe Tesuque 4/54 7/63 

Stevens, David C. Santa Fe Tesuque 9/47 11/49 

Coconino Long Valley 12/49 9/51 

Stevens, J. L. Coconino Rogers Lake 4/20 2/23 

Stewart, Clifford H. Santa Fe San Miguel -/I 9 -/20 

Santa Fe Picuris -/20 -/20 

Santa Fe Mora -/20 -/20 

Steward, Monta R. Tonto Mazatzal 2/21 5/21 

Tonto Salt River 1/22 9/22 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 9/22 10/25 

Tonto Sierra Ancha 10/25 11/29 
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Tonto Pleasant Valley 11/35 9/43 

Prescott Prescott 9/43 12/54 

Stewart, Robert 1. Coconino Bly 7/22 9/24 

Tonto Pine 10/24 2/30 

Tonto Payson 2/30 5/36 

Cibola Sandia 1/47 4/51 

Stewart, Thomas A. Pecos River* -102 -107 

Pecos Horseshoe 4/14 11/14 

Santa Fe Mora 4/15 9/15 

Santa Fe Picuris -/16 -/17 

St. John, Chandler P. Santa Fe Chama 11/51 1/55 

Santa Fe Coyote 1/55 5/55 

Apache Springerville 6/55 9/55 

Stockbridge, Arthur J. Gila Dry Creek -/08 11/10 

Gila Pleasanton 11/10 2/11 

Story, Clark W. Prescott Crown King 5/07 2/09 

Stotz, Laurence E. Apache Luna 8/35 2/39 

Cibola Red Rock 10/39 11/39 

Cibola Zuni 11/39 im 

Prescott Verde 2/40 4/45 

Santa Fe Jemez River 4/45 9/47 

Stouffer, David J. Lincoln Gallinas 2/39 8/45 

Stover, E. Carson Taos 12/21 1/22 

Stratton, Bert Tusayan Chalender 6/10 9/10 

Stuart, William A. Chiricahua 10/14 

Suite, Dempsey H. Apache Nutrioso 7/24 8/25 

Apache Blue 8/25 4/30 

Sullivan, Don S. Chiricahua 4/13 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 6/18 9/18 

Tonto Tonto River 9/18 9/19 

Summerfield, Henry C. Coconino Long Valley 6/41 9/41 

Coconino Beaver Creek 8/45 1/46 

Swapp, Roy Apache Greer 5/17 7/17 

Apache Blue 3/20 1/22 

Apache Nutrioso 7/22 8/22 

Apache Alpine 8/22 2/33 

Gila Chloride 3/33 4/35 

Gila Big Burros 4/35 10/44 

Gila Silver City 10/44 9/46 

Apache Frisco 9/46 6/51 

Swetnam, Fred R. Carson El Rito 6/52 10/54 

Lincoln Ruidoso 10/54 2/58 

Carson Penasco 2/58 
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Sykes, Gilbert W. Coronado Paradise 10/36 8/39 

Coronado Tumacacori 9/39 6/52 

Coronado Nogales 7/52 4/62 

Sypher, Arthur W. Jemez Cuba 1/09 1/10 

Jemez Gallina 2/10 2/14 

Talbot, Murrell W. Coconino 7/13 im 

Taliaferro, Richard S. Prescott Crown King 4/19 5/23 

Prescott Bloody Basin 5/23 2/25 

Tart, Arthur T. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 -/01 

Taylor, Jay L. B. Arkansas 2/12 5/12 

Taylor, Frank R. Crook Pinal 7/08 AHA- 

Taylor, Henry L. (Harry) Crook Queen Creek -/20 5/28 

Taylor, Thomas J. Gila River* -/05 -/05 

Teuber, Ross L. Prescott Bloody Basin 11/49 6/52 

Prescott Sycamore 6/52 2/54 

Apache Jewett 2/54 3/58 

Thomas, John A. San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 -100 

Thomas, John L. San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 -/99 

Thomas, Vance A. Lincoln Capitan 4/26 1/27 

Lincoln Ruidoso 1/27 10/29 

Lincoln White Mountain 10/29 3/30 

Lincoln Guadalupe 3/30 11/32 

Thompson, Claude San Francisco Mtns.* -/06 -107 

Coconino Munds Park 1/10 6/12 

Coconino 6/12 3/13 

Thompson, Jerome Sitgreaves Chevelon 11/35 1/41 

Sitgreaves Lakeside 10/45 12/45 

Prescott Bloody Basin 12/45 11/49 

Apache Jewett 11/49 2/54 

Tonto Roosevelt 2/54 

Thompson, R. H. Prescott Cave Creek 9/21 8/23 

Thompson, Robert Mt. Graham* 7/06 3/07 

Tonto Tonto River -/09 -/18 

Coronado Tumacacori 8/18 12/21 

Coronado Huachuca 1/22 4/30 

Coronado Rincon 4/30 9/31 

Tusayan Verde 9/31 6/34 

Prescott Verde 7/34 8/37 

Thorne, Jemez Cuba -107 -/08 

Thorne, James W. Cibola San Mateo 2/57 9/61 

Thrall, Howard A. Gila Mogollon 4/13 11/14 

Gila Big Burros 11/14 1/16 

Gila Mimbres 1/16 6/17 

Gila Mimbres 9/17 8/18 
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Tixier, John S. Lincoln Guadalupe 4/62 

Trippet, Wesley K. Tusayan Cedar Glade 9/16 11/16 

Tucker, Edwin A. Gila Elk Mountain 7/35 9/39 

Cibola Mt. Taylor 9/39 9/43 

Sitgreaves Lakeside 9/43 7/45 

Turk, Thomas C. Alamo Mayhill 2/16 6/17 

Lincoln Mayhill 6/17 8/17 

Tonto Tonto River 8/18 9/18 

Turner, Elbert E. Ozark 5/11 

Turney, H. J. Carson Jicarilla 4/28 4/29 

Prescott Crown King 7/29 4/35 

Prescott Prescott 5/35 9/43 

Tonto Pleasant Valley 9/43 8/48 

Tonto Cave Creek 9/48 4/59 

Twitty, Edgar M. Tusayan Williams 1/12 11/14 

Tusayan Anita Moqui 12/14 12/17 

Ulmo, Harry W. Prescott Crown King 1/13 2/14 

Prescott Walnut Creek 2/14 9/15 

Tusayan Chalender 5/17 11/17 

Underwood, Drue Apache Whiteriver 5/11 1/12 

Apache Blue 1/12 8/12 

VanBuskirk, Serrin S. Gila Pinos Altos 11/14 6/15 

Gila Mimbres 7/15 1/16 

Vandevier, John C. Coconino Beaver Creek 4/16 10/16 

VanGilst, Gerald W. Gila Mimbres 9/51 2/55 

Gila Elk Mountain 2/55 7/56 

Van Slyck, K. Carson Vallecitos 8/11 10/11 

Van Stone, George H. Grand Canyon* -/01 -/01 

Vaughan, Ben F. Ozark 11/12 12/13 

Verner, Thomas Sacramento River -107 7/08 

Jemez Capulin 1/10 11/12 

Viles, George A. Pecos River* 11/06 3/07 

Viles, Henry C. Santa Fe Picuris -/16 -/16 

Vincent, Paul Y. Cibola Zuni 4/35 6/35 

Cibola Mt. Taylor 6/35 4/37 

Cibola Red Rock 4/37 10/39 

Vogelsang, A. W. Lincoln Mayhill 9/27 4/30 

Tusayan Anita Moqui 5/30 8/34 

Kaibab Anita Moqui 8/34 6/48 

Voight, Alfred W. Tonto Mesa 5/16 9/16 

Vote, H. E. Carson Vallecitos 5/09 5/11 

Voyles, Roger L. Cibola Magdalena 10/56 1/57 

Cibola Grants 1/57 12/59 
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Coconino Beaver Creek 12/59 7/63 

Lincoln Sacramento 7/63 

Wade, Henry F. Carson San Antone 4/11 

Wade, Rufus K. Gila River -/01 -/05 

Waha, Alpheus 0. Gila River* -/05 --/05 

Wait, James M. Ozark 5/11 12/13 

Wallace, Stanton Kaibab Chalender 3/37 4/40 

Tonto Payson 4/40 11/43 

Wall, Lloyd A. Coconino Munds Park 9/28 8/29 

Wallace, William F. San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 3/07 

San Francisco Mtns.* 3/07 7/08 

Coconino Mormon Lake 7/08 12/09 

Wallen, A. S. Alamo Mayhill -/16 --/16 

Wang, Gunnar L. Carson Vallecitos 12/22 7/26 

Carson Questa 9/26 4/28 

Carson Vallecitos 4/28 2/31 

Gila Mimbres 2/31 4/37 

Warden, V. B. Gila River* -/01 -/03 

Warner, William R. Apache Baseline 9/15 8/17 

Apache Clifton 9/17 11/19 

Gila Big Burros 11/20 8/22 

Warnock, Calvin L. Gila Mimbres 6/17 9/17 

Gila Mogollon 11/17 7/21 

Manzano Northern 7/21 7/23 

Manzano Sandia 7/23 1/24 

Warrick, Carl D. Panhandle Nat. 
Grasslands Rita Bianca 7/63 

Waters, John W. Tonto Globe 7/55 5/58 

Coronado Santa Catalina 5/58 

Waters, Louis H. Manzano Mt. Taylor 7/17 9/17 

Watkins, Allan G. Sitgreaves Chevelon 3/41 10/44 

Carson Tres Piedras 10/44 3/47 

Watson, Alfred E. Manzano Mt. Taylor 3/20 4/21 

Watson, Otis E. Datil Magdalena 11/12 4/15 

Watson, William J. Grand Canyon* -/01 -/01 

Weatherford, Clarence E. Datil Baldwin 2/18 10/19 

Weaver, Paul Santa Fe Cuba 7/58 8/60 

Webb, Charles Y. Prescott* -/03 -/04 

Mt. Graham* -/05 -/06 

Weeden, Norman P. Cibola San Mateo 10/48 6/52 

Weeks, William R. San Francisco Mtns.* -/01 -/01 

Weissenborn, Kenneth R. Apache Luna 4/54 1/57 

Santa Fe Coyote 1/57 10/57 

Welch, Carl Datil Red Rock 8/26 1/29 

Welch, George D. Kaibab Williams 2/58 10/58 
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Wells, Arthur J. Pecos San Geronimo — 2/12 

Wells, Dallas F. Datil Baldwin 5/10 6/11 

Wells, T. F. San Francisco Mtns.* -/06 -/07 

Westfall, James F. Santa Catalina -/06 3/07 

Santa Catalina 3/07 7/08 

Coronado Santa Catalina 7/08 5/15 

Westveld, Marinus Crook 7/13 11/14 

Gila Mogollon 11/14 10/15 

Alamo 6/16 6/17 

Westveld, R. FI. Carson Questa 5/23 5/24 

Wheatley, John C. Black Mesa* -/06 3/07 

Black Mesa* 3/07 7/08 

Apache Blue 7/08 11/10 

Apache Greer 11/10 5/11 

Wheatley, William 0. Apache Baseline 5/09 11/10 

Apache Clifton 11/10 1/11 

Wheeler, Guy 0. Manzano Northern 9/20 7/21 

Whidden, George L. Gila River* -/05 -/06 

Whipple, Edgar L. Carson Jicarilla 12/55 7/58 

White, Charles C. Prescott Crown King 9/41 6/43 

Prescott Crown King 1/46 4/48 

Gila Mimbres 4/48 10/48 

White, C. W. Crook Aravaipa 8/39 9/41 

White, William C. Lincoln Capitan 7/21 4/26 

Wier, Robert A. Tonto Mesa 3/60 8/63 

Wigely, Floyd R. Apache Greer 5/18 10/18 

Wild, Paul D. Gila Mimbres 10/48 9/51 

Lincoln Capitan 9/51 7/54 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 7/54 1/56 

Wilkins, Thomas W. Prescott Cherry 4/25 4/26 

Williams, Dan E. Coronado Willcox 2/60 10/63 

Williams, David L. Pecos River* -/03 -/05 

Pecos , La Mesa -/14 4/15 

Santa Fe La Mesa 4/15 10/15 

Williams, George F. Gila River* -/03 -/05 

Williams, Oscar J. Santa Fe San Miguel 9/18 3/19 

Williamson, Robert M. Coconino Long Valley 9/60 

Willson, Roscoe G. Prescott* -/06 3/07 

Prescott Crown King 3/07 6/07 

Wilson, Edgar S. Grand Canyon* -/01 -/01 

Wilson, Fred San Francisco Mtns.* -/99 -100 

Wilson, Joseph P. San Francisco Mtns.* -/05 -107 

Wilson, Kenneth 0. Cibola Red Rock 3/43 11/43 

Cibola San Mateo 11/43 1/44 
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Crook Clifton 2/46 8/46 

Coconino Mormon Lake 8/46 4/47 

Wilson, Peter J. Apache Eagle 4/19 1/22 

Wilson, Stanley F. Coronado Santa Catalina 10/15 3/17 

Wilson, W.W. Coconino Long Valley 4/10 10/10 

Wiltbank W. Ellis Apache Eagle 7/24 1/25 

Crook Eagle 1/25 12/27 

Wilton, Charles Carson Servilleta 5/11 8/12 

Wilton, Eugene W. Carson Tres Piedras 3/49 7/54 

Wingo, Arthur S. Alamo La Luz 8/14 6/17 

Lincoln Weed 6/17 7/22 

Coronado Tumacacori 7/22 8/39 

Winn, Frederic San Mateo 3/07 6/08 

Datill Frisco 6/08 12/08 

Datill Baldwin 1/09 11/09 

Zuni 11/09 7/10 

Withrow, Clay C. Cibola Magdalena 7/59 10/61 

Wood, Robert W. Gila Mimbres 10/21 4/25 

Woodrow, Henry Gila McKinney Park 5/11 8/42 

Woods, William H. Lincoln Gallinas 12/18 7/22 

Lincoln Cloudcroft 4/23 11/31 

Manzano Mountainair 11/31 12/31 

Cibola Mountainair 12/31 6/35 

Woolsey, James J. Crook 5/12 12/12 

Woolsey, Joseph H. Crook 4/13 

Worrel, Walter W. Black Mesa* -/01 -102 

Wright, Ernest E. Lincoln* -/03 3/07 

Lincoln* Baca Ranch 3/07 4/08 

Wright, John B. Crook 5/09 2/14 

Wyche, Jewell Datil Beaverhead 2/26 7/28 

Datil Elk Mountain 8/28 12/31 

Gita Elk Mountain 12/31 7/35 

Kaibab Williams 7/35 6152 

Cibola San Mateo 6/52 1/57 

Wyche, J. Stanton Gila Beaverhead 8/60 

Wylder, Thomas Earl Apache Greer 5/14 10/16 

Wyman, Lenthall Alamo* 7/14 

Yochelson, Albert Datil Elk Mountain 2/20 3/21 

Yorke, George R. Prescott Cave Creek 1/10 9/10 

Prescott Cave Creek 6/11 4/13 

Prescott Cave Creek 11/15 9/16 

Yott, Edward L. Lincoln Baca Ranch 5/17 8/17 

Young, Earl B. Gila Mogollon -/09 -/10 

Jemez Cuba 1/10 4/15 
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Zachau, Arthur H. Pescott* -/06 3/07 

Prescott Poland 3/07 5/08 

Coronado Santa Catalina -/13 10/15 

Zamora, Christobal B. Santa Fe Espanola 12/59 5/64 

Zeiger, Robert H. Prescott Jerome 1/13 8/16 

Prescott Prescott 8/16 9/16 

Ziegler,Robert C. Apache Reserve 10/56 8/58 

Gila Reserve 8/58 8/60 

Zweimer, John A. Black Mesa* -/06 -/07 
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Adams diggins (Mine) 196 
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Adams, John 177, 178, 287 
Adams, William 102 
Agua Negra 125 
Akard, T. 69 
Alamo National Forest 66, 68, 132 
Alamogordo 66, 68 
Alaska Spruce Project 313 
Albuquerque Tie Fitting Plant 261 
Alexander, A. G. 77 
Alcon, Jay 1 54 
Alder Canyon 283 
Alleghany Mtns. 247 
Allen, Benjamin F. 2 
Allen, Inspector E. T. 106, 107 
Allen, George 244 
Allison, J.H. 86,221 
Alma, AZ 76, 77 
Alma Ranger Station 190 

Amandsen, Joseph S. 106 
Amarilla Division 148 
American Lumber Company 173, 
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Ancona, Edward 266 
Anderson Mesa 182, 253 
Anderson, William John 286 
Andrews, Frank E. 128,129 
(photo), 146, 147, 148, 152, 187- 
188, 291 
Andrews, Ranger 77 
Antonito, CO 80, 149 
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Apache National Forest 65, 66, 68, 
83, 99, 100, 106, 107, 192, 209, 
297, 281,261 
Apache County, AZ 100, 238 
Apache Kid 247 
Apache Lumber Company 265, 305 
Apache Lumber Company Mill 217 
Apache Lumber Company Sale 258 
Apache Ranger Meeting 214 
Apache-Sitgreaves NFs 221 

Aravaipa District 172 
Arizona Cattlemen's Association 
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Arizona Copper Company 107, 
108, 261 
Arizona Lumber & Timber Company 
174, 176, 177, 182, 252 
Arizona News 232 
Arizona Place Names 99 
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Arizona Woolgrowers Assoc. 114, 
116, 298, 299, 300, 303 
Arkansas National Forest 64, 68, 
256 
Armen, Henry 247 
Armijo, Plutarco 22 
"Armistice" 150 
Arnold, Ethel 147 
Arnold, Pink 279 
Arthur, O. Fred 119, 173, 192, 
197, 278 
Arthur's Place 254 
Ash Fork District 138,206 
Ashurs (person) 245 
Atcheson Topeka and Santa Fe 
Railroad 15 
Athens, Ross 240 
Atkins, R. M. 239 
Atkinson, George 136 
Atlantic and Pacific Railroad 302 
Augustine Forest 65, 66 
Axford, Max 111 
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Babbitt (person) 302 
Babbitt Brothers 135 
Baboquivari Forest 65, 67 
Baboquivari Forest Reserve 2, 67, 
109, 132 
Baboquivari Mtns. Ill, 113 
Baca Floats 276 
Baca, Ranger 120 
Bachus, Gordon 138 
Bacon, Pete 247 
Bade, Gordon 260 
Bagwelt, G. A. 89 
"Bain" 76 
Baker, Lieutenant Chas. E. 107, 
108 
Baker, J. H. 247 
Baker, S. L. 31, 38 
Baker's Butte 154 
Baldwin, Bill 266, 307, 31 1 

Baldwin Locomotive Company 78 
Baldwin Ranger Station 239 
Baldwin's Store 294 
Ballinger - Pinchot Controversy 99 
Bar Cross 140 
Bar Heart 140,144 
Bar X Ranch 246 
Barclay's (Bill) Ranch 207 
Barfoot Tower 212 
Barker, Elliott S. 186, 270, 145, 
152 
Barnes, Walter M. 239 
Barnes, W. S. (Bill) 79 
Barnes, Will C. 99,111,132, 137, 
142, 168, 197, 280, 286, 300 
Barrett, Lou 123 
Bartlett, Thomas M. 15 
Baseline District 231 
Baseline House 235 
Baseline Ranger Station 205 
Bassett, Julian M. 201 
Beach, Bernice Schwan 124 
Beachers Lake 224 
Beall, (Ranger) 120 
Bear Canyon 75 
Bear Canyon Ranger Station, Old 
(photo) 77 
Bear Moore Cabin 200 
Bear Springs 140 
Bear Valley 136 
Bear Wallow 220 
Beaver Creek 253 
Beaver Creek Ranger Station 183 

Beaverhead District 205 
Becker Merc. Co. 217 
Becker (person) 238 
Beckstrom, O. B. 307 
Belonger, Jo 23, 30 
Benedict, John D. 2 
Benedict, (Inspector) 70 
Benedict, Lewis 252 
Benger, Lou 138 
Benham, Henry L. 137, 139, 144 
Benham (person) 139 
Bennett, Drew 80 
Benson, AZ 65, 67 
Benton, William 198 

Benton (Grave) 198 
Berger, Levi 245 
Bergere Estate 190 
Bergere (person) 239 
Bernal, Florencis 8, 14, 18 
Bernard Hughes Place 207, 208 
Beveridge, Bill 266 
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Big Burros 2 
Big Burros Forest 65, 66 
Big Burros NF 66 
Big Green Valley 244, 245 
Big Lake 238 
Big Whitewater 192 
Bisbee, AZ 41, 42, 59 
Bishop 228 
Black Canyon Refuge 295 
Black Falls 247 
Black Hills, SD 107 
Black Lakes 1 57 
Black Mesa North 65, 67, 99, 102 
Black Mesa South 65, 66, 99, 100, 
102, 107 
Black Mesa Forest Reserve 1, 99, 
101, 102, 106, 107, 298 
Black Mesa National Forest 67, 83, 
106, 107, 115, 118, 136 
Black Range 74 
Black River 153,238 
Blackburn, Ranger 123 
Blatchford, R. S. (Bob) (Ranger) 
190, 239 
Blazing Trail on the Pecos 1 25 
Bletcher, Ranger W. B. 146 
Bletcher, (Ranger) 150 
Blevins, F. P. 56 
Block Cattle Company 120,121 
Bloody Basin 175,180 
Blue District 231,235 
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Blue Ranger Station 205 
Blue Ridge 176 
Blue Ridge Ranger Station 253, 254 
Blue River 76, 106, 107, 109, 202, 
203, 205, 237, 238 
Blue River Ranger Station 235 
Bluebird Mesa 146 
Bly Ranger District 253, 254 
Bly Ranger Station 176, 185 
Bond (Ranger) 120, 122 
Bonebrake, Percy L. 253 
Bonne, Max 246 
Bonita Canyon, AZ 51 
Bonita Creek 153 
Boogenheim, Heime 256 
Boone, Reuben 121,122 
Border Forest 132 
Border Patrol (Immigration) 256 
Border Riders 136 
"Borrego" (Horse) 125 
Boss Chilson Ranch 249 
Bouldins, Dr. 100 

Bowen, (Supervisor) 102 
Bradford, Mr. 295, 296 
Bradshaw Range 123 
Brechnagle, A. B. 66, 67 
Breece Lumber Company 173 
Breen, Fred S. 64, 117, 118 
Breen, Supervisor 100, 101, 102, 
103, 104, 106, 107, 108, 109, 115, 
118 
Bright Angel Trail 276 
Bronson, D. D. 79, 85 
Bronson, Mr. 117 
Brown, Bill 176, 184 
Brown, E. A. "Skeeter" 107 
Brubaker, J. A. 120 
Bruton, J. J. 239 
Bryan, Hugh 284 
Bryan (person) 27 
Buck Springs Ranger District 253 
Buckeye County 245 
Buffalo Bill 300 
Buntain, (Forest Supt.) 106 
Buntain, William H. 2,101 
Buntin, William B. 124 
Bunton, W. B. 67 
Bunton, (Ranger) 241 
Bureau of Plant Industry 197 
Burch, William 245 
Burch, Haze 245 
Burdick, C. A. 201 
Burrall 155 
Burrall (Forest Officer) 190 
Burrall, Harrison D. 240 
Burro Jack 268 
Burroughs (person) 286, 287, 288 
Burroughs, Dan Ranch 140 
Bursum Road 194 
Bursum, Holm 0. 239 
Bushnell, Ranger Jesse I. 123, 206, 
253 
Bustes, Callestano 24 
Bustick, Vernon 171 
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C-N Ranch 239 
Cache, OK 66, 68 
Calf Pen Draw 245 
"Calkins and Pitchlynn" 99 
Calkins, Hugh 147, 173, 191, 192, 
197, 263, 291, 292, 304, 308 
Cameron, Colen 133 
Cameron, James 69 
Cameron, Ralph 276 
Cameron, (Senator) 133 

CampCIover 138,139,141,142 
Camp McDowell 244 
Camp Verde 99, 244, 248 
Camp Verde - Ft. Apache Military 
Road 245 
Campbell, Sheriff Bill 254, 255 
Campbell-Frances Sheep Company 
184 
Campbell, Hugh 298 
Campbell, J. K. 66, 67, 240, 241 
Campbell, John H. (Asst. U.S. 
Attorney) 108 
Canelo, AZ 111 
Canelo Ranger District 282, 283 
Canjilon District 290 
Cannon, Harry C. 104 
Cannon, "Uncle Joe" 124 
Canones, NM 82 
Canyon Creek 154 
Capitan, NM 66, 68 
Captain Pass Fire 120 
Cardovia, NM 6 
Carlisle, Kim 176,304 
Carrejo, Juan 240 
Carrizozo 121 
Carson National Forest 64, 66, 68, 
80, 146, 147, 148, 149, 261 
Carson Sink 251 
Carter, Fred 133 
Carter, Ranger W. E. 190 
Carter, Nick 260, 261 
Cascade Forest 297 
Case, Jack 73, 76 
Casper, Joe 140 
Casper, Buck 172 
Cassady, Hugh 296, 297 
Castenada (person) 238 
Catalina District 283 
Catalina Mountains 296 
Catron County, NM 100 
Catron, T. B. 21 
Cavanaugh, Ed 174 
Cavaness, Tom 171 
Cave Creek District 180 
Cecil, George H. 64, 85 
Cedar Ridges 178 
Central Cafe 306 
Chalender District 138 
Chama River 66, 82, 83 
Chant, AK 89 
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Chapin, Guilford B. 106, 107, 108, 
109, 214, 215, 220, 228, 233 
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Charles Brothers 278 
Charleston, Mr. 70 
Chase Creek 237 
Chavez Pass Country 254 
Cheney, Morton M. 274, 296 
Chevelon, AZ 1 37 
Chevelon Canyon 298, 308, 309 
Chevelon District 307, 310 
Childers, District Attorney 21 
Chilson, Chas. E. 244 
Chinaman's Chowhouse 73 
Chiricahua Division 284 
Chiricahua NF 66, 67, 68, 81 
Chirichaua Forest Reserve 1, 40, 
41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 47, 48, 51, 52, 
53, 56, 60, 61 
Chloride, AZ 203, 204 
Chloride Ranger Station 239 
Cibola National Forest 119 
Circle Bar 207, 208 
Civil Service 72 
Civil Service Commissioner 
Mclihenny 86 
Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) 
170, 179, 181-84, 195, 291, 291 
Civilian Conservation Corps Camps 
184, 269, 270 
Clapp, E. H. 66, 67, 240 
Clark, John H. 67 
Clark, Thomas 247 
Clark-McNary 313 
Classification Act 275 
Clayton Canyon 200 
Clayton Mesa 200 

Clear Creek, East 185 
Clear Creek, West 1 85 
Clear Creek Canyon, East 178, 179 
Clear Creek Cattle Company 245 
Clear Creek Ranger Station 183 
Clearwater NF 132 

Cleveland, (President) G. 100 
Cleveland, Agnes 293, 294 
Cleveland, NM 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 20, 
25, 26 
Cliff, AZ 192, 193 
Clifford, Charles A. 201 
Clifton, AZ 100, 102, 107, 237, 
238 
Clifton District 222 
Clifton-Springerville Rd. 238, 240 
Cline, Christopher 245 
Cloven Brothers 175, 180 
Clovis, NM 146 
Club Ranch 245 
Cobalt, "Shorty" 55 

Cochise Co., AZ 56 
Cochise's Head 60 
Coconino County 3, 70 
Coconino Experiment Station 224 
Coconino National Forest 65, 66, 
67, 68, 85, 88, 100, 103, 106, 
114, 115, 117, 116, 148, 154, 
176, 177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 
184, 206, 207, 211, 244, 252, 
253, 266, 297, 298, 304, 307, 
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Coconino Sun 117 
Cokely, (Ranger) 123, 124 
Colbath, Ray N. 102 
Cole, George 248 
Coleman Truck 311 
Collingwood, G. H. 221,224,228 
Colorado Board of Agriculture 71 
Colorado Plateau 99,301,309 
Colorado River 138, 301 
Colwell, Dr. 297, 302 
Concho, AZ 101 
Condure, Dr. 313 
Continental Divide 293 
Continental Divide Training Cntr 
119 
Continental Rubber Company 312 
Converse, John W. 78, 201 
Cooley Conference 306 
Cooley, C. E. 101 
Cooley Mill 265 
Cooney, AZ 49, 50 
Cooney, Captain 200, 2001 
Cooper, Alfred P. 200 
Cooper, C. C. 241,239 
Cooper Canyon 200 
Cooperrider (person) 181 

Corey, Charlie 253 
Cornell Forest School 86 
Cornville, AZ 69 
Coronado National Forest 66, 67, 
68, 79, 99, 109, 113, 1 15, 136, 
172, 297, 301 
Cosper, Tole (Ranch) 204 
Cottam, Ed 295 
Cottam, Louie 313 
Cow Creek 147, 150, 151 
Cowles (Settlement) 128 
Coyote, NM 82 
Cracker Box Canyon 249 
Craig, William 244, 245 
Crook NF 66, 67, 68, 99, 162, 
163, 166 
Crook, General 101 
Cross, Blackwell Co. 22 

Cross, B. H. (Ranger) 188 
Crossing Permit 229 
Crouch, Herman 155, 156 
Crow, B. H. 106 
Crown King District 123, 124, 267, 
268, 269, 273, 274 
Crown King Mine 131 
Croxen, Charles 256 
Croxen, Fred W. 176, 242, 250, 
251 
Croxen, Fred, Jr. 256 
Crumb, Asst. Ranger 83 
Cuba, NM 146,148 
Culbertson, Vic 78 
Cullum, Bert 249 
Customs Service 282 
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D-K Range 114, 115 
D-K Company 185 
D & R G Railroad 147 
Daggs Brothers 244 
Dalton, William 22, 33 
Dana (Dean, U. of Mich.) 292 
Darby, Bill 282 
Datil National Forest 66, 68, 73, 
74, 99, 173, 179, 190, 191, 238, 
239, 287, 297 
Daugherty, Bill 111 
Day, W. S. 241, 297 
Dead Man Flats 279 
Dean, Mr. A. R. 120 
Deboe, Senator 20 
DeBois, Coert 277 
Deer Springs Lookout Tower 88, 
304 
Deering, R. L. (Forest Assistant) 
238, 240 
DeLong, Sydney R. 59 
Denver, CO 86, 90 
Denver News 25 
Denver and Rio Grande Western 
Railroad 264 
Department of Agriculture 64, 71, 
72, 104 
Department of Interior 72, 78, 81 
Derrick, Marion 245 
"Devon Cows" 244 
Dewey, C. C. 55 
Diamond Gap Rim 249 
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Dixon Ranch 121 
Doak, Ben 138 
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Dockwailler, Ranger 6 
Dorset, NM 143 
Dorsey, William P. 196 
Double Circle Cattle Company 203 
Double H. Outfit 205 
Double "0" Ranch 175 
Double Springs 182 
Douglas, A. H. 174,191,238,286 
Douglas, A. W. 190 
Douglas, AZ 63,66, 67, 87 
Douglas Dispatch, Editor 63 
Douglas, Jimmy 311 
Doyle's Ranch 73 
Doyle (personl 107 
Doyle, W. P. 191 
Dragoon Forest 65, 67 
Drake, Willard M. 1 17, 138, 252 
Dry Canyon Fire 120 
Dry Creek District 191,192 
DuBois, Coert 79, 110, 111 
Duffy, J. J. 66, 67 
Durango, CO 139 
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Eagar, AZ 106, 107 
Eagle Creek 237, 238 
East Las Vegas, NM 11, 31, 40 
Eaton, H. 0. 214,216,220,224, 
228, 233 
Edgar Canyon 283 
Edwards (Ranger) 109 

Edwards, Charley 249 
E-E Corral 188 
Effingham, IL 146 
Eggleston, (Professor) 197 
El Paso, TX 23, 52 
El Vado, CO 264 
El Tovar, AZ 276 
Eldon Mountain 114 
Elk Mountain 1 56 
Ellison Creek 244 
Ellison, Jess W. Colonel 244, 246 
Embach, Harry 298, 303 
Embudo, NM 261 
Emerson, John 312 
Emerson’s Ranch 6 
Empire Cattle Company 110 
Empire Zinc Company 277 
Erickson, Neil (Ranger) 45, 46, 57, 
61 
Escudilla 231 
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Evans, Dub 295 
Ewing, Robert J. 6, 22, 26, 31, 32, 
33, 35, 36, 37, 126 
Fain, Dan 175 
Fallon, NV 251 
Farmer, Johnny 132 
Farmer’s Cooperative Lumber Study 
258 
Fay, Herbert 187-188 
Felton, George A. 245 
Felton, O. C. 245 
Fernandez Company 175 
Fish Creek Hill 84 
Fish Lake Valley 251 
Fisher, Jerry 252 
Fitton, E. E. 66, 68 
Flagstaff, AZ 66, 67, 68, 100, 
101, 107, 117 
Flagstaff Lumber Company 176, 
177, 256, 265 
Fletcher, S. Q. 6 
Flying V Place 198 
Foraker, C. M. 18, 19, 20 
Forest Assistants 64 
Forest Inspectors 64 
Forest Products Laboratory 270 
Forest Reserves 64, 100, 104 
Forest Service 64, 66, 70, 78, 85, 
89, 101, 104 
Forest Supervisors 64 
Forests, National 64, 79, 94, 98, 
101 
Forked Lightening (brand) 282 
Fort - also see "Ft." 
Fort Apache 99, 101, 203, 244 
Fort Apache Indian Reservation 99 
Fort Bayard 204 
Fort Camp Verde 175, 180, 183 
Fort Custer 73 
Fort Reno 244 
Fort Valley 85, 206, 253 
Fort Valley Experiment Station 282, 
285, 298 
Fort Valley Ranger Meeting 281 
Fossil Creek 154, 249 
Four Peaks 154 
Franchi, Felix 108 
Francis, John M., Mayor 3, 185 
Freeman, Bill 309 
Freight, L. L. 291 
French, (person) 120, 122 
Frijole Canyon National Monument 
106 
Frisco District 190 
Frisco-Mogollon District 192 

Fritch, AZ 138 
Ft. Bayard 74 
Ft. Bayard Forest Nursery 155 
Ft. Smith, AK 66, 68 
Ft. Stanton 122 
Fuller, Revilo 244 
Fuller, Vi 245, 247, 248 
Fuller, Wid 247 
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Gadsden Hotel 87 
Gaines, Ranger 123 
Galeyville, AZ 54 
Gallinas Forest Reserve 1 
Gallinas National Forest 65, 66 
Gallinas River 127 
Gallinas Planting Station 154, 155 
Galt (Ranger) 119 
Garces National Forest 66, 67, 109, 
113, 132 
Garces, Padre 132 
Garland Prairie 138 
Garland Lake 1 38 
Garst, S. 0. 239 
Garst, Steve 294, 295 
General Springs 249 
General Springs Ranger Station 253, 
254 
George, Ernie 313 
George Washington University 274 
German, Homer 176,260 
Gibson, Wash 248 

Gila County 89 
Gila Hot Springs 194, 201 
Gila (N) Forest 65, 66 
Gila Forest 65, 66 
Gila (S) Forest 65, 66 
Gila NF 66, 68, 77, 173, 186 
Gila River Forest Reserve 1,10, 17, 
32, 34, 37, 49, 51, 72, 73 
Gila, East Fork of 78 
Gila Station 191, 192, 193, 194, 
195, 197 
Gill, Tom 288 
Gilliland, John 249 
Gireau, Father 149 
Girdner, Jim 135 
Gisela, Old Mormon Settlement 
248, 249 
Glenn Land and Cattle Company 
201 
Globe, AZ 153, 154, 163 
Globe District 164 
Glorietta, NM 6, 13, 15, 22, 32, 
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36, 37, 39 
"Goat Corral, The" 249 
Goddard, W. H. (Bert) (Ranger) 64, 
66, 68, 74, 79, 87, 174, 238, 239, 
240, 241, 256, 278, 281 
Gonzales, Tomas 83 
Goodyear Tire Company 311 
GOS Ranch 78 
Goutchey, James J. 124 
Government Hill 1 54 
Gowman, Davy 248, 249 
Graham County, AZ 107 
Graham, Fred 300 
Grand Canyon 139,310 
Grand Canyon Bridge 178 
Grand Canyon Forest Reserve 1, 5, 
115, 100, 118, 128 
Grand Canyon (S) Forest 65 
Grand Canyon (N) 67 
Grand Forks, ND 131 
Grand View (Mine Claim) 16 
Granite Falls, MN 131 
Granite Peak 192 
Granny Mountain 187, 191, 193, 
Granny Mountain Trail 193 
Grants Cafe 306 
Graves, Mr. 88 
Great Northern Railroad 131 
Greeley, (Chief Forester) 193, 298, 
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Greeley, Colonel 181 
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Green Cattle Company 110, 111 
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Griswell, W. H. 239 
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Grey's Peak 237, 238 
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Grouse Mountain 192 
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Grubb, Eugene 71 
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Harris, H. H. 66, 67 
Harrison, (President) Benjamin 100, 
128 
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Hough, Dr. Franklin B. 128 
Hough, J. W. 221, 224, 228 
Houghton, R. B. 69 
House Rock Valley 178 
Housley, Raymond 117 
Houston Brothers 245 
Howd, Ranger 123 
Howe, Frank 283 
Hoyt, Tim 265 
Huachuca District 111, 282, 283 
Huachuca Forest 65, 67 
Huachuca Forest Reserve 2, 67, 
109, 110, 111, 132 
Huachuca Mtns. 136 
Hualapai Indian Reservation 251 
Hubbell, Frank A. 174, 190, 239, 
241 
Hubbell, James 241 
Hughes, W. H. 239 
Huff, Trav 179 
Huffman, James 199, 201 
Hume (person) 38 
Humen, B. P. _ 34 
Hunt, George W. P. (Governor) 184, 
185, 255 

I 

Idaho Woolgrowers Assoc. 300 
llfeld (person) 313 
Indian Creek 60 
Indian Creek Trail 6 
Indian Garden Ranger Station 245 
Indian Gardens 252 
Interior, Secretary of 70 
Iron Creek 74, 75 
J. Slash X 256 
Jacobs (Judge) 306 
Jacob's Lake 178 
Jacob Lake Tower (photo) 213 
James, Marshall 10 
Jamison, H. B. 66, 67 
Jardine (Person) 297, 300 
Jemez Forest 65, 66 
Jemez Forest Reserve 1 
Jemez (N) Forest 64, 66 
Jemez NF 66, 68, 80 
Jenk s Cabin 193 

Jenks, Ralph 98 
Jennings (Ranger) 54 
Jennings, Charley 135 
Jerome, AZ 311 
Jesunosky, L. N. 58 
Jewett Ranger Station 239 
Jicarilla Apache Reservation 152 
Jicarilla Division 148 
Johnson, Don P. 126, 188, 190, 
197, 280 
Johnson Canyon 198 
Johnson, Keecheye 198 
Johnson Mesa 156 
Johnson, Pete 121, 122, 123, 127 
Johnson Wash Ranger Station 175 
Jones (District Engineer) 237, 
238Jones, Bill 239 
Jones, Bud 253 
Jones, E. H. 66, 67 
Jones, Frank 191 
Jones, Henry 203 
Jones, J. D. 240 
Jones, John B. 313 
Jones, John D. 279 
Jordon, Henry 149 
Journal-Miner 70 
Joy, Dave 184 

K 

K T Lumber Corporation 305 
Kaibab National Forest 67, 178, 
186, 213 
Kanab, UT 66, 67 
Kankakee, IL 124 
Kanoe Mine 172 
Kartchner, Kenner 304 
Kartchner, Lafe 304 
Katy Lumber Company 177 
Kaufman, S. R., esq. 61 
Kelleher, Bob 125 
Kelley, Evan 309,312 
Kelley, Major 193,197 
Kelley Sawmill 194 
Kelly, Ike (also Jim, John, and Pat) 
206 
Kelsey, Sam 121 
Kemp, Newt 121, 122, 123 
Kemp Place 192 
Kenoe, Father 132 
Kent, W. H. B. 79, 107, 109, 111, 
1 13, 188, 190, 197 
Kenton, Simon 247 
Kercher, Joe 206, 257 
Kerley, Ranger 6, 21, 24, 26, 28, 

29, 31, 33, 38 
Kerr, John 65, 66, 67, 68, 109, 
111, 124, 197, 280, 287, 288, 
293, 297, 300, 302, 303 
Kilberg Peak 172 
Kimball, George 261,266 
King, Ray 265 
King, Rex 279 
Kingston, AZ 74, 75 
Kinney, J. H. 66, 68 
Kirby, Ed 138 
Kirby, F. (Lee) 162, 163, 172, 242 
Kirby, Lee 287 
Kircher, Joe 303 
Kirchner, Richard G. 104 
Klondyke 172 
Knave (Judge) 108, 135 
Kneipp, Lee 181,280 
Kneipp, Leon F. 80, 123, 126, 127, 
300 
Knowles , Mr. 61, 62 
Koprian Ranch 121,122 
Korber Building 256 
Krauch (Forest Officer) 190 
Krupp (Ranger) 109, 113 
Kyle, George 174 

L 

Labritton, Dave 177 
LaJara, NM 146 
Lake Mary 179,182 
Lake Mountain 310 
Lakeside District 309 
Laller, Charles 264 
Laney, William L. 201 
Langstroth Creek 192 
LaPaloma Basin 285 
Las Animas Forest Reserve 2 
Las Vegas, NM 22, 157 
Las Vegas District 154 
Las Vegas Ranger District 158 
Last Chance (Mine Claim) 16 
Lateer Lakes 296 
Latham, John 240 
Lawson, W.P. 214,216,220, 
228, 233 
Lawton Forest 65, 67 
Leadville Forest 139 
Leavitt, Clyde 109 
Lee, Kirby 287 
Lee's Ferry 125 
Lee Valley 235 
Leonard, H. K. 264 
Leonard, Bill 264 
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Leonard, Bob 264 
Leopold, Aldo 147, 148, 149, 152, 
159, 182, 214, 215, 220, 221, 
224, 225, 228, 232, 233, 283, 
309 
Lessel, Leonard R. 197, 305, 309, 
310 
Lester, John H. 201 
"Levi Strausses" 87 
Lewis, Lefty 185 
Lewis, Margaret 80 
Lewis, Ranger 109 
Lewis River 35, 36, 37 
Lilley, Ben 200 
Lilley, John H. 198,200 
Lilley Park 193, 198 
Limestone Mtn. 232 
Lincoln Forest Reserve 1, 72 
Lincoln National Forest 65, 66, 68, 
192 
Lion Creek 249 
Little Chiricahua 54 
Little Colorado River 247 
Little Creek 192, 193, 194 
Little Dry Creek Ranger Station 186, 
188, 190, 197 
Little Green Valley 244, 245 
Lochiel, AZ 109 
Lochman, Charley 177,178 
Long, Curry A. 192 
Long Valley 176, 184, 185, 207 
Lothian, Ike 248 
Louisa, KY 10 
Love, C. S. 108 
Loveless, M. D. 239, 240 
Loveridge, Earl 152,271,279 
Lowell Ranger Station 283 
Lowenstein, Hank 312,313 
Lower Oak Creek 245 
Lueras Division 240 
Lully's Restaurant 111 
Luna, NM 102,202,203 
Luna Ranger Station 239 
Luna, Solomon 190,239,241 
Lynx Creek 1 6 

M 

Macho Trail 9 
MacKay, Alex J. 65,67,68,102 
Madison Forest 132 
Magdalena Forest Reserve 2 
Magdalena National Forest 65, 66, 
68 
Magdalena, NM 65, 66, 68, 238, 

239 
Magician 276 
Mahan Mountain Lookout 254 
Managham, Jim 304 
Mandan Station 313 
Manti Forest 297 
Manzano Forest Reserve 2 
Manzano National Forest 65, 66, 
68, 263 
Manzano-Zuni (Office) 173 
March, Peter 74 
Marquette, Michigan 61 
Marquette Ranger Station 310 
Marsh, R. E. 214, 216, 220, 221, 
224, 228, 233 
Marsh, Ramond C. 148, 152, 176, 
270, 303, 305 
Marshall, H. A. E. 64 
Martin, Drayton C. 66, 68, 102, 
107, 224, 228, 233 
Martin, Frank 198 
Martin, W. C. (Supervisor) 83,214, 
216, 220, 224, 228, 233 
Martinez, Jesus 83 
Marysville, AZ (mine camp) 244 
Mason, Mr. 111 
Mathers, M. M. 21 
Matton, Wilbur R. 74 
Maupin Ranch 151 
Maupin, Mrs. 151 
Maupin, Roy 151 
Maxwell, L. B. 202 
Maxwell Land Company 143 
May, J. K. P. 241 
Mayberry, J. W. 239 
Mayer 123 
Mayer, Frank 248 
Mayfield (Senator) 248 
Mazatzal District 255 
Mazatzals 154,245,249,297 
McAnulty, John 201 
McCabe (Ranger) 31 
McCanley, Dooley 307 
McCarthy, Charlie 204 
McCarthy, Dad 204 
McCarty, Chas 239, 241 
McClure, R.C. 2 (photo), 6, 7, 9, 
10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 17, 19, 20, 64 
McClure, A. H. 15,25 
McCool, A. J. 137 
McCormick, George 177, 178, 179 
McCormick (Mr.) 244 
McCrum, Mr. 32 
McDaniel, Si (sawmill) 174 
McDonald, D. R. 60 

McDonald, William 245 
McDowell, Claud 216,220,228, 
233 
McFadden, W. T. 246 
McGaffey 179 
McGaffey's Mill 264 
McGlone, C. T. (Supervisor) 66, 80 
McGlone, Charles T. 7,9,11,14, 
18, 20, 23, 31,41,42, 43, 44, 45, 
46, 47, 54, 55, 57, 63, 66 
McGonigle, A. T. 176 
McKenna, James A. 201 
McKenna Park District 186, 188, 
190, 191, 193, 197, 201 
McKenzie Cabin 198 
McKenzie, Claude 272 
McKibben, Clifford W. 221, 224, 
228, 283 
McKinley (President) 99, 100, 155 
McKinney, Joe 201 
McNary (person) 308, 309 
McNulty, Deputy Supervisor 293 
McMillan (Mrs.) 80 
McMillan, Ross 64, 66, 68, 81, 
146, 150 
McMinnimum, John 178,179 
McQuarter Outfit 305 
McTavish, J. S. 174 
McWaters (person) 307, 308 
Mead, Mr. 23 
Meadows, John 245 
Meagher, Thomas 110,112 
Medley, J. W. 239, 240 
Mena, AK 68 
Menards (cattleman) 245 
Marker, Heinie 88, 260, 304 
Merkle, Fred 173,175,260,262, 
305, 306 
Mesa, AZ 84 
Mesa Pasture 235 
Mestus, Miss 32 
Mestus (person) 38 
Metcalf, AZ 237 
Miera, Epemanio 146 
Miles, Johnny 277 
Miller, Edward G. 172, 206, 254, 
263, 265, 279 
Miller Family 76 
Miller Springs 191 
Miller Springs Trail 187 
Mimbres Mill 75 
Mimbres River 74 
Mimbres Valley 75 
Minneapolis Tribune 131 
Minnehaha Flat 123 
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Minnesota, University of 86 
Missoula, MT 90 
Mitchell, F. H. 214,216,220,224, 

228, 233 
Model T Ford 310 
Mogollon 78, 99 
Mogollon, NM 189 
Mogollon Creek 188, 192 
Mogollon Creek, East Fork 195 
Mogollon Creek, West Prong 1 94 
Mogollon Crest Trail 192 
Mogollon Rim 99, 139, 153, 254, 
256 
Mojave County 245 
Moke, Bob 263, 264 
Molter, Ranger 108, 109 
Money (District Attorney) 21 
Money (Senator) 21 
Money, Geo. P. 18, 20, 31 
Monica Ranger Station 239 
Monte Vista, CO 139 
Moody, Arthur 136 
Moore, Mr. (tourist) 30 
Moore, E. B. 40, 41, 42, 59 
Moore, George 179 
Moore (Governor) 185 
Moore, James F. 199 
Moore, Richard G. 164 
Moore, Walter 244, 246 
Mora (Grant) 8, 12, 277 
Mordy, Miss Isabel H. 238 
Morency Mine 262 
Morley, Ray 239, 293, 294, 295, 
286 
Morley Family 255 
Mormon Crossing 310 
Mormon Lake 182 
Mormon Lake CCC Camp 1 84 
Mormon Lake District 252, 253 
Morris, Albert 304 
Morrison, Robert E. 5 
Morse, Al 253 
Mortonson's Wash 305 
Mosen, Frank 282 

Mount Graham Forest Reserve 1 
Mountain Chief (Mine Claim) 16 
Mowery Mines 110 
"Mr. Pecos" 125 
Mt. Bigelow 283 
Mt. Graham 67, 164 
Mt. Graham Forest 65, 67 
Mt. Oro 244 

Mt. Shasta City 193 
Mt. Taylor Forest 65, 66 
Mud Tanks Trail 184,299 

Mullen, Carley 245 
Mullen, Jim 176, 305, 310 
Muller, Dr. Fred 149 
Munds Park District 182, 206, 208 
Munds Park-Sedona District 252 
Munns and Speckler 313 
Munro, Robert 187-188 
Murphy Bros. 246 
Murray, Pat 293 
Muscadine County, lA 251 
Mushick, Walter 240 

N 

"N" Ranch 77 
N B Ranch 248 
Nagy (person) 151 
Nail (Senator) 248 
National Irrigation Convention 52 
Natural Bridge 248 
Navajo Creek Canyon 1 83 
Navajo Forest 65 
Navajo Ordinance Depot 256 
Neal, Arthur L. 249 
Neal, Arthur M. 66, 68 
Nebbitt, Colen 277 
Nebbitt (Judge) 278 
Nebraska, University of 313 
Neill (Ranger) 70 
Nelson, Jessee 300 
Nelson, William 4, 5 
Negrite Station 281 
Negrito Ranger Station 190,239 
New Haven (town) 87 
New Mexican Review, The 1 5 
New Mexico Lumber Company 264 
New York Times 70 
Newbold, Ranger 123 
Nichols, M. L. 216, 220, 224, 228 
916 Ranch 192, 197 
Niobrara River 251 
NIRA Program 292 
No Aqua 157, 158 
No Life For A Lady 293 
Nogales, AZ 66, 67, 68,1 13, 132, 
109 
Noon, Arthur H. (Ranger) 109, 114 
North Kaibab 177 
Nutrioso, AZ 102, 103, 106, 107, 
108, 231 

O 

0-Fire-Lincoln 120 
Oak Creek 1 82 

Oasis, The 4 
Oasis Ranch 251 
O'Keefe, Lawrence 44 
Old Dominion Hotel 153 
Old Mitchell Road 237 
Old Skagg's Ranch 253 
Oldham, Ed 179 
Ora Grande (Mine Claim) 16 
Oracle Ranger Station 283 
Ormsby, B., Captain 2 
Oro Blanco 113, 136 
Orofino, ID 132 
Ortago, Placido 13 
Ortiz, Antonio 159,160 
Ortiz, NM 158,160 
Ortiz's Store 161 
Ostenton, Mr. 10,11,20,23,24, 

25, 26, 31,40 
Otero, Ed M. 174 
Otero Sheep Company 174 
Otero, N. A., Governor 21 
Otero Sheep Outfit 200 
Ozark Forest 64, 66, 68, 256 
Packard, Florence C. 243, 244, 
245, 250 
Page, James 69 
Pajarita Division 109 
Panchuela Ranger Station 147, 153 
Papenoe, Presley M. 198 
Paradise, AZ 48, 52, 53, 54, 55, 
57, 58, 59, 60-63, 80 
Paris Valley 251 
Parmalee, A. 109 
Pat Knoll 238 
Patagonia, AZ 109, 110 
Patagonia Mtns. 132,285 
Patterson, E. R. 217 
Patterson, Ernest 205 
Patterson's Mill 217 
Patton, George S. 108 
Payne, Johnny 294 
Payson, AZ 153, 206 
Peacock, Charley 175 
Pearson, Gus 282, 224, 298, 305, 
206 
Pearson, Mrs. 108 
Peck, A. S. (Colonel) 66, 67, 74, 
86, 274, 278 
Pecos, NM 1 5 
Pecos Canyon 130 
Pecos Forest 65, 66 
Pecos NF 66, 68, 80, 128, 146, 
147, 148, 150 
Pecos River 66, 130 
Pecos River District 23 
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Pecos River Forest Reserve 1, 7, 8, 
12, 13, 15, 18, 21, 22, 24, 27, 29, 
30, 31, 34, 36, 123, 124, 124, 
125, 128 
Pecos Town, NM 22, 23, 39, 147 
Pecos Wilderness Area 145,153 
Peloncillo Forest 66, 67 
Peloncillo Forest Reserve 2 
Pembina Mountains 131 
Penasco, NM 261 
Penn Gold Mining Co 16 
Penrod, Ranger 103,109 
Perrin, E. B. 179,180 
Perry, E. L. 289, 313 
Petrified Forest 302 
Pfingston, Ed 119 
Phelps, William A. 104 
Phillips, Jackson M. (Ranger) 196 
Phipps, (Governor) 185 
Picard, Tex 173 
Picard-Reardon Mill 174,175,186 
Pickerel, Charlie 283 
Pierce’s Ferry 247 
Pike Forest 139 
Pitchfork Ranch 255 
Pitchlynn, Paul P. 190, 240, 284, 
285 
Pima Forest 65, 67 
Pinal District 166 
Pinal Mtns. 1 
Pinchot, Gifford 49, 72, 80, 86, 91, 
99 (Ballinger - Pinchot Controversy), 
114, 135, 136, 163, 272, 300, 
302 
Pine, AZ 107 
Pine Flats 144, 182 
Pine Springs Ranch 251 
Pinedale, AZ 137,138 
Pinedale District 309 
Pinos Altos, NM 74 
Pinos Altos Ranger District 1 90- 
191, 193 
Pinto Creek 247 
Pioneer Ranger, The 101 
Piute Indian Reservation 251 
Pleasant Valley District 246, 248, 
249 
Pleasant Valley War 302 
Poland, Wood 198 
Pooler, Frank C. W. 64, 68, 67, 65, 
68, 64, 106, 123, 131, 132, 197, 
274, 278, 288, 303, 304, 305, 
308 
Portales Forest Reserve 1 
Porter, Bill 306 

Portland, OR 90 
Potter, Bert 132, 174, 181, 300, 
302 
Potter's Mesa 302 
Potter's Ranch 302 
Potts Brothers 251 
Powell, Buck (Murray) 199 
Powers, Mr. 111 
Powers, Ranger 88 
Prammel, Lonnie 221 
Prater, Leland J. 213 
Prescott, AZ 2, 16, 65, 68, 69, 
108, 119, 297 
Prescott Canyon Forest Reserve 1, 
16, 123, 124 
Prescott Forest 65, 67 
Prescott National Forest 65, 67, 68, 
1 19, 154, 179-81, 308, 298 
Prescott Reserve 69, 70 
Prevost's, Mrs. (Store) 74 
Prey's, Mr. (House) 74 
Price Canyon 56 
Price, Overton W. 97 
Princeton University 294 
Prior Canyon 1 98 
Prior, Thomas C. 198, 200 
Pritchard, J. L. 100,157,202, 
220, 224, 228, 233, 214, 216, 
226 
Proctor, Senator 123, 131 
Pugh, Samuel J. (Judge) 21 
Punkin Center 255 
Pyle, Lewis 153 
Pearce, AZ 59 
Pearce, Ranger Joe 102, 103, 106, 
202 
Pearson, G. A. 66, 67 
People's Valley, AZ 69 
"Phoenix" - A Pack Horse 73 
Phoenix, AZ 70, 162 
Phoenix Indian School 81 
Promontory Butte 254 
Promontory Point 307 
Pyeatt, Andrew 249 

Q 

Quail, Charlie 254 
Quail Ranch 255 
Queen Creek 248 
Questra District 296 

R 

Railroad see Atlantic & Pacific, 

Denver & Rio Grande (D&RG), Great 
Northern, Santa Fe 
Railroad Canyon 295 
Ram Valley 249 
Ramsdel, Ranger 32, 39 
Ramsey Canyon 1 36 
Ranch Supply Company 239 
Randall, Alfred 247 
Randles, Quincy 256, 303, 304 
Range Improvements - G (Letter) 
191 
Ranger's Lament 76 
Ratchford, Chris 167,168 
Rattlesnake Canyon 172 
Raw Meat Creek 198 
Rawhide, NV 251 
Read, A. Q. 66, 68 
Reagon, James 220 
Reardon, Dan 173-74,812 
Rechnagel, Bernhard 86 
Reclamation Act of 1902 299 
Reclamation Service 184 
Record, S. J. 68 
Red Cross 149 
Red Durham Cattle 247 
"Red House" 238 
Red River 1 30 
Red Rock Ranger Station 239 
Redfield Canyon 172 
Redington, Paul G. 148, 150, 285 
Reed, Bert 280, 281, 297 
Reed (Captain) 277 
Reed, D. L. 202 
Reed, F. A. 175 
Reed, W. H. 65, 66, 67, 68, 85, 
100, 106, 109, 153, 154 
Reid, Bob 187-188, 190-192 
Reid Teaming Company 251 
Regan, James 214,216,224,228, 
233 
Regional Forester 86 
Region 1 311,313 
Region 3 311,313 
Region 5 313 
Region 9 313 
Reindorp, Cecil 155 
Rencher, Guy B. 220, 224, 228, 
233, 255 
Reno Ranger Station 255, 256 
Reynolds, Amasa 239 
Reynolds Creek Ranger Station 154, 
247 
Reynolds, Glen 247 
Rhinehart (person) 176 
Rhinehart, Bob 254 
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Rhinehart, R. F. 239 
Rhinehart, Robert 260 
Rice, Roy H. 254 
Richards, W. A. 58, 106 
Richardson, Commissioner 21 
Riggs, B. B. 54 
Riggs Creek 231 
Riggs, Eddie M. 48, 53, 57 
Riggs' Sawmill 58 
Riggs' Wagon Road 61 
Riley, Smith 107 
Rim Road 308 
Rincon, AZ 66, 68 
Ring Canyon Trail 187 
Ring, John 288 
Ringland, Arthur C. (Ring) 66, 67, 
132, 67, 72, 85, 87, 197 (District 
Forester), 216, 217, 218, 219, 220, 
274, 285 
Rio Agua Hegra 12 
Rio Arriba County 1 27 
Rio Gallinas Campground 1 83 
Rio Grande 130 
Rio Hondo District 295 
Rio La Casa 127 
Rio Pueblo 127 
Rio Verde Ranger Station 249 
Ripley, Robert 72 
Rivera, Christena 15 
Rivera, Henry. 1 5 
Rivero, Christina 26 
Roan Durham Cattle 247 
Roberts, Paul 278, 280, 297, 298, 
299, 304, 305 
Robinson, George J. 104 
Robinson, Tom 74, 75 
Rociada, NM 22, 26, 27, 33, 34, 
125, 157 
Rociada District 23, 31 
Rock Creek 249 
Rodeo, NM 54 
Rodgers, (Ranger) 109 
Rodgers, Jordan 199 
Rodman, Douglas 77, 188, 197 
Rogers, Benton S. 201, 202, 214, 
220, 228, 233 
Rogers, Gordon 201 
Rogers, Mrs. 204, 205 
Rogers, Robert A. 109,110,111, 
282, 285 

Rogers Lake Ranger District 184, 
185 
Roibal, Felix 35, 36, 37 
Romero, Apoliano 1 20 
Roosevelt, AZ 66, 67, 68, 84, 163 

Roosevelt Dam 84, 135, 154 
Roosevelt Lake 174 
Roosevelt Reservoir 297 
Roosevelt, Teddy 66, 79, 86, 99, 
100, 102, 106, 130, 136, 180, 
272, 31 1 
Rose, E. A. 61 
Rose (Indian Service) 202 
Rose Peak 238 
Rosedale Ranger Station 239, 283 
Rosemont, AZ 110 
Ross, Lew 198 
Roth, Professor 107 
Rowe, NM 22 
Rowe, Supervisor 102, 103, 104 
Rucker, AZ 54 
Rucker, Bill 174 
Rudd, David B. (Ranger) 108,201, 
203, 214, 220, 224, 228, 232, 
233, 237, 238 
Rush, Frank 66, 68 
Russell, John F. 239 
Russell, Wayne 261 
Rutgers College 79 
Ruth (Ranger) 206 
Ryan Ranger Station 178 

S 

Sacramento National Forest 65, 66 
Sacramento Mountain Lumber Co. 
119 
Saffle's Saloon 100 
Safford, AZ 66, 67, 68, 164 
Saginaw and Arizona Lumber and 
Timber Companies 3 
Saginaw and Manistee Lumber Co. 
178 
Saginaw Mountains Lumber Co. 
138, 144 
Saginaw Railroad 141 
Salazar, Ramon 82 

Salt Lake, NM 246 
Salt Lake City 90 
Salt River Valley 140, 141, 243, 
299 
Salt River Valley Irrigation 2,21, 
22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 30, 33, 
34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 
49, 51, 64, 72, 76, 79, 110, 124, 
126, 164 
Salt River Valley (Upper) 168 
Salt River Water Users Assoc. 169- 
70, 184 
Salton, Bob 304, 307 

Salyer, Mr. T. S. 10 
Samuels, Jim 247, 249 
San Andres Mountains 109 
San Antone Mountain 152,158, 
159 
San Antone River 158 
San Antonio Ranger Station 151 
San Augustine Plains 239 
San Carlos Indian Reservation 196 
San Francisco Earthquake 78 
San Francisco Mountains 1 
San Francisco Mtns. Forest Reserve 
100, 114, 115, 118 
San Francisco Mtns. Nat. Forest 
65, 67 
San Francisco Peaks 252 
San Francisco Peaks FR 137, 138 
San Lorenzo, NM 74 
San Mateo Forest 65, 66 
San Mateo Forest Reserve 2 
San Miguel Co. 15 
San Pedro River 246 
San Rafael, NM 174 
San Rafael Land Grant 133 
San Simon Cattle Co. 43 
Sanders, Art 248 
Sanders Bldg. 106 
Sanders, Mart 248 
Sanders, John 248 
Sandia Mtns. 262 
Sandoval County 146 
Sangre de Cristo Range 130 
Santa Barbara 127 
Santa Barbara Tie & Pole Company 
261 
Santa Catalina F. R. 1, 107 
Santa Catalina Forest 65, 67 
Santa Catalina Mtn. 284 
Santa Cruz County 4 
Santa Fe National Forest 106, 128, 
147, 154, 288 
Santa Fe, NM 2, 65, 66, 68, 99 
Santa Fe Railroad 298 

Santa Rita, AZ 74 
Santa Rita F. R. 1,107, 112 
Santa Rita Hotel 136 
Santa Rita National Forest 65, 67 
Sapello 78 
Sapello Creek 125 
Sawmill, AZ 57 
Saxon, Harry 285 
Scanlon, Brooks 307 
Schearer, Mr. C. V. 157,161,162 
Schofield (Ranger) 109 
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Scholfield, Armor 110 
Schugmann, Ranger 109 
Schultz Pass 138 
Schurz, NV 251 
Scolfield, Carl 283, 285 
Scott Brothers 298 
Scott, George 135, 249 
Scott, James A. 192, 197, 280 
Scott, Joe 298 
Scott, Robert 302 
Sears, George 136 
Sears Ranch 245 
Seeley, Mrs. Verna H. 238 
Seiber, Al 246 
Seligman, AZ 251 
Seligman Country 175 
Selkirk, Robert J. (Supervisor) 65, 
67, 68, 110, 113, 282, 283 
Sena, Jose E. 124 
Sena, Marrano 124 
Servietta District 147 
Seth, J. 0. 276 
Seventy-four Mountain 192,194 
76 Quarter Circle Ranch 247 
Sevier, Billie 121 
Sevier, Lloyd 137, 138, 141 
Shackelford County, TX 145 
Shank, Cy 239 
Shanks (Ranger) 187 
Sharlot Hall Museum 119, 306 
Shaw's Ranch 61 
Shelley, P. M. 191, 197, 200 
Shelterbelt 312, 313, 314 
Sherman, E. A. 275, 276, 280 
Sherman, Mr. 279 
Sherrard, Tom (Inspector) 80Shinn, 
C. H. 79 
Shipp, E. S. 307 
Shoemaker Fire 11 9 
Shoemaker, T. H. 120,121,122, 
123 
Showlow, AZ 84, 100, 101, 103, 
106, 107, 109 
Shumaker, Dave 288 
Shumway, Clyde 306 
SI Ranch 201 
Sierra Anchas 154 
Sierra Forest Reserve, CA 79 
Silver City, NM 66, 68, 66, 68, 72, 
73, 78, 79 
Silver Creek 101 
Silver King (mining camp) 247, 248 
Simmons, Jim 280 
Simmons, Shack 77, 78 
Siskiyou County, CA 251 

Sitgreaves National Forest 66, 67, 
68, 99, 102, 254, 263, 265, 298, 
299, 300, 304, 307, 308, 311 
Sitgreaves (person) 99 
Siuslaw NF, OR 88 
Sizer, James H. 202,214,216, 
220, 228, 233, 256, 297 
Skitt, Mr. 74 
Slack Sawmill 190 
Slaughter Ranch 238 
Slinger, Adam 109 
Slosser, Dolph 306, 309, 310 
Smith, Eastburn 256 
Smith, Fred 186, 187 
Smith, Gravin 286 
Smith's Ranch (John) 9 
Smith, Supervisor 142 
Smith, Stanton G. 79, 138, 242 
Smith, Zane 279, 286 
Sneeze Cough Forest 1 32 
Snowflake, AZ 66, 67, 68, 102, 
137 
Soil Conservation Service 162, 313 
Soldier Flat 47 
Soldiers Hill 201 
Sombrero County 249 
South Percha 74 
South Pocket 185 
Southern District 64 
Southern Pacific 261 
Southwest Gulch 74 
Southwest Lumber Company 265 
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